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Please state your name, position and business address.

My name is Victor A. Staffieri. | am the Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive
Officer and President of Louisville Gas and Electric Company (“LG&E”) and
Kentucky Utilities Company (“KU”) (collectively, the *“Companies”), and an
employee of LG&E and KU Services Company. My business address is 220 West
Main Street, Louisville, Kentucky 40202.

Please describe your employment history, education and civic involvement.

| joined LG&E Energy in March 1992 as Senior Vice President, General Counsel,
and Corporate Secretary. Since then, | have served in a number of positions at LG&E
and KU. | assumed my current position on May 1, 2001. Descriptions of my
employment history, educational background, professional appearances and civic
involvement are contained in the Appendix attached to my testimony.

Have you testified before this Commission on other occasions?

Yes. | testified before this Commission in the Companies’ last four base rate cases.

! Case No. 2012-00221, In the Matter of: Application of Kentucky Utilities Company for an Adjustment of its
Electric Rates; Case No. 2014-00222; In the Matter of: Application of Louisville Gas and Electric Company for
an Adjustment of its Electric and Gas Rates, a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity, Approval of
Ownership of Gas Service Lines and Risers, and a Gas Line Surcharge; Case No. 2009-00549, In the Matter of:
Application of Louisville Gas and Electric Company for an Adjustment of its Electric and Gas Base Rates and
in Case No. 2009-00548, In the Matter of: Application of Kentucky Utilities Company for an adjustment of
Base Rates; Case No. 2008-00252, In the Matter of: Application of Louisville Gas and Electric Company for an
Adjustment of its Electric and Gas Base Rates and in Case No. 2008-00251, In the Matter of: Application of
Kentucky Utilities Company for an Adjustment of Base Rates; Case No. 2003-00433, In the Matter of:
Adjustment of the Gas and Electric Rates, Terms and Conditions of Louisville Gas and Electric Company and in
Case No. 2003-00434, In the Matter of: An Adjustment of Electric Rates, Terms and Conditions of Kentucky
Utilities Company
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I have also testified in various other cases, including three proceedings regarding
changes in the ownership of LG&E and KU.?

What is the purpose of your testimony?

My testimony will provide an overview of LG&E’s and KU’s applications in these
proceedings, why we have elected to use a future test year, and why it is important
that the increases the Companies have proposed be approved. In so doing, I will
discuss changes in the industry since the Companies’ 2012 rate cases and briefly
review the causes for the increased capital expenditures and operation and
maintenance expenses incurred by LG&E and KU to provide adequate, efficient, and
reliable service at reasonable rates. | will also describe the Companies’ existing
programs to achieve improvements in efficiency and productivity. Additionally, |
will describe LG&E’s and KU’s ongoing commitment to the communities we serve,
especially through our assistance to low-income customers. | am also providing the
attestation required by 807 KAR 5:001 Section 16(7)(e).

Q. Please identify the other witnesses offering direct testimony on behalf of the
Companies in these cases and generally describe the subject matter of each such
testimony.

A. LG&E and KU are offering direct testimony from the following witnesses:

o Kent Blake, Chief Financial Officer - Mr. Blake will describe why the

Companies’ financial condition requires the requested increase in rates and

2 Case No. 2010-00204, In the Matter of: The Joint Application of PPL Corporation, E.ON AG, E.ON U.S.
Investments Corp., E.ON U.S. LLC, Louisville Gas and Electric Company and Kentucky Utilities Company for
Approval of an Acquisition of Ownership and Control of Utilities; Case No. 2001-00104, In the Matter of: Joint
Application of E.ON AG, Powergen plc, LG&E Energy Corp., Louisville Gas and Electric Company and
Kentucky Utilities Company for Approval of an Acquisition; Case No. 2000-00095, In the Matter of: Joint
Application of Powergen plc, LG&E Energy Corp., Louisville Gas and Electric Company and Kentucky
Utilities Company for Approval of a Merger; Case No. 97-300, In the Matter of: Joint Application of Louisville
Gas and Electric Company and Kentucky Utilities for Approval of Merger.
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why the Companies chose to use a forecasted test period to support their base
rate applications, and will describe the Companies’ existing programs to
achieve improvements in efficiency and productivity. Mr. Blake will
summarize the Companies’ revenue deficiencies and the associated proposed
increases in revenues. Mr. Blake will also describe all factors used in
preparing the Companies’ base and forecast periods, including economic
models, assumptions, and changes in activity levels, and will detail the
Companies’ Budgeting and Planning Process and capital structure. Finally,
Mr. Blake will sponsor certain schedules that support the Companies’
applications and are required by the Commission’s rate case regulations.

Paul W. Thompson, Chief Operating Officer — Mr. Thompson will describe
the status and performance of the Companies’ generation, transmission,
distribution, and customer service operations. He will also describe the major
capital projects associated with these operations and reflected in the forecasted
test period. Mr. Thompson will discuss existing programs to achieve
improvements in efficiency and productivity. In addition, Mr. Thompson will
discuss safety issues and the Companies’ Research and Development
activities.

David Sinclair, Vice President Energy Supply and Analysis — Mr. Sinclair will
discuss the Companies’ load and generation forecasts, including off-system
sales, and how these forecasts were developed, as well as the support for the

proposed Curtailable Service Rider Credit in this case.
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William E. Avera, President, and Adrien McKenzie, Vice President, FINCAP,
Inc. — At the hearing, Dr. Avera will present the results of their analysis,
which demonstrates that the range of a reasonable return on equity is from
9.60 percent to 11.40 percent. Dr. Avera will also present his
recommendation that 10.64 percent is a reasonable return on common equity
for both LG&E’s electric and gas operations and KU’s electric operations.
Additionally, Dr. Avera will offer his opinion as to the appropriateness of the
Companies’ capital structure.

John J. Spanos, Gannett Fleming, Inc. — Mr. Spanos will present his
depreciation study and recommended depreciation rate for Cane Run Unit 7.
Ed R. Staton, Vice President, State Regulation and Rates — Mr. Staton
sponsors schedules required by the Commission’s rate case regulations for a
forecasted test period rate case, and describes the method of notice given to
customers, the typical impact on customer bills of the proposed rate increases,
and the Companies’ assistance programs for low income customers.

Dr. Martin Blake, The Prime Group, LLC — Dr. Blake discusses the cost of
service studies and rate design issues for LG&E and KU.

J. Clay Murphy, Director, Gas Management, Planning and Supply — Mr.
Murphy will discuss certain changes that LG&E is proposing to its Gas
Transportation Tariff terms and conditions.

Robert M. Conroy, Director, Rates — Mr. Conroy will explain and support
certain schedules that are required by the Commission’s regulations for cases

involving a forecasted test period, explain pro forma adjustments to the
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Companies’ financial forecast, and address rate design issues and the
allocation of rate increases between customer classes based on cost of service
study prepared by Dr. Blake.
Can you describe the changes in the Companies’ management since their last
base rate case in 2012?
With the retirement Chris Hermann in 2013, Mr. Thompson, who was then Senior
Vice President, Energy Delivery, was appointed to the new position of Chief
Operations Officer. Mr. Thompson is now responsible for the operations of LG&E’s
electric and gas systems and KU'’s electric system.

Messrs. Blake, Chief Financial Officer, S. Bradford Rives, Chief
Administrative Officer and Thompson, Chief Operations Officer report directly to me
as the Chief Executive Officer.

Can you briefly describe the industry changes since the 2012 rate case?

Certain industry changes noted in 2012 have accelerated. Specifically, the industry,
and the Companies in particular, faces increasing regulatory challenges relating to
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) regulations, North America Electric
Reliability Corporation (“NERC”) reliability standards, and Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) Order 1000. For example, the new EPA
regulations have dramatically impacted coal-fired generation. Nationwide, the EPA’s
analysis indicates that 30 to 49 GW of coal-fired capacity will become uneconomical
to maintain by 2020.> The Companies themselves will have retired approximately

800 MW of coal-fired capacity by the end of 2016. The role of coal as a generation

® Regulatory Impact Analysis for the Proposed Carbon Pollution Guidelines for Existing Power Plants and
Emissions Standards for Modified and Reconstructed Power Plants, Office of Air Quality and Standards, U. S.
Environmental Protection Agency, June 2014 at p. 121.
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fuel is the subject of considerable debate and at times legal and political challenges.
Also, we face the need for increasing investment in information technology, both to
meet regulatory requirements to maintain the security of both customer information
and our own system and to meet increasing customer and industry demands for
reliability and responsiveness. These issues are discussed in greater detail in the
testimony of Messrs. Blake and Thompson.
Can you describe the Companies’ existing programs to achieve improvements in
efficiency and productivity?
A core principle of our organization is that we always seek to be as efficient and
productive as possible; we are always looking for ways to improve what we do.
Operating efficiently and controlling costs to the extent practicable are long-standing
and predominant values in our business culture. These principles govern the
Companies’ business practices in the construction, operation, and maintenance of our
systems and services. In fact, LG&E and KU are among the most efficient utilities in
the nation. As presented in greater detail in Mr. Blake’s testimony, the Companies
outperform industry averages in all five electric utility cost categories and rank in the
top quartile in three out of five cost segments according to the Companies’
benchmarking analysis of FERC data through 2013.

While the testimonies of Messrs. Blake and Thompson address an extensive
number of the Companies’ specific existing programs or practices to achieve
efficiency and productivity, | will describe two existing initiatives that are

fundamental to our utility system operations.
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The Companies continually seek improvement in efficiency and productivity
through their annual “bottom-up” financial planning and budgeting process. This is
the most fundamental control effort to achieve efficiency and productivity within the
overall management of our systems. The budgeting process provides both senior and
functional business managers with a clear measure of the costs of meeting the
Companies’ goals and a tool for the ongoing control of costs and responding to
changes in operating conditions. It further provides management a tool for internal
controls, establishing a basis against which to compare actual results and measure
performance. This financial control process is described in greater detail in the
process documents submitted at Tab 16 to the application and in the testimonies of
Messrs. Blake and Sinclair.

In addition, for years we have adopted competitive bidding as the preferred
method of procurement for all materials and supplies, regardless of their price. From
a good business practice standpoint, every attempt is made to create a sense of
competition and supplier participation. All competitive bidding initiatives include the
participation of a diverse slate of suppliers, including woman- and minority-owned
businesses, where they exist. For purchases over $50,000, competitive bidding is
required, except in cases where competitive bids cannot be obtained or the technical
capability or availability of a particular vendor is required. In those cases, a sole-
source agreement, approved by the appropriate level of management depending upon
the size of the procurement, is required. This ensures that the Companies are

receiving the best available price and terms in the market in each case.
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Please describe the decision to file these rate cases.

The decision to file for rate increases is a serious matter. We understand it will
impact customers. We do not make the decision to file rate cases without full
consideration of the impact to all our customers, the current economic conditions and
their impact on all our customers, our duty to serve retail customers, and the need to
continue to invest in facilities to provide that service. Our business remains one of
the most capital-intensive industries in the world, and continues to become ever more
complex and subject to increasing regulation. The Companies have deployed and are
deploying the additional debt and equity capital necessary to continue to provide safe
and reliable service in this increasingly complex and demanding environment; but
each new capital deployment adds to the Companies’ financing costs. Due to the
relatively flat sales-growth environment we have experienced in recent years and
anticipate for a number of years to come, we must now adjust the Companies’ rates to
earn a reasonable return that will continue to allow LG&E and KU to raise capital at
reasonable rates.

Please describe the proposed increase in revenues.

LG&E is requesting a 2.7 percent, or approximately $30 million a year increase in its
electric revenue, and a 4.2 percent, or approximately $14 million a year, increase in
its gas revenue. The monthly impact of the requested increase in base rates will
increase an average total residential electric bill by 2.73 percent, or approximately
$2.75, for a customer using 984 kWh of electricity. The monthly impact of the
requested increase in gas base rates will increase an average total residential gas bill

by 4.2 percent, or approximately $2.62, for a customer using 5.7 Mcf of gas.



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

KU is requesting a 9.6 percent or approximately $153 million a year increase
in its electric revenues. The monthly impact of the requested increase in base rates
will increase an average residential electric bill by 9.57 percent, or approximately
$11.01, for a customer using 1,200 kWh of electricity.

The testimonies of our witnesses submitted with the Companies’ applications
demonstrate that LG&E’s and KU’s requested increases in base rates are necessary
for the Companies to earn a fair and reasonable return adequate to attract capital
investment and provide safe and reliable high quality service to their customers.
What return on common equity are the Companies requesting in their
applications?

The analysis presented by Dr. Avera demonstrates that the range of a reasonable
return on equity is from 9.60 percent to 11.40 percent. In his testimony, Dr. Avera
recommends a reasonable return on common equity for both LG&E’s electric and gas
operations and KU’s electric operation is 10.64 percent. We have chosen, however,
to utilitize a return on equity of 10.50 percent to moderate the rate impact in some
manner while striking the right balance between the interests of our customers and
allowing the Companies to continue to raise capital at reasonable rates in a
challenging environment. As a result, the requests for increases in their revenues by
the Companies in their applications are based on 10.50 percent return on common

equity.
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If the proposed rates are approved, will customers continue to receive a good
value for their service?
Yes. As demonstrated in Mr. Blake’s testimony, because of the Companies’ excellent
cost performance, customers will still receive a good value for their service if the
proposed rates are approved. And as demonstrated in Mr. Staton’s testimony, the
proposed rates, if approved, will remain below the national average.
Why did the Companies base their applications on a forecasted test period?
As discussed in Mr. Blake’s testimony and shown in Exhibit KWB-2, between 2015
and 2019 the Companies anticipate incurring more than $5.4 billion in various capital
expenditures to meet changing conditions. For example, Cane Run Unit 7 will enter
service in May 2015. As described in the testimony of Mr. Thompson, the
construction of this unit is on schedule and under budget. In addition to the building
of Cane Run Unit 7, as noted in Mr. Thompson’s testimony, LG&E is increasing the
generation capacity at the Ohio River Falls hydroelectric plant on the Ohio River by
27 percent and entered into a new agreement to purchase power from Bluegrass
Generation Company, LLC’s unit located in Oldham County, Kentucky. In doing so,
the Companies are changing their source of supply of electric power. Our use of a
forecasted test period, which is permitted by statute and consistent with the practice
of many other regulated Kentucky utilities, will place the Companies in a position to
recover the prudent expenses of those projects in a way that enhances the Companies’
ability to attract capital at the lowest possible cost.

As described in the testimonies of Messrs. Thompson and Blake, and as noted

in the evidence submitted in the 2012 rate cases, because of structural changes to the

10
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Companies’ generation fleet, LG&E and KU have less base load capacity to respond
to opportunities for off-system sales at prices that will clear the market on a regular
basis. As a result, the Companies can no longer rely on the margins from such sales
for financial support between rate cases. Additionally, as described in the testimonies
of Messrs. Blake and Sinclair, the Companies continue to anticipate low growth in
native system demand. In the past, the Companies have been able to rely on both off-
system sales and native load growth to defray the impact of rising costs between rate
cases. Because this is no longer possible, the Companies must now adjust rates to
earn a reasonable return that will continue to allow LG&E and KU to raise capital at
reasonable prices. Here again, use of a forecasted test period maximizes the
Companies’ ability to raise low-cost capital and helps the Companies respond quickly
to changing market conditions.
Are you sponsoring any required schedules?
Yes, | am sponsoring and providing the attestation required under 807 KAR 5:001
Section 16(7)(e).
Can you describe the Companies’ commitment to the community?
Yes. Our commitment to the communities we serve is a long-standing and essential
part of the Companies’ culture. This was recognized by the Business First newspaper
when it presented us earlier this year the “Partners in Philanthropy Award” for being
an outstanding corporate citizen for the third year in row. This award was based on
being one of the area’s top socially responsible organizations.

The LG&E and KU Foundation contributes to our state by supporting

Kentucky nonprofits whose missions focus on education, the environment, diversity,

11
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or health and safety. Since its establishment in 1994, the Foundation has awarded
more than $20 million dollars to support such benevolent endeavors across the
Commonwealth. In addition to the Foundation, the Companies contribute an
additional $5 million each year to various organizations. All of these contributions are
funded solely by our shareholders.

In addition to our shareholders’ contributions, the Companies show their civic
commitment by encouraging and facilitating our employees’ giving of their time,
talent, and money throughout our service area to improve the quality of life in the
communities in which they work and live. For example, during our 2013 annual
charitable-giving campaign, Power of One, our employees donated over $1.6 million
to local nonprofits throughout our service territories. This marks the seventh year in a
row in which our employees have raised more than $1 million for the campaign, and
it represents the highest amount ever pledged by our employees. These donations
support organization such as the Crusade for Children, Fund for the Arts, and 26
United Way organizations statewide. The approximately 70 percent of LG&E and
KU employees who participate through payroll deductions do so at a rate more than
twice the national average.

In addition to these donations, for the last 10 years the Companies have
sponsored a “Day of Caring,” during which employees, typically on a Saturday and
with the Companies’ support, collectively volunteer at several locations across the
service territories. For example, this year in Lexington employees donated and
organized more than 2,500 baby items for The Nest and provided general

maintenance and mulch assistance at the Arboretum. In addition, several employees

12
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helped with an annual effort to distribute more than 8,000 backpacks to local
schoolchildren. In Louisville, more than 100 volunteers stuffed backpacks with
school supplies or distributed those backpacks to children as part of Operation
Backpack. In all, more than 3,200 backpacks were distributed.

This year and for the sixth time overall, LG&E and KU were named among
the top 10 utilities in the nation for supporting economic growth within their service
territories in the September 2014 issue of Site Selection magazine. LG&E and KU'’s
Economic Development team was honored for helping Kentucky create more than 80
percent of the state’s 12,500 new jobs in 2013. In fact, since 2000, LG&E and KU
have helped create nearly 110,000 new jobs in Kentucky.

In addition, LG&E and KU together have created approximately 3,200
construction jobs as part of their ongoing $6 billion investment in environmental
upgrade projects.

What steps have the Companies taken to assist low-income customers with their
energy bills?

Like our commitment to the community, assistance to low-income customers is also
an integral part of our culture. For example, LG&E and KU Energy helped found and
has been involved with Project Warm since its inception in 1982. Project Warm is a
nonprofit that serves elderly, disabled, and economically challenged citizens in
Louisville. Each year, volunteers for the Project Warm Blitz in the LG&E service
area and Winterblitz in the KU service area weatherize hundreds of homes of our

low-income customers before the heating season. LG&E and KU provide the
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weatherization supplies for the effort, and our employees support this initiative by
volunteering their time and through their donations.

As explained more fully in the testimony of Mr. Staton, the Companies
currently make $1 million a year in shareholder contributions to low-income
assistance programs.

Moreover, due to the delay in the distribution of Low-Income Home Energy
Assistance Program (“LIHEAP”) funds caused by the federal government shutdown
in 2013, the Companies agreed to match $2, rather than the previous $1 match, for
every $1 donated by residential customers to the Companies’ heating assistance
programs. And during the extreme cold of the 2014 winter season LG&E and KU
jointly relaxed installment plan restrictions that helped customers defer payments
from January through April 2014. As discussed in Mr. Staton’s testimony, customers
were issued more than 12,000 installment plans resulting in the deferment of
approximately $5 million in payments. During this time, the Companies also donated
more than $200,000 to various organizations that assist low-income customers in
need. Customer donations and matching company funds have raised millions of
dollars to help thousands of families pay their heating bills over the years.

In addition, as discussed in the testimony of Mr. Staton, LG&E and KU offer
demand-side management and energy-efficiency (“DSM/EE”) programs to assist low-
income customers.  Specifically, the Companies’ Low-Income Weatherization
Program (“WeCare”) is an education and weatherization program designed to reduce
the energy consumption of low-income customers. WeCare is now the Companies’

second largest DSM/EE program by budget. This fall, LG&E, together with low

14



income service providers, began a 24-month pilot project to increase the marketing of
energy-efficiency programs to low income customers and improve the
communication of energy-efficiency information with these customers.

Does this conclude your testimony?

Yes, it does.

15
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COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY )
) SS:
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON )

The undersigned, Victor A. Staffieri, being duly sworn, deposes and says that he
is Chief Executive Officer of Kentucky Utilities Company and Louisville Gas and
Electric Company and an employee of LG&E and KU Services Company, and that he has
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answers contained therein are true and correct to the best of his information, knowledge

and belief.

VICtor A. dtallieri
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My Commission Expires:
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APPENDIX

Victor A. Staffieri

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President
LG&E and KU Services Company

Civic Activities
Boards

Metro United Way — Chairman Metro Campaign 2002
Leadership Louisville — Board of Directors — June 2006 — 2008
Louisville Area Chamber of Commerce — Board of Directors -- 1994-1997; 2000-2003;
Chairman 1997
MidAmerica Bancorp — Board of Directors — 2000 - 2002
Muhammad Ali Center — Board of Directors — 2003 - 2006
Kentucky Country Day — Board of Directors — 1996 - 2002
Bellarmine University — Board of Trustees — 1995 - 1998, 2000 - 2006
Executive Committee — 1997 - 1998
Finance Committee — 1995 - 1997, 2000 - 2003
Strategic Planning Committee — 1997

Industry Affiliations

Edison Electric Institute, Washington, DC - Board of Directors -- June 2001 - 2011
Electric Power Research Institute, Palo Alto, CA - Board of Directors -- May 2001 -
April 2002

Other

Louisville Area Chamber of Commerce -- African-American Affairs Committee -- 1996-
1997

Louisville Area Chamber of Commerce -- Vice Chairman, Finance and Administration
Steering Committee -- 1995

Jefferson County/Louisville Area Chamber of Commerce Family Business Partnership
Co-Chair — 1996-1997

The National Conference - Dinner Chair -- 1997

Chairman of the Coordination Council for Economic Development Activities

-- Regional Economic Development Strategy -- 1997

Metro United Way - Cabinet Member -- 1995 and 2000 Campaigns

--Chairman — Kentucky Chamber of Commerce Education Task Force - 2008
--Member — Governor’s Task Force on Higher Education - 2009
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Education

Fordham University School of Law, J.D. -- 1980
Yale University, B.A. — 1977

Previous Positions

LG&E Energy LLC, Louisville KY

March 1999 - April 2001 -- President and Chief Operating Officer

May 1997 - February 1999 -- Chief Financial Officer

December 1995 - May 1997 -- President, Distribution Services Division

December 1993 - May 1997 -- President, Louisville Gas and Electric Company

December 1992 - December 1993 -- Senior Vice President - Public Policy, and General
Counsel

March 1992 - November 1992 -- Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate
Secretary

Long Island Lighting Company, Hicksville, NY
1989-1992 -- General Counsel and Secretary
1988-1989 -- Deputy General Counsel
1986-1988 -- Assistant General Counsel
1985-1986 -- Managing Attorney
1984-1985 -- Senior Attorney
1980-1984 -- Attorney
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Please state your name, position and business address.

My name is Kent W. Blake. | am the Chief Financial Officer for Louisville Gas and
Electric Company (“LG&E”) and Kentucky Utilities Company (“KU” or the
“Company”) and an employee of LG&E and KU Services Company, which provides
services to LG&E and KU (collectively, the “Companies”). My business address is
220 West Main Street, Louisville, Kentucky 40202.

Please describe your educational and professional background.

A complete statement of my work experience and education is contained in Appendix
A.

Have you previously testified before this Commission?

Yes, | have testified before the Commission on numerous occasions, most recently for
KU in the Company’s last base rate case, In the Matter of: Application of Kentucky
Utilities Company for an Adjustment of its Electric Rates, Case No. 2012-00221.
What are the purposes of your testimony?

The purposes of my testimony are: (1) to describe why KU requires the requested
increase in base rates; (2) to discuss the existing programs within the financial and
administrative service groups of the Companies to achieve improvements in
efficiency and productivity, including an explanation of the purpose of each program;
(3) to completely describe all the factors used in preparing the forecasted test period
supporting the requested increase in base rates, including the quantification,
explanation and proper support for all the econometric models, variables,
assumptions, escalation factors, contingency provisions, and changes in activity

levels; (4) to present certain schedules required by 807 KAR 5:001 Section 16 filed
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with KU’s application; (5) to support certain pro forma adjustments; and (6) to
describe the calculation of KU’s adjusted net operating income and revenue
deficiency for the 12-month forecasted test period, beginning July 1, 2015 and ending
June 30, 2016.

OVERVIEW

Please provide an overview of KU’s base rate application in this proceeding.
KU’s application requests Commission approval of an increase of $153 million based
upon a twelve-month forecasted test period, beginning July 1, 2015 and ending June
30, 2016. As explained in Mr. Staffieri’s testimony, KU is requesting a 10.50 percent
return on equity, which is lower than the return recommended in the testimony of Dr.
William E. Avera and Adrien M. McKenzie of FINCAP, Inc. KU anticipates the
Commission will suspend the proposed effective date of January 1, 2015 for this
increase in rates for the full six-month suspension period through June 30, 2015.
Therefore, a change in rates from this proceeding is expected to take effect July 1,
2015.

Briefly state the primary reasons creating the revenue deficiency identified in
KU’s application.

Four-and-a-quarter years separate the end of the test period used in KU’s last rate
case from the end of the test period used in the Company’s current application. Since
the end of KU’s last test year, the Company has or is expected to incur approximately
$2.6 billion in capital expenditures, $1.4 billion of which is not the subject of any
other rate mechanism and can only be recovered through a base rate proceeding. This

spend has predominately been in the areas of generation, transmission, distribution
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below.

KU Electric Capital Investment (millions)

Line of Business April 1,2012to | September 1,2014 | April 1, 2012 to
August 31, 2014 to June 30, 2016 June 30, 2016
Generation $496 $205 $701
Transmission $119 $83 $201
Distribution $190 $165 $355
Customer Service $11 $14 $25
Total Operations $816 $466 $1,282
Other $50 $46 $97
Total KU Electric $866 $512 $1,378

By the end of the forecast test period, KU and LG&E will have made
significant revisions to their generation fleets and added new sources of power
production to meet changing economic conditions and environmental requirements.
The Companies are presently constructing a 640 MW natural gas combined cycle
combustion turbine generating facility known as Cane Run Unit 7 at the Cane Run
Generating Station, by far the largest single capital project in this rate case at a cost of
$563 million. As discussed in Mr. Thompson’s testimony, the construction of Cane
Run Unit 7 is on schedule and under budget. Cane Run Unit 7 is expected to be
placed in service May 2015. KU will own 78 percent of Cane Run Unit 7 with LG&E
owning the remaining 22 percent. Because a historical test period ending March 31,
2012 was used to establish KU’s current base rates, and construction of Cane Run
Unit 7 did not commence until after that date, KU’s current base rates reflect neither
Cane Run Unit 7’s capital costs nor its reasonable costs of depreciation, operation,

and maintenance.
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In addition to changes in the generation fleet, the Companies are making
significant investments in transmission and distribution infrastructure and additional
information technologies and programs to comply with increasing reliability and
other government regulations, enhance cyber security, and facilitate customer service.
As a result of the additional capital invested in these projects, KU is also incurring a
corresponding increase in depreciation and associated property taxes. KU’s capital
budget for 2015-2019 is attached to my testimony and marked as Exhibit KWB-1.

KU’S CURRENT AND PROJECTED FINANCIAL CONDITION

How would you describe KU’s current and projected financial condition?
Since its last rate case, KU has made capital investments and incurred increased
operation and maintenance expenses to provide customers with safe and reliable
electric service, while also providing a positive customer experience. Given the
additional costs KU will have incurred since its last rate case through the end of the
forecasted test period in this case, KU does not expect to earn a reasonable rate of
return. As shown in Schedule A at Tab 53, KU’s electric operations are projected for
the base period to have a revenue deficiency of $84,433,977 and an earned rate of
return on capital of 5.71 percent. For the forecasted test period, the revenue
deficiency will increase to $153,443,950 and the Company’s earned rate of return on
capital will fall to 4.68 percent.

To provide electric service, KU must continue to raise funds through
financing, using both debt and equity. A weakened financial condition is not
supportive of these efforts and is not in the interests of either KU’s customers or its

shareholders.
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Why has KU chosen to use a forecasted test period to support its application?

A forecasted test period allows for the establishment of rates that more accurately
reflect the Company’s cost of providing utility service. The use of a historical test
period would not necessarily allow the Company to reflect the costs associated with
the completion and placement into service of Cane Run Unit 7 because they would be
outside the historical test period. As such, rates based on use of a historical test
period would not reflect the Company’s cost of service the moment they became
effective. Our use of a forecasted test period, which is permitted by statute and
consistent with the practice of many other regulated Kentucky utilities, will provide a

better matching of KU’s revenues and cost of service.

EXISTING PROGRAMS TO IMPROVE EFFICIENCY AND PRODUCTIVITY

Can you discuss the Company’s existing programs to improve efficiency and
productivity?

Yes. As a matter of our long-standing business philosophy, we use the same criteria
as that of the Commission in evaluating our practices and operations. We seek the
most effective, least-cost option that will ensure the delivery of safe and reliable
service. This well-established philosophy is employed in a rigorous capital project

approval process that is detailed in Exhibit KWB-2, Capital and Investment Review

Policy, and includes completion of an Authorization of Investment Proposal for any
capital project over $2,000, completion of an Investment Proposal and Capital
Evaluation Model for capital projects over $500,000 and a presentation to and
approval from our Investment Committee for capital projects over $1 million. The

Investment Committee consists of myself as Chair, Mr. Thompson, Mr. Sinclair, Mr.
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Brad Rives (Chief Administrative Officer) and Mr. Jerry Reynolds (General
Counsel). Any project overruns on an approved project follow a similar approval
process.

Contracts and other disbursements go through a similar review and approval
process applying the same principles used for capital projects. In addition, our long-
standing policy requires that all procurement contracts be competitively bid, subject
to limited exceptions. Moreover, along with making the Company more responsive
to customers, its service more reliable and enhancing both customer data security and
protecting the Company’s critical infrastructure, our investment in information
technology improves our efficiency, productivity and service. These technology
investments have also provided better and timelier input into one of our most
important tools for improving efficiency and productivity -- the business planning
process.

How is the business planning and budgeting process used to improve efficiency
and productivity?

Our process begins with the development of our corporate objectives. Those
objectives consider relevant economic, market, regulatory and legislative
developments as they relate to our current performance and the Company’s mission,
vision and corporate values. Next, we identify operating requirements necessary to
accomplish these objectives. In turn, the business planning process translates the
operational requirements into the resource requirements necessary to achieve those

plans.
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The business planning process allows us to:

. Provide managers a tool for the ongoing control of costs and responding
to changes in operating conditions;

e  Project earnings, which are used to evaluate the financial viability of the
Company and to determine whether modifications to plans are needed to
meet market expectations;

. Provide management with a platform to present estimated costs of
meeting key performance indicators and other departmental goals
through the operating plan review process;

. Provide a plan for accumulating financial resources to fund operational
plans; and

. Provide management a tool for internal control that provides a base
against which actual results can be compared and performance
measured.

How does the process encourage efficiency and productivity?

The Company’s business planning process is a “bottom-up” process, with each
business unit preparing detailed five-year plans addressing its individual areas of
responsibility.  These five-year plans are reviewed by successive levels of
management to ensure not only that they are in line with the Company’s objectives,
but also make efficient and productive use of the Company’s resources.

Moreover, the budget and five-year plan serve as an ongoing measure to track

whether the Company’s objectives are being accomplished as intended, or whether

adjustments are necessary. The result is ongoing attention, focus and review of the
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Company’s efforts to ensure that the Company is conducting its business in an
efficient and productive manner.

What are some of the specific changes the Company has taken to improve
efficiency within its administrative and financial service functions?

Several programs have been undertaken to improve efficiency and productivity. For
example, in anticipation of significant hiring given the demographics of our current
workforce, the Human Resources Department centralized and streamlined the staffing
process. The Human Resources Department prepares the posting of all new or vacant
positions across the company; receives, assembles, and conducts the initial review of
applicants with the hiring department; and then works closely with the hiring
department on a more detailed review of the remaining applicants before making a
final selection for a position. Despite the current and projected increase in hiring due
to employee retirements and turnover, the Human Resources Department has not
increased its headcount.

In 2013, the Companies’ Information Technology group engaged an external
consultant to conduct two separate engagements focused on more effective business
alignment, enhanced productivity and an optimized sourcing model. The consultant
noted that total information technology spending at the Companies remained lower
than peers even while capital investment had increased. However, it was recognized
that business and technology trends are influencing organization dynamics including
alignment, cost, agility, and technology skills. The consultant recommended and the

Information Technology team implemented a revised operating model anchored on
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plan, build, and run processes. This has enabled the group to remain cost competitive
in the face of increased demands on and for automated solutions.

The use of information technology systems and software has been increased to
mitigate the need for additional personnel. For example, the Company has faced
additional Security and Exchange Commission reporting requirements since its return
to the status of a registrant under federal securities law. It has also faced additional
legal, regulatory and reporting requirements as it accesses financial markets to fund
its operations and various capital projects after years of relying heavily on
intercompany financing provided by its former parent, EEON AG. The Chief
Financial Officer (*CFO”) group has met these increasing demands without
increasing its headcount through its increasing use of information automation and the
increased use of interns. The CFO group, and the Company as a whole, has
encouraged the use of interns to lessen the entry-level workload on analysts, enabling
full-time employees to focus on more complex work assignments and to allow greater
time for necessary cross training, knowledge retention, professional development and
better communication across departments. The use of interns has also provided a
pipeline for full-time employment. Several recent hires in the CFO group, had
previously worked as interns for the Company.

Despite efficiency and productivity efforts, certain shared service areas have
had to increase their employee headcount to meet increased needs and customer
expectations. Since the Company’s last test year end, 53 positions have been or are
projected to be added to the Information Technology group. These positions are

necessary to address the increasing demands placed upon the Companies’ information
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technology resources. The Companies’ information technology infrastructure has
expanded significantly as the Companies have increased their reliance upon
information technology systems to ensure the reliability of service and to meet
numerous regulatory requirements. We currently have 453 physical servers, 1,035
virtual servers, 853 terabytes of used storage, hundreds of miles of fiber-optic cable,
thousands of networking and security devices, more than 1,300 databases, and two
data centers. The Company also has expanded the mobility and accessibility of its
employees through the deployment of mobile devices and applications. Additional
personnel are required to service, maintain, and expand this existing network and to
support critical business applications. The information technology positions are also
necessary to enhance existing network security to prevent information security
breaches and to enable the Companies to meet newly announced Ciritical
Infrastructure Protection (“CIP”) standards.

Other administrative service positions have been added in the areas of
Environmental Affairs and Compliance to address increased regulation from the
Environmental Protection Agency and other state and federal agencies. The
Companies have also added personnel to more effectively communicate with
customers in our service territory, including website enhancement and social media
outlets. In addition to the Information Technology positions above, 17 positions have
been or are projected to be added since the last test year in the Companies’

administrative departments.
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How do the Company’s costs and efficiency compare to benchmark companies?
Attached to my testimony as Exhibit KWB-3 is the most recent annual benchmark
study, prepared under my direction and supervision, based on information in Federal
Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) Form 1. The benchmark study shows that
KU and its sister company, LG&E, are below the industry average cost in all areas of
the comparison. The Companies are in the top quartile for Generation, Transmission,
and Administrative and General Expenses. The Companies’ rankings in Customer
Service and Electric Distribution reflect additional investment in customer service
and reliability to meet customer needs and regulatory expectations. In addition, as
discussed below, the Companies have among the lowest-cost debt in the industry.

If the rates KU has proposed are approved, will customers continue to receive a
good value for their utility service?

Yes. Exhibit KWB-3 demonstrates that KU is currently among the most cost-
effective utilities in the country and that our customers receive good value. If the
proposed rates are approved, KU’s customers will continue to receive a good value
for their utility service.

BUSINESS PLANNING PROCESS-RESULTING IN FINANCIAL
FORECASTED TEST PERIOD

Would you please provide a description of all business planning processes used
to produce the fully forecasted test period in this case?

Yes. Each year the Companies prepare a five-year business plan which includes
projected income statements, cash flow statements and balance sheets. The first year
of that five-year plan represents the Company’s budget. The basis for determining

the components of the five-year financial projections and the system employed to

11



1 develop those projections, including econometric models, variables, assumptions,

2 escalation factors, contingency provisions, and changes in activity levels are
3 described in detail in the documents attached to Filing Requirement Schedule 807
4 KAR 5:001 Section 16(7)(c) at Tab 16 and in my testimony and the testimony of Mr.
5 Thompson and Mr. Sinclair.

6 The chart below provides a visual depiction of the business planning process:

Financial Planning Software

Prosym Retail
—— Generation Load Existing Other
aE Tariffs
General Ledger Emissions Fo st Debt Inputs

Calculations
Retail & 0SS Margins

PowerPlant
\--.,___‘_‘_______._‘___,_,—"

ECR/DSM/FAC/GSC/GLT Revenue
Rate Case Revenues

CapEx Other Revenues and Expenses

Opex Balance Sheet Rollforwards
0cos - . Cash Flows
s pex, Depreciation, Opex 5 &
Book Depreciation (Plan, Forecast, Actuals) Capital Sh'uctl..lre {Deht,:‘ Equity) E i
Implemented May 2010 — oy s § omeres

Interest & Dividends E Analyses i~
Intercompany I

Tax Depreciation

Income Taxes
Consolidation
Credit Metrics
Implemented December 2011 |
7 PPL companies
8 Exhibit KWB-4, Financial Summary Table, contains a list of components
9 from the Company’s income statement, balance sheet and cash flow statement, the
10 basis to derive each item and the software system employed to arrive at each item.
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Has the Company prepared a list of all commercially available or in-house

developed computer software, programs, and models used in the development of

the schedules and work papers associated with the filing of the Application as

required by 807 KAR 5:001 Section 16(7)(t)?

Yes.

This information is located at Tab 50 of this application, and includes the

software, programs, and models used in the Company’s business planning process

and to develop the fully forecasted test period in this case.

Will you please describes the steps in the annual business planning process?

Yes. The process generally occurs along the following timeframe:

May - Workforce plan finalized and labor forecast loaded into PowerPlant.

June - Corporate burdens for employee benefits calculated and entered into
PowerPlant

July — Electric and gas sales and commodity price forecasts completed, and
loaded into UIPlanner

July-August - Capital plan prepared, reviewed, and loaded into PowerPlant

August (first half) - Generation forecast completed. reviewed, and loaded into
UlIPlanner

August (second half) - Operations and Maintenance, Costs of Sales and other
expense budgets completed, reviewed, and loaded into PowerPlant

August - PowerPlant extract imported into UIPlanner

September - Other revenue calculations, depreciation, financing and tax
calculations completed in UIPlanner

September/October - Business Plan presentations conducted, reviews
completed and necessary changes made

October - Business Plan reviewed with Senior Officers.

November - Business Plan reviewed with and approved by LKE Board and
submitted to PPL for inclusion in PPL financial projections.

13
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Please describe the process used to develop the work force plan and labor
forecast used in the business planning process.
The Human Resources Department works with each line of business to identify its
future labor needs and its planning assumptions for employee development, retention,
staffing changes, and workforce demographics. The current workforce, open
positions and projected needs are analyzed. The result of this process is documented
in the work force plan.

The work force plan is the starting point used to develop the labor forecast.
The Companies’ current labor force data is exported from PeopleSoft, the computer
application that is used to perform many of the Companies’ human resources
functions. Wage increases, vacation hours, personal days, and sick time are applied
to the PeopleSoft data which is then imported into PowerPlant. In the current
financial forecast, we have assumed three percent annual wage inflation. This
assumption is based on annual benchmarking studies. Those same studies are used to
determine salaries for new hires. PowerPlant then produces a labor forecast that
includes full-time and part-time regular employees, summarized by employee type
and expenditure organization.
In developing the work force plan and labor forecast, what issues are the
Companies required to address?
Our Company’s operations only continue to become more complex due to increasing
regulation of the environmental, financial and operational aspects of our business. As
a result, our employees must assume highly skilled roles in the workplace and be

capable of adapting to significant changes in technology and the regulatory
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environment. Our workforce must continue to evolve to attract and retain highly
skilled employees who can manage our increasingly complex operation and
compliance systems.

Before any position can be filled, even if the position is contained in the
approved budget or is a replacement for a departed employee, the applicable senior
officer with oversight for that position must justify the position and obtain the
approval of the other senior officers. The senior officers in this process consist of me,
Mr. Thompson, Mr. Rives, Mr. Reynolds and Dr. Paula Pottinger, Senior Vice-
President, Human Resources.

Please describe the component of the business planning process for the
determination of capital projects to be included in the Company’s business
planning and to develop the fully forecasted test period in this case.

Lines of business prepare a detailed list of capital projects by year, including the
dollar amounts involved over time, start date and in service date. The Investment
Committee mentioned earlier has established a subcommittee referred to as the
Resource Allocation Committee (“RAC”) to ensure capital budgets are prepared with
consistent prioritization rankings with an aim towards optimizing capital spending
across the enterprise. The RAC includes leaders from multiple business lines so that
decisions are made based on priorities of the company as a whole. The RAC serves
under the direction of, and makes recommendations to, the Investment Committee.
Changes in the five-year capital plan from year to year must be based on new facts
and circumstances and supported based on the need for and the cost effectiveness of

the projects included therein.
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Briefly describe how the Companies developed their forecast of electric and gas
sales, generation and off-system sales.

The Companies develop their electric and gas sales, generation and off-system sales
forecast through the business processes presented in the Companies’ integrated
resource plans and in certificate of public convenience and necessity filings.

Mr. Sinclair in his testimony provides a more detailed discussion of the
assumptions, software and methodology used to develop the electric and gas sales,
generation and off-system sales forecasts and the results of these forecasts.

Briefly describe the components of the business planning process for the
determination of the operation and maintenance expenses to be included in the
Company’s business planning and to develop the fully forecasted test period in
this case.

The budget for the Company’s operation and maintenance expenses is prepared by
each line of business using a detailed “bottoms up” approach. These expenses are
budgeted to the appropriate FERC account. These expenses, along with headcount,
capital and other costs, including the driving assumptions and business objectives of
each group are reviewed by various levels of management and presented to and
approved by the Company’s senior officers. A copy of the current year presentations
is included at Tab 16 of the Companies’ application.

Was the business planning process used to develop the fully forecasted test

period ending July 1, 2016 for this application?
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Yes. The fully forecasted test period supporting this base rate application was
developed through the Company’s business planning process under my supervision
and direction.

Did the Companies include certain assumptions concerning the cost of capital
when developing the forecasted test period for this case?

Yes, the Companies made assumptions concerning their capital structure, cost of debt
and cost of equity when developing the forecasted test period supporting their
applications.

Capital Structure

Please explain the capital structure of KU.
KU is firmly committed to maintaining its financial strength. One important metric
of this is the level of debt compared with the Company’s total capitalization. The
lower the proportion of debt, the greater the likelihood a company will have sufficient
cash flow to meet its interest and other debt obligations when they are due. Also, a
company with lower existing debt will likely have an easier time raising additional
funds when the need arises. This contributes to a higher credit rating and lower
interest costs.

Since 2007, the Company’s actual debt-to-capitalization ratios have been
between 45.69 percent and 47.89 percent. For the forecast test period, KU has
projected a debt-to-capitalization ratio of 46.98 percent. Maintaining this capital

structure is consistent with our targeted bond rating of “A.”
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How does Moody’s evaluate a utility’s capital structure?

Attached to this testimony as Exhibit KWB-5 is a copy of Moody’s Rating
Methodology, Regulated Electric and Gas Utilities, dated December 23, 2013. Under
Moody’s approach, four factors are considered: (1) regulatory framework, (2) ability
to recover costs and earn returns, (3) diversification, and (4) financial strength.

The financial metrics Moody’s uses to evaluate an entity’s financial strength
include the entity’s debt-to-capitalization ratio. As stated by Moody’s, “High debt
levels in comparison to capitalization can indicate higher interest obligations, can
limit the ability of a utility to raise additional financing if needed, and can lead to
leverage covenant violations in credit facilities or other financing agreements.”

KU aims for an “A” rating from Moody’s. This is consistent with a debt-to-
capitalization ratio of between 35 percent and 45 percent as calculated by Moody’s.
But Moody’s, as do other credit rating agencies, makes various adjustments in
computing a company’s debt. For example, long term obligations under pensions and
leases are included as “debt” obligations and deferred taxes are added back to equity.
Using these adjustments, KU’s debt-to-capitalization ratio for the base period is at
39.9 percent; for the forecast test period it is 39.5 percent, both near the middle of
Moody’s range for an “A” rating.

How do other rating agencies evaluate capital structure?
Recently, Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) adopted a revised rating methodology. This

methodology is described in the S&P Corporate Methodology and Key Credit

Factors for the Regulated Utilities Industry, dated November 19, 2013. This is

! Moody’s Rating Methodology, Regulated Electric and Gas Utilities, December 23, 2013, at page 23.
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attached to my testimony as Exhibit KWB-6. S&P’s new methodology assigns
values to the following metrics as defined by S&P’s analysis: Country Risk, Industry
Risk and Competitive Position, to determine a “Business Risk Profile.” This is then
considered along with a company’s “Financial Risk Profile,” which is determined by
the company’s cash flow in relation to its obligations. The result is then adjusted by
various “modifiers,” including capital structure, beyond the standard cash flow
adequacy and leverage analysis, such as debt maturities, interest-rate volatility, and
currency issues. Another modifier is corporate financial policy, which is S&P’s view
of the effect, whether positive, negative, or neutral, of the company’s management
that is not necessarily reflected by standard analysis of cash flow or leverage. An
additional S&P modifier is a company’s Liquidity, defined as a company’s ability to
meet its obligations in the event of declining earnings, or low probability negative
events. Obviously, a company’s debt-to-capitalization ratio affects both its Financial
Risk Profile in terms of whether its cash flow is sufficient to meet its fixed debt
obligations, as well as the Capital Structure and Liquidity modifiers. Although S&P’s
new methodology eliminates any direct correlation between a certain debt-to-equity
ratio and a certain rating, the capital structure has a direct impact on the coverage
ratios required to meet S&P’s ratings guidelines. The Company’s current capital
structure keeps the Financial Risk Profile ratios solidly in the “Intermediate” category
(using S&P’s low volatility table) which, combined with the “Excellent” Business

Risk Profile are consistent with our target rating of “A.”
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Why do the credit rating agencies adjust the debt balances when determining the
target capital structure?
The credit rating agencies view certain obligations, such as power-purchase
agreements (in the case of S&P), leases, pensions, and post-retirement benefit
obligations, as fixed obligations equivalent to debt. The Company accordingly makes
corresponding adjustments when calculating the debt in the target capital structure for
this purpose.

Cost of Debt
Please explain how KU’s cost of long-term debt was calculated.
KU’s weighted-average cost of long-term debt at the end of the base period is
projected to be 3.78 percent. It includes all components of interest expense for each
bond, including the interest paid to the bondholders, amortization of bond issuance
costs, amortization of pre-issuance hedging gains, debt discounts, credit facility costs,
and credit enhancements that support each series, if applicable. The credit
enhancement costs include any ongoing bond insurance fees and letter of credit fees
paid to banks.

KU’s weighted-average cost of long-term debt for the forecast period is
calculated as 4.07 percent. The forecast cost of debt includes a then current projected
issuance of $500 million of secured debt in October 2015, which represents
replacement of $250 million of debt maturing November 1, 2015, plus an additional

$250 million of new debt. This issuance was approved by the Commission in Case
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No. 2014-00082.% Interest on this October 2015 debt issuance was included in the
forecast using then current market interest rates, projected issuance costs and hedges
the Company had put in place as of that point in time in the form of forward starting
swaps. The calculation of KU’s cost of long-term debt is detailed on Filing Schedule
J-3 required by 807 KAR 5:001 Section16(8)(j). KU expects toprovide updates on
the cost of long-term debt as this case progresses.

Please explain how KU’s cost of short-term debt was calculated.

The cost of short-term debt is based on interest expense related to commercial paper
issuances. For future periods, the interest rate is based on forward LIBOR curves. At
the end of the base period, the rate is projected to be 0.64 percent and for the
forecasted period the 13-month-average rate is calculated to be 0.91 percent. The
build-up of the cost of short-term debt is shown on page 3 of Filing Schedule J-2
required by 807 KAR 5:001 Section 16(8)(j). KU expects to provide updates on the
cost of the short-term debt as this case progresses.

How does KU’s cost of debt compare to other utility companies?

KU monitors its cost of debt relative to a peer group of other utility companies on a
quarterly basis. As shown in Exhibit KWB-7, KU’s cost of debt (combined taxable
and tax-exempt debt) is the second lowest of any utility company in the peer group
for the twelve months ending June 30, 2014, with LG&E being the only utility in the

group with a lower cost of debt.

2 Case No. 2014-00082, In the Matter of: Application of Kentucky Utilities Company For an Order Authorizing
the Issuance of Securities and the Assumption of Obligations (Ky. PSC June 16, 2014), amended by Order of
June 30, 2014..
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Credit Ratings

What are KU’s current credit ratings?

Filing requirement section 807 KAR 5:001 Section 16(8)(k) at Tab 63 shows the
current credit ratings for KU. KU continues to maintain strong credit ratings which
enable the Company to raise debt capital at very reasonable costs.

Have there been any recent changes in the Company’s credit rating?

Yes. On January 31, 2014, Moody’s upgraded the ratings of both KU and LG&E
from Baal to A3. This upgrade was based primarily on Moody’s favorable view of
the supportiveness of the regulatory environment in which the Companies operate in
Kentucky. A copy of the news release announcing this upgrade is attached to this
testimony as Exhibit KWB-8. In addition, on July 18, 2014, S&P placed KU on
CreditWatch with positive implications and noted the possibility that KU’s current
BBB corporate credit rating could be raised by up to two notches. This reflected
S&P’s positive view of the possible spin-off of PPL’s merchant generation business.
S&P also favorably noted the credit supportive regulatory environment in Kentucky
and KU’s competitive rates and efficient operations. A copy of this announcement is
attached as Exhibit KWB-9. KU believes that the Commission’s balanced approach
serves utility companies and customers well and allows Kentucky customers to
receive some of the lowest-cost electricity in the United States.

Does KU have sufficient access to capital?

Yes. KU has authority from the FERC to issue up to $500 million in short-term debt.
KU maintains a $400 million revolving line of credit and a $198 million letter of

credit facility. KU also has a commercial paper program with authorization to issue
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up to $350 million in commercial paper. The revolving line of credit serves as a
backstop for any commercial paper issuances. In addition, by Orders dated June 16,
2014, and June 30, 2014, in Case No. 2014-00082, the Commission granted KU
authority to issue up to $500 million in long term debt, secured by first-mortgage
bonds before December 31, 2015.

Shareholders’ Equity

Can you please explain the assumptions included in your financial forecast
related to dividends and equity contributions?

KU’s dividends are based on a dividend payout ratio of 65 percent of the Company’s
earnings from the prior quarter. This is consistent with well-established utility
industry practice as well as our own practice over the last several years. Equity
contributions are made to balance the Company’s capital structure as discussed
earlier. During periods of extensive construction, these equity contributions can
actually exceed the level of dividend payments. Exhibit KWB-10 shows equity
contributions to KU compared to dividends paid by KU from 2013 through 2016.
Equity contributions constitute a critical source of capital for KU as it continues to
provide safe and reliable service, meet customer and regulatory expectations and
maintain the target capital structure discussed above.

Have you reviewed the testimony of William E. Avera and Adrien M. McKenzie
of FINCAP, Inc. regarding return on common equity?

Yes.
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Do you believe Dr. Avera’s proposed return on common equity is reasonable?
Yes. While | support FINCAP’s recommendation, | also support KU’s request of
only a 10.50 percent return, rather than the 10.64 percent return that Dr. Avera
recommends, for the reasons outlined in Mr. Staffieri’s testimony. It is important that
KU receive an adequate return on equity that considers the likely effect of regulatory
lag. In the past, KU has been able to rely upon native load growth and off-system
sales as revenue sources to offset rising operating costs and help mitigate the
regulatory lag associated with net investment beyond its last test year. As Mr.
Thompson observes in his testimony, the opportunity for off-system sales continues
to be severely diminished in the current wholesale market and, as demonstrated in
Mr. Sinclair’s testimony, forecasted load growth continues to be limited. In the face
of these conditions, KU still must incur several significant expenditures during the
forecasted test period ending June 30, 2016 and beyond. Under these circumstances,
KU’s opportunity to earn its authorized return between rate cases is subject to
significant risk even with the support of a fully forecasted test period.

SCHEDULES REQUIRED BY 807 KAR 5:001 SECTION 16

Are you sponsoring certain schedules required by the Commission’s regulation
807 KAR 5:001 Section 16?

Yes, in addition to the schedules I discuss later in my testimony required by 807 KAR
5:001 Section 16(8)(a-h and j), I am sponsoring the schedules filed with and in
support of the Company’s application in this case as shown on the list in Appendix B

to my testimony.
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FORECASTED TEST PERIOD

What is the forecasted test period the Company used for supporting the
requested increase in revenue in this case?

The forecasted test period begins July 1, 2015, and ends June 30, 2016.

What is the base period the Company used for purposes of its base rate
application in this case?

The base period is the 12-month period ending February 28, 2015 and consists of 6
months actual data from March 1, 2014 to August 31, 2014 and 6 months of
estimated data from September 1, 2014 to February 28, 2015. KU expects to file
updated information, any corrections and the actual data from September 1, 2014 to
February 1, 2015 with the Commission no later than April 14, 2015 or 45 days after
the end of the base period.

Operating Income Comparison-Electric Operations

Has the Company prepared jurisdictional adjustments to operating income by
major account of its electric operations for both base and forecasted test periods
as required by 807 KAR 5:001 Section 16(8)(d)?

Yes. This information (“Schedule D”) with supporting schedules is located at Tab 56
to the application. Schedule D provides the required comparisons between the base
period and the forecasted test period.

Please summarize Schedule D.

Schedule D is comprised of three schedules. Schedule D-1 shows Operating Revenue
and Expenses by account, for both the base period and the forecasted period and the

level of variance between the two. Certain jurisdictional pro forma adjustments are
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then applied to the forecast period to derive the pro forma forecast period used in

Schedule C. These pro forma adjustments are detailed in Schedule D-2.1 and include

the following:

Add back the Enviromental Cost Recovery (“ECR”) Surcharge costs
attributed to off-system sales as such costs must be recovered through
base rates rather than the ECR mechanism.

Adjust the forecasted test period for the proposed depreciation rate to
be used for Cane Run Unit 7. The details of the calculation of the Cane
Run Unit 7 depreciation rate are set forth in Mr. Spanos’s testimony.
Adjust revenues for certain customer changes which occurred after
preparation of the financial forecast. These changes are discussed in
Mr. Conroy’s testimony.

Eliminate advertising expenses as required by 807 KAR 5:016 Section
4.

Remove from income tax expense the tax benefit for the deduction of
interest on debt capitalization associated with capital projects

recovered through other rate mechanisms, predominantly ECR.

These Schedules are supported by the attached work papers showing details of the

specific adjustments.

Please summarize the differences in KU’s jurisdictional operating revenues

between the base period and pro forma forecasted period as shown on Schedule

D-1.
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Jurisdictional operating revenues are projected to increase $27.7 million or about 2
percent between the base period and pro forma forecast period. However, fuel and
purchased power are projected to increase approximately $19 million during this
same period. As a result, net revenues are only projected to increase $8.8 million.
Please summarize the differences operating expenses between the base period
and pro forma forecasted period as shown on Schedule D-1.

Jurisdictional operation and maintenance expenses, after removing fuel and purchased
power (rows 23, 51 and 61 on Schedule D-1), are projected to increase $38 million
between the base period and pro forma forecasted period. This increase has two
primary drivers. First, KU’s jurisdictional operating expenses in the forecasted period
include $11.8 million of non-fuel operation and maintenance expenses associated
with its 78 percent share of Cane Run Unit 7 that were not present in the base period.
In addition, employee pension and benefits are projected to increase $17.7 million
between the base period and pro forma forecasted period. Remaining jurisdictional
operation and maintenance expenses are projected to increase $7.8 million or 2.5
percent between the base period and pro forma forecasted period.

Why are the expenses in FERC account 926 - Employee Pension and Benefits
expected to increase during the forecasted period shown on Schedule D-1?

The Companies’ estimates for pension expense and required funding are based on an
actuarial study, using the RP-2014 Mortality Improvement Scale MP-2014. The cost
of the Companies’ pension programs had previously been calculated using Interim
Mortality Scale AA, which the Society of Actuaries (“SOA”) issued in 1994. The

Society of Actuaries recently issued RP-2014 Mortality Improvement Scale MP-
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2014, which is intended to replace prior scales. The Internal Revenue Service
(“IRS”) which establishes minimum funding calculation for corporate pension plans
is expected to consider the new estimates in 2016.> The updated tables show that
people are living longer. Use of the new tables extends the assumed lifetime of plan
participants, which will in turn increase the total expected benefit payments of the
Companies’ defined benefit plans and lengthen the plans’ time horizon, and increases
pension expense. The Companies are currently going through their annual process of
reviewing pension assumptions with their actuary and expect to validate or update
these assumptions during the course of this proceeding.

Also, the Companies project growth in medical expenses, along with
additional benefit increases due to headcount growth during the forecasted period.
The Companies have assumed that, with effective management and greater emphasis
and funding on wellness programs, annual increases in medical insurance premiums
can be limited to 4 percent with an additional 2 percent increase representing
expenditures for employee wellness and health programs, as well as increased
promotion of healthy lifestyle maintenance.

Are there any other significant Operating Expense increases between the base
period and pro forma forecasted period?

Yes. Depreciation expense is projected to increase by $19.8 million or 11.7 percent
and property taxes are projected to increase $3.1 million or 9.7 percent. These

increases are the direct product of new plant in-service and our approved depreciation

® Dan Fitzpatrick, Rising U.S. Life Spans Spell Likely Pain for Pension Funds: Society of Actuaries Boosts
U.S. Life Expectancies by About Two Years. Wall Street Journal (Online). Oct. 27, 2014. http//search
proquest.com/docview/1616574223?accountid=3730 (last visited Nov. 20, 2014).
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rates and current property tax rates, respectively. Both increases also incorporate
Cane Run Unit 7 going into service between the base period and pro forma forecasted
period.

Please explain why KU’s federal and state income tax expense shown on
Schedule D is expected to decrease during the forecasted period.

The decrease is due primarily to an anticipated decrease in Pretax Book Income, from
$338.3 million in the base period to $281.9 million in the forecasted period. As
shown on Schedule E the effective tax rate, computed as “Total Income Taxes” per
row 67 divided by “Book Net Income before Income Tax & Credits” per row 3,
remains relatively consistent for all periods presented at 39.4 percent for the base
period, 39.0 percent for the forecasted period and 38.8 percent for the pro-forma
forecasted period.

Calculation of Jurisdictional Revenue Deficiency

Has the Company prepared a jurisdictional financial summary of its electric
operations for both base and forecasted test periods as required by 807 KAR
5:001 Section 16(8)(a)?

Yes. This information (“Schedule A”) is located at Tab 53 to the application and
shows how the Company determined the amount of the requested revenue increase.
Briefly describe how the jurisdictional financial summary shown in Schedule A
was prepared.

The Company first determined the amount of required operating income by
multiplying the required rate of return by the total capital allocated to the Company’s

jurisdictional electric operations for the forecasted test period. The total allocated
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capital and required rate of return are obtained from the cost of capital summary
required by 807 KAR 5:001 Section 16(8)(j) (“Schedule J”). Total adjusted operating
income produced by the Company’s present rates, which is found in the jurisdictional
operating summary required by 807 KAR 5:001 Section 16(8)(c) (“Schedule C”) is
then subtracted from the total required operating income. The difference is then
multiplied by the gross revenue conversion factor, whose computation is required by
807 KAR 5:001 Section 16(8)(h) (“Schedule H”) which takes into account the effects
of various state and federal taxes and bad debt expense. This product represents the
additional revenues that the Company’s electric operations require to meet its
reasonable operating expenses and earn a reasonable rate of return.

What does the Company’s financial summary on Schedule A show?

The financial summary shows that the Company’s electric operations, at current rates,
will incur a projected revenue deficiency of $153,443,950 for the forecasted test
period, the 12 month period ending June 30, 2016. The projected revenue deficiency
is based upon a required rate of return of 7.38 percent. During the forecasted test
period, at current rates the Company’s electric operations are projected to earn a rate
of return of only 4.68 percent.

How do the results for the forecasted test period compare to the base period?

For the base period, which ends February 28, 2015, the Company’s electric
operations are expected to have a revenue deficiency of $84,433,977 and an earned
rate of return of 5.71 percent. During the forecasted test period, the revenue
deficiency for the Company’s electric operations is projected to increase and its

earned rate of return on capital is projected to further decline.
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Property Valuations Presented: Capitalization and Rate Base

What are the property valuation measures to be considered by the Commission
for ratemaking purposes?

Section 278.290 of the Kentucky Revised Statutes requires the Commission to give
due consideration to three quantifiable values: original cost (rate base), cost of
reproduction as a going concern, and capital structure. The Commission is also
required to consider the history and development of the utility and its property and
other elements of value long recognized for ratemaking purposes.

Which property valuation methodology has the Company chosen to support its
requested rate changes in this case?

In keeping with the Company’s approach in its four most recent base rate cases, the
Company has chosen the capitalization methodology of property valuation. The
Commission has approved this approach in all four of the Company’s most recent
base rate cases, and the methodology produces a lower revenue requirement than
using the net-original-cost-rate-base methodology.

Should the Commission extensively consider using the cost of reproduction as a
going concern valuation methodology in this case?

No. While the Company had previously presented the reproduction cost of its
investment in utility plant in service and the Commission has considered such

methodology,* the Commission has consistently found such methodology was not the

* See, e.g., Case No. 8284, General Adjustment in Electric and Gas Rates of Louisville Gas and Electric
Company (Ky. PSC Jan. 4, 1982).

31



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

most appropriate or reasonable measure for rate of return valuation.” This
methodology typically leads to a significantly higher revenue requirement than the
capitalization or rate base methodologies. Moreover, the United States Supreme
Court has been critical of the use of this methodology for ratemaking purposes.® In
light of this extensive precedent, the Company believes presenting the reproduction
methodology’s results and raising the methodology’s use as an issue for the
Commission’s review and consideration in detail will not result in a productive or
efficient use of the Commission’s limited resources or those of any intervening party.
The Commission’s consideration of this evidence should be sufficient in light of this
extensive precedent.

Cost of Capital Summary

Has the Company prepared a cost of capital summary for both base and
forecasted test periods as required by 807 KAR 5:001 Section 16(8)(j)?
Yes. This information (“Schedule J”) is located at Tab 62 to the application.
Schedule J consists of five schedules:

. J-1 Cost of Capital Summary

. J-1.1/J-1.2  Average Forecasted Period Capital Structure

. J-2 Embedded Cost of Short-Term Debt

> See, e.g., Case No. 8227, The Application of Western Kentucky Gas Company For Authority to Adjust Its
Rates (Ky. PSC Oct. 9, 1981) (“net original cost, net investment and capital structure valuation methods are still
the most prudent, efficient and economical measures of reasonable rate of return valuation”). See also Case No.
90-076, An Adjustment of the Rates of Elzie Neeley Gas Company (Ky. PSC Dec. 7, 1990) (noting that
reproduction cost appraisal inflates a utility’s rate base, results in a valuation that has no economic substance,
and could result in rates that are excessive in relation to the actual investment made by the owners of the

See, e.g., State of Missouri ex rel. Southwestern Bell Telephone Co. v. Public Service Commission of
Missouri, 262 U.S. 276 (1923) (Brandeis, J. concurring); St. Joseph Stock Yards Co. v. U.S., 298 U.S. 38
(1936); Federal Power Commission v. Natural Gas Pipeline Co. of America, 315 U.S. 575 (1942).
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. J-3 Embedded Cost of Long-Term Debt

. B-1.1 Jurisdictional Rate Base for Capital Allocation

Schedules J-2 and J-3, and Supporting Schedule B-1.1 provide inputs to the
calculations shown on Schedules J-1 and J-1.1/J-1.2.
Please describe Schedule J-2.
Schedule J-2 consists of three pages, each of which provides the short-term debt
amounts, corresponding interest rates, and weighted cost of short-term debt for the
relevant time period. The first page provides the short-term debt information as of
the end of the base period, February 28, 2015. The second page provides the short-
term debt information as of the end of the forecasted test period, June 30, 2016. The
third page provides the 13-month-average short-term debt information for the
forecasted test period.
Please describe Schedule J-3.
Schedule J-3 consists of three pages, each of which provides the long-term debt
information necessary to calculate the embedded cost of long-term debt for the
relevant time period, which is shown at the bottom right-hand corner of each page’s
data. The first page provides the long-term debt information as of the end of the base
period, February 28, 2015. The second page provides the long-term debt information
as of the end of the forecasted test period, June 30, 2016. The third page provides the
13-month-average long-term debt information for the forecasted test period.
Please describe Supporting Schedule B-1.1.
Supporting Schedule B-1.1 consists of four pages, two showing the calculations of net

original cost rate base and cash working capital as of the end of the base period and
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two showing the same calculations for the 13-month-average as of the end of the
forecasted test period. The percentages shown in Line 20, “Percentage of Rate Base
to Total Company Rate Base,” for Column 2, “Kentucky Jurisdictional Rate Base,”
on pages 1 and 3 of Supporting Schedule B-1.1 are the rate-base-allocation
percentages used to allocate capital in Schedules J-1 and J-1.1/J-1.2, respectively.
Please describe Schedule J-1.1/3-1.2.

As 807 KAR 5:001 Section 16(6)(c) requires, Schedule J-1.1/J-1.2 shows the
calculation of the Company’s 13-month-average adjusted capitalization, as well as the
weighted average cost of capital, the Company used to determine the net operating
income found reasonable on Schedule A. This schedule is comparable to the Exhibit
2 the Company has filed in its recent historical-test-period base rate cases. As
indicated on Schedule J-1.1/J-1.2, the requested rate of return on capitalization is 7.38
percent, based on the proposed 10.50 percent return on common equity proposed by
the Company, which is within the range of returns on common equity recommended
by Dr. Avera and Mr. McKenzie. Page 1 provides this calculation, while page 2
details the “Adjustment Amount” included in Column D of page 1 and page 3 details
the “Jurisdictional Adjustments” included in Column H of page 1.

The adjustments on page 2 of this schedule remove KU’s equity investment in
Electric Energy Inc., Ohio Valley Electric Corporation, and other net non-utility
investments. The adjustments on page 2 are consistent with the adjustments approved
in the Commission’s Orders in Case Nos. 2009-00548 and 2003-00434, and as
proposed by KU in Case Nos. 2012-00221 and 2008-00251, which were resolved by

settlements approved by the Commission.
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The adjustments on page 3 of this schedule remove the Company’s ECR
Surcharge and the DSM cost-recovery mechanism rate base amounts from
capitalization to be considered in this proceeding. Removing ECR and DSM rate
base from the Company’s capitalization is necessary because the Company recovers
its ECR and DSM capital investments, and a return on those investments, through the
environmental surcharge and DSM cost-recovery mechanisms. For DSM rate base,
this includes removing the rate base associated with the Company’s Advanced
Metering Systems (“AMS”) customer offering, which the Commission approved in
its final order in Case No. 2014-00003.”

Column F on page 1 of this schedule contains the rate-base allocation factor to
remove from KU’s total utility capitalization all non-Kentucky-jurisdictional capital.
The rate-base-allocation factor is calculated on Supporting Schedule B-1.1.

Column J shows each capital component’s percentage of total capitalization,
which is calculated by dividing the individual capital component’s amount shown in
Column | by the “Total Capital” shown at the bottom of Column I. Column K shows
the cost rate for each capital component: short-term debt from Schedule J-2, long-
term debt from Schedule J-3, and the return on common equity of 10.50 percent |
discussed above. Finally, Column L multiplies capitalization percentages in Column
J by the cost rates in Column K to obtain the 13-month-average weighted cost of each
capital component. The total weighted capital cost, 7.38 percent, appears in Line 4 of

Schedule A.

" In the Matter of: Joint Application of Louisville Gas and Electric Company and Kentucky Utilities Company
for Review, Madification, and Continuation of Existing, and Addition of New, Demand-Side Management and
Energy Efficiency Programs, Case N. 2014-00003, Order (Nov. 14, 2014).
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Please describe Schedule J-1.

Schedule J-1 shows the calculation of the Company’s adjusted capitalization, as well
as the weighted average cost of capital, as of the end of the base and forecasted test
periods. Each page of this schedule is comparable to the first page of the Exhibit 2
the Company has filed in its previous historical-test-year base-rate cases and
Schedule J-1.1/J-1.2 in this proceeding, with the exceptions that (1) Schedule J-1 does
not contain detailed calculations of the adjustment amounts shown in Column H of
each page of the schedule and (2) the inputs the various pages of Schedule J-1 draw
from Schedules J-2 and J-3, and Supporting Schedule B-1.1 differ because they
address different time periods. Therefore, it is necessary to correlate the appropriate
pages of Schedules J-2 and J-3, and Supporting Schedule B-1.1 with the page of
Schedule J-1 the reader is using.

Jurisdictional Rate Base Summary

Has the Company prepared a jurisdictional rate base summary for both base
and forecasted test periods as required by 807 KAR 5:001 Section 16(8)(b)?

Yes. The Company has prepared a Schedule B to satisfy the requirements of 807
KAR 5:001 Section 16(8)(b); Schedule B is located at Tab 54 to the application. The
information contained in Schedule B provides KU’s net original cost rate base
property as required under KRS 278.290. The rate base amounts calculated are for
the base period (as of Feb. 28, 2015) and for a 13-month-average for the forecasted

test period as required by 807 KAR 5:001 Section 16(6)(c).
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Please describe the components of Schedule B.
Schedule B consists of a summary schedule, Schedule B-1, showing KU’s calculated
rate base for the base period and the forecasted test period. The information
contained in Schedule B-1 derives from the remaining schedules in Schedule B,
which calculate the rate base components and adjustments: Plant in Service
(Schedules B-2 — B-2.7), Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization (Schedules B-
3 — B-3.2), Construction Work in Progress (Schedule B-4 — B-4.2), Allowance for
Working Capital (Schedules B-5 — B-5.2), Deferred Credits and Accumulated
Deferred Income Taxes (Schedule B-6), and Jurisdictional Percentages (Schedules B-
7 — B-7.2). Also, Schedule B-8 provides comparative balance sheets for calendar
years 2009-2013, as well as for the base period and for the forecasted test period. In
keeping with the Company’s historical-test-period base rate cases, Schedule B-5.2
computes cash working capital using the 45-day (1/8) methodology.
Please explain the adjustments to base-period and forecasted-test-period rate
base shown in Schedule B-2.2.
Schedule B-2.2 removes from the utility’s rate base the portions of rate base for
which the utility’s other rate mechanisms provide a return of and on the utility’s
investment. These mechanisms are the DSM cost-recovery mechanism and the ECR
surcharge. Schedule B-2.2 also reduces KU’s jurisdictional rate base by the net-
utility-plant amount related to its sale of Granville lights to the Lexington-Fayette
Urban County Government.

Schedule B-2.2 further removes Asset Retirement Obligation (“ARO”) assets

from rate base, which is consistent with the Company’s approach in its historical-test-
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year base rate cases. In Case No. 2003-00427, the Commission issued an order
approving a stipulation between KU and the intervenors, which stipulation requested
the Commission’s approval for the following:

1) Approving the regulatory assets and liabilities associated with
adopting SFAS No. 143 and going forward,;

2) Eliminating the impact on net operating income in the 2003 ESM
annual filing caused by adopting SFAS No. 143;

3) To the extent accumulated depreciation related to the cost of removal
is recorded in regulatory assets or regulatory liabilities, reclassifying
such amounts to accumulated depreciation for rate-making purposes of
calculating rate base; and

4) Excluding from rate base the ARO assets, related ARO asset
accumulated depreciation, ARO liabilities, and remaining regulatory
assets associated with the adoption of SFAS No. 143.

In Case No. 2003-00434, KU excluded ARO assets from rate base. The
Commission approved the exclusion in its June 30, 2004 Order in that proceeding.
The Commission also approved the exclusion in the Company’s next rate case, 2009-
00548. KU similarly excluded such amounts in Case Nos. 2012-00221 and 2008-
00251, which were resolved by settlements approved by the Commission.

In summary, what does Schedule B show?

Schedule B shows that KU’s jurisdictional adjusted rate base as of the end of the base
period will be $3,636,964,242, which will increase to a 13-month average of
$3,669,268,543 for the forecasted test period. When the adjusted operating income
shown in Schedule A for the forecasted test period ($167,044,210) is divided by the
13-month-average rate base for the same period, the result is that KU’s utility
operation will produce a rate of return on average rate base of 4.55 percent. If the

Commission approves the requested increase and KU’s utility operation earns its
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required operating income shown in Schedule A for the forecasted test period
($263,439,015), it will earn a rate of return on rate base of 7.18 percent.

Jurisdictional Operating Income Summary - Electric Operations

Has the Company prepared a jurisdictional operating income summary of its
electric operations for both base and forecasted test periods as required by 807
KAR 5:001 Section 16(8)(c)?
Yes. This information (“Schedule C”) is located at Tab 55 to the application.
Briefly describe Schedule C.
Schedule C is a jurisdictional operating income summary for the base period and the
forecasted period with supporting schedules that are broken down by major account
group and by individual account. It consists of four schedules:

. Schedule C-1 (Jurisdictional Operating Income Summary)

. Schedule C-2 (Jurisdictional Adjusted Operating Income Statement)

. Schedule C-2.1 (Jurisdictional Operating Revenues and Expenses By

Account)

. Schedule C-2.2 (Comparison of Electric Utility Activity)
Please describe Schedule C-1.
Schedule C-1 summarizes the Company’s jurisdictional operating revenues and
expenses for the Company’s electric operations for the base and forecasted test
periods. The schedule depicts the base period level (Column 1), forecasted test period
level at current rates (Column 3), and forecasted test period levels at the proposed

rates (Column 5).
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The amounts set forth in Schedule C-1, Column 1 reflect the Company’s
adjusted base period amounts as shown at pages 1-6 of Schedule C-2.1, Column 5.
These amounts represent base year totals adjusted to remove revenues and expenses
associated with the DSM, ECR, and the Fuel Adjustment Clause (“FAC”)
mechanisms, as these represent revenues and costs recovered outside of base rates.
The removal of these revenues and expenses are shown on Schedule D-2. The
adjustments in Schedule C-1, Column 2 are detailed in schedule D-1.

Schedule C-1, Column 4 reflects the change in revenues and expenses
resulting from the implementation of the proposed rates. Revenues will increase
$153,443,950, which is equal to the amount of the “Revenue Deficiency” and
“Revenue Increase Requested” reported on Schedule A. Expenses will increase
$57,049,146 to reflect increased taxes, bad debt expenses (included in “Operation and
Maintenance Expenses”) and KPSC assessments fees (included in “Taxes Other Than
Income”) related to the increased revenues. Note that the proposed increase in “Net
Operating Income” (Column 4, line 13) is equal to the Operating Income Deficiency
reported in Schedule A.

Schedule C-1, Column 5 reflects projected revenues and expenses for the
forecasted test period at the Company’s proposed rates.

What does Schedule C-1 show?

For the base period, the Company projects total net operating income of
$199,085,734, which results in a return on capitalization of 5.71 percent. Total net
operating income during the forecasted test period is projected to decrease to

$167,044,210. Because the level of capital devoted to the Company’s electric
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operations will increase from $3,489,230,276 to $3,568,968,426, the Company’s
return on capitalization will decrease to 4.68 percent.

Please describe Schedule C-2.

Schedule C-2 details the Company’s adjusted jurisdictional operating statement for
the base period and the forecasted test period as used in Columns 1 and 3 of Schedule
C-1, and breaks down “Forecasted Adjustments at Current Rates” per Column 2 of
Schedule C-1 between *“Jurisdictional Adjustments to Base Period” (Column 2 of
Schedule C-2) and *“Jurisdictional Pro Forma Adjustments to Forecasted Period”
(Column 4 of Schedule C-2).

Schedule C-2, Column 2 represents adjustments to the base period amounts to
reflect forecasted test period conditions. These adjustments are shown in detail on
Schedule D-1, Column 2 and are described at Schedule D-1, Column 6.

Schedule C-2, Column 4 reflects the pro forma adjustments to forecasted test
period operations. These adjustments are listed in detail in Schedule D-2.1. The
amounts in Schedule C-2, Column 4 correspond to the amounts at Schedule D-2.1,
Column 10.

Schedule C-2, Column 5 represents the pro forma forecasted test period
amount. The amounts in Column 5 correspond to those in Schedule C-1, Column 3.
Please describe Schedule C-2.1.

Schedule C-2.1 is a statement of jurisdictional operating revenues and expense by
account for the base period and for the forecasted test period. It details how the
Company’s jurisdictional net operating income was determined for the base period

and forecast period.
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Please describe Schedule C-2.2.

Schedule C-2.2 is a comparison of the Company’s electric operations on a monthly
basis for the base period and for the forecasted test period. The information in this
schedule is further classified by account. The information for the six months ending
August 31, 2014 reflects actual operations. The remaining months of the base period
and all of the forecasted test period are forecasted.

Jurisdictional Federal and State Income Tax Summary

Has the Company prepared a jurisdictional federal and state income tax
summary of its electric operations for both base and forecasted test periods as
required by 807 KAR 5:001 Section 16(8)(e)?

Yes. This information (“Schedule E”) is located at Tab 57 to the application.

Please describe Schedule E.

Schedule E is in two parts, Schedule E-1 shows the Company’s jurisdictional income
tax at current rates for the base period and shows pro forma adjustments at both
current and proposed rates for the forecasted test period. Schedule E-2 shows how the
jurisdictional allocation was derived. This allocation was based on the same
methodology KU has historically used in its base rate cases, and is unchanged from
its last rate case, Case No. 2012-00221. The effective tax rate, computed as “Total
Income Taxes” per row 67 divided by “Book Net Income before Income Tax &
Credits” per row 3, remains relatively consistent for all periods presented at 39.4
percent for the base period, 39.0 percent for the forecasted period and 38.8 percent for

the pro forma forecasted period.
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Gross Revenue Conversion Factor

Has the Company prepared a computation of a gross revenue conversion factor
for the forecasted test period of its electric operations as required by 807 KAR
5:001 Section 16(8)(h)?

Yes. This information (“Schedule H”) is located at Tab 60 to the application.

Please describe Schedule H.

Schedule H sets forth the calculation of the gross revenue conversion factor
(“GRCF”). This is the factor, or multiplier, used to gross-up the operating income
deficiency to a revenue deficiency amount. This factor is designed to cover income
taxes, uncollectible accounts expense and revenue-based fees assessed by the
Commission on the requested revenue increase. The federal and state income tax
rates are calculated as shown in the attached Workpaper WPH-1.A at Tab 60. The
uncollectible accounts expense rate of 0.32 percent is based on observed trends in net
write-offs and is lower than the historic 5-year average of 0.36 percent. The rate used
for the KPSC assessment fee is based on the last assessment notice received by the
Company. The GRCF is used on Schedule A to compute the calculated revenue
deficiency based on the calculated net operating income deficiency.

What is your recommendation in this proceeding?

I recommend the Commission authorize the changes in electric base rates that the
Company has proposed in its application to recover $153,442,682 of the revenue
deficiency in the forecasted period jurisdictional revenue requirement.

Does this conclude your testimony?

Yes.
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) SS:
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Chief Financial Officer for Kentucky Utilities Company and Louisville Gas and Electric
Company and an employee of LG&E and KU Services Company, and that he has
personal knowledge of the matters set forth in the foregoing testimony, and that the
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APPENDIX A
Kent W. Blake

Chief Financial Officer
LG&E and KU Energy LLC
220 West Main Street
Louisville, Kentucky 40202
Telephone: (502) 627-2573

Previous Positions
LG&E and KU Energy LLC (f/k/a E.ON U.S., LG&E Energy LLC)

Vice President, Corporate Planning and Development 2007-2012
Vice President, State Regulation and Rates 2003-2007
Director, State Regulation and Rates

Director, Regulatory Initiatives

Director, Business Development 2002-2003
Director, Finance and Business Analysis

Mirant Corporation (f/k/a Southern Company Energy Marketing) 1998-2002

Senior Director, Applications Development
Director, Systems Integration
Trading Controller

LG&E Energy Corp. 1997-1998

Director, Corporate Accounting and Trading Controls

Arthur Andersen LLP 1988-1997

Manager, Audit and Business Advisory Services
Senior Auditor
Audit Staff

Education

University of Kentucky, B.S. in Accounting, 1988
Certified Public Accountant, Kentucky, 1991

Professional and Community Affiliations

American Institute of Certified Public Accountants
Kentucky State Society of Certified Public Accountants
Edison Electric Institute

Financial Executives Institute

Leadership Louisville, 2007

CASA of the River Region, Chair

Metro United Way, Board Member



APPENDIX B

List of Schedules Required by 807 KAR 5:001 Section 16 Sponsored by Kent W. Blake

Application 807 KAR 5:001 Information Required
Tab Section 16 Subsection

8 (16)(6) (a) Financial data for forecasted period presented as
pro forma adjustments to base period

9 (16)(6) (b) Forecasted adjustments limited to twelve (12)
months immediately following suspension period

10 (16)(6) (c) Capitalization and net investment rate base

11 (16)(6) (d) No revisions to forecast

12 (16)(6) (e) Commission may require alternative forecast

13 (16)(6) (f) Reconciliation of rate base and capital used to
determine revenue requirements

15 16)(7) (b) Most recent capital construction budget

containing at a minimum 3-year forecast of
construction expenditures

16 16)(7) (c) Complete description of all factors used to
prepare forecast period

17 16)(7) (d) Annual and monthly budget for 12 months
preceding filing date, base period and forecasted
period

21 (16)(7) (h) Financial forecast for each of 3 forecasted years

included in capital construction budget supported
by underlying assumptions made in projecting
results of operations and including the following:
(See Tabs 22-25, 30-33, and 38)

22 (16)(7) (1) Operating income statement (exclusive of
dividends per share or earnings per share)

23 (16)(7) (2) Balance sheet

24 (16)(7) (3) Statement of cash flows

25 16)(7) (4) Revenue requirements necessary to support
forecasted rate of return

30 (16)(7) (9) Employee level

31 (16)(7) (10) Labor cost changes

32 (16)(7) (11) Capital structure requirements

33 (16)(7) (12) Rate base

38 16)(7) (17) Detailed explanation of any other

information provided
40 (26)(7) (j) Prospectuses of most recent stock or bond
offerings
42 (16)(7) (1) Annual report to shareholders or members and

statistical supplements covering most recent 2 years
from the application filing date
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APPENDIX B

Application 807 KAR 5:001 Information Required
Tab Section 16 Subsection
44 16)(7) (n) Latest 12 months of monthly managerial reports

providing financial results of operations in
comparison to forecast

45 16)(7) (o) Complete monthly budget variance reports with
narrative explanations for the 12 months
immediately prior to base period, each month of
base period and subsequent months, as available

46 16)(7) (p) SEC’s annual report (Form 10-K) for most
recent 2 years, any Form 8-Ks issued during past 2
years, and any Form 10-Qs issued during past 6

quarters
47 (16)(7) (9) Independent auditor’s annual opinion report
48 16)(7) (r) Quarterly reports to the stockholders for the
most recent 5 quarters
50 (26)(7) (t) All commercial or in-house computer software,

programs and models used to develop schedules
and work papers associated with application

53 (16)(8) (@) Jurisdictional financial summary for both base
and forecasted periods

54 (16)(8) (b) Jurisdictional rate base summary for both base
and forecasted periods

55 (16)(8) (c) Jurisdictional operating income summary for
both base and forecasted periods

56 (16)(8) (d) Summary of jurisdictional adjustments to
operating income by major account with supporting
schedules

57 (16)(8) (e) Jurisdictional federal and state income tax
summary for both base and forecasted periods

58 (16)(8) (F) Summary schedules for both base and forecasted

periods of organization membership dues; initiation
fees; expenditures for country club; charitable
contributions; marketing, sales and advertising;
professional services; civic and political activities;
employee parties and outings; employee gifts; and
rate cases

59 (16)(8) (9) Analyses of payroll costs including schedules
for wages and salaries, employees benefits, payroll
taxes straight time and overtime hours, and
executive compensation by title

60 (16)(8) (h) Computation of gross revenue conversion factor

Page 2 of 3




APPENDIX B

Application 807 KAR 5:001 Information Required
Tab Section 16 Subsection

for forecasted period

61 (16)(8) (i) Comparative income statements (exclusive of
dividends per share or earnings per share), revenue
statistics and sales statistics for 5 calendar years
prior to application filing date, base period,
forecasted period and 2 calendar years beyond
forecast period

62 (16)(8) (j) Cost of capital summary for both base and
forecasted periods
63 (16)(8) (k) Comparative financial data and earnings

measures for the 10 most recent calendar years,
base period and forecast period
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Exhibit KWB-1
Capital Budget for 2015-2019



LKE Capex 2015 BP

5 Year Capital Expenditures

S000s

LKE: 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Environmental 704,824 568,613 385,260 363,134 507,833 370,343
Generating Facilities 242,810 196,949 156,031 151,287 264,622 664,577
Distribution Facilities 223,446 244,977 252,005 248,011 223,277 240,608
Transmission Facilities 77,408 59,116 53,505 83,776 72,520 88,001
Other 58,405 55,457 72,725 61,595 51,260 53,198
Total Capital Expenditures 1,306,893 1,125,113 919,526 907,804 1,119,511 1,416,727
KU: 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Environmental 340,366 228,075 186,595 186,509 246,750 222,372
Generating Facilities 137,899 104,825 71,445 82,052 172,667 407,238
Distribution Facilities 76,842 86,854 90,035 94,329 94,129 101,834
Transmission Facilities 42,390 43,351 41,438 58,564 55,633 67,992
Other 29,434 28,510 37,762 33,775 29,405 27,246
Total Capital Expenditures 626,931 491,615 427,275 455,229 598,585 826,682
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LG&E: 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Environmental 364,458 340,538 198,666 176,626 261,083 147,971
Generating Facilities 104,852 92,124 84,585 69,235 91,955 257,338
Distribution Facilities 146,604 158,123 161,970 153,682 129,148 138,774
Transmission Facilities 35,017 15,765 12,068 25,212 16,886 20,009
Other 26,840 25,381 34,212 27,650 21,527 25,434
Total Capital Expenditures 677,773 631,931 491,501 452,405 520,598 589,527
LKE Other: 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Other 2,189 1,567 750 170 329 517
Total Capital Expenditures 2,189 1,567 750 170 329 517
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Exhibit KWB-2

Capital and Investment Review Policy



Exhibit KWB-2
Page 1 of 11

LG&E AND KU ENERGY LLC Policy

Date: 05/01/2014

Capital and Investment Review

Policy
The primary purpose of the Capital and Investment Review Policy is to establish a uniform

process for:

capital planning and budgeting;

authorizing the expenditure of funds;

controlling and reporting of capital expenditures;

developing review criteria for the authorization process;

recording lessons learned for future investments and decisions; and

determining how the investment is performing and how the returns compare to the project
as sanctioned.

ocoakrwhE

Further, these policies will provide management with the necessary tools to make informed
business decisions. A capital expenditure includes adding, replacing or retiring units of property
through the construction or acquisition process. Generally, it is inappropriate to capitalize
expenditures that are part of routine or necessary maintenance programs. If a substantial
improvement is made to an asset, the following two sets of criteria should be used to determine
whether or not capitalization is appropriate:

The improvement must meet both of the following criteria:
1. Be a minimum of $2,000.
2. Meet the definition of a capitalizable cost under the FERC Uniform System of Accounts.

In addition, the improvement must do at least one of the following criteria:
1. Extend the original useful life of the asset.
2. Increase the throughput or capacity of the asset.
3. Increase operating efficiency.

Questions relating to the categorization of an expenditure as capital or O&M expense should be
directed to Property Accounting. The Controller will have the ultimate authority of interpreting
expense versus capital decisions based on generally accepted accounting principles. See
Property Accounting’s Home Page.

Scope
This policy applies to LG&E and KU Energy LLC (“LKE” or “the Company”) and its

subsidiaries.

General Requirements



http://www.ecfr.gov/cgi-bin/text-idx?SID=7573dc504e783c17c247f0322276eddb&node=18:1.0.1.3.34&rgn=div5
http://intranet/BusAreas/Finance/ControllerGrp/Pages/PropertyAccounting.aspx
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LG&E AND KU ENERGY LLC Policy

Date: 05/01/2014

Capital and Investment Review

1. All capital spending that is expected to occur during the current year must be budgeted in the

approved Business Plan (BP).

There will be no carry-over of spending capital authority from one year to the next.

3. An Authorization for Investment Proposal (AIP) must be completed in PowerPlant for all

capital spending projects.

Projects with a total cost of $2,000 or less will be expensed.

An Investment Proposal (IP) and Capital Evaluation Model (CEM) must be completed for all

capital spending projects greater than $500,000 unless otherwise approved by Financial

Planning and Analysis (FP&A).

6. The Information Technology Department must approve all capital projects involving
anything related to information technology.

7. All investment projects greater than $1,000,000 require the approval of the Investment
Committee (IC).

8. The IC is required to approve any overrun of $500,000 or greater on previously approved
proposals. If the previous proposal was below the IC threshold and the revised amount is
over the respective IC threshold, the proposal needs to be approved by the IC regardless of
the increase amount.

N

ok~

Capital Planning

The BP is used to inform senior management of future capital-spending projections. These plans
are prepared annually on a line of business (LOB) basis and include the forecast of capital
projections during the most current annual planning period. The first year of the BP, once
approved, becomes the formal budget for that year.

Carry-Over Spending: During preparation of the BP, each LOB will review all current-year
projects to determine if they will be completed as of the end of the year. If a project is expected
to be in process at year-end, but not complete, it must be included in the following year's BP for
additional funds to be approved.

Capital Approval Process

Authorization for Investment Proposal: Although specific capital projects are identified in the
budgeting process, they are still subject to the Authority Limit Matrix approval requirements and
all other reviews as stated on the AIP in PowerPlant. Projects are not considered approved until
appropriate approvals are obtained.

The AIP is used to request the appropriate approvals for spending on capital projects. A

completed AIP is subject to the following conditions:

e An AIP must be submitted and approved in PowerPlant prior to committing to or incurring
any capital expenditure.


http://intranet/BusAreas/Finance/FinPlan/Pages/Forms.aspx
http://intranet/BusAreas/Finance/FinPlan/Pages/Forms.aspx
http://intranet/BusAreas/HR/Peoplelink/Policies/Authority%20Limit%20Matrix.pdf
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Date: 05/01/2014

Capital and Investment Review

e Approvals must be obtained up to the levels designated in the Authority Limit Matrix for the
dollar amount of any project (which may include multiple projects). The combined dollar
amount on multiple projects grouped together using the Budget Item field in PowerPlant is
the determinant for approval levels.

e Any AIP over $500,000 must include an IP and CEM and must be submitted to FP&A for
approval.

e A completed AIP must be submitted and approved prior to the disposal of any capital asset.

In addition, an IP must be submitted for disposal projects of $500,000 or more.

e A revised AIP must be submitted for significant project overruns (see below).

Investment Proposal: The IP is used to explain in detail the nature and justification of the capital
project. Capital projects over $500,000 on a burdened basis require the submittal of an IP and
CEM along with the AIP. The following information will provide senior management with
consistent documentation for evaluating capital projects. The IP template is published on the
FP&A intranet website and must include the following sections at a minimum:

e Header — Include the project name, total expenditures, project number, LOB, who prepared
the project and who will present the project (if applicable).

e Executive Summary (¥2-page length recommended) — Provide a summary explanation of the
scope, purpose and necessity of the proposal. Include financial benefits, funding information
and qualitative reasons why this proposal should be pursued.

e Background — Explain the history of the project that has led to the need for the project.

e Project Description — Include project scope, timeline and project cost.

e Economic Analysis and Risks — Include bid summary, assumptions, financial summary,
environmental impact, risks and other alternatives considered (including their net present
value revenue requirements [NPVRR] per the CEM, if applicable).

e Conclusion and recommendation.

e Itis recommended that the IP not exceed 5 pages.

Unbudgeted Projects: Any capital expenditure that is not included in the original, approved
budget must either be offset by a like reduction in one or more budgeted projects, approved by
the Resource Allocation Committee (RAC) if subject to the RAC Tenets or have prior written
approval by the LKE Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and Chief Executive Officer (CEO). FP&A
must approve AIPs for unbudgeted projects (see FP&A Approvals below). Certain Generation
Miscellaneous Projects, as described below, are exempt from being considered unbudgeted.

Under-Funded Projects: Projects that are submitted for approval that were included in the
original approved budget, where the requested capital amount is greater than the budgeted
amount for that project, must either be offset by a like reduction in one or more budgeted
projects, approved by the RAC if subject to the its Tenets or the additional funding requires prior

3
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written approval by the LKE CFO and CEO. These projects are considered “unbudgeted” in
PowerPlant since the full funding is not coming from the original budget for that project. FP&A
must approve AIPs for under-funded projects (see FP&A Approvals below).

LG&E and KU Board and PPL approvals: Any budget item over $30 million requires the
approval of the LG&E and KU Energy Board and the PPL CEO. Budget items over $100
million additionally require the approval of the PPL Finance Committee. Cost overruns greater
than 20% on budget items approved by the PPL Finance Committee must be re-approved by the
Committee before spending occurs. If an overrun on a budget item results in a total cost of $100
million or more, the proposal must be approved by the PPL Finance Committee before spending
occurs.

Project Overruns: When it is apparent that the amount approved on the original AIP will be
insufficient (project is expected to be 10% or $100,000 over, whichever is less, subject to a
minimum of $25,000) to complete the project, a revised AIP must be completed before the
overrun occurs and the following conditions apply (see Capital Appendix):

o If the project overrun is expected to be $500,000 or greater and the project had been
approved by the IC, the revised project, including a revised IP and CEM, must be
presented and re-approved by the IC.

e If project overrun is $100,000 or more, but less than $500,000, provide a clear description
of the overrun in the revised AIP to FP&A. If the total project is greater than $500,000,
whether it was below or above this threshold previous to the overrun, an IP and CEM are
required (new or revised). If the project is $500,000 or below, no IP or CEM are
required.

e If the previous project proposal was below the IC threshold and revised amount is over
the IC threshold, the proposal needs to be approved by the IC regardless of the increase
amount. A revised IP and CEM are required.

e Project overrun must be offset by a like reduction in one or more budgeted projects, or
the overspending requires prior written approval by the LKE CFO and CEO. Project
overruns of greater than $500,000 are subject to the RAC Tenets.

e Revised AIPs must be approved for the total revised dollar amount using the approval
limits in the Authority Limit Matrix.

FP&A Approvals: Unbudgeted projects or those projects requiring an IP and CEM (i.e., over
$500,000) must include FP&A review and approval. Unbudgeted projects less than $100,000
require FP&A manager approval, and those $100,000 and over require FP&A director approval.



http://intranet/BusAreas/HR/Peoplelink/Policies/Capital%20Appendix.xls
http://intranet/BusAreas/Finance/FinPlan/Documents/RAC%20Tenets%20Revised%2003-05-13%20Changes%20Accepted.docx
http://intranet/BusAreas/HR/Peoplelink/Policies/Authority%20Limit%20Matrix.pdf
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Budgeted projects less than $500,000 are approved as normally required by the Authority Limit
Matrix and do not require the approval of FP&A.

Generation Miscellaneous Projects: Each Generation plant site may have one miscellaneous
project not to exceed $500,000 which is budgeted to serve as a placeholder for small individual
projects which arise during the year and which cannot be specifically anticipated during the
budgeting process. This category of projects is different from blanket projects described
elsewhere in this policy. Each Generation miscellaneous project must be budgeted, but an AIP
need not be prepared for it and it will not be activated in PowerPlant. Instead, as specific work is
identified, the appropriate budget coordinator must create a new project number for the charges
and prepare an AIP for the new project which references the budgeted placeholder project
number for funding as funds are being moved from one project to another. The new project is
not considered unbudgeted to the extent that unused budget dollars are available in the budgeted
placeholder project to cover it. The new project will still need to be marked as “unbudgeted” in
PowerPlant and will have to be approved by FP&A.

Other Miscellaneous Projects: Several lines of business use miscellaneous projects which are
budgeted to serve as a placeholder for small individual projects which arise during the year and
which cannot be specifically anticipated during the budgeting process. This category of projects
is different from blanket projects described elsewhere in this policy. (Examples include various
facilities improvements and miscellaneous substation projects.) These projects are opened and
closed on an annual basis. The projects are authorized and approved for the entire budgeted
amount when they are opened. They must be set up as task level unitization within PowerPlant
and are unitized by task as completed each year. For each task opened, a paper miscellaneous
project AIP form must be prepared with all the pertinent information about the asset and location
of the capital expenditure and sent to Property Accounting when the task is opened on the
blanket project. This form can be found on Property Accounting’s Home Page.

Reimbursable Projects: Projects which will have all or a portion of the spending amount
reimbursed by an outside party must follow the same guidelines as non-reimbursable projects,
except as noted below:

e Tax Department review indicating whether Contribution in Aid of Construction is taxable
must occur prior to any reimbursement agreement greater than $25,000 being finalized
and evidence of such review must be attached to the AIP. This does not apply to
customer refund agreements.

o If a fully executed agreement specifying the terms of reimbursement is attached to an AIP
with gross spending under $1 million, the net spending amount may be used to determine
whether an IP and CEM are required.



http://intranet/BusAreas/HR/Peoplelink/Policies/Authority%20Limit%20Matrix.pdf
http://intranet/BusAreas/HR/Peoplelink/Policies/Authority%20Limit%20Matrix.pdf
http://intranet/BusAreas/Finance/ControllerGrp/Pages/PropertyAccounting.aspx
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e Third Party jointly-owned utility projects under the specified gross spending thresholds
qualify for this exception without requiring the attachment of the executed joint
ownership agreement.

e For all projects, the gross spending amount must always be used to determine the
appropriate approval level.

Government-Mandated/Regulatory Compliance Projects: Projects which are not reimbursable
but which are mandated by governmental legislation or other governmental authority must
follow the same guidelines as all other projects except that for such AIPs with gross spending
under $1 million neither the IP nor the CEM are required, provided that the appropriate
legislative docket numbers or applicable statute references are provided with the AlP.

Preliminary Engineering: Projects that are originally set up for preliminary engineering are
treated as indirect projects and are auto approved and opened in PowerPlant. Once the
preliminary engineering work is complete, the determination must be made if the project will
move forward as capital or be abandoned and expensed. If the project moves forward as capital,
a new project must be created in PowerPlant and must follow the approval levels based on the
Authority Limit Matrix. It is the responsibility of the budget coordinator to notify Property
Accounting and make the appropriate accounting transactions to move preliminary engineering
charges to capital or to expense as appropriate.

Early Activation Guidelines
In order for a project to be early activated, the following criteria must be met:

1. The expenditure must be the result of a true emergency which is defined as one of the
following: 1) the expenditure is needed to address an immediate safety risk; 2) the
equipment has failed; or 3) a material problem has been found, requiring it to be replaced
immediately in order to maintain the reliability of the system.

OR

2. The equipment vendor has provided a quote for the capital purchase that is only valid for
a short period of time. The time frame would not be long enough to complete all the
necessary paperwork and acquire all necessary approvals in time to place the order at the
reduced price.

Process requirements for an early activated AIP are as follows:

e For each AIP that is early activated, Property Accounting must first receive email
approval from the highest level of LOB authority based on the total amount of the AIP as

6
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per the AIP approval process. FP&A must also be copied on this email. Should the AIP
be for an unbudgeted project, approval from FP&A will be required for the early
activation.

In the event the project has been previously approved by the IC, the above email from the
highest LOB authority would not be required. Instead, verification from FP&A that the
project had indeed been approved by the IC would be sufficient approval.

The approval request email must include the following information:

o Project number

o Project description

o Total project amount

o Name of the individual whose highest level of authority is required, and any
associated delegation of authority (DOA)
Description of the need for the early activation
For an unbudgeted project, the budgeted project number that will cover the
unbudgeted spending.

o O

Additionally, for either scenario 1 or 2 above, an automated AIP must be submitted for
$10,000 and approved by the project manager and budget coordinator for the project in
order for the project to be moved to “open” status in PowerPlant.

Property Accounting will maintain a log of early activated projects, and copies of the
email approvals will be filed with the AIP.

A revised AIP (for the full project amount) for all projects that are early activated must be
received by Property Accounting, or FP&A if necessary, with all required approvals, as
soon as possible, but no later than 30 business days after the early activation. Repeated
failure to comply with this timing may require email approval by the appropriate LOB
V/P for early activation of all future AIPs.

Project In-Service and/or Completion

Upon project in-service and/or completion, the project manager or budget coordinator most
familiar with the project is required to do the following:

1.

2.

Verify completion date (if the date is not correct, it needs to be updated in PowerPlant).
Entering a completion date changes the project status to “completed”.

Verify actual in-service date (if the date is not correct, it needs to updated in PowerPlant).
Entering an in-service date without a completion date changes the project status to “in-
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service”. Verify actual installed costs and actual removal costs (report/explain any
variances greater than 10% from the AIP to Property Accounting).

3. Verify units of property installed and units of property retired (report to Property
Accounting if different from AIP).

Post Completion Audits

Budget coordinators are required to perform a post-completion audit (PCA) of projects as

discussed in the guidelines below. The review must be provided to FP&A and the IC.

e Projects greater than $5,000,000 (excluding blankets) must have a PCA performed within 18
months of the project completion date unless otherwise agreed, to have a full year of
financials to review.

e At the discretion of FP&A a random audit of anything less than $5,000,000 can be requested
for auditing purposes.

e A PCA template is available on the FP&A website. Also, samples of PCAs are available on
the website under “Examples”. Transmission PCAs are not included on the website due to
the Standards of Conduct.

e In case of impairment, a PCA is always required.

Leases

Prior to the execution of any new lease entered into on behalf of the Company, a review must be
conducted by the budget coordinator for the appropriate LOB, Financial Accounting and
Analysis and the Tax department to determine if the lease is structured as a capital or operating
lease. Additional reviews by Legal and Corporate Finance may be required depending on the
total amount of the lease. See the LKE Lease Policy for more details.

Blanket Capital Projects

Background: Several lines of business (primarily Distribution and Transmission) use blanket
capital projects to procure routine, frequently used assets (i.e., poles, meters, transformers) or to
facilitate routine work for which specific information is not available at the time the budget is
prepared (i.e., Gas and Electric Distribution New Business by area). The blanket projects hold a
“bucket” of budget dollars which is used to fund specific tasks under $500,000 as they are
identified throughout the year. For Gas and Electric Distribution and Metering, blanket projects
are not closed each year, but they are re-budgeted each year and are unitized on an “as-spent”
basis. For Transmission, blanket projects are opened and closed on an annual basis. They must
be set up as task level unitization within PowerPlant and are unitized by task as completed each
year.

Authorization: Each December, a list of all budgeted blanket projects for the next year must be
submitted to the IC for approval, along with the forecast for the current year’s blanket capital
spending. At the discretion of the IC, some blanket projects (e.g., Gas Leak Mitigation or Pole

8
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Inspection and Treatment) may require an IP and PCA and will not be included in the routine
blanket listing. These projects will be presented to the IC in December as separate projects. An
AIP or PCA is not required for the routine blanket capital projects.

Criteria for Spending under an Existing Blanket Project: Only work and materials of a routine
nature which cannot be specifically identified at the time of budget preparation may be charged
to a blanket project. Individual tasks (which may consist either of individual parts or of work
orders containing both labor and material) must fall below a $500,000 gross (of reimbursement)
spending level. Otherwise, a separate, non-blanket capital project must be created which is
subject to all requirements described elsewhere in this policy. Moreover, the same rules for
spending authorization levels apply for spending under blanket capital projects as described
elsewhere in this policy. Should a task on a blanket project exceed $500,000, then appropriate
corrective action (i.e., AIP, CEM, etc.) and charge corrections via VOLTS and CODs to correct
the charges to the correct project should be completed as soon as possible. Miscellaneous type
blankets, such as small tools and transmission projects, should have a paper miscellaneous AIP
prepared with all the pertinent information about the asset and location of the capital expenditure
and sent to Property Accounting when the task is opened on the blanket project. This form can
be found on Property Accounting’s Home Page.

Criteria for Creating a New Blanket Project: New blanket capital projects require the approval
of both Property Accounting and FP&A. To open new blanket projects, a partial AIP in the
amount of $10,000 must go through the approval process in PowerPlant. New blanket capital
projects created after the budget process is complete are always considered to be unbudgeted and
are therefore subject to the same requirements for unbudgeted projects described elsewhere in
this policy. The unbudgeted project authorized spending must be covered by either a budgeted
blanket or a non-blanket project in accordance with the RAC Tenets.

Monthly Spending Report: The budget coordinator for each LOB incurring spending under
blanket capital projects is required to prepare a monthly report listing all blanket projects
(including those approved under a stand-alone IP) comparing the total year-to-date spending
against the approved budget. Any substitution of non-blanket projects’ budgets to cover new
blanket projects’ budgets must be noted on the report and tracked throughout the year. This
report must be submitted to FP&A for review by the eleventh business day of the following
month. FP&A, after reviewing, will send the report to Property Accounting.

Penalties for Noncompliance
Failure to comply with this policy may result in disciplinary action, up to and including
discharge.
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Reference: Authority Limit Matrix; CEM; Capital Appendix; Lease Policy; Resource Allocation
Committee Tenets; FERC Uniform System of Accounts; and Investment Proposal forms.

Key Contact:
e Financial Planning & Analysis

e Accounting Matters: Property Accounting and Controller
e Capital Leases: Corporate Finance and Financial Accounting and Analysis

Administrative Responsibility: Chief Financial Officer.

Revision Dates: 12/01/07, 04/04/08, 12/31/08, 7/20/2009, 5/1/2014
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Investment
> $2k

> $500k

> $1m (for Real Property > $500k)

> $30m

> $100m

Action Required

* AIP required

* Investment Proposal required
* CEM required
* AIP required

* Investment Committee approval and above
mentioned items

* LKE CFO and CEO approval needed

* LGE and KU Energy Board approval needed
* PPL CEO approval needed

* LGE and KU Energy Board approval needed
* PPL CEO approval needed
* PPL Finance Committee approval needed

Note: IT approval is needed for any IT project

Project Overruns

If a project is expected to be 10% or $100k over, whichever is less, subject to a minimum of $25k, a revised

AIP must be completed before the overrun occurs and the following conditions apply:

Initial Investment Amount

< $500k

> $500k and Under IC Threshold

Over IC Threshold

*Financial Planning and Analysis provides an annual update to the Investment Committee of project overruns between $100k and $500k. For this purpose

Increase

Will bring project over $500k for the first time

Will bring project over IC threshold

> $100k or 10%, whichever is less, subject to a
minimum of $25k

Will bring project over IC threshold

> 100k and < $500k

> $500k

Action Required

* Investment Proposal required
* CEM required
* Revised AIP

* Investment Proposal required
* CEM required

* Revised AIP

* IC Approval required

* Revised IP required
* Revised CEM required
* Revised AIP

* Revised IP required

* Revised CEM required
* Revised AIP

* IC Approval required

* Revised AIP which includes updated
estimates and a clear explanation of overrun*

* Revised IP required

* Revised CEM required
* Revised AIP

* IC approval required

the Lines of Business are required to provide a list of these project overruns to Financial Planning and Analysis.
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FERC Benchmarking Metric Comparisons

Generation - $ Non-fuel Costs/MWh

9.98

7.13

Top Quartile Ind. AVG LKE

Transmission - § Cash Costs/Miles

48,970

30,125
21,804

Top Quartile Ind. AVG LKE

A&G - $ A&G Expenses/Sales [MWHh]

5.62

4.78

Top Quartile Ind. AVG LKE

Customer Services - $ 0&M/Retail Customers
09.11

70.21

Top Quartile Ind. AVG LKE

Distribution - $ Cash Costs/Retail Customers

271.59

242.06

Top Quartile Ind. AVG LKE

Based on 2009-2013 FERC Form 1 Capital and Operating Expense Data.

Key Observations:

e LKE outperforms industry averages in all
five cost segments.

e LKE ranks in the top quartile in three of
five cost segments.

¢ Spending in Cust. Services & Distribution
reflects additional investment in
customer service and reliability to meet
customer needs and regulatory
expectations.
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Line Item

Basis to Derive

System Employed

Gross Margin Components:

Customer Revenue

Load Forecast x Approved Tariff

UIPlanner

Demand Charge Revenue

Load Forecast x Approved Tariff

UIPlanner

Energy Revenue

Load Forecast x Approved Tariff

UIPlanner

Base Fuel Revenue

Load Forecast x Approved Tariff

UIPlanner

FAC Revenue

Difference between recoverable Fuel + Purchased
Power below and Base Fuel Revenue

UIPlanner

ECR Revenue

Revenue requirement calculated using the
following: rate base rolled forward for identified
ECR projects using capital spend and in service
dates per PowerPlant and calculated deferred
income taxes; jurisdictional factor computed
within UIPlanner using KY retail/total revenue
ratio; cost of capital computed within UIPlanner
using weighted average cost of debt, authorized
ROE and target capital structure

UIPlanner
PowerPlant

DSM Revenue

Revenue requirement calculated in UIPlanner
based on expenses, incentive percentage, capital
and lost sales volumes per DSM filing with lost
sales priced using current tariffs

UlPlanner

Gas Line Tracker Revenue

Revenue requirement calculated in UIPlanner
using the following: rate base rolled forward for
identified GLT projects using capital spend and in
service dates per PowerPlant and calculated
deferred income taxes; cost of capital computed
within UIPlanner using weighted average cost of
debt, authorized ROE and target capital structure

UIPlanner
PowerPlant

Intercompany Sales

Based on generation and load forecast relative to
market prices for each utility

Prosym

Off-System Sales

Based on generation and load forecast relative to
market prices

Prosym

Transmission Revenue

Projected volumes based on trends and known
changes x OATT approved rate (escalated over the
business plan)

EXCEL

Other Operating Revenue

Projected based on trends, incorporating any tariff
changes and escalated over the business plan

EXCEL

Rate Case Impacts

Projected timing of filings based on financial
projections; revenue requirement calculated
within UIPlanner using projected ROE

UIPlanner

Fuel

Based on generation forecast and heat rates by
plant x price curves which are a blend of
contracted rates and market prices for unhedged
positions

Prosym

Gas Supply

Gas load forecast priced out at contracted rates
and market prices for open/indexed positions

EXCEL
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Purchased Power Projected in generation forecast model run using Prosym
contracted capacity terms and market prices
Other Cost of Sales Existing contract/market prices for consumables PowerPlant
applied to generation forecast by plant and usage
rates for each plant
Rate Mechanism Expenses | Projected O&M costs and depreciation by PowerPlant
approved project
Other Operating & Detailed “bottoms up” aggregation by department PowerPlant
Maintenance Expenses
Taxes Other Than Income Based on capital plan, classifications of property EXCEL
and property tax rates UlIPlanner
PowerPlant
Depreciation & Amortization | Based on capital plan, including property PowerPlant
classifications and in service dates, and approved
depreciation rates
Interest Expense Product of existing debt (accounting for debt UlIPlanner
repayments) and interest rates as well as
projected debt issuances at market rates,
incorporating hedges and amortization of debt
issuance costs
Other Income (Expense) Projected based on trends and known changes EXCEL
Income Tax Provision Based on earnings, calculated permanent and UlIPlanner
timing differences and current tax laws and
positions
Net Income Sum of the Above UlPlanner
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Line Item Basis to Derive System Employed

Cash Derived from cash flow statement UIPlanner

Accounts Receivable Based on revenues and projected days of sales in UIPlanner
receivables based on history and trends

Fuels, Materials & Supplies Fuel inventory roll forward maintained in UIPlanner UIPlanner
based on target inventory levels, generation Prosym
forecast per Prosym and contract/market prices

Regulatory Assets/Liabilities | Rollforward maintained based on amortization UIPlanner
periods, rate mechanism revenue calculations and
other changes in expenses/payments as applicable

Utility Plant Rollforward maintained based on capital spend, in UIPlanner
service and retirement dates, and depreciation PowerPlant

Other Assets Current levels only adjusted for known changes

Accounts Payable Function of capital and O&M spend, adjusted for UIPlanner
some payment lag

Accrued Interest Calculated based on debt schedules UIPlanner

Accrued Taxes Calculated based on income tax expense UIPlanner
calculations and payment schedules

Deferred Income Taxes Rollforward maintained based on book and tax UIPlanner
depreciation using capital plan, current tax rates PowerPlant
and book depreciation rates

Accrued Pension Obligations | Based on projected expense and funding per UIPlanner
actuarial study

Other Liabilities Current levels only adjusted for known changes UIPlanner

Debt Detail of existing debt supplemented with UIPlanner
projected debt issuance and repayments

Stockholder’s Equity Roll forward based on net income, dividends and UIPlanner
equity contributions

Cash Flow Statement

Line Item Basis to Derive System Employed

Cash From Operating Derived from income statement and balance sheet UIPlanner

Activities changes above

Capital Expenditures Per detailed capital plan by project, adjusted for PowerPlant
cash payment timing

Debt Issuance/Repayment Net cash surplus (shortfall) applied to repayment UIPlanner
(borrowing) of short-term debt until sufficient
balance to issue long-term debt; other debt
repayments based on existing debt terms; maintain
target capital structure

Dividends Based on 65% payout ratio UIPlanner

Equity Contributions Projected as needed to maintain target capital UIPlanner

structure based on other cash flow items
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MooDY’s

INVESTORS SERVICE

rRaTING METHODOLOGY  Regulated Electric and Gas Utilities

Table of Contents: Summary
SUMMARY 1
ABOUT THE RATED UNIVERSE 4
ABOUT THIS RATING METHODOLOGY 6
DISCUSSION OF THE GRID FACTORS 9
CONCLUSION: SUMMARY OF THE GRID-

This rating methodology explains Moody’s approach to assessing credit risk for regulated
electric and gas udilities globally and is intended to provide general guidance that helps
companies, investors, and other interested market participants understand how qualitative

INDICATED RATING OUTCOMES 31 and quantitative risk characteristics are likely to affect rating outcomes for companies in the
APPENDIX A: REGULATED ELECTRIC AND regulated electric and gas utility industry. This document does not include an exhaustive
gQISDUTILITIES METHODOLOGY FACTOR ,;  treatment of all factors that are reflected in Moody’s ratings but should enable the reader to
APPENDIX B: REGULATED ELECTRIC AND understand the qualitative considerations and financial information and ratios that are

GAS UTILITIES - ASSIGNED RATINGS usually most important for ratings in this sector.

AND GRID-INDICATED RATINGS FOR A
SELECTED CROSS-SECTION OF ISSUERS 39

APPENDIX C: REGULATED ELECTRIC AND This rating methodology replaces' the Rating Methodology for Regulated Electric and Gas
GAS UTILITY GRID OUTCOMES AND Utilities published in August 2009. While reflecting many of the same core principles as the
OUTLER DISCUSSION “1" 2009 methodology, this updated document provides a more transparent presentation of the
APPENDIX D: APPROACH TO RATINGS . . . . .o .

WITHIN A UTILITY FAMILY 4  rating considerations that are usually most important for companies in this sector and
APPENDIX E: BRIEF DESCRIPTIONS OF incorporates refinements in our analysis that better reflect credit fundamentals of the

THE TYPES OF COMPANIES RATED industry. No rating changes will result from publication of this rating methodology.

UNDER THIS METHODOLOGY 49

APPENDIX F: KEY INDUSTRY ISSUES OVER

THE INTERMEDIATE TERM 52 This report includes a detailed rating grid and illustrative examples that compare the
APPENDIX G: REGIONAL AND OTHER mapping of rated public companies against the factors in the grid. The grid is a reference
CONSIDERATIONS 56

tool that can be used to approximate credit profiles within the regulated electric and gas

APPENDIX H: TREATMENT OF POWER 1 . . . . .

PURCHASE AGREEMENTS ("PPAS”) cs utility sector in most cases. The grid provides summarized guidance for the factors that are

MOODY'S RELATED RESEARCH 62 generally most important in assigning ratings to companies in the regulated electric and gas
utility industry. However, the grid is a summary that does not include every rating

Analyst Contacts: consideration. The weights shown for each factor in the grid represent an approximation of

NEW YORK +1.212.553.1653  their importance for rating decisions but actual importance may vary substantially. In

Bill Hunter 1212553176, addition, the illustrative mapping examples in this document use historical results while

Vice President - Senior Credit Officer ratings are based on our forward-looking expectations. As a result, the grid-indicated rating

william.hunter@moodys.com is not expected to match the actual rating of each company.

Michael G. Haggarty +1.212.553.7172

Senior Vice President
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Associate Managing Director
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>>contacts continued on the last page

1

This update may not be effective in some jurisdictions until certain requirements are met.
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The grid contains four key factors that are important in our assessment for ratings in the regulated
electric and gas utility sector, and a notching factor for structural subordination at holding companies:

1. Regulatory Framework

2. Ability to Recover Costs and Earn Returns
3. Diversification
4

Financial Strength

Some of these factors also encompass a number of sub-factors. Since an issuer’s scoring on a particular
grid factor or sub-factor often will not match its overall rating, in Appendix C we include a discussion
of some of the grid “outliers” — companies whose grid-indicated rating for a specific sub-factor differs
significantly from the actual rating — in order to provide additional insights.

This rating methodology is not intended to be an exhaustive discussion of all factors that our analysts
consider in assigning ratings in this sector. We note that our analysis for ratings in this sector covers
factors that are common across all industries such as ownership, management, liquidity, corporate legal
structure, governance and country related risks which are not explained in detail in this document, as
well as factors that can be meaningful on a company-specific basis. Our ratings consider these and
other qualitative considerations that do not lend themselves to a transparent presentation in a grid
format. The grid used for this methodology reflects a decision to favor a relatively simple and
transparent presentation rather than a more complex grid that would map grid-indicated ratings more
closely to actual ratings.

Highlights of this report include:

»  An overview of the rated universe

» A summary of the rating methodology

» A discussion of the key rating factors that drive ratings

»  Comments on the rating methodology assumptions and limitations, including a discussion of
rating considerations that are not included in the grid

The Appendices show the full grid (Appendix A), a list of the companies included in our illustrative
sample universe of issuers with their ratings, grid-indicated ratings and country of domicile (Appendix
B), tables that illustrate the application of the grid to the sample universe of issuers, with explanatory
comments on some of the more significant differences between the grid-implied rating for each sub-
factor and our actual rating (Appendix C)?, our approach to ratings within a utility family (Appendix
D), a description of the various types of companies rated under this methodology (Appendix E), key
industry issues over the intermediate term (Appendix F), regional and other considerations (Appendix
G), and treatment of power purchase agreements (Appendix H).

In general, the rating (or other indicator of credit strength) utilized for comparison to the grid-implied rating is the senior unsecured rating for investment-grade issuers,
the Corporate Family Rating (CFR) for speculative-grade issuers and the Baseline Credit Assessment (BCA) for Government Related Issuers (GRIs). Individual debt
instrument ratings also factor in decisions on notching for seniority level and collateral. Related documents that provide additional insight in this area are the rating
methodologies “Loss Given Default for Speculative Grade Non-Financial Companies in the US, Canada and EMEA”, published June 2009, and “Updated Summary
Guidance for Notching Bonds, Preferred Stocks and Hybrid Securities of Corporate Issuers”, published February 2007.

2 DECEMBER 23, 2013 RATING METHODOLOGY: REGULATED ELECTRIC AND GAS UTILITIES
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What's Changed

While incorporating many of the core principles of the 2009 version, this methodology updates how
the four key rating factors are defined, and how certain sub-factors are weighted in the grid.

More specifically, this methodology introduces four equally weighted sub-factors into the two rating
factors that are related to regulation —the Regulatory Framework and the Ability to Recover Costs and
Earn Returns — in order to provide more granularity and transparency on the overall regulatory
environment, which is the most important consideration for this sector.

The weighting of the grid indicators for diversification are unchanged, but the proposed descriptive
criteria have been refined to place greater emphasis on the economic and regulatory diversity of each
utility's service area rather than the diversity of operations, because we think this emphasis better
distinguishes credit risk. We have refined the definitions of the Generation and Fuel Diversity sub-
factor to better incorporate the full range of challenges that can affect a particular fuel type.

While the overall weighting of the Financial Strength factor is unchanged, the weighting for two sub-
factors that seek to measure debt in relation to cash flow has increased. The 15% weight for CFO Pre-
WC/Debt reflects our view that this is the single most predictive financial measure, followed in
importance by CFO Pre-WC - Dividends/Debt with a 10% grid weighting. The additional weighting
of these ratios is balanced by the elimination of a separate liquidity sub-factor that had a 10%
weighting in the prior grid.

Liquidity assessment remains a key focus of our analysis. However, we consider it as a qualitative
assessment outside the grid because its credit importance varies greatly over time and by issuer and
accordingly is not well represented by a fixed grid weight. See “Other Rating Considerations” for
insights on liquidity analysis in this sector.

Lower financial metric thresholds have been introduced for certain utilities viewed as having lower
business risk, for instance many US natural gas local distribution companies (LDCs) and certain US
electric transmission and distribution companies (T'&Ds, which lack generation but generally retain
some procurement responsibilities for customers). The low end of the scale in the methodology grid
has been extended from B to Caa to better capture our views of more challenging regulatory
environments and weaker performance.

We have introduced minor changes to financial metric thresholds at the lower end of the scale,
primarily to incorporate this extension of the grid.

We have incorporated scorecard notching for structural subordination at holding companies. Ratings
already incorporated structural subordination, but including an adjustment in the scorecard will result
in a closer alignment of grid-indicated outcomes and ratings for holding companies.

Treatment of first mortgage bonds (primarily in the US), which was the subject of a Request for
Comment in 2009 and adopted subsequent to the 2009 methodology, is summarized in Appendix G.

This methodology describes the analytical framework used in determining credit ratings. In some
instances our analysis is also guided by additional publications which describe our approach for
analytical considerations that are not specific to any single sector. Examples of such considerations
include but are not limited to: the assignment of short-term ratings, the relative ranking of different
classes of debt and hybrid securities, how sovereign credit quality affects non-sovereign issuers, and the
assessment of credit support from other entities. Documents that describe our approach to such cross-
sector methodological considerations can be found here.

i
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About the Rated Universe

The Regulated Electric and Gas Utilities rating methodology applies to rate-regulated? electric and gas
utilities that are not Networks®. Regulated Electric and Gas Utilities are companies whose
predominant® business is the sale of electricity and/or gas or related services under a rate-regulated
framework, in most cases to retail customers. Also included under this methodology are rate-regulated
utilities that own generating assets as any material part of their business, utilities whose charges or bills
to customers include a meaningful component related to the electric or gas commodity, utilities whose
rates are regulated at a sub-sovereign level (e.g. by provinces, states or municipalities), and companies
providing an independent system operator function to an electric grid. Companies rated under this
methodology are primarily rate-regulated monopolies or, in certain circumstances, companies that may
not be outright monopolies but where government regulation effectively sets prices and limits
competition.

This rating methodology covers regulated electric and gas utilities worldwide. These companies are
engaged in the production, transmission, coordination, distribution and/or sale of electricity and/or
natural gas, and they are either investor owned companies, commercially oriented government owned
companies or, in the case of independent system operators, not-for-profit or similar entities. As
detailed in Appendix E, this methodology covers a wide variety of companies active in the sector,
including vertically integrated utilities, transmission and distribution utilities with retail customers
and/or sub-sovereign regulation, local gas distribution utility companies (LDCs), independent system
operators, and regulated generation companies. These companies may be operating companies or
holding companies.

An over-arching consideration for regulated utilities is the regulatory environment in which they
operate. While regulation is also a key consideration for networks, a utility’s regulatory environment is
in comparison often more dynamic and more subject to political intervention. The direct relationship
that a regulated utility has with the retail customer, including billing for electric or gas supply that has
substantial price volatility, can lead to a more politically charged rate-setting environment. Similarly,
regulation at the sub-sovereign level is often more accessible for participation by interveners, including
disaffected customers and the politicians who want their votes. Our views of regulatory environments
evolve over time in accordance with our observations of regulatory, political, and judicial events that
affect issuers in the sector.

This methodology pertains to regulated electric and gas utilities and excludes the following types of
issuers, which are covered by separate rating methodologies: Regulated Networks, Unregulated
Utilities and Power Companies, Public Power Utilities, Municipal Joint Action Agencies, Electric
Cooperatives, Regulated Water Companies and Natural Gas Pipelines.

Companies in many industries are regulated. We use the term rate-regulated to distinguish companies whose rates (by which we also mean tariffs or revenues in general)
are set by regulators.

Regulated Electric and Gas Networks are companies whose predominant business is purely the transmission and/or distribution of electricity and/or natural gas without
involvement in the procurement or sale of electricity and/or gas; whose charges to customers thus do not include a meaningful commodity cost component; which sell
mainly (or in many cases exclusively) to non-retail customers; and which are rate-regulated under a national framework.

We generally consider a company to be predominantly a regulated electric and gas utility when a majority of its cash flows, prospectively and on a sustained basis, are
derived from regulated electric and gas utility businesses. Since cash flows can be volatile (such that a company might have a majority of utility cash flows simply due to
a cyclical downturn in its non-utility businesses), we may also consider the breakdown of assets and/or debt of a company to determine which business is predominant.

i
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Other Related Methodologies

»  Regulated Electric and Gas Networks

»  Unregulated Ustilities and Power Companies

»  Natural Gas Pipelines

»  US Public Power Electric Utilities with Generation Ownership Exposure

»  US Electric Generation & Transmission Cooperatives

»  US Municipal Joint Action Agencies

»  Government Related Issuers: Methodology Update

»  Global Regulated Water Utilities

The rated universe includes approximately 315 entities that are either utility operating companies or a
parent holding company with one or more utility company subsidiaries that operate predominantly in
the electric and gas utility business. These companies account for about US$730 billion of total
outstanding long-term debt instruments.

The Regulated Electric and Gas Utility sector is predominantly investment grade, reflecting the stability
generally conferred by regulation that typically sets prices and also limits competition, such that defaults
have been lower than in many other non-financial corporate sectors. However, the nature of regulation
can vary significantly from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. Most issuers at the lower end of the ratings
spectrum operate in challenging regulatory environments. Additional information about the ratings and
default performance of the sector can be found in our publication “Infrastructure Default and Recovery
Rates, 1983-2012H1”. As shown on the following table, the ratings spectrum for issuers in the sector
(both holding companies and operating companies) ranges from Aaa to Ca:

EXHIBIT 1
Regulated Electric and Gas Utilities' Senior Unsecured Ratings Distribution

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

Aaa Aal Aa2 Aa3 Al A2 A3  Baal Baa2 Baa3 Bal Ba2z Ba3 B1 B2 B3 Caal Caa2 Caa3 Ca

Source: Moody's Investors Service, ratings as of December 2013
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About this Rating Methodology

This report explains the rating methodology for regulated electric and gas utilities in seven sections,
which are summarized as follows:

1. Identification and Discussion of the Rating Factors in the Grid

The grid in this rating methodology focuses on four rating factors. The four factors are comprised of
sub-factors that provide further detail:

Factor / Sub-Factor Weighting - Regulated Utilities

Broad Rating Sub-Factor

Broad Rating Factors Factor Weighting  Rating Sub-Factor Weighting
Regulatory Framework 25% Legislative and Judicial Underpinnings of the Regulatory 12.5%

Framework

Consistency and Predictability of Regulation 12.5%
Ability to Recover Costs 25% Timeliness of Recovery of Operating and Capital Costs 12.5%
and Earn Returns Sufficiency of Rates and Returns 12.5%
Diversification 10% Market Position 5%*

Generation and Fuel Diversity 5%**
Financial Strength, Key 40%
Financial Metrics CFO pre-WC + Interest/ Interest 7.5%

CFO pre-WC / Debt 15.0%

CFO pre-WC - Dividends / Debt 10.0%

Debt/Capitalization 7.5%
Total 100% 100%
Notching Adjustment

Holding Company Structural Subordination 0to-3

*10% weight for issuers that lack generation; **0% weight for issuers that lack generation

2. Measurement or Estimation of Factors in the Grid

We explain our general approach for scoring each grid factor and show the weights used in the grid.
We also provide a rationale for why each of these grid components is meaningful as a credit indicator.
The information used in assessing the sub-factors is generally found in or calculated from information
in company financial statements, derived from other observations or estimated by Moody’s analysts.

Our ratings are forward-looking and reflect our expectations for future financial and operating
performance. However, historical results are helpful in understanding patterns and trends of a
company’s performance as well as for peer comparisons. We utilize historical data (in most cases, an
average of the last three years of reported results) in this document to illustrate the application of the
rating grid. All of the quantitative credit metrics incorporate Moody’s standard adjustments to income
statement, cash flow statement and balance sheet amounts for restructuring, impairment, off-balance
sheet accounts, receivable securitization programs, under-funded pension obligations, and recurring
operating leases.
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For definitions of Moody’s most common ratio terms please see Moody’s Basic Definitions for Credit
Statistics, User’s Guide (June 2011, document #78480). For a description of Moody’s standard
adjustments, please see Moody’s Approach to Global Standard Adjustments in the Analysis of
Financial Statements for Non-Financial Corporations December 2010 (128137). These documents
can be found at www.moodys.com under the Research and Ratings directory.

In most cases, the illustrative examples in this document use historic financial data from a recent three
year period. However, the factors in the grid can be assessed using various time periods. For example,
rating committees may find it analytically useful to examine both historic and expected future
performance for periods of several years or more, or for individual twelve month periods.

3. Mapping Factors to the Rating Categories

After estimating or calculating each sub-factor, the outcomes for each of the sub-factors are mapped to
a broad Moody’s rating category (Aaa, Aa, A, Baa, Ba, B, or Caa).

4. Mapping Issuers to the Grid and Discussion of Grid Outliers

In Appendix C, we provide a table showing how each company in the sample set of issuers maps to
grid-indicated ratings for each rating sub-factor and factor. We highlight companies whose grid-
indicated performance on a specific sub-factor is two or more broad rating categories higher or lower
than its actual rating and discuss the general reasons for such positive and negative outliers for a
particular sub-factor.

5. Assumptions, Limitations and Rating Considerations Not Included in the Grid

This section discusses limitations in the use of the grid to map against actual ratings, some of the
additional factors that are not included in the grid but can be important in determining ratings, and
limitations and assumptions that pertain to the overall rating methodology.

6. Determining the Overall Grid-Indicated Rating

To determine the overall grid-indicated rating, we convert each of the sub-factor ratings into a
numeric value based upon the scale below.

Aaa Aa A Baa Ba B Caa Ca
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The numerical score for each sub-factor is multiplied by the weight for that sub-factor with the results
then summed to produce a composite weighted-factor score. The composite weighted factor score is
then mapped back to an alphanumeric rating based on the ranges in the table below.

Grid-Indicated Rating

Grid-Indicated Rating Aggregate Weighted Total Factor Score
Aaa x <15
Aal 15=x<25
Aa2 25<x<35
Aa3 35=x<45

Al 45=<x<55
A2 55=<x<6.5
A3 6.5<x<75
Baal 75=<x<85
Baa2 85=x<95
Baa3 95=<x<105
Bal 105=x< 115
Baz M5=x<125
Ba3 125<x<13.5
B1 13.5=x<145
B2 145<x<155
B3 155=<x<16.5
Caal 16.5<x< 175
Caaz 17.5<x<185
Caa3 185=<x<19.5
Ca x=19.5

For example, an issuer with a composite weighted factor score of 11.7 would have a Ba2 grid-indicated
rating. We used a similar procedure to derive the grid indicated ratings shown in the illustrative
examples.

7. Appendices

The Appendices provide illustrative examples of grid-indicated ratings based on historical financial
information and also provide additional commentary and insights on our view of credit risks in this
industry.
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Discussion of the Grid Factors

Moody’s analysis of electric and gas utilities focuses on four broad factors:
»  Regulatory Framework

»  Ability to Recover Costs and Earn Returns

»  Diversification

»  Financial Strength

There is also a notching factor for holding company structural subordination.

Factor 1: Regulatory Framework (25%)
Why It Matters

For rate-regulated utilities, which typically operate as a monopoly, the regulatory environment and
how the udility adapts to that environment are the most important credit considerations. The
regulatory environment is comprised of two rating factors - the Regulatory Framework and its
corollary factor, the Ability to Recover Costs and Earn Returns. Broadly speaking, the Regulatory
Framework is the foundation for how all the decisions that affect utilities are made (including the
setting of rates), as well as the predictability and consistency of decision-making provided by that
foundation. The Ability to Recover Costs and Earn Returns relates more directly to the actual
decisions, including their timeliness and the rate-setting outcomes.

Utility rates® are set in a political/regulatory process rather than a competitive or free-market process;
thus, the Regulatory Framework is a key determinant of the success of utility. The Regulatory
Framework has many components: the governing body and the utility legislation or decrees it enacts,
the manner in which regulators are appointed or elected, the rules and procedures promulgated by
those regulators, the judiciary that interprets the laws and rules and that arbitrates disagreements, and
the manner in which the utility manages the political and regulatory process. In many cases, utilities
have experienced credit stress or default primarily or at least secondarily because of a break-down or
obstacle in the Regulatory Framework — for instance, laws that prohibited regulators from including
investments in uncompleted power plants or plants not deemed “used and useful” in rates, or a
disagreement about rate-making that could not be resolved until after the utility had defaulted on its

debts.

How We Assess Legislative and Judicial Underpinnings of the Regulatory Framework for the Grid

For this sub-factor, we consider the scope, clarity, transparency, supportiveness and granularity of
utility legislation, decrees, and rules as they apply to the issuer. We also consider the strength of the
regulator’s authority over rate-making and other regulatory issues affecting the utility, the effectiveness
of the judiciary or other independent body in arbitrating disputes in a disinterested manner, and
whether the utility’s monopoly has meaningful or growing carve-outs. In addition, we look at how well
developed the framework is — both how fully fleshed out the rules and regulations are and how well
tested it is — the extent to which regulatory or judicial decisions have created a body of precedent that
will help determine future rate-making. Since the focus of our scoring is on each issuer, we consider

¢ In jurisdictions where utility revenues include material government subsidy payments, we consider utility rates to be inclusive of these payments, and we thus evaluate

sub-factors 1a, 1b, 2a and 2b in light of both rates and material subsidy payments. For example, we would consider the legal and judicial underpinnings and consistency
and predictability of subsidies as well as rates.
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how effective the utility is in navigating the regulatory framework — both the utility’s ability to shape
the framework and adapt to it.

A utility operating in a regulatory framework that is characterized by legislation that is credit
supportive of utilities and eliminates doubt by prescribing many of the procedures that the regulators
will use in determining fair rates (which legislation may show evidence of being responsive to the needs
of the utility in general or specific ways), a long history of transparent rate-setting, and a judiciary that
has provided ample precedent by impartially adjudicating disagreements in a manner that addresses
ambiguities in the laws and rules will receive higher scores in the Legislative and Judicial
Underpinnings sub-factor. A utility operating in a regulatory framework that, by statute or practice,
allows the regulator to arbitrarily prevent the utility from recovering its costs or earning a reasonable
return on prudently incurred investments, or where regulatory decisions may be reversed by politicians
seeking to enhance their populist appeal will receive a much lower score.

In general, we view national utility regulation as being less liable to political intervention than
regulation by state, provincial or municipal entities, so the very highest scoring in this sub-factor is
reserved for this category. However, we acknowledge that states and provinces in some countries may
be larger than small nations, such that their regulators may be equally “above-the-fray” in terms of
impartial and technically-oriented rate setting, and very high scoring may be appropriate.

The relevant judicial system can be a major factor in the regulatory framework. This is particularly true
in litigious societies like the United States, where disagreements between the utility and its state or
municipal regulator may eventually be adjudicated in federal district courts or even by the US
Supreme Court. In addition, bankruptcy proceedings in the US take place in federal courts, which
have at times been able to impose rate settlement agreements on state or municipal regulators. As a
result, the range of decisions available to state regulators may be effectively circumscribed by court
precedent at the state or federal level, which we generally view as favorable for the credit-
supportiveness of the regulatory framework.

Electric and gas utilities are generally presumed to have a strong monopoly that will continue into the
foreseeable future, and this expectation has allowed these companies to have greater leverage than
companies in other sectors with similar ratings. Thus, the existence of a monopoly in itself is unlikely
to be a driver of strong scoring in this sub-factor. On the other hand, a strong challenge to the
monopoly could cause lower scoring, because the utility can only recover its costs and investments and
service its debt if customers purchase its services. There have some instances of incursions into utilities’
monopoly, including municipalization, self-generation, distributed generation with net metering, or
unauthorized use (beyond the level for which the utility receives compensation in rates). Incursions
that are growing significantly or having a meaningful impact on rates for customers that remain with
the utility could have a negative impact on scoring of this sub-factor and on factor 2 - Ability to
Recover Costs and Earn Returns.

The scoring of this sub-factor may not be the same for every utility in a particular jurisdiction. We
have observed that some utilities appear to have greater sway over the relevant utility legislation and
promulgation of rules than other utilities — even those in the same jurisdiction. The content and tone
of publicly filed documents and regulatory decisions sometimes indicates that the management team at
one utility has better responsiveness to and credibility with its regulators or legislators than the
management at another utility.
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While the underpinnings to the regulatory framework tend to change relatively slowly, they do evolve,
and our factor scoring will seek to reflect that evolution. For instance, a new framework will typically
become tested over time as regulatory decisions are issued, or perhaps litigated, thereby setting a body
of precedent. Utilities may seck changes to laws in order to permit them to securitize certain costs or
collect interim rates, or a jurisdiction in which rates were previously recovered primarily in base rate
proceedings may institute riders and trackers. These changes would likely impact scoring of sub-factor
2b - Timeliness of Recovery of Operating and Capital Costs, but they may also be sufficiently
significant to indicate a change in the regulatory underpinnings. On the negative side, a judiciary that
had formerly been independent may start to issue decisions that indicate it is conforming its decisions
to the expectations of an executive branch that wants to mandate lower rates.
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How We Assess Consistency and Predictability of Regulation for the Grid

For the Consistency and Predictability sub-factor, we consider the track record of regulatory decisions
in terms of consistency, predictability and supportiveness. We evaluate the utility’s interactions in the
regulatory process as well as the overall stance of the regulator toward the utility.

In most jurisdictions, the laws and rules seek to make rate-setting a primarily technical process that
examines costs the utility incurs and the returns on investments the utility needs to earn so it can make
investments that are required to build and maintain the utility infrastructure - power plants, electric
transmission and distribution systems, and/or natural gas distribution systems. When the process
remains technical and transparent such that regulators can support the financial health of the utility
while balancing their public duty to assure that reliable service is provided at a reasonable cost, and
when the udility is able to align itself with the policy initiatives of the governing jurisdiction, the utility
will receive higher scores in this sub-factor. When the process includes substantial political
intervention, which could take the form of legislators or other government officials publically second-
guessing regulators, dismissing regulators who have approved unpopular rate increases, or preventing
the implementation of rate increases, or when regulators ignore the laws/rules to deliver an outcome
that appears more politically motivated, the utility will receive lower scores in this sub-factor.

As with the prior sub-factor, we may score different utilities in the same jurisdiction differently, based
on outcomes that are more or less supportive of credit quality over a period of time. We have observed
that some utilities are better able to meet the expectations of their customers and regulators, whether
through better service, greater reliability, more stable rates or simply more effective regulatory outreach
and communication. These udilities typically receive more consistent and credit supportive outcomes,
so they will score higher in this sub-factor. Conversely, if a utility has multiple rapid rate increases,
chooses to submit major rate increase requests during a sensitive election cycle or a severe economic
downturn, has chronic customer service issues, is viewed as frequently providing incomplete
information to regulators, or is tone deaf to the priorities of regulators and politicians, it may receive
less consistent and supportive outcomes and thus score lower in this sub-factor.

In scoring this sub-factor, we will primarily evaluate the actions of regulators, politicians and jurists
rather than their words. Nonetheless, words matter when they are an indication of future action. We
seek to differentiate between political rhetoric that is perhaps oriented toward gaining attention for the
viewpoint of the speaker and rhetoric that is indicative of future actions and trends in decision-
making.
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Factor 2: Ability to Recover Costs and Earn Returns (25%)
Why It Matters

This rating factor examines the ability of a utility to recover its costs and earn a return over a period of
time, including during differing market and economic conditions. While the Regulatory Framework
looks at the transparency and predictability of the rules that govern the decision-making process with
respect to udlities, the Ability to Recover Costs and Earn Returns evaluates the regulatory elements
that directly impact the ability of the utility to generate cash flow and service its debt over time. The
ability to recover prudently incurred costs on a timely basis and to attract debt and equity capital are
crucial credit considerations. The inability to recover costs, for instance if fuel or purchased power
costs ballooned during a rate freeze period, has been one of the greatest drivers of financial stress in this
sector, as well as the cause of some utility defaults. In a sector that is typically free cash flow negative
(due to large capital expenditures and dividends) and that routinely needs to refinance very large
maturities of long-term debt, investor concerns about a lack of timely cost recovery or the sufficiency
of rates can, in an extreme scenario, strain access to capital markets and potentially lead to insolvency
of the utility (as was the case when “used and useful” requirements threatened some udilities that
experienced years of delay in completing nuclear power plants in the 1980s). While our scoring for the
Ability to Recover Costs and Earn Returns may primarily be influenced by our assessment of the
regulatory relationship, it can also be highly impacted by the management and business decisions of

the utility.

How We Assess Ability to Recover Costs and Earn Returns

The timeliness and sufficiency of rates are scored as separate sub-factors; however, they are interrelated.
Timeliness can have an impact on our view of what constitutes sufficient returns, because a strong
assurance of timely cost recovery reduces risk. Conversely, utilities may have a strong assurance that
they will earn a full return on certain deferred costs until they are able to collect them, or their
generally strong returns may allow them to weather some rate lag on recovery of construction-related
capital expenditures. The timeliness of cost recovery is particularly important in a period of rapidly
rising costs. During the past five years, utilities have benefitted from low interest rates and generally
decreasing fuel costs and purchased power costs, but these market conditions could easily reverse. For
example, fuel is a large component of total costs for vertically integrated utilities and for natural gas
utilities, and fuel prices are highly volatile, so the timeliness of fuel and purchased power cost recovery
is especially important.

While Factors 1 and 2 are closely inter-related, scoring of these factors will not necessarily be the same.
We have observed jurisdictions where the Regulatory Framework caused considerable credit concerns —
perhaps it was untested or going through a transition to de-regulation, but where the track record of
rate case outcomes was quite positive, leading to a higher score in the Ability to Recover Costs and
Earn Returns. Conversely, there have been instances of strong Legislative and Judicial Underpinnings
of the Regulatory Framework where the commission has ignored the framework (which would affect
Consistency and Predictability of Regulation as well as Ability to Recover Costs and Earn Returns) or
has used extraordinary measures to prevent or defer an increase that might have been justifiable from a
cost perspective but would have caused rate shock.

One might surmise that Factors 2 and 4 should be strongly correlated, since a good Ability to Recover
Costs and Earn Returns would normally lead to good financial metrics. However, the scoring for the
Ability to Recover Costs and Earn Returns sub-factor places more emphasis on our expectation of
timeliness and sufficiency of rates over time; whereas financial metrics may be impacted by one-time
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events, market conditions or construction cycles - trends that we believe could normalize or even
reverse.

How We Assess Timeliness of Recovery of Operating and Capital Costs for the Grid

The criteria we consider include provisions and cost recovery mechanisms for operating costs,
mechanisms that allow actual operating and/or capital expenditures to be trued-up periodically into
rates without having to file a rate case (this may include formula rates, rider and trackers, or the ability
to periodically adjust rates for construction work in progress) as well as the process and timeframe of
general tariff/base rate cases — those that are fully reviewed by the regulator, generally in a public
format that includes testimony of the utility and other stakeholders and interest groups. We also look
at the track record of the utility and regulator for timeliness. For instance, having a formula rate plan is
positive, but if the actual process has included reviews that are delayed for long periods, it may dampen
the benefit to the utility. In addition, we seck to estimate the lag between the time that a utility incurs
a major construction expenditures and the time that the utility will start to recover and/or earn a
return on that expenditure.

How We Assess Sufficiency of Rates and Returns for the Grid

The criteria we consider include statutory protections that assure full cost recovery and a reasonable
return for the utility on its investments, the regulatory mechanisms used to determine what a
reasonable return should be, and the track record of the utility in actually recovering costs and earning
returns. We examine outcomes of rate cases/tariff reviews and compare them to the request submitted
by the utility, to prior rate cases/tariff reviews for the same utility and to recent rate/tariff decisions for
a peer group of comparable utilities. In this context, comparable utilities are typically utilities in the
same or similar jurisdiction. In cases where the utility is unique or nearly unique in its jurisdiction,
comparison will be made to other peers with an adjustment for local differences, including prevailing
rates of interest and returns on capital, as well as the timeliness of rate-setting. We look at regulatory
disallowances of costs or investments, with a focus on their financial severity and also on the reasons
given by the regulator, in order to assess the likelihood that such disallowances will be repeated in the
future.
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Factor 3: Diversification (10%)
Why It Matters

Diversification of overall business operations helps to mitigate the risk that economic cycles, material
changes in a single regulatory regime or commodity price movements will have a severe impact on cash
flow and credit quality of a utility. While utilities’ sales volumes have lower exposure to economic
recessions than many non-financial corporate issuers, some sales components, including industrial
sales, are directly affected by economic trends that cause lower production and/or plant closures. In
addition, economic activity plays a role in the rate of customer growth in the service territory and
(absent energy efficiency and conservation) can often impact usage per customer. The economic
strength or weakness of the service territory can affect the political and regulatory environment for rate
increase requests by the utility. For utilities in areas prone to severe storms and other natural disasters,
the utility’s geographic diversity or concentration can be a key determinant for creditworthiness.
Diversity among regulatory regimes can mitigate the impact of a single unfavorable decision affecting
one part of the utility’s footprint.

For utilities with electric generation, fuel source diversity can mitigate the impact (to the utility and to
its rate-payers) of changes in commodity prices, hydrology and water flow, and environmental or other
regulations affecting plant operations and economics. We have observed that utilities’ regulatory
environments are most likely to become unfavorable during periods of rapid rate increases (which are
more important than absolute rate levels) and that fuel diversity leads to more stable rates over time.
For that reason, fuel diversity can be important even if fuel and purchased power expenses are an
automatic pass-through to the utility’s ratepayers. Changes in environmental, safety and other
regulations have caused vulnerabilities for certain technologies and fuel sources during the past five
years. These vulnerabilities have varied widely in different countries and have changed over time.

How We Assess Market Position for the Grid

Market position is comprised primarily of the economic diversity of the utility’s service territory and
the diversity of its regulatory regimes. We also consider the diversity of utility operations (e.g.,
regulated electric, gas, water, steam) when there are material operations in more than one area.
Economic diversity is a typically a function of the population, size and breadth of the territory and the
businesses that drive its GDP and employment. For the size of the territory, we typically consider the
number of customers and the volumes of generation and/or throughput. For breadth, we consider the
number of sizeable metropolitan areas served, the economic diversity and vitality in those metropolitan
areas, and any concentration in a particular area or industry. In our assessment, we may consider
various information sources. For example, in the US, information sources on the diversity and vitality
of economies of individual states and metropolitan areas may include Moody’s Economy.com. We also
look at the mix of the utility’s sales volumes among customer types, as well as the track record of
volume sales and any notable payment patterns during economic cycles. For diversity of regulatory
regimes, we typically look at the number of regulators and the percentages of revenues and utility assets
that are under the purview of each. While the highest scores in the Market Position sub-factor are
reserved for issuers regulated in multiple jurisdictions, when there is only one regulator, we make a
differentiation of regimes perceived as having lower or higher volatility.

Issuers with multiple supportive regulatory jurisdictions, a balanced sales mix among residential,
commercial, industrial and governmental customers in a large service territory with a robust and
diverse economy will generally score higher in this sub-factor. An issuer with a small service territory
economy that has a high dependence on one or two sectors, especially highly cyclical industries, will
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generally score lower in this sub-factor, as will issuers with meaningful exposure to economic
dislocations caused by natural disasters.

For issuers that are vertically integrated utilities having a meaningful amount of generation, this sub-
factor has a weighting of 5%. For electric transmission and distribution utilities without meaningful
generation and for natural gas local distribution companies, this sub-factor has a weighting of 10%.

How We Assess Generation and Fuel Diversity for the Grid

Criteria include the fuel type of the issuer’s generation and important power purchase agreements, the
ability of the issuer to economically shift its generation and power purchases when there are changes in
fuel prices, the degree to which the utility and its rate-payers are exposed to or insulated from changes
in commodity prices, and exposure to Challenged Source and Threatened Sources (see the
explanations for how we generally characterize these generation sources in the table below). A regulated
utility’s capacity mix may not in itself be an indication of fuel diversity or the ability to shift fuels,
since utilities may keep old and inefficient plants (e.g., natural gas boilers) to serve peak load. For this
reason, we do not incorporate set percentages reflecting an “ideal” or “sub-par” mix for capacity or
even generation. In addition to looking at a utility’s generation mix to evaluate fuel diversity, we
consider the efficiency of the utility’s plants, their placement on the regional dispatch curve, and the
demonstrated ability/inability of the utility to shift its generation mix in accordance with changing
commodity prices.

Issuers having a balanced mix of hydro, coal, natural gas, nuclear and renewable energy as well as low
exposure to challenged and threatened sources of generation will score higher in this sub-factor. Issuers
that have concentration in one or two sources of generation, especially if they are threatened or
challenged sources, will score lower.

In evaluating an issuer’s degree of exposure to challenged and threatened sources, we will consider not
only the existence of those plants in the utility’s portfolio, but also the relevant factors that will
determine the impact on the utility and on its rate-payers. For instance, an issuer that has a fairly high
percentage of its generation from challenged sources could be evaluated very differently if its peer
utilities face the same magnitude of those issues than if its peers have no exposure to challenged or
threatened sources. In evaluating threatened sources, we consider the utility’s progress in its plan to
replace those sources, its reserve margin, the availability of purchased power capacity in the region, and
the overall impact of the replacement plan on the issuer’s rates relative to its peer group. Especially if
there are no peers in the same jurisdiction, we also examine the extent to which the utility’s generation
resources plan is aligned with the relevant government’s fuel/energy policy.
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Factor 4: Financial Strength (40%)
Why It Matters

Electric and gas udilities are regulated, asset-based businesses characterized by large investments in
long-lived property, plant and equipment. Financial strength, including the ability to service debt and
provide a return to shareholders, is necessary for a utility to attract capital at a reasonable cost in order
to invest in its generation, transmission and distribution assets, so that the utility can fulfill its service
obligations at a reasonable cost to rate-payers.

How We Assess It for the Grid

In comparison to companies in other non-financial corporate sectors, the financial statements of
regulated electric and gas utilities have certain unique aspects that impact financial analysis, which is
further complicated by disparate treatment of certain elements under US Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (GAAP) versus International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Regulatory
accounting may permit utilities to defer certain costs (thereby creating regulatory assets) that a non-
utility corporate entity would have to expense. For instance, a regulated utility may be able to defer a
substantial portion of costs related to recovery from a storm based on the general regulatory framework
for those expenses, even if the utility does not have a specific order to collect the expenses from
ratepayers over a set period of time. A regulated utility may be able to accrue and defer a return on
equity (in addition to capitalizing interest) for construction-work-in-progress for an approved project
based on the assumption that it will be able to collect that deferred equity return once the asset comes
into service. For this reason, we focus more on a utility’s cash flow than on its reported net income.
Conversely, utilities may collect certain costs in rates well ahead of the time they must be paid (for
instance, pension costs), thereby creating regulatory liabilities. Many of our metrics focus on Cash
Flow from Operations Before Changes in Working Capital (CFO Pre-WC) because, unlike Funds
from Operations (FFO), it captures the changes in long-term regulatory assets and liabilities.
However, under IFRS the two measures are essentially the same. In general, we view changes in
working capital as less important in utility financial analysis because they are often ecither seasonal (for
example, power demand is generally greatest in the summer) or caused by changes in fuel prices that
are typically a relatively automatic pass-through to the customer. We will nonetheless examine the
impact of working capital changes in analyzing a utility’s liquidity (see Other Rating Considerations —
Liquidity).

Given the long-term nature of utility assets and the often lumpy nature of their capital expenditures, it
is important to analyze both a utility’s historical financial performance as well as its prospective future
performance, which may be different from backward-looking measures. Scores under this factor may
be higher or lower than what might be expected from historical results, depending on our view of
expected future performance. In the illustrative mapping examples in this document, the scoring grid
uses three year averages for the financial strength sub-factors. Multi-year periods are usually more
representative of credit quality because utilities can experience swings in cash flows from one-time
events, including such items as rate refunds, storm cost deferrals that create a regulatory asset, or
securitization proceeds that reduce a regulatory asset. Nonetheless, we also look at trends in metrics
for individual periods, which may influence our view of future performance and ratings.

For this scoring grid, we have identified four key ratios that we consider the most consistently useful in
the analysis of regulated electric and gas utilities. However, no single financial ratio can adequately
convey the relative credit strength of these highly diverse companies. Our ratings consider the overall
financial strength of a company, and in individual cases other financial indicators may also play an
important role.
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CFO Pre-Working Capital Plus Interest/Interest or Cash Flow Interest Coverage

The cash flow interest coverage ratio is an indicator for a utility’s ability to cover the cost of its
borrowed capital. The numerator in the ratio calculation is the sum of CFO Pre-WC and interest
expense, and the denominator is interest expense.

CFO Pre-Working Capital / Debt

This important metric is an indicator for the cash generating ability of a utility compared to its total
debt. The numerator in the ratio calculation is CFO Pre-WC, and the denominator is total debt.

CFO Pre-Working Capital Minus Dividends / Debt

This ratio is an indicator for financial leverage as well as an indicator of the strength of a utility’s cash
flow after dividend payments are made. Dividend obligations of utilities are often substantial, quasi-
permanent outflows that can affect the ability of a utility to cover its debt obligations, and this ratio
can also provide insight into the financial policies of a utility or utility holding company. The higher
the level of retained cash flow relative to a utility’s debt, the more cash the utility has to support its
capital expenditure program. The numerator of this ratio is CFO Pre-WC minus dividends, and the
denominator is total debt.

Debt/Capitalization

This ratio is a traditional measure of balance sheet leverage. The numerator is total debt and the
denominator is total capitalization. All of our ratios are calculated in accordance with Moody’s
standard adjustments’, but we note that our definition of total capitalization includes deferred taxes in
addition to total debt, preferred stock, other hybrid securities, and common equity. Since the presence
or absence of deferred taxes is a function of national tax policy, comparing utilities using this ratio may
be more meaningful among utilities in the same country or in countries with similar tax policies. High
debt levels in comparison to capitalization can indicate higher interest obligations, can limit the ability
of a utility to raise additional financing if needed, and can lead to leverage covenant violations in bank
credit facilities or other financing agreements®. A high ratio may result from a regulatory framework
that does not permit a robust cushion of equity in the capital structure, or from a material write-off of
an asset, which may not have impacted current period cash flows but could affect future period cash
flows relative to debt.

There are two sets of thresholds for three of these ratios based on the level of the issuer’s business risk —
the Standard Grid and the Lower Business Risk (LBR) Grid. In our view, the different types of utility
entities covered under this methodology (as described in Appendix E) have different levels of business
risk.

Generation utilities and vertically integrated utilities generally have a higher level of business risk
because they are engaged in power generation, so we apply the Standard Grid. We view power
generation as the highest-risk component of the electric utility business, as generation plants are
typically the most expensive part of a utility’s infrastructure (representing asset concentration risk) and
are subject to the greatest risks in both construction and operation, including the risk that incurred
costs will either not be recovered in rates or recovered with material delays.

7 In certain circumstances, analysts may also apply specific adjustments.

8 We also examine debt/capitalization ratios as defined in applicable covenants (which typically exclude deferred taxes from capitalization) relative to the covenant

threshold level.
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Other types of utilities may have lower business risk, such that we believe that they are most
appropriately assessed using the LBR Grid, due to factors that could include a generally greater transfer
of risk to customers, very strong insulation from exposure to commodity price movements, good
protection from volumetric risks, fairly limited capex needs and low exposure to storms, major
accidents and natural disasters. For instance, we tend to view many US natural gas local distribution
companies (LDCs) and certain US electric transmission and distribution companies (T &Ds, which
lack generation but generally retain some procurement responsibilities for customers), as typically
having a lower business risk profile than their vertically integrated peers. In cases of T&Ds that we do
not view as having materially lower risk than their vertically integrated peers, we will apply the
Standard grid. This could result from a regulatory framework that exposes them to energy supply risk,
large capital expenditures for required maintenance or upgrades, a heightened degree of exposure to
catastrophic storm damage, or increased regulatory scrutiny due to poor reliability, or other
considerations. The Standard Grid will also apply to LDCs that in our view do not have materially
lower risk; for instance, due to their ownership of high pressure pipes or older systems requiring
extensive gas main replacements, where gas commodity costs are not fully recovered in a reasonably
contemporaneous manner, or where the LDC is not well insulated from declining volumes.

The four key ratios, their weighting in the grid, and the Standard and LBR scoring thresholds are
detailed in the following table.

Factor 4: Financial Strength

Sub-Factor

Weighting 40% Weighting Aaa Aa A Baa Ba B Caa
CFO pre-WC+ Interest/ oo, > 8x 6x - 8x 4.5x - 6x 3x - 4.5x 2x - 3x 1x - 2x <1
Interest

Standard Grid > 40% 30% - 40% 22% - 30% 13% - 22% 5% - 13% 1% - 5% <1%
CFO pre-WC / Debt 15%

'r'{?s"kv g‘r‘isc;“ess >38% 27% - 38% 19% - 27% 11% - 19% 5% - 11% 1% - 5% <1%

Standard Grid 235% 25% - 35% 17% - 25% 9% - 17% 0% - 9% (5%)-0% < (5%)
gl;(l;)tpre—wc - Dividends / 10%

o 234%  23%-34%  15%-23% 7% - 15% 0% - 7% 5%)-0% < (5%)

Standard Grid <25% 25% - 35% 35% - 45% 45% - 55% 55%-65%  65%-75%  =75%
Debt / Capitalization 7.5%

LowiBusiness <29% 29% - 40% 40% - 50% 50% - 59% 59%-67%  67%-75%  =75%

Risk Grid

Notching for Structural Subordination of Holding Companies

Why It Matters

A typical utility company structure consists of a holding company (“HoldCo”) that owns one or more
operating subsidiaries (each an “OpCo”). OpCos may be regulated utilities or non-utility companies.
A HoldCo typically has no operations — its assets are mostly limited to its equity interests in
subsidiaries, and potentially other investments in subsidiaries that are structured as advances, debt, or
even hybrid securities.

Most HoldCos present their financial statements on a consolidated basis that blurs legal considerations
about priority of creditors based on the legal structure of the family, and grid scoring is thus based on
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consolidated ratios. However, HoldCo creditors typically have a secondary claim on the group’s cash
flows and assets after OpCo creditors. We refer to this as structural subordination, because it is the
corporate legal structure, rather than specific subordination provisions, that causes creditors at each of
the utility and non-utility subsidiaries to have a more direct claim on the cash flows and assets of their
respective OpCo obligors. By contrast, the debt of the HoldCo is typically serviced primarily by
dividends that are up-streamed by the OpCos®. Under normal circumstances, these dividends are
made from net income, after payment of the OpCo’s interest and preferred dividends. In most non-
financial corporate sectors where cash often moves freely between the entities in a single issuer family,
this distinction may have less of an impact. However, in the regulated utility sector, barriers to
movement of cash among companies in the corporate family can be much more restrictive, depending
on the regulatory framework. These barriers can lead to significantly different probabilities of default
for HoldCos and OpCos. Structural subordination also affects loss given default. Under most
default'” scenarios, an OpCo’s creditors will be satisfied from the value residing at that OpCo before
any of the OpCo’s assets can be used to satisfy claims of the HoldCo’s creditors. The prevalence of
debt issuance at the OpCo level is another reason that structural subordination is usually a more
serious concern in the utility sector than for investment grade issuers in other non-financial corporate
sectors.

The grids for factors 1-4 are primarily oriented to OpCos (and to some degree for HoldCos with
minimal current structural subordination; for example, there is no current structural subordination to
debt at the operating company if all of the utility family’s debt and preferred stock is issued at the
HoldCo level, although there is structural subordination to other liabilities at the OpCo level). The
additional risk from structural subordination is addressed via a notching adjustment to bring grid
outcomes (on average) closer to the actual ratings of HoldCos.

How We Assess It

Grid-indicated ratings of holding companies may be notched down based on structural subordination.
The risk factors and mitigants that impact structural subordination are varied and can be present in
different combinations, such that a formulaic approach is not practical and case-by-case analyst
judgment of the interaction of all pertinent factors that may increase or decrease its importance to the
credit risk of an issuer are essential.

Some of the potentially pertinent factors that could increase the degree and/or impact of structural
subordination include the following:

»  Regulatory or other barriers to cash movement from OpCos to HoldCo

»  Specific ring-fencing provisions

»  Strict financial covenants at the OpCo level

»  Higher leverage at the OpCo level

»  Higher leverage at the HoldCo level!!

»  Significant dividend limitations or potential limitations at an important OpCo

»  HoldCo exposure to subsidiaries with high business risk or volatile cash flows

The HoldCo and OpCo may also have intercompany agreements, including tax sharing agreements, that can be another source of cash to the HoldCo.

Actual priority in a default scenario will be determined by many factors, including the corporate and bankruptcy laws of the jurisdiction, the asset value of each OpCo,
specific financing terms, inter-relationships among members of the family, etc.

While higher leverage at the HoldCo does not increase structural subordination per se, it exacerbates the impact of any structural subordination that exists
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»  Strained liquidity at the HoldCo level

»  The group’s investment program is primarily in businesses that are higher risk or new to the group

Some of the potentially mitigating factors that could decrease the degree and/or impact of structural
subordination include the following:

»  Substantial diversity in cash flows from a variety of utility OpCos

»  Meaningful dividends to HoldCo from unlevered utility OpCos

»  Dependable, meaningful dividends to HoldCo from non-utility OpCos
»  The group’s investment program is primarily in strong utility businesses

»  Inter-company guarantees - however, in many jurisdictions the value of an upstream guarantee
may be limited by certain factors, including by the value that the OpCo received in exchange for
granting the guarantee

Notching for structural subordination within the grid may range from 0 to negative 3 notches.
Instances of extreme structural subordination are relatively rare, so the grid convention does not
accommodate wider differences, although in the instances where we believe it is present, actual ratings
do reflect the full impact of structural subordination.

A related issue is the relationship of ratings within a utility family with multiple operating companies,
and sometimes intermediate holding companies. Some of the key issues are the same, such as the
relative amounts of debt at the holding company level compared to the operating company level (or at
one OpCo relative to another), and the degree to which operating companies have credit insulation
due to regulation or other protective factors. Appendix D has additional insights on ratings within a
utility family.

Rating Methodology Assumptions and Limitations, and Other Rating Considerations

The grid in this rating methodology represents a decision to favor simplicity that enhances
transparency and to avoid greater complexity that would enable the grid to map more closely to actual
ratings. Accordingly, the four rating factors and the notching factor in the grid do not constitute an
exhaustive treatment of all of the considerations that are important for ratings of companies in the
regulated electric and gas utility sector. In addition, our ratings incorporate expectations for future
performance, while the financial information that is used to illustrate the mapping in the grid in this
document is mainly historical. In some cases, our expectations for future performance may be
informed by confidential information that we can’t disclose. In other cases, we estimate future results
based upon past performance, industry trends, competitor actions or other factors. In either case,
predicting the future is subject to the risk of substantial inaccuracy.

Assumptions that may cause our forward-looking expectations to be incorrect include unanticipated
changes in any of the following factors: the macroeconomic environment and general financial market
conditions, industry competition, disruptive technology, regulatory and legal actions.

Key rating assumptions that apply in this sector include our view that sovereign credit risk is strongly
correlated with that of other domestic issuers, that legal priority of claim affects average recovery on
different classes of debt, sufficiently to generally warrant differences in ratings for different debrt classes
of the same issuer, and the assumption that access to liquidity is a strong driver of credit risk.
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In choosing metrics for this rating methodology grid, we did not explicitly include certain important
factors that are common to all companies in any industry such as the quality and experience of
management, assessments of corporate governance and the quality of financial reporting and
information disclosure. Therefore ranking these factors by rating category in a grid would in some
cases suggest too much precision in the relative ranking of particular issuers against all other issuers
that are rated in various industry sectors.

Ratings may include additional factors that are difficult to quantify or that have a meaningful effect in
differentiating credit quality only in some cases, but not all. Such factors include financial controls,
exposure to uncertain licensing regimes and possible government interference in some countries.
Regulatory, litigation, liquidity, technology and reputational risk as well as changes to consumer and
business spending patterns, competitor strategies and macroeconomic trends also affect ratings. While
these are important considerations, it is not possible to precisely express these in the rating
methodology grid without making the grid excessively complex and significantly less transparent.
Ratings may also reflect circumstances in which the weighting of a particular factor will be
substantially different from the weighting suggested by the grid.

This variation in weighting rating considerations can also apply to factors that we choose not to
represent in the grid. For example, liquidity is a consideration frequently critical to ratings and which
may not, in other circumstances, have a substantial impact in discriminating between two issuers with
a similar credit profile. As an example of the limitations, ratings can be heavily affected by extremely
weak liquidity that magnifies default risk. However, two identical companies might be rated the same
if their only differentiating feature is that one has a good liquidity position while the other has an
extremely good liquidity position.

Other Rating Considerations

Moody’s considers other factors in addition to those discussed in this report, but in most cases
understanding the considerations discussed herein should enable a good approximation of our view on
the credit quality of companies in the regulated electric and gas utilities sector. Ratings consider our
assessment of the quality of management, corporate governance, financial controls, liquidity
management, event risk and seasonality. The analysis of these factors remains an integral part of our
rating process.

Liquidity and Access to Capital Markets

Liquidity analysis is a key element in the financial analysis of electric and gas utilities, and it
encompasses a company’s ability to generate cash from internal sources as well as the availability of
external sources of financing to supplement these internal sources. Liquidity and access to financing
are of particular importance in this sector. Utility assets can often have a very long useful life- 30, 40
or even 60 years is not uncommon, as well as high price tags. Partly as a result of construction cycles,
the utility sector has experienced prolonged periods of negative free cash flow — essentially, the sum of
its dividends and its capital expenditures for maintenance and growth of its infrastructure frequently
exceeds cash from operations, such that a portion of capital expenditures must routinely be debt
financed. Utilities are among the largest debt issuers in the corporate universe and typically require
consistent access to the capital markets to assure adequate sources of funding and to maintain financial
flexibility. Substantial portions of capex are non-discretionary (for example, maintenance, adding
customers to the network, or meeting environmental mandates); however, utilities were swift to cut or
defer discretionary spending during the 2007-2009 recession. Dividends represent a quasi-permanent
outlay, since utilities will typically only rarely cut their dividend. Liquidity is also important to meet
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maturing obligations, which often occur in large chunks, and to meet collateral calls under any
hedging agreements.

Due to the importance of liquidity, incorporating it as a factor with a fixed weighting in the grid
would suggest an importance level that is often far different from the actual weight in the rating. In
normal circumstances most companies in the sector have good access to liquidity. The industry
generally requires, and for the most part has, large, syndicated, multi-year committed credit facilities.
In addition, utilities have demonstrated strong access to capital markets, even under difficult
conditions. As a result, liquidity has generally not been an issue for most utilities and a utility with
very strong liquidity may not warrant a rating distinction compared to a utility with strong liquidity.
However, when there is weakness in liquidity or liquidity management, it can be the dominant
consideration for ratings.

Our assessment of liquidity for regulated utilities involves an analysis of total sources and uses of cash
over the next 12 months or more, as is done for all corporates. Using our financial projections of the
utility and our analysis of its available sources of liquidity (including an assessment of the quality and
reliability of alternate liquidity such as committed credit facilities), we evaluate how its projected
sources of cash (cash from operations, cash on hand and existing committed multi-year credit facilities)
compare to its projected uses (including all or most capital expenditures, dividends, maturities of short
and long-term debt, our projection of potential liquidity calls on financial hedges, and important
issuer-specific items such as special tax payments). We assume no access to capital markets or
additional liquidity sources, no renewal of existing credit facilities, and no cut to dividends. We
examine a company’s liquidity profile under this scenario, its ability to make adjustments to improve
its liquidity position, and any dependence on liquidity sources with lower quality and reliability.

Management Quality and Financial Policy

The quality of management is an important factor supporting the credit strength of a regulated utility or
utility holding company. Assessing the execution of business plans over time can be helpful in assessing
management’s business strategies, policies, and philosophies and in evaluating management performance
relative to performance of competitors and our projections. A record of consistency provides Moody’s
with insight into management’s likely future performance in stressed situations and can be an indicator of
management’s tendency to depart significantly from its stated plans and guidelines.

We also assess financial policy (including dividend policy and planned capital expenditures) and how
management balances the potentially competing interests of shareholders, fixed income investors and
other stakeholders. Dividends and discretionary capital expenditures are the two primary components
over which management has the greatest control in the short term. For holding companies, we
consider the extent to which management is willing stretch its payout ratio (through aggressive
increases or delays in needed decreases) in order to satisfy common shareholders. For a utility that is a
subsidiary of a parent company with several utility subsidiaries, dividends to the parent may be more
volatile depending on the cash generation and cash needs of that utility, because parents typically want
to assure that each utility maintains the regulatory debt/equity ratio on which its rates have been set.
The effect we have observed is that utility subsidiaries often pay higher dividends when they have
lower capital needs and lower dividends when they have higher capital expenditures or other cash
needs. Any dividend policy that cuts into the regulatory debt/equity ratio is a material credit negative.
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Size — Natural Disasters, Customer Concentration and Construction Risks

The size and scale of a regulated utility has generally not been a major determinant of its credit
strength in the same way that it has been for most other industrial sectors. While size brings certain
economies of scale that can somewhat affect the utility’s cost structure and competitiveness, rates are
more heavily impacted by costs related to fuel and fixed assets. Particularly in the US, we have not
observed material differences in the success of utilities” regulatory outreach based on their size. Smaller
utilities have sometimes been better able to focus their attention on meeting the expectations of a
single regulator than their multi-state peers.

However, size can be a very important factor in our assessment of certain risks that impact ratings,
including exposure to natural disasters, customer concentration (primarily to industrial customers in a
single sector) and construction risks associated with large projects. While the grid attempts to
incorporate the first two of these into Factor 3, for some issuers these considerations may be
sufficiently important that the rating reflects a greater weight for these risks. While construction
projects always carry the risk of cost over-runs and delays, these risks are materially heightened for
projects that are very large relative to the size of the utility.

Interaction of Utility Ratings with Government Policies and Sovereign Ratings

Compared to most industrial sectors, regulated utilities are more likely to be impacted by government
actions. Credit impacts can occur directly through rate regulation, and indirectly through energy,
environmental and tax policies. Government actions affect fuel prices, the mix of generating plants, the
certainty and timing of revenues and costs, and the likelihood that regulated utilities will experience
financial stress. While our evolving view of the impact of such policies and the general economic and
financial climate is reflected in ratings for each udility, some considerations do not lend themselves to
incorporation in a simple ratings grid.'?

Diversified Operations at the Utility

A small number of regulated utilities have diversified operations that are segments within the utility
company, as opposed to the more common practice of housing such operations in one or more
separate affiliates. In general, we will seek to evaluate the other businesses that are material in
accordance with the appropriate methodology and the rating will reflect considerations from such
methodologies. There may be analytical limitations in evaluating the utility and non-utility businesses
when segment financial results are not fully broken out and these may be addressed through estimation
based on available information. Since regulated utilities are a relatively low risk business compared to
other corporate sectors, in most cases diversified non-utility operations increase the business risk profile
of a utility. Reflecting this tendency, we note that assigned ratings are typically lower than grid-
indicated ratings for such companies.

Event Risk

We also recognize the possibility that an unexpected event could cause a sudden and sharp decline in
an issuer's fundamental creditworthiness. Typical special events include mergers and acquisitions, asset
sales, spin-offs, capital restructuring programs, litigation and shareholder distributions.

2 See also the cross-sector methodology How Sovereign Credit Quality May Affect Other Ratings, February 2012.
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Corporate Governance

Among the areas of focus in corporate governance are audit committee financial expertise, the
incentives created by executive compensation packages, related party transactions, interactions with
outside auditors, and ownership structure.

Investment and Acquisition Strategy

In our credit assessment we take into consideration management’s investment strategy. Investment
strategy is benchmarked with that of the other companies in the rated universe to further verify its
consistency. Acquisitions can strengthen a company’s business. Our assessment of a company’s
tolerance for acquisitions at a given rating level takes into consideration (1) management’s risk
appetite, including the likelihood of further acquisitions over the medium term; (2) share buy-back
activity; (3) the company’s commitment to specific leverage targets; and (4) the volatility of the
underlying businesses, as well as that of the business acquired. Ratings can often hold after acquisitions
even if leverage temporarily climbs above normally acceptable ranges. However, this depends on (1)
the strategic fit; (2) pro-forma capitalization/leverage following an acquisition; and (3) our confidence
that credit metrics will be restored in a relatively short timeframe.

Financial Controls

We rely on the accuracy of audited financial statements to assign and monitor ratings in this sector.
Such accuracy is only possible when companies have sufficient internal controls, including centralized
operations, the proper tone at the top and consistency in accounting policies and procedures.

Weaknesses in the overall financial reporting processes, financial statement restatements or delays in
regulatory filings can be indications of a potential breakdown in internal controls.
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Conclusion: Summary of the Grid-Indicated Rating Outcomes

For the 45 representative utilities shown in the illustrative mapping examples, the grid-indicated
ratings map to current assigned ratings as follows (see Appendix B for the details):

»  33% or 15 companies map to their assigned rating

»  49% or 22 companies have grid-indicated ratings that are within one alpha-numeric notch of their
assigned rating

»  16% or 7 companies have grid-indicated ratings that are within two alpha-numeric notches of
their assigned rating

» 2% or 1 company has a grid-indicated rating that is within three alpha-numeric notches of its
assigned rating
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Grid Indicated Rating Outcomes

Map to Assigned Rating

Map to Within One Notch

American Electric Power Company, Inc.

Appalachian Power Company

China Longyuan Power Group Corporation Ltd.

Arizona Public Service Company

Chubu Electric Power Company, Incorporated

China Resources Gas Group Limited

Entergy Corporation

Duke Energy Corporation

FortisBC Holdings Inc.

Florida Power & Light Company

Great Plains Energy Incorporated

Georgia Power Company

Hokuriku Electric Power Company

Hawaiian Electric Industries, Inc.

Madison Gas & Electric

Idaho Power Company

MidAmerican Energy Company

Kansai Electric Power Company, Incorporated

Mississippi Power Company

Korea Electric Power Corporation

Newfoundland Power Inc.

MidAmerican Energy Holdings Co.

Oklahoma Gas and Electric Company

Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation

Osaka Gas Co., Ltd.

Northern States Power Minnesota

Saudi Electricity

Okinawa Electric Power Company, Incorporated

Wisconsin Public Service Corporation

PacifiCorp

Pennsylvania Electric Company

PNG Companies

Public Service Company of New Mexico

SCANA

Southwestern Public Service Company

UGI Utilities, Inc.

Virginia Electric Power Company

Map to Within Two Notches

Map to Within Three or More Notches

Ameren Illinois Company

Western Mass Electric Co.

Consumers Energy Company

Distribuidora de Electricidad La Paz S.A.

Empresa Electrica de Guatemala, S.A. (EEGSA)

Gail (India) Ltd

Gas Natural Ban, S.A.

Ohio Power Company
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Exhibit KWB-5

Page 39 of 63
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Appendix B: Regulated Electric and Gas Utilities — Assigned Ratings and Grid-Indicated Ratings for a
Selected Cross-Section of Issuers

BCA / Rating Before Grid Indicated

Issuer Outlook Actual Rating Uplift™ Rating Country
1 Ameren Illinois Company RUR-Up Baa2 - A3 USA
2 American Electric Power Company, Inc. RUR-Up Baaz - Baa2 USA
3 Appalachian Power Company RUR-Up Baaz - Baal USA
4 Arizona Public Service Company RUR-Up Baa - A3 USA
5 China Longyuan Power Group Corporation Stable Baa3 Bail Bal China
6 China Resources Gas Group Ltd. Stable Baal Baa2 Baal China
7 Chubu Electric Power Company, Inc. Negative A3 Baa2 Baa2 Japan
8 Consumers Energy Company RUR-Up (P)Baal - A2 USA
9 Distribuidora de Electricidad La Paz S.A. Stable Ba3 - Ba1l Bolivia
10 Duke Energy Corporation RUR-Up Baal - Baaz USA
i Empresa Electrica de Guatemala, S.A. Positive Ba2 - Baa3 Guatemala
12 Entergy Corporation Stable Baa3 - Baa3 USA
13 Florida Power & Light Company RUR-Up A2 - Al USA
14 FortisBC Holdings Inc. Negative Baa2 - Baa2 Canada
15 Gail (India) Ltd Stable Baa2 Baa2 A3 India
16 Gas Natural BAN, S.A. Negative B3 - B1 Argentina
17 Georgia Power Company Stable A3 - A2 USA
18 Great Plains Energy Incorporated RUR-Up Baa3 - Baa3 USA
19 Hawaiian Electric Industries, Inc. RUR-Up Baa2 - Baal USA
20 Hokuriku Electric Power Company Negative A3 Baa2 Baa2 Japan
21 Idaho Power Company RUR-Up Baal - A3 USA
22 Kansai Electric Power Company, Inc. Negative A3 Baa2 Baa3 Japan
23 Korea Electric Power Corporation Stable Al Baa2 Baa3 Korea
24 Madison Gas & Electric RUR-Up Al - Al USA
25 MidAmerican Energy Company RUR-Up A2 - A2 USA
26 MidAmerican Energy Holdings Co. RUR-Up Baal - A3 USA
27 Mississippi Power Company Stable Baal - Baal USA
28 Niagara Mohawk Power Corporation RUR-Up A3 - A2 USA
29 Newfoundland Power Inc. Stable Baal - Baal Canada
30 Northern States Power Minnesota RUR-Up A3 - A2 USA
31 Ohio Power Company Stable Baal - A2 USA
32 Okinawa Electric Power Company, Inc. Stable Aa3 A2 A3 Japan
33 Oklahoma Gas & Electric Company RUR-Up A2 - A2 USA
34  Osaka Gas Co,, Ltd. Stable Aa3 Al Al Japan

'3 BCA means a Baseline Credit Assessment for a government related issuer. Please see Government Related Issuers: Methodology Update, July 2010. In addition, certain

companies in Japan receive a ratings uplift due to country-specific considerations. Please see “Support system for large corporate entities in Japan can provide ratings

uplift, with limits” in Appendix G.
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BCA / Rating Before Grid Indicated
Issuer Outlook Actual Rating Uplift” Rating Country
35 PacifiCorp RUR-Up Baa - A3 USA
36 Pennsylvania Electric Company Stable Baa2 - Baal USA
37 PNG Companies LLC RUR-Up Baa3 - Baa2 USA
38 Public Service Company of New Mexico RUR-Up Baa3 - Baa2 USA
39 Saudi Electricity Company Stable Al Baal Baal Saudi Arabia
40  SCANA Corporation Stable Baa3 - Baa2 USA
41 Southwestern Public Service Company RUR-Up Baaz - Baal USA
42 UGl Utilities, Inc. RUR-Up A3 - A2 USA
43 Virginia Electric and Power Company RUR-Up A3 - A2 USA
44 Western Massachusetts Electric Company RUR-Up Baa2 - A2 USA
45 Wisconsin Public Service Corporation RUR-Up A2 - A2 USA

L ]
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Appendix D: Approach to Ratings within a Utility Family

Typical Composition of a Utility Family

A typical utility company structure consists of a holding company (“HoldCo”) that owns one or more
operating subsidiaries (each an “OpCo”). OpCos may be regulated utilities or non-utility companies.
Financing of these entities varies by region, in part due to the regulatory framework. A HoldCo
typically has no operations — its assets are mostly limited to its equity interests in subsidiaries, and
potentially other investments in subsidiaries or minority interests in other companies. However, in
certain cases there may be material operations at the HoldCo level. Financing can occur primarily at
the OpCo level, primarily at the HoldCo level, or at both HoldCo and OpCos in varying proportions.
When a HoldCo has multiple utility OpCos, they will often be located in different regulatory
jurisdictions. A HoldCo may have both levered and unlevered OpCos.

General Approach to a Utility Family

In our analysis, we generally consider the stand-alone credit profile of an OpCo and the credit profile
of its ultimate parent HoldCo (and any intermediate HoldCos), as well as the profile of the family as a
whole, while acknowledging that these elements can have cross-family credit implications in varying
degrees, principally based on the regulatory framework of the OpCos and the financing model (which
has often developed in response to the regulatory framework).

In addition to considering individual OpCos under this (or another applicable) methodology, we
typically'® approach a HoldCo rating by assessing the qualitative and quantitative factors in this
methodology for the consolidated entity and each of its utility subsidiaries. Ratings of individual
entities in the issuer family may be pulled up or down based on the interrelationships among the
companies in the family and their relative credit strength.

In considering how closely aligned or how differentiated ratings should be among members of a utility
family, we assess a variety of factors, including:

»  Regulatory or other barriers to cash movement among OpCos and from OpCos to HoldCo

»  Differentiation of the regulatory frameworks of the various OpCos

»  Specific ring-fencing provisions at particular OpCos

»  Financing arrangements — for instance, each OpCo may have its own financing arrangements, or
the sole liquidity facility may be at the parent; there may be a liquidity pool among certain but not
all members of the family; certain members of the family may better be able to withstand a
temporary hiatus of external liquidity or access to capital markets

»  Financial covenants and the extent to which an Event of Default by one OpCo limits availability
of liquidity to another member of the family

»  The extent to which higher leverage at one entity increases default risk for other members of the
family

»  An entity’s exposure to or insulation from an affiliate with high business risk

' See paragraph at the end of this section for approaches to Hybrid HoldCos.

i
46 DECEMBER 23, 2013 RATING METHODOLOGY: REGULATED ELECTRIC AND GAS UTILITIES



Exhibit KWB-5

MOODY'S INVESTORS SERVICE Page 47 of 63 |\rrasTrRuCTURE

»  Structural features or other limitations in financing agreements that restrict movements of funds,
investments, provision of guarantees or collateral, etc.

»  The relative size and financial significance of any particular OpCo to the HoldCo and the family

See also those factors noted in Notching for Structural Subordination of Holding Companies.

Our approach to a Hybrid HoldCo (see definition in Appendix E) depends in part on the importance
of its non-utility operations and the availability of information on individual businesses. If the
businesses are material and their individual results are fully broken out in financial disclosures, we may
be able to assess each material business individually by reference to the relevant Moody’s
methodologies to arrive at a composite assessment for the combined businesses. If non-utility
operations are material but are not broken out in financial disclosures, we may look at the consolidated
entity under more than one methodology. When non-utility operations are less material but could still
impact the overall credit profile, the difference in business risks and our estimation of their impact on
financial performance will be qualitatively incorporated in the rating.

Higher Barriers to Cash Movement with Financing Predominantly ar the OpCos

Where higher barriers to cash movement exist on an OpCo or OpCos due the regulatory framework
or debt structural features, ratings among family members are likely to be more differentiated. For
instance, for utility families with OpCos in the US, where regulatory barriers to free cash movement
are relatively high, greater importance is generally placed on the stand-alone credit profile of the

OpCo.

Our observation of major defaults and bankruptcies in the US sector generally corroborates a view that
regulation creates a degree of separateness of default probability. For instance, Portland General
Electric (Baal RUR-up) did not default on its securities, even though its then-parent Enron Corp.
entered bankruptcy proceedings. When Entergy New Orleans (Ba2 stable) entered into bankruptcy,
the ratings of its affiliates and parent Entergy Corporation (Baa3 stable) were unaffected. PG&E
Corporation (Baal stable) did not enter bankruptcy proceedings despite bankruptcies of two major
subsidiaries - Pacific Gas & Electric Company (A3 stable) in 2001 and National Energy Group in
2003.

The degree of separateness may be greater or smaller and is assessed on a case by case basis, because
situational considerations are important. One area we consider is financing arrangements. For
instance, there will tend to be greater differentiation if each member of a family has its own bank
credit facilities and difficulties experienced by one entity would not trigger events of default for other
entities. While the existence of a money pool might appear to reduce separateness between the
participants, there may be regulatory barriers within money pools that preserve separateness. For
instance, non-utility entities may have access to the pool only as a borrower, only as a lender, and even
the utility entities may have regulatory limits on their borrowings from the pool or their credit
exposures to other pool members. If the only source of external liquidity for a money pool is
borrowings by the HoldCo under its bank credit facilities, there would be less separateness, especially if
the utilities were expected to depend on that liquidity source. However, the ability of an OpCo to
finance itself by accessing capital markets must also be considered. Inter-company tax agreements can
also have an impact on our view of how separate the risks of default are.

For a HoldCo, the greater the regulatory, economic, and geographic diversity of its OpCos, the greater
its potential separation from the default probability of any individual subsidiary. Conversely, if a
HoldCo’s actions have made it clear that the HoldCo will provide support for an OpCo encountering
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some financial stress (for instance, due to delays and/or cost over-runs on a major construction
project), we would be likely to perceive less separateness.

Even where high barriers to cash movement exist, onerous leverage at a parent company may not only
give rise to greater notching for structural subordination at the parent, it may also pressure an OpCo’s
rating, especially when there is a clear dependence on an OpCo’s cash flow to service parent debt.
While most of the regulatory barriers to cash movement are very real, they are not absolute.
Furthermore, while it is not usually in the interest of an insolvent parent or its creditors to bring an
operating utility into a bankruptcy proceeding, such an occurrence is not impossible.

The greatest separateness occurs where strong regulatory insulation is supplemented by effective ring-
fencing provisions that fully separate the management and operations of the OpCo from the rest of the
family and limit the parent’s ability to cause the OpCo to commence bankruptcy proceedings as well
as limiting dividends and cash transfers. Currently, most entities in US utility families (including
HoldCos and OpCos) are rated within 3 notches of each other. However, Energy Future Holdings
Corp. (Caa3 senior unsecured) and its T&D subsidiary Oncor Electric Delivery Company LLC (Baa3
senior secured) have much wider notching due to the combination of regulatory imperatives and
strong ring-fencing that includes a significant minority shareholder who must agree to important
corporate decisions, including a voluntary bankruptcey filing.

Lower Barriers to Cash Movement with Financing Predominantly at the OpCos

Our approach to rating issuers within a family where there are lower regulatory barriers to movement
of cash from OpCos to HoldCos (e.g., many parts of Asia and Europe) places greater emphasis on the
credit profile of the consolidated group. Individual OpCos are considered based on their individual
characteristics and their importance to the family, and their assigned ratings are typically banded
closely around the consolidated credit profile of the group due to the expectation that cash will transit
relatively freely among family endities.

Some utilities may have OpCos in jurisdictions where cash movement among certain family members
is more restricted by the regulatory framework, while cash movement from and/or among OpCos in
other jurisdictions is less restricted. In these situations, OpCos with more restrictions may vary more
widely from the consolidated credit profile while those with fewer restrictions may be more tightly
banded around the other entities in the corporate family group.
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Appendix E: Brief Descriptions of the Types of Companies Rated Under This
Methodology

The following describes the principal categories of companies rated under this methodology:

Vertically Integrated Utility: Vertically integrated utilities are regulated electric or combination
utilities (see below) that own generation, distribution and (in most cases) electric transmission assets.
Vertically integrated utilities are generally engaged in all aspects of the electricity business. They build
power plants, procure fuel, generate power, build and maintain the electric grid that delivers power
from a group of power plants to end-users (including high and low voltage lines, transformers and
substations), and generally meet all of the electric needs of the customers in a specific geographic area
(also called a service territory). The rates or tariffs for all of these monopolistic activities are set by the
relevant regulatory authority.

Transmission & Distribution Utility: Transmission & Distribution utilities (T&Ds) typically operate
in deregulated markets where generation is provided under a competitive framework. T&Ds own and
operate the electric grid that transmits and/or distributes electricity within a specific state or region.
T&Ds provide electrical transportation and distribution services to carry electricity from power plants
and transmission lines to retail, commercial, and industrial customers. T&Ds are typically responsible
for billing customers for electric delivery and/or supply, and most have an obligation to provide a
standard supply or provider-of-last-resort (POLR) service to customers that have not switched to a
competitive supplier. These factors distinguish T&Ds from Networks, whose customers are retail
electric suppliers and/or other electricity companies. In a smaller number of cases, T&Ds rated under
this methodology may not have an obligation to provide POLR services, but are regulated in sub-
sovereign jurisdictions. The rates or tariffs for these monopolistic T&D activities are set by the
relevant regulatory authority.

Local Gas Distribution Company: Distribution is the final step in delivering natural gas to customers.
While some large industrial, commercial, and electric generation customers receive natural gas directly
from high capacity pipelines that carry gas from gas producing basins to areas where gas is consumed,
most other users receive natural gas from their local gas utility, also called a local distribution company
(LDC). LDC:s are regulated utilities involved in the delivery of natural gas to consumers within a
specific geographic area. Specifically, LDCs typically transport natural gas from delivery points located
on large-diameter pipelines (that usually operate at fairly high pressure) to households and businesses
through thousands of miles of small-diameter distribution pipe (that usually operate at fairly low
pressure). LDCs are typically responsible for billing customers for gas delivery and/or supply, and
most also have the responsibility to procure gas for at least some of their customers, although in some
markets gas supply to all customers is on a competitive basis. These factors distinguish LDCs from gas
networks, whose customers are retail gas suppliers and/or other natural gas companies. The rates or
tariffs for these monopolistic activities are set by the relevant regulatory authority.

Integrated Gas Utility: Integrated gas regulated utilities are regulated utilities that deliver gas to all
end users in a particular service territory by sourcing the commodity; operating transport infrastructure
that often combines high pressure pipelines with low pressure distribution systems and, in some cases,
gas storage, re-gasification or other related facilities; and performing other supply-related activities,
such as customer billing and metering. The rates or tariffs for the totality of these activities are set by
the relevant regulatory authority. Many integrated gas utilities are national in scope.
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Combination Utility: Combination utilities are those that combine an LDC or Integrated Gas Utility
with either a vertically integrated utility or a T&D utility. The rates or tariffs for these monopolistic
activities are set by the relevant regulatory authority.

Regulated Generation Utility: Regulated generation utilities (Regulated Gencos) are utilities that
almost exclusively have generation assets, but their activities are generally regulated like those of
vertically integrated utilities. In the US, this means that the purchasers of their outpur (typically other
investor-owned, municipal or cooperative udilities) pay a regulated rate based on the total allowed costs
of the Regulated Genco, including a return on equity based on a capital structure designated by the
regulator (primarily FERC). Companies that have been included in this group include certain
generation companies (including in Korea and China) that are not rate regulated in the usual sense of
recovering costs plus a regulated rate of return on cither equity or asset value. Instead, we have looked
at a combination of governmental action with respect to setting feed-in tariffs and directives on how
much generation will be built (or not built) in combination with a generally high degree of
government ownership, and we have concluded that these companies are currently best rated under
this methodology. Future evolution in our view of the operating and/or regulatory environment of
these companies could lead us to conclude that they may be more appropriately rated under a related
methodology (for example, Unregulated Utilities and Power Companies).

Independent System Operator: An Independent System Operator (ISO) is an organization formed in
certain regional electricity markets to act as the sole chief coordinator of an electric grid. In the areas
where an ISO is established, it coordinates, controls and monitors the operation of the electrical power
system to assure that electric supply and demand are balanced at all times, and, to the extent possible,
that electric demand is met with the lowest-cost sources. 1SOs seek to assure adequate transmission
and generation resources, usually by identifying new transmission needs and planning for a generation
reserve margin above expected peak demand. In regions where generation is competitive, they also
seek to establish rules that foster a fair and open marketplace, and they may conduct price-setting
auctions for energy and/or capacity. The generation resources that an ISO coordinates may belong to
vertically integrated utilities or to independent power producers. ISOs may not be rate-regulated in
the traditional sense, but fall under governmental oversight. All participants in the regional grid are
required to pay a fee or tariff (often volumetric) to the ISO that is designed to recover its costs,
including costs of investment in systems and equipment needed to fulfill their function. ISOs may be
for profit or not-for-profit entities.

In the US, most ISOs were formed at the direction or recommendation of the Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission (FERC), but the ISO that operates solely in Texas falls under state
jurisdiction. Some US ISOs also perform certain additional functions such that they are designated as
Regional Transmission Organizations (or RTOs).

Transmission-Only Utility: Transmission-only utilities are solely focused on owning and operating
transmission assets. The transmission lines these utilities own are typically high-voltage and allow
energy producers to transport electric power over long distances from where it is generated (or
received) to the transmission or distribution system of a T&D or vertically integrated utility. Unlike
most of the other utilities rated under this methodology, transmission-only udilities primarily provide
services to other utilities and ISOs. Transmission-only utilities in most parts of the world other than
the US have been rated under the Regulated Networks methodology, and we expect that FERC-
regulated transmission-only utilities in the US will also transition to the Regulated Networks when
that methodology is updated (expected in 2014).
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Utility Holding Company (Utility HoldCo): As detailed in Appendix D, regulated electric and gas
utilities are often part of corporate families under a parent holding company. The operating
subsidiaries of Utility Holdcos are overwhelmingly regulated electric and gas utilities.

Hybrid Holding Company (Hybrid HoldCo): Some utility families contain a mix of regulated
electric and gas utilities and other types of companies, but the regulated electric and gas utilities

represent the majority of the consolidated cash flows, assets and debt. The parent company is thus a
Hybrid HoldCo.
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Appendix F: Key Industry Issues Over the Intermediate Term

Political and Regulatory Issues

As highly regulated monopolistic entities, regulated utilities continually face political and regulatory risk,
and managing these risks through effective outreach to key customers as well as key political and regulatory
decision-makers is, or at least should be, a core competency of companies in this sector. However, larger
waves of change in the political, regulatory or economic environment have the potential to cause substantial
changes in the level of risk experienced by utilities and their investors in somewhat unpredictable ways.

One of the more universal risks faced by utilities currently is the compression of allowed returns. A long
period of globally low interest rates, held down by monetary stimulus policies, has generally benefitted
udlities, since reductions in allowed returns have been slower than reductions in incurred capital costs.
Essentially all regulated udilities face a ratcheting down of allowed and/or earned returns. More difficult to
predict is how regulators will respond when monetary stimulus reverses, and how well utilidies will fare
when fixed income investors require higher interest rates and equity investors require higher total returns
and growth prospects.

The following global snapshot highlights that regulatory frameworks evolve over time. On an overall basis
in the US over the past several years, we have noted some incremental positive regulatory trends, including
greater use of formula rates, trackers and riders, and (primarily for natural gas utilities) de-coupling of
returns from volumetric sales. In Canada, the framework has historically been viewed as predictable and
stable, which has helped offset somewhat lower levels of equity in the capital structure, but the compression
of returns has been relatively steep in recent years. In Japan, the regulatory authorities are working through
the challenges presented by the decision to shut down virtually all of the country’s nuclear generation
capacity, leading to uncertainty regarding the extent to which increased costs will be reflected in rate
increases sufficient to permit returns on capital to return to prior levels. China’s regulatory framework has
continued to evolve, with fairly low transparency and some time-to-time shifts in favored versus less-favored
generation sources balanced by an overall state policy of assuring sustainability of the sector, adequate supply
of electricity and affordability to the general public. Singapore and Hong Kong have fairly well developed
and supportive regulatory frameworks despite a trend towards lower returns, whereas Malaysia, Korea and
Thailand have been moving towards a more transparent regulatory framework. The Philippines is in the
process of deregulating its power market, while Indian power udilities continue to grapple with structural
challenges. In Latin America, there is a wide dispersion among frameworks, ranging from the more stable,
long established and predictable framework in Chile to the decidedly unpredictable framework in
Argentina. Generally, as Latin American economies have evolved to more stable economic policies,
regulatory frameworks for utilities have also shown greater stability and predictability.

All of the other issues discussed in this section have a regulatory/political component, either as the driver of
change or in reaction to changes in economic environments and market factors.

Economic and Financial Market Conditions

As regulated monopolies, electric and gas utilities have generally been quite resistant to unsettled
economic and financial market conditions for several reasons. Unlike many companies that face direct
market-based competition, their rates do not decrease when demand decreases. The elasticity of
demand for electricity and gas is much lower than for most products in the consumer economy.
When financial markets are volatile, utilities often have greater capital market access than industrial
companies in competitive sectors, as was the case in the 2007-2009 recession. However, regulated
electric and gas utilities are by no means immune to a protracted or severe recession.
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Severe economic malaise can negatively affect utility credit profiles in several ways. Falling demand for
electricity or natural gas may negatively impact margins and debt service protection measures,
especially when rates are designed such that a substantial portion of fixed costs is in theory recovered
through volumetric charges. The decrease in demand in the 2007-2009 recession was notable in
comparison to prior recessions, especially in the residential sector. Poor economic conditions can
make it more difficult for regulators to approve needed rate increases or provide timely cost recovery
for utilities, resulting in higher cost deferrals and longer regulatory lag. Finally, recessions can coincide
with a lack of confidence in the udility sector that impacts access to capital markets for a period of
time. For instance, in the Great Depression and (to a lesser extent) in the 2001 recession, access for
some issuers was curtailed due to the sector’s generally higher leverage than other corporate sectors,
combined with a concerns over a lack of transparency in financial reporting.

Fuel Price Volatility and the Global Impact of Shale Gas

The ability of most utilities to pass through their fuel costs to end users may insulate a utility from
exposure to price volatility of these fuels, but it does not insulate consumers. Consumers and
regulators complained vociferously about utility rates during the run-up in hydro-carbon prices in
2005-2008 (oil, natural gas and, to a lesser extent, coal). The steep decline in US natural gas prices
since 2009, caused in large part by the development of shale gas and shale oil resources, has been a
material benefit to US utilities, because many have been able to pass through substantial base rate
increases during a period when all-in rates were declining. Shale hydro-carbons have also had a
positive impact, albeit one that is less immediate and direct, on non-US utilities. In much of the
eastern hemisphere, natural gas prices under long-term contracts have generally been tied to oil prices,
but utilities and other industrial users have started to have some success in negotiating to de-link
natural gas from oil. In addition, increasing US production of oil has had a noticeable impact on
world oil prices, generally benefitting oil and gas users.

Not all utilities will benefit equally. Utilities that have locked in natural gas under high-priced long-
term contracts that they cannot re-negotiate are negatively impacted if they cannot pass through their
full contracted cost of gas, or if the high costs cause customer dissatisfaction and regulatory backlash.
Utilities with large coal fleets or utilities constructing nuclear power plants may also face negative
impacts on their regulatory environment, since their customers will benefit less from lower natural gas
prices.

Distributed Generation Versus the Central Station Paradigm

The regulation and the financing of electric utilities are based on the premise that the current model
under which electricity is generated and distributed to customers will continue essentially unchanged
for many decades to come. This model, called the central station paradigm (because electricity is
generated in large, centrally located plants and distributed to a large number of customers, who may in
fact be hundreds of miles away), has been in place since the early part of the 20™ century. The model
has worked because the economies of scale inherent to very large power plants has more than offset the
cost and inefficiency (through power losses) inherent to maintaining a grid for transmitting and
distributing electricity to end users.

Despite rate structures that only allow recovery of invested capital over many decades (up to 60 years),
utilities can attract capital because investors assume that rates will continue to be collected for at least
that long a period. Regulators and politicians assume that taxes and regulatory charges levied on
electricity usage will be paid by a broad swath of residences and businesses and will not macerially
discourage usage of electricity in a way that would decrease the amount of taxes collected. A corollary
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assumption is that the number of customers taking electricity from the system during that period will
continue to be high enough such that rates will be reasonable and generally more attractive than other
alternatives. In the event that consumers were to switch en masse to alternate sources of generating or
receiving power (for instance distributed generation), rates for remaining customers would either not
cover the utility’s costs, or rates would need to be increased so much that more customers may be
incentivized to leave the system. This scenario has been experienced in the regulated US copper wire
telephone business, where rates have increased quite dramartically for users who have not switched to
digital or wireless telephone service. While this scenario continues to be unlikely for the electricity
sector, distributed generation, especially from solar panels, has made inroads in certain regions.

Distributed generation is any retail-scale generation, differentiated from self-generation, which
generally describes a large industrial plant that builds its own reasonably large conventional power
plant to meet its own needs. While some residential property owners that install distributed
generation may choose to sever their connection to the local utility, most choose to remain connected,
generating power into the grid when it is both feasible and economic to do so, and taking power from
the grid at other times. Distributed generation is currently concentrated in roof-top photovoltaic solar
panels, which have benefitted from varying levels of tax incentives in different jurisdictions.
Regulatory treatment has also varied, but some rate structures that seek to incentivize distributed
renewable energy are decidedly credit negative for udilities, in particular net metering.

Under net metering, a customer receives a credit from the utility for all of its generation at the full (or
nearly full) retail rate and pays only for power taken, also at the retail rate, resulting in a materially
reduced monthly bill relative to a customer with no distributed generation. The distributed generation
customer has no obligation to generate any particular amount of power, so the utility must stand ready
to generate and deliver that customer’s full power needs at all times. Since most utility costs, including
the fixed costs of financing and maintaining generation and delivery systems, are currently collected
through volumetric rates, a customer owning distributed generation effectively transfers a portion of
the utility’s costs of serving that customer to other customers with higher net usage, notably to
customers that do not own distributed generation. The higher costs may incentivize more customers
to install solar panels, thereby shifting the utility’s fixed costs to an even smaller group of rate-payers.
California is an example of a state employing net solar metering in its rate structure, whereas in New
Jersey, which has the second largest residential solar program in the US, utilities buy power at a price
closer to their blended cost of generation, which is much lower than the retail rate.

To date, solar generation and net metering have not had a material credit impact on any utilities, but
ratings could be negatively impacted if the programs were to grow and if rate structures were not
amended so that each customer’s monthly bill more closely approximated the cost of serving that
customer.

In our current view, the possibility that there will be a widespread movement of electric utility
customers to sever themselves from the grid is remote. However, we acknowledge that new
technologies, such as the development of commercially viable fuel cells and/or distributed electric
storage, could materially disrupt the central station paradigm and the credit quality of the utility
sector.
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Nuclear Issues

Utilities with nuclear generation face unique safety, regulatory, and operational issues. The nuclear
disaster at Fukushima Daiichi had a severely negative credit impact on its owner, Tokyo Electric
Power Company, Incorporated (Ba3, negative), as well as all the nuclear utilities in the country. Japan
previously generated about 30% of its power from 50 reactors, but all are currently either idled or shut
down, and udilities in the country face materially higher costs of replacement power, a credit negative.
Japan also created a new Nuclear Regulation Authority (NRA), under the Ministry of the
Environment to replace the Nuclear Safety Commission, which had been under the Ministry of
Economy, Trade and Industry. The NRA has not yet set any schedule for completing safety checks at
idled plants.

Fukushima Daiichi also had global consequences. Germany’s response was to require that all nuclear
power plants in the country be shut by 2022. Switzerland opted for a phase-out by 2031. (Most
European nuclear plants are owned by companies rated under other the Unregulated Utilities and
Power Companies methodology.) Even in countries where the regulatory response was more
moderate, increased regulatory scrutiny has raised operating costs, a credit negative, especially in the
US, where low natural gas prices have rendered certain primarily smaller nuclear plants uneconomic.
Nuclear license renewal decisions in the US are currently on hold until the Nuclear Regulatory
Commission comes to a determination on the safety of spent fuel storage in the absence of a
permanent repository. Nonetheless, we view robust and independent nuclear safety regulation as a
credit-positive for the industry.

Other general issues for nuclear operators include higher costs and lower reliability related to the
increasing age of the fleet. In 2013, Duke Energy Florida, Inc. (Baal, RUR-up) decided to
permanently shut Crystal River Unit 3 after it determined that a de-lamination (or separation) in the
concrete of the outer wall of the containment building was uneconomic to repair. San Onofre Nuclear
Generating Station was permanently closed in 2013 after its owners, including Southern California
Edison Company (A3, RUR-up) and San Diego Gas & Electric Company (A2, RUR-up), decided not
to pursue a re-start in light of operating defects in two steam generators that had been replaced in 2010
and 2011.

Korea Hydro and Nuclear Power Company Limited (KHNP, Al stable) and its parent Korea Electric
Power Corporation (KEPCO, Al stable), face a scandal related to alleged corruption and acceptance of
falsified safety documents provided by its parts suppliers for nuclear plants. Korean prosecutors’
widening probe into KHNP’s use of substandard parts at many of its 23 nuclear power plants caused
three plants to be temporarily shut down starting in May 2013 and raises the risk the Korean public
will lose confidence in nuclear power. However, more than 80% of substandard parts in the idled
plants have been replaced, and a restart is expected in late 2013 or early 2014.

i
55 DECEMBER 23, 2013 RATING METHODOLOGY: REGULATED ELECTRIC AND GAS UTILITIES



Exhibit KWB-5

MOODY'S INVESTORS SERVICE Page 56 of 63 |\rrastrucTURE

Appendix G: Regional and Other Considerations

Notching Considerations for US First Mortgage Bonds

In most regions, our approach to notching between different debt classes of the same regulated utility
issuer follows the guidance in the publication Updated Summary Guidance for Notching Bonds,
Preferred Stocks and Hybrid Securities of Corporate Issuers, February 2007), including a one notch
differential between senior secured and senior unsecured debt. However, in most cases we have two
notches between the first mortgage bonds and senior unsecured debt of regulated electric and gas
utilities in the US.

Wider notching differentials between debt classes may also be appropriate in speculative grade.
Additional insights for speculative grade issuers are provided in the publication Loss Given Default for

Speculative-Grade Non-Financial Companies in the US, Canada and EMEA, June 2009).

First mortgage bond holders in the US generally benefit from a first lien on most of the fixed assets
used to provide utility service, including such assets as generating stations, transmission lines,
distribution lines, switching stations and substations, and gas distribution facilities, as well as a lien on
franchise agreements. In our view, the critical nature of these assets to the issuers and to the
communities they serve has been a major factor that has led to very high recovery rates for this class of
debt in situations of default, thereby justifying a two notch uplift. The combination of the breadth of
assets pledged and the bankruptcy-tested recovery experience has been unique to the US.

In some cases, there is only a one notch differential between US first mortgage bonds and the senior
unsecured rating. For instance, this is likely when the pledged property is not considered critical
infrastructure for the region, or if the mortgage is materially weakened by carve-outs, lien releases or
similar creditor-unfriendly terms.

Securitization

The use of securitization, a financing technique utilizing a discrete revenue stream (typically related to
recovery of specifically defined expenses) that is dedicated to servicing specific securitization debt, has
primarily been used in the US, where it has been quite pervasive in the past two decades. The first
generation of securitization bonds were primarily related to recovery of the negative difference between
the market value of utilities” generation assets and their book value when certain states switched to
competitive electric supply markets and udilities sold their generation (so-called stranded costs). This
technique was then used for significant storm costs (especially hurricanes) and was eventually
broadened to include environmental related expenditures, deferred fuel costs, or even deferred
miscellaneous expenses. States that have implemented securitization frameworks include Arkansas,
California, Connecticut, Illinois, Louisiana, Maryland, Massachusetts, Mississippi, New Hampshire,
New Jersey, Ohio, Pennsylvania, Texas and West Virginia. In its simplest form, a securitization
isolates and dedicates a stream of cash flow into a separate special purpose entity (SPE). The SPE uses
that stream of revenue and cash flow to provide annual debt service for the securitized debt
instrument. Securitization is typically underpinned by specific legislation to segregate the
securitization revenues from the utility’s revenues to assure their continued collection, and the details
of the enabling legislation may vary from state to state. The utility benefits from the securitization
because it receives an immediate source of cash (although it gives up the opportunity to earn a return
on the corresponding asset), and ratepayers benefit because the cost of the securitized debt is lower
than the udlity’s cost of debt and much lower than its all-in cost of capital, which reduces the revenue
requirement associated with the cost recovery.
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In the presentation of US securitization debt in published financial ratios, Moody’s makes its own
assessment of the appropriate credit representation but in most cases follows the accounting in audited
statements under US Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), which is in turn considers
the terms of enabling legislation. As a result, accounting treatment may vary. In most states utilities
have been required to consolidate securitization debt under GAAP, even though it is technically non-
recourse.

In general, we view securitization debt of utilities as being on-credit debe, in part because the rates
associated with it reduce the utility’s headroom to increase rates for other purposes while keeping all-in
rates affordable to customers. Thus, where accounting treatment is off balance sheet, we seek to adjust
the company’s ratios by including the securitization debt and related revenues for our analysis. Where
the securitized debt is on balance sheet, our credit analysis also considers the significance of ratios that
exclude securitization debt and related revenues. Since securitization debt amortizes mortgage-style,
including it makes ratios look worse in early years (when most of the revenue collected goes to pay
interest) and better in later years (when most of the revenue collected goes to pay principal).

Strong levels of government ownership in Asia Pacific (ex-Japan) provide rating uplift

Strong levels of government ownership have dominated the credit profiles of utilities in Asia Pacific
(excluding Japan), generally leading to ratings that are a number of notches above the Baseline Credit
Assessment. Regulated electric and gas udilities with significant government ownership are rated using
this methodology in conjunction with the Joint Default Analysis approach in our methodology for
Government-Related Issuers.

Support system for large corporate entities in Japan can provide ratings uplift, with limits

Moody’s ratings for large corporate entities in Japan reflect the unique nature of the country’s support
system, and they are higher than they would otherwise be if such support were disregarded. This is
reflected in the tendency for ratings of Japanese utilities to be higher than their grid implied ratings
(currently higher on average by about 2 notches), while utilities globally tend to be more evenly
distributed above and below their actual ratings. However, even for large prominent companies, our
ratings consider that support will not be endless and is less likely to be provided when a company has
questionable viability rather than being in need of temporary liquidity assistance.
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Appendix H: Treatment of Power Purchase Agreements (“PPAs")

Although many utilities own and operate power stations, some have entered into PPAs to source
electricity from third parties to satisfy retail demand. The motivation for these PPAs may be one or
more of the following: to outsource operating risks to parties more skilled in power station operation,
to provide certainty of supply, to reduce balance sheet debrt, to fix the cost of power, or to comply with
regulatory mandates regarding power sourcing, including renewable portfolio standards. While
Moody’s regards PPAs that reduce operating or financial risk as a credit positive, some aspects of PPAs
may negatively affect the credit of utilities. The most conservative treatment would be to treat a PPA as
a debt obligation of the utility as, by paying the capacity charge, the utility is effectively providing the
funds to service the debt associated with the power station. At the other end of the continuum, the
financial obligations of the utility could also be regarded as an ongoing operating cost, with no long-
term capital component recognized.

Under most PPAs, a utility is obliged to pay a capacity charge to the power station owner (which may
be another utility or an Independent Power Producer — IPP); this charge typically covers a portion of
the IPP’s fixed costs in relation to the power available to the utility. These fixed payments usually help
to cover the IPP’s debt service and are made irrespective of whether the utility calls on the IPP to
generate and deliver power. When the utility requires generation, a further energy charge, to cover the
variable costs of the IPP, will also typically be paid by the utility. Some other similar arrangements are
characterized as tolling agreements, or long-term supply contracts, but most have similar features to
PPAs and are thus analyzed by Moody’s as PPAs.

PPAs are recognized qualitatively to be a future use of cash whether or not they are
treated as debt-like obligations in financial ratios

The starting point of our analysis is the issuer’s audited financial statements — we consider whether the
utility’s accountants determine that the PPA should be treated as a debt equivalent, a capitalized lease,
an operating lease, or in some other manner. PPAs have a wide variety of operational and financial
terms, and it is our understanding that accountants are required to have a very granular view into the
particular contractual arrangements in order to account for these PPAs in compliance with applicable
accounting rules and standards. However, accounting treatment for PPAs may not be entirely
consistent across US GAAP, IFRS or other accounting frameworks. In addition, we may consider that
factors not incorporated into the accounting treatment may be relevant (which may include the scale
of PPA payments, their regulatory treatment including cost recovery mechanisms, or other factors that
create financial or operational risk for the utility that is greater, in our estimation, than the benefits
received). When the accounting treatment of a PPA is a debt or lease equivalent (such that it is
reported on the balance sheet, or disclosed as an operating lease and thus included in our adjusted debt
calculation), we generally do not make adjustments to remove the PPA from the balance sheet.
However, in relevant circumstances we consider making adjustments that impute a debt equivalent to
PPAs that are off-balance sheet for accounting purposes.

Regardless of whether we consider that a PPA warrants or does not warrant treatment as a debt
obligation, we assess the totality of the impact of the PPA on the issuer’s probability of default. Costs
of a PPA that cannot be recovered in retail rates creates material risk, especially if they also cannot be
recovered through market sales of power.
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Additional considerations for PPAs

PPAs have a wide variety of financial and regulatory characteristics, and each particular circumstance
may be treated differently by Moody’s. Factors which determine where on the continuum Moody’s
treats a particular PPA include the following:

»  Risk management: An overarching principle is that PPAs have normally been used by udilities as a
risk management tool and Moody’s recognizes that this is the fundamental reason for their existence.
Thus, Moody’s will not automatically penalize utilities for entering into contracts for the purpose of
reducing risk associated with power price and availability. Rather, we will look at the aggregate
commercial position, evaluating the risk to a utility’s purchase and supply obligations. In addition,
PPAs are similar to other long-term supply contracts used by other industries and their treatment
should not therefore be fundamentally different from that of other contracts of a similar nature.

»  Pass-through capability: Some utilities have the ability to pass through the cost of purchasing
power under PPAs to their customers. As a result, the utility takes no risk that the cost of power is
greater than the retail price it will receive. Accordingly Moody’s regards these PPA obligations as
operating costs with no long-term debt-like attributes. PPAs with no pass-through ability have a
greater risk profile for utilities. In some markets, the ability to pass through costs of a PPA is
enshrined in the regulatory framework, and in others can be dictated by market dynamics. As a
market becomes more competitive or if regulatory support for cost recovery deteriorates, the
ability to pass through costs may decrease and, as circumstances change, Moody’s treatment of
PPA obligations will alter accordingly.

»  Price considerations: The price of power paid by a utility under a PPA can be substantially above

or below the market price of electricity. A below-market price will motivate the utility to purchase
power from the IPP in excess of its retail requirements, and to sell excess electricity in the spot
market. This can be a significant source of cash flow for some utilities. On the other hand,
utilities that are compelled to pay capacity payments to IPPs when they have no demand for the
power or at an above-market price may suffer a financial burden if they do not get full recovery in
retail rates. Moody’s will particularly focus on PPAs that have mark-to-market losses, which
typically indicates that they have a material impact on the utility’s cash flow.

»  Excess Reserve Capacity: In some jurisdictions there is substantial reserve capacity and thus a
significant probability that the electricity available to a utility under PPAs will not be required by
the market. This increases the risk to the utility that capacity payments will need to be made
when there is no demand for the power. We may determine that all of a utility’s PPAs represent
excess capacity, or that a portion of PPAs are needed for the utility’s supply obligations plus a
normal reserve margin, while the remaining portion represents excess capacity. In the latter case,

we may impute debt to specific PPAs that are excess or we take a proportional approach to all of
the utility’s PPAs.

»  Risk-sharing: Utilities that own power plants bear the associated operational, fuel procurement
and other risks. These must be balanced against the financial and liquidity risk of contracting for
the purchase of power under a PPA. Moody’s will examine on a case-by case basis the relative
credit risk associated with PPAs in comparison to plant ownership.

»  Purchase requirements: Some PPAs are structured with either options or requirements to

purchase the asset at the end of the PPA term. If the utility has an economically meaningful
requirement to purchase, we would most likely consider it to be a debt obligation. In most such
cases, the obligation would already receive on-balance sheet treatment under relevant accounting
standards.
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»  Default provisions: In most cases, the remedies for default under a PPA do not include

acceleration of amounts due, and in many cases PPAs would not be considered as debt in a
bankruptcy scenario and could potentially be cancelled. Thus, PPAs may not materially increase
Loss Given Default for the udlity. In addition, PPAs are not typically considered debt for cross-
default provisions under a utility’s debt and liquidity arrangements. However, the existence of
non-standard default provisions that are debt-like would have a large impact on our treatment of a
PPA. In addition, payments due under PPAs are senior unsecured obligations, and any inability
of the utility to make them materially increases default risk.

Each of these factors will be considered by Moody’s analysts and a decision will be made as to the
importance of the PPA to the risk analysis of the udility.

Methods for estimating a liability amount for PPAs

According to the weighting and importance of the PPA to each utility and the level of disclosure,
Moody’s may approximate a debt obligation equivalent for PPAs using one or more of the methods
discussed below. In each case we look holistically at the PPA’s credit impact on the utility, including
the ability to pass through costs and curtail payments, the materiality of the PPA obligation to the
overall business risk and cash flows of the utility, operational constraints that the PPA imposes, the
maturity of the PPA obligation, the impact of purchased power on market-based power sales (if any)
that the utdlity will engage in, and our view of future market conditions and volatility.

»  Operating Cost: If a utility enters into a PPA for the purpose of providing an assured supply and
there is reasonable assurance that regulators will allow the costs to be recovered in regulated rates,
Moody’s may view the PPA as being most akin to an operating cost. Provided that the accounting
treatment for the PPA is, in this circumstance, off-balance sheet, we will most likely make no
adjustment to bring the obligation onto the utility’s balance sheet.

»  Annual Obligation x 6: In some situations, the PPA obligation may be estimated by multiplying

the annual payments by a factor of six (in most cases). This method is sometimes used in the
capitalization of operating leases. This method may be used as an approximation where the
analyst determines that the obligation is significant but cannot otherwise be quantified otherwise
due to limited information.

»  Net Present Value: Where the analyst has sufficient information, Moody’s may add the NPV of
the stream of PPA payments to the debt obligations of the utility. The discount rate used will be

our estimate of the cost of capital of the utility.

»  Debt Look-Through: In some circumstances, where the debt incurred by the IPP is directly

related to the off-taking utility, there may be reason to allocate the entire debt (or a proportional
part related to share of power dedicated to the utility) of the IPP to that of the utility.

»  Mark-to-Market: In situations in which Moody’s believes that the PPA prices exceed the market
price and thus will create an ongoing liability for the utility, we may use a net mark-to-market
method, in which the NPV of the utility’s future out-of-the-money net payments will be added to
its total debt obligations.

»  Consolidation: In some instances where the IPP is wholly dedicated to the utility, it may be
appropriate to consolidate the debt and cash flows of the IPP with that of the utility. If the utility
purchases only a portion of the power from the IPP, then that proportion of debt might be
consolidated with the utility.
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If we have determined to impute debt to a PPA for which the accounting treatment is not on-balance
sheet, we will in some circumstances use more than one method to estimate the debt equivalent
obligations imposed by the PPA, and compare results. If circumstances (including regulatory
treatment or market conditions) change over time, the approach that is used may also vary.
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Moody's Related Research

Industry Outlooks:
»  US Regulated Utilities: Regulation Provides Stability as Business Model Faces Challenges, July
2013 (156754)

»  Asian Power Utilities (ex-Japan): Broad Stable Oudook; India an Oudier, March 2013 (149101)

Rating Methodologies:
»  US Electric Generation & Transmission Cooperatives, April 2013, (151814)

»  How Sovereign Credit Quality May Affect Other Ratings, February 2012 (139495)
»  Unregulated Utilities and Power Companies, August 2009 (118508)

»  Regulated Electric and Gas Networks, August 2009 (118786)
»  Natural Gas Pipelines, November 2012 (146415)

»  US Public Power Electric Utilities with Generation Ownership Exposure, November 2011

(135299)

»  US Electric Generation & Transmission Cooperatives, April 2013 (151814)
»  US Municipal Joint Action Agencies, October 2012 (145899)

»  Government Related Issuers: Methodology Update, July 2010 (126031)

»  Global Regulated Water Utilities, December 2009 (121311)

To access any of these reports, click on the entry above. Note that these references are current as of the date of publication of
this report and that more recent reports may be available. All research may not be available to all clients.

The credit ratings assigned in this sector are primarily determined by this credit rating methodology.
Certain broad methodological considerations (described in one or more secondary or cross-sector
credit rating methodologies) may also be relevant to the determination of credit ratings of issuers and
instruments in this sector. Potentially related secondary and cross-sector credit rating methodologies
can be found here.

For data summarizing the historical robustness and predictive power of credit ratings assigned using
this credit rating methodology, see link.
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. Standard & Poor's Ratings Services is updating its criteria for rating corporate industrial companies and utilities. The

criteria organize the analytical process according to a common framework and articulate the steps in developing the
stand-alone credit profile (SACP) and issuer credit rating (ICR) for a corporate entity.

This article is related to our criteria article "Principles Of Credit Ratings,” which we published on Feb. 16, 2011.

SUMMARY OF THE CRITERIA

The criteria describe the methodology we use to determine the SACP and ICR for corporate industrial companies and
utilities. Our assessment reflects these companies' business risk profiles, their financial risk profiles, and other factors
that may modify the SACP outcome (see "General Criteria: Stand-Alone Credit Profiles: One Component Of A Rating,"
published Oct. 1, 2010, for the definition of SACP). The criteria provide clarity on how we determine an issuer's SACP
and ICR and are more specific in detailing the various factors of the analysis. The criteria also provide clear guidance
on how we use these factors as part of determining an issuer's ICR, Standard & Poor’s intends for these criteria to
provide the market with a framework that clarifies our approach to fundamental analysis of corporate credit risks.

. The business risk profile comprises the risk and return potential for a company in the markets in which it participates,

the competitive climate within those markets (its industry risk), the country risks within those markets, and the
competitive advantages and disadvantages the company has within those markets (its competitive position). The
business risk profile affects the amount of financial risk that a company can bear at a given SACP level and constitutes
the foundation for a company's expected economic success. We combine our assessments of industry risk, country
risk, and competitive position to determine the assessment for a corporation's business risk profile.

The financial risk profile is the outcome of decisions that management makes in the context of its business risk profile
and its financial risk tolerances. This includes decisions about the manner in which management seeks funding for the
company and how it constructs its balance sheet. It also reflects the relationship of the cash flows the organization can
achieve, given its business risk profile, to the company's financial obligations. The criteria use cash flow/leverage

analysis to determine a corporate issuer's financial risk profile assessment.

. We then combine an issuer's business risk profile assessment and its financial risk profile assessment to determine its

anchor (see table 3). Additional rating factors can modify the anchor. These are: diversification/portfolio effect, capital
structure, financial policy, liquidity, and management and governance. Comparable ratings analysis is the last
analytical factor under the criteria to determine the final SACP on a company.

These criteria are complemented by industry-specific criteria called Key Credit Factors (KCFs). The KCFs describe the
industry risk assessments associated with each sector and may identify sector-specific criteria that supersede certain
sections of these criteria. As an example, the liquidity criteria state that the relevant KCF article may specify different
standards than those stated within the liquidity criteria to evaluate companies that are part of exceptionally stable or
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volatile industries. The KCFs may also define sector-specific criteria for one or more of the factors in the analysis. For
example, the analysis of a regulated utility's competitive position is different from the methodology to evaluate the
competitive position of an industrial company. The regulated utility KCF will describe the criteria we use to evaluate
those companies' competitive positions (see "Key Credit Factors For The Regulated Utility Industry," published Nov.

19, 2013).

SCOPE OF THE CRITERIA

This methodology applies to nonfinancial corporate issuer credit ratings globally. Please see "Criteria Guidelines For
Recovery Ratings On Global Industrial Issuers' Speculative-Grade Debt," published Aug. 10, 2009, and "2008
Corporate Criteria: Rating Each Issue," published April 15, 2008, for further information on our methodology for
determining issue ratings. This methodology does not apply to the following sectors, based on the unique
characteristics of these sectors, which require either a different framework of analysis or substantial modifications to
one or more factors of analysis: project finance entities, project developers, transportation equipment leasing, auto
rentals, commodities trading, investment holding companies and companies that maximize their returns by buying and
selling equity holdings over time, Japanese general trading companies, corporate securitizations, nonprofit and
cooperative organizations, master limited partnerships, general partnerships of master limited partnerships, and other
entities whose cash flows are primarily derived from partially owned equity holdings.

IMPACT ON OUTSTANDING RATINGS

We expect about 5% of corporate industrial companies and utilities ratings within the scope of the criteria to change.
Of that number, we expect approximately 90% to receive a one-notch change, with the majority of the remainder
receiving a two-notch change, We expect the ratio of upgrades to downgrades to be around 3:1.

EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRANSITION

These criteria are effective immediately on the date of publication. We intend to complete our review of all affected

ratings within the next six months.

METHODOLOGY

A. Corporate Ratings Framework

.. The corporate analytical methodology organizes the analytical process according to a common framework, and it

divides the task into several factors so that Standard & Poor’s considers all salient issues. First we analyze the
company's business risk profile, then evaluate its financial risk profile, then combine those to determine an issuer's

anchor. We then analyze six factors that could potentially modify our anchor conclusion.

NOVEMBER 19, 2013 4
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To determine the assessment for a corporate issuer's business risk profile, the criteria combine our assessments of
industry risk, country risk, and competitive position. Cash flow/leverage analysis determines a company's financial risk
profile assessment. The analysis then combines the corporate issuer's business risk profile assessment and its financial
risk profile assessment to determine its anchor. In general, the analysis weighs the business risk profile more heavily

for investment-grade anchors, while the financial risk profile carries more weight for speculative-grade anchors.

After we determine the anchor, we use additional factors to modify the anchor. These factors are:
diversification/portfolio effect, capital structure, financial policy, liquidity, and management and governance. The
assessment of each factor can raise or lower the anchor by one or more notches--or have no effect. These conclusions
take the form of assessments and descriptors for each factor that determine the number of notches to apply to the

anchor.

The last analytical factor the criteria call for is comparable ratings analysis, which may raise or lower the anchor by
one notch based on a holistic view of the company’s credit characteristics,

¥ issuer |
™ crelT |
RATING ¢

Groupor

‘government
influence

The three analytic factors within the business risk profile generally are a blend of qualitative assessments and
quantitative information. Qualitative assessments distinguish risk factors, such as a company's competitive advantages,
that we use to assess its competitive position. Quantitative information includes, for example, historical cyclicality of
revenues and profits that we review when assessing industry risk. It can also include the volatility and level of
profitability we consider in order to assess a company's competitive position. The assessments for business risk profile
are: 1, excellent; 2, strong; 3, satisfactory; 4, fair; 5, weak; and 6, vulnerable.
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In assessing cash flow/leverage to determine the financial risk profile, the analysis focuses on quantitative measures.
The assessments for financial risk profile are: 1, minimal; 2, modest; 3, intermediate; 4, significant; 5, aggressive; and 6,

highly leveraged.

7. The ICR resulis from the combination of the SACP and the support framework, which determines the extent of the

difference between the SACP and the ICR, if any, for group or government influence. Extraordinary influence is then
captured in the ICR. Please see "Group Rating Methodology,” published Nov. 19, 2013, and "Rating
Government-Related Entities: Methodology And Assumptions,” published Dec. 9, 2010, for our methodology on group

and government influence.

Ongoing support or negative influence from a government (for government-related entities), or from a group, is
factored into the SACP (see "SACP criteria”). While such ongoing support/negative influence does not affect the
industry or country risk assessment, it can affect any other factor in business or financial risk. For example, such
support or negative influence can affect: national industry analysis, other elements of competitive position, financial

risk profile, the liquidity assessment, and comparable ratings analysis.

The application of these criteria will result in an SACP that could then be constrained by the relevant sovereign rating
and transfer and convertibility (T&C) assessment affecting the entity when determining the ICR. In order for the final
ICR to be higher than the applicable sovereign rating or T&C assessment, the entity will have to meet the conditions

established in "Ratings Above The Sovereign--Corporate And Government Ratings; Methodology And Assumnptions,”

published Nov. 19, 2013.

1. Determining the business risk profile assessment

20. Under the criteria, the combined assessments for country risk, industry risk, and competitive position determine a

company's business risk profile assessment. A company's strengths or weaknesses in the marketplace are vital to its
credit assessment. These strengths and weaknesses determine an issuer's capacity to generate cash flows in order to

service its obligations in a timely fashion.

Industry risk, an integral part of the credit analysis, addresses the relative health and stability of the markets in which a
company operates. The range of industry risk assessments is: 1, very low risk; 2, low risk; 3, intermediate risk; 4,
moderately high risk; 5, high risk; and 6, very high risk. The treatment of industry risk is in section B.

22. Country risk addresses the economic risk, institutional and governance effectiveness risk, financial system risk, and

payment culture or rule of law risk in the countries in which a company operates. The range of country risk
assessments is: 1, very low risk; 2, low risk; 3, intermediate risk; 4, moderately high risk; 5, high risk; and 6, very high

risk. The treatment of country risk is in section C.

. The evaluation of an enterprise's competitive position identifies entities that are best positioned to take advantage of
p

key industry drivers or to mitigate associated risks more effectively--and achieve a competitive advantage and a
stronger business risk profile than that of entities that lack a strong value proposition or are more vulnerable to
industry risks. The range of competitive position assessments is: 1, excellent; 2, strong; 3, satisfactory; 4, fair; 5, weak;
and 6, vulnerable. The full treatment of competitive position is in section D.
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24. The combined assessment for country risk and industry risk is known as the issuer's Corporate Industry and Country
Risk Assessment (CICRA). Table 1 shows how to determine the combined assessment for country risk and industry

risk.

Table 1

‘Determining The CICRA - o
~Country risk assessent-

Industry risk 1 (very low 2 (low 4 (moderately high - 5(high 6 (very high
assessment risk) risk) 3 (intermediate risk) risk) risk) risk)
1 (very low risk) 1 1 1 2 4 5
2 (low risk) 2 2 2 3 4 5
3 (intermediate risk) 3 3 3 3 4 6
4 {moderately high risk) 4 4 4 4 5 6
5 (high risk) 5 5 5 5 5 6
6 (very high risk) 6 6 6 6 6 6

25. The CICRA is combined with a company's competitive position assessment in order to create the issuer's business risk

profile assessment. Table 2 shows how we combine these assessments.

Table 2
Determtmng The ;Bri_l'sli.nés's‘Risk Profile Assessment
| ' .CICRA--
Competitive position assessment 1 2 3 4 5 [}
1 (excellent) 1 1 1 2 3* 5
2 (strong) 1 2 2 3 4 5
3 (satisfactory) 2 3 3 3 4 6
4 (fair) 3 4 4 4 5 6
5 (weak) 4 5 5 5 5 6
5 6 6 6 6 6

6 (vulnerable)

*See paragraph 26.
26. A small number of companies with a CICRA of 5 may be assigned a business risk profile assessment of 2 if all of the

following conditions are met:

¢ The company’s competitive position assessment is 1.
e The company's country risk assessment is no riskier than 3.
¢ The company produces significantly better-than-average industry profitability, as measured by the level and

volatility of profits.
¢ The company's competitive position within its sector transcends its industry risks due to unique competitive

advantages with its customers, strong operating efficiencies not enjoyed by the large majority of the industry, or
scale/scope/diversity advantages that are well beyond the large majority of the industry.

7. For issuers with multiple business lines, the business risk profile assessment is based on our assessment of each of the

p2]
~3

factors--country risk, industry risk, and competitive position--as follows:

» Country risk: We use the weighted average of the country risk assessments for the company across all business lines

NOVEMBER 19, 2013 7
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that generate more than 5% of sales or where more than 5% of fixed assets are located.

¢ Industry risk: We use the weighted average of the industry risk assessments for all business lines representing more
than 20% of the company's forecasted earnings, revenues or fixed assets, or other appropriate financial measures if
earnings, revenue, or fixed assets do not accurately reflect the exposure to an industry.

¢ Competitive position: We assess all business lines identified above for the components competitive advantage,
scope/scale/diversity, and operating efficiency (see section D). They are then blended using a weighted average of
revenues, earnings, or assets to form the preliminary competitive position assessment. The level of profitability and
volatility of profitability are then assessed based on the consolidated financials for the enterprise. The preliminary
competitive position assessment is then blended with the profitability assessment, as per section D.5, to assess

competitive position for the enterprise.

2. Determining the financial risk profile assessment

28. Under the criteria, cash flow/leverage analysis is the foundation for assessing a company’s financial risk profile. The

range of assessments for a company's cash flow/leverage is 1, minimal; 2, modest; 3, intermediate; 4, significant; 5,
aggressive; and 6, highly leveraged. The full treatment of cash flow/leverage analysis is the subject of section E.

3. Merger of financial risk profile and business risk profile assessments

An issuer's business risk profile assessment and its financial risk profile assessment are combined to determine its
anchor (see table 3), If we view an issuer's capital structure as unsustainable or if its obligations are currently
vulnerable to nonpayment, and if the obligor is dependent upon favorable business, financial, and economic conditions
to meet its commitments on its obligations, then we will determine the issuer's SACP using "Criteria For Assigning
‘CCC+', 'CCC!, 'CCC-', And 'CC' Ratings," published Oct. 1, 2012. If the issuer meets the conditions for assigning

'CCC+, 'CCC/, 'CCC-', and 'CC' ratings, we will not apply Table 3.

Table 3

‘Combining The Business And Financial Risk Profiles To Determine The Anchor
--Financial rigk profile--

Business risk profile 1 (minimal) 2 (modest) 3 (intermediate) 4 (significant) .5 (aggressive) 6 (highly leveraged)

1 (excellent) aaa/aa+ aa a+/a a- bbb bbb-/bb+
2 (strong) aa/aa- a+/a a-/bbb+ bbb . bb+ bb

3 (satisfactory) a/a- bbb+ bbb /bbb- bbb-/bb-+ bb b+

4 (fair) bbb/bbb- bbb- bb+ bb bb- b

5 (weak) bb+ bb+ bb bb- b+ b/b-

6 (vulnerable) bb- bb- bb-/b+ b+ b b-

. When two anchor outcomes are listed for a given combination of business risk profile assessment and financial risk

profile assessment, an issuer's anchor is determined as follows:

¢ When a company's financial risk profile is 4 or stronger (meaning, 1-4), its anchor is based on the comparative
strength of its business risk profile. We consider our assessment of the business risk profile for corporate issuers to
be points along a possible range. Consequently, each of these assessments that ultimately generate the business risk
profile for a specific issuer can be at the upper or lower end of such a range. Issuers with stronger business risk
profiles for the range of anchor outcomes will be assigned the higher anchor. Those with a weaker business risk
profile for the range of anchor outcomes will be assigned the lower anchor.

¢ When a company's financial risk profile is 5 or 6, its anchor is based on the comparative strength of its financial risk
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profile. Issuers with stronger cash flow/leverage ratios for the range of anchor outcomes will be assigned the higher
anchor. Issuers with weaker cash flow/leverage ratios for the”i’ange of anchor outcomes will be assigned the lower
anchor. For example, a company with a business risk profile of (1) excellent and a financial risk profile of (6) highly
leveraged would generally be assigned an anchor of 'bb+" if its ratio of debt to EBITDA was 8x or greater and there

were no offsetting factors to such a high level of leverage.

4, Building on the anchor

. The analysis of diversification/portfolio effect, capital structure, financial policy, liquidity, and management and

governance may raise or lower a company's anchor. The assessment of each modifier can raise or lower the anchor by
one or more notches--or have no effect in some cases (see tables 4 and 5). We express these conclusions using specific
assessments and descriptors that determine the number of notches to apply to the anchor. However, this notching in
aggregate can't lower an issuer's anchor below 'b-' (see "Criteria For Assigning 'CCC+, 'CCC', 'CCC-, And 'CC"'
Ratings," published Oct. 1, 2012, for the methodology we use to assign 'CCC' and 'CC' category SACPs and ICRs to

issuers).

. The analysis of the modifier diversification/portfolio effect identifies the benefits of diversification across business

lines. The diversification/portfolio effect assessments are 1, significant diversification; 2, moderate diversification; and
3, neutral. The impact of this factor on an issuer's anchor is based on the company’s business risk profile assessment
and is described in Table 4. Multiple earnings streams (which are evaluated within a firm’s business risk profile) that
are less-than-perfectly correlated reduce the risk of default of an issuer (see Appendix D). We determine the impact of
this factor based on the business risk profile assessment because the benefits of diversification are significantly reduced
with poor business prospects. The full treatment of diversification/portfolio effect analysis is the subject of section E

Table 4

Modifier Step 1: Impact Of Diversification/Portfolio Effect On The Anchor -
--Business risk profile assessment-~

Diversification/portfolio effect 1 (excellent) 2 (strong) 3 (satisfactory) 4 (fair) 5 (Weak) 6 (vulnerable)

1 (significant diversification) +2 notches +2 notches  +2 notches +1 notch +1 notch 0 notches
2 (moderate diversification) +1 notch +1notch +1notch +1 notch Onotches 0 notches
3 (neutral) 0 notches 0 notches 0 notches 0 notches 0 notches 0 notches

After we adjust for the diversification/portfolio effect, we determine the impact of the other modifiers: capital
structure, financial policy, liquidity, and management and governance. We apply these four modifiers in the order
listed in Table 5. As we go down the list, a modifier may (or may not) change the anchor to a new range (one of the
ranges in the four right-hand columns in the table). We'll choose the appropriate value from the new range, or column,
to determine the next modifier's effect on the anchor. And so on, until we get to the last modifier on the
list—management and governance. For example, let's assume that the anchor, after adjustment for
diversification/portfolio effect but before adjusting for the other modifiers, is 'a'. If the capital structure assessment is
very negative, the indicated anchor drops two notches, to 'bbb+". So, to determine the impact of the next
modifier—financial policy—we go to the column 'bbb+ to bbb-' and find the appropriate assessment—in this theoretical
example, positive. Applying that assessment moves the anchor up one notch, to the 'a- and higher’ category. In our
example, liquidity is strong, so the impact is zero notches and the anchor remains unchanged. Management and
governance is satisfactory, and thus the anchor remains ‘a-' (see chart following table 5).
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Table 5
Modifier Step 2: Impact Of Remaining Modifier Factors On The Anchor
--Anchor range--
‘a~’ and higher ‘bbb+’ to ‘bbb-’ ‘bb+’ to ‘bb-’ ‘b+’ and lower
Factor/Assessment
Capital structure (see
section G) ‘
1 (Very positive) 2 notches 2 notches 2 notches 2 notches
2 (Positive) 1 notch 1 notch 1 notch 1 notch
3 (Neutral) 0 notches 0 notches 0 notches 0 notches
4 (Negative) -1 notch -1 notch -1 notch -1 notch
5 (Very negative) -2 or more notches -2 or more notches -2 or more notches -2 notches

Financial policy (FP; see

section H)
1 (Positive) +1 notchif M&G is at +1 notchif M&G is at <1 notch if liquidity is atleast ~ +1 notch if liquidity is at least
least satisfactory least satisfactory adequate and M&G is at least ~ adequate and M&G is at least
satisfactory satisfactory
2 (Neutral) 0 notches 0 notches 0 notches 0 notches
3 (Negative) -1 to -3 notches(1) * -1 to -3 notches(I) -1 to -2 notches(1) -1notch
4 (FS-4, FS-5, FS-6, FS-6 N/A(2) N/A(2) N/A(2) N/A(2)
[minus])
Liquidity (see section I)
1 (Exceptional) 0 notches 0 notches 0 notches +1 notch if FP is positive,
neutral, FS-4, or FS-5 (3)
2 (Strong) 0 notches 0 notches 0 notches +1 notch if FP is positive,
neutral, FS-4, or FS-5 (3)
3 (Adequate) 0 notches 0 notches 0 notches 0 notches
4 (Less than adequate [4]) N/A N/A -1 notch(5) 0 notches
5 (Weak) N/A N/A N/A ‘b-" cap on SACP
Management and
governance (M&G; see
section J)
1 (Strong) 0 notches 0 notches 0, +1 notches(6) 0, +1 notches(6)
2 (Satisfactory) 0 notches 0 notches 0 notches 0 notches
3 (Fair) -1 notch 0 notches 0 notches 0 notches
4 (Weak) -2 or more notches(7) -2 or more notches(7) -1 or more notches(7) -1 or more notches(7)

(1) Number of notches depends on potential incremental leverage. (2) See “Assessing Financial Policy,” section H.2. (3) Additional notch applies
only if we expect liquidity to remain exceptional or strong. (4) See “Methodology And Assumptions: Liquidity Descriptors For Global Corporate
Issuers,” published Nov. 19, 2013, SACP is capped at ‘bb+.’ (5) If issuer SACP is ‘bb+' due to cap, there is no further notching, (6) This adjustment
is one notch if we have not already captured benefits of strong management and governance in the analysis of the issuer’s competitive position.
(7) Number of notches depends upon the degree of negative effect to the enterprise’s risk profile.
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Example: How Remaining Modifiers Can Change The Anchor

b T T
Anchoe Capitad Finangiat Liguidity Mansgemiont Final
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34. Our analysis of a firm's capital structure assesses risks in the firm's capital structure that may not arise in the review of

its cash flow/leverage. These risks include the currency risk of debt, debt maturity profile, interest rate risk of debt, and
an investments subfactor. We assess a corporate issuer's capital structure on a scale of 1, very positive; 2, positive; 3,
neutral; 4, negative; and 5, very negative. The full treatment of capital structure is the subject of section G.

Financial policy serves to refine the view of a company's risks beyond the conclusions arising from the standard
assumptions in the cash flow/leverage, capital structure, and liquidity analyses. Those assumptions do not always
reflect or adequately capture the long-term risks of a firm's financial policy. The financial policy assessment is,
therefore, a measure of the degree to which owner/managerial decision-making can affect the predictability of a
company’s financial risk profile. We assess financial policy as 1) positive, 2) neutral, 3) negative, or as being owned by
a financial sponsor. We further identify financial sponsor-owned companies as "FS-4", "FS-5", "FS-6", or "FS-6 (minus)."
The full treatment of financial policy analysis is the subject of section H.

36. Our assessment of liquidity focuses on the monetary flows--the sources and uses of cash--that are the key indicators of

a company's liquidity cushion. The analysis also assesses the potential for a company to breach covenant tests tied to
declines in earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization (EBITDA). The methodology incorporates a
qualitative analysis that addresses such factors as the ability to absorb high-impact, low-probability events, the nature
of bank relationships, the level of standing in credit markets, and the degree of prudence of the company’s financial
risk management. The liquidity assessments are 1, exceptional; 2, strong; 3, adequate; 4, less than adequate; and 5,
weak. An SACP is capped at 'bb+ for issuers whose liquidity is less than adequate and 'b-' for issuers whose liquidity is
weak, regardless of the assessment of any modifiers or comparable ratings analysis. (For the complete methodology on
assessing corporate issuers' liquidity, see "Methodology And Assumptions: Liquidity Descriptors For Global Corporate

Issuers,” published Nov. 19, 2013.)

The analysis of management and governance addresses how management's strategic competence, organizational
effectiveness, risk management, and governance practices shape the company’s competitiveness in the marketplace,
the strength of its financial risk management, and the robustness of its governance. The range of management and
governance assessments is: 1, strong; 2, satisfactory; 3, fair; and 4, weak. Typically, investment-grade anchor outcomes
reflect strong or satisfactory management and governance, so there is no incremental benefit. Alternatively, a fair or
weak assessment of management and governance can lead to a lower anchor. Also, a strong assessment for
management and governance for a weaker entity is viewed as a favorable factor, under the criteria, and can have a
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positive impact on the final SACP outcome. For the full treatment of management and governance, see "Methodology:
Management And Governance Credit Factors For Corporate Entities And Insurers," published Nov. 13, 2012,

5. Comparable ratings analysis
The anchor, after adjusting for the modifiers, could change one notch up or down in order to arrive at an issuer's SACP

based on our comparable ratings analysis, which is a holistic review of a company's stand-alone credit risk profile, in
which we evaluate an issuer's credit characteristics in aggregate. A positive assessment leads to a one-notch
improvement, a negative assessment leads to a one-notch reduction, and a neutral assessment indicates no change to
the anchor. The application of comparable ratings analysis reflects the need to 'fine-tune' ratings outcomes, even after
the use of each of the other modifiers. A positive or negative assessment is therefore likely to be common rather than

exceptional.

B. Industry Risk

39. The analysis of industry risk addresses the major factors that Standard & Poor's believes affect the risks that entities

face in their respective industries. (See "Methodology: Industry Risk," published Nov. 19, 2013.)

C. Country Risk

The analysis of country risk addresses the major factors that Standard & Poor's believes affect the country where
entities operate. Country risks, which include economic, institutional and governance effectiveness, financial system,
and payment culture/rule of law risks, influence overall credit risks for every rated corporate entity. (See "Country Risk
Assessment Methodology And Assumptions," published Nov. 19, 2013.)

1. Assessing country risk for corporate issuers

. The following paragraphs explain how the criteria determine the country risk assessment .for a corporate entity. Once

it's determined, we combine the country risk assessment with the issuer's industry risk assessment to calculate the
issuer's CICRA (see section A, table 1). The CICRA is one of the factors of the issuer's business risk profile. If an issuer
has very low to intermediate exposure to country risk, as represented by a country risk assessment of 1, 2, or 3,
country risk is neutral to an issuer's CICRA. But if an issuer has moderately high to very high exposure to country risk,
as represented by a country risk assessment of 4, 5, or 6, the issuer's CICRA could be influenced by its country risk

assessment.

Corporate entities operating within a single country will receive a country risk assessment for that jurisdiction. For
entities with exposure to more than one country, the criteria prospectively measure the proportion of exposure to each
country based on forecasted EBITDA, revenues, or fixed assets, or other appropriate financial measures if EBITDA,
revenue, or fixed assets do not accurately reflect the exposure to that jurisdiction.

3. Arriving at a company's blended country risk assessment involves multiplying its weighted-average exposures for each

country by each country's risk assessment and then adding those numbers. For the weighted-average calculation, the
criteria consider countries where the company generates more than 5% of its sales or where more than 5% of its fixed
assets are located, and all weightings are rounded to the nearest 5% before averaging. We round the assessment to the
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nearest integer, so a weighted assessment of 2.2 rounds to 2, and a weighted assessment of 2.6 rounds to 3 (see table
6).

Table 6

 Hypothetical Example Of Weighted-Average Country Risk For A Corporate Bntity _
Weighting (% of Weighted country
Country business*) Country risk§ risk
Country A 45 1 0.45
Country B 20 2 0.4
Country C 15 1 0.15
Country D 10 4 04
Country E 10 2 0.2
2

Weighted-average country risk assessment (rounded to the - -
nearest whole number)

*Using EBITDA, revenues, fixed assets, or other financial measures as appropriate. §On a scale from 1-6, lowest to highest risk.

A weak link approach, which helps us calculate a blended country risk assessment for companies with exposure to
more than one country, works as follows: If fixed assets are based in a higher-risk country but products are exported to
a lower-risk country, the company's exposure would be to the higher-risk country. Similarly, if fixed assets are based in
a lower-risk country but export revenues are generated from a higher-risk country and cannot be easily redirected
elsewhere, we measure exposure to the higher-risk country. If a company's supplier is located in a higher-risk country,
and its supply needs cannot be easily redirected elsewhere, we measure exposure to the higher-risk country.
Conversely, if the supply chain can be re-sourced easily to another country, we would not measure exposure to the

higher risk country.

5. Country risk can be mitigated for a company located in a single jurisdiction in the following narrow case, For a

company that exports the majority of its products overseas and has no direct exposure to a country's banking system
that would affect its funding, debt servicing, liquidity; or ability to transfer payments from or to its key counterparties,
we could reduce the country risk assessment by one category (e.g., 5 to 4) to determine the adjusted country risk
assessment. This would only apply for countries where we considered the financial system risk subfactor a constraint
on the overall country risk assessment for that country. For such a company, other country risks are not mitigated:
Economic risk still applies, albeit less of a risk than for a company that sells domestically (potential currency volatility
remains a risk for exporters); institutional and governance effectiveness risk still applies (political risk may place assets
at risk); and payment culture/rule of law risk still applies (legal risks may place assets and cross-border contracts at

risk).

. Companies will often disclose aggregated information for blocks of countries, rather than disclosing individual country

information. If the information we need to estimate exposure for all countries is not available, we use regional risk
assessments. Regional risk assessments are calculated as averages of the unadjusted country risk assessments,
weighted by gross damestic product of each country in a defined region. The criteria assess regional risk on a 1-6 scale
(strongest to weakest). Please see Appendix A, Table 26, which lists the constituent countries of the regions.

If an issuer does not disclose its country-level exposure or regional-level exposure, individual country risk exposures or

regional exposures will be estimated.

NOVEMBER 19, 20123 13
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2. Adjusting the country risk assessment for diversity

8. We will adjust the country risk assessment for a company that operates in multiple jurisdictions and demonstrates a

high degree of diversity of country risk exposures. As a result of this diversification, the company could have less
exposure to country risk than the rounded weighted average of its exposures might indicate. Accordingly, the country
risk assessment for a corporate entity could be adjusted if an issuer meets the conditions outlined in paragraph 49.

. The preliminary country risk assessment is raised by one category to reflect diversity if all of the following four

conditions are met:

¢ If the company's head office, as defined in paragraph 51, is located in a country with a risk assessment stronger than

the preliminary country risk assessment;
¢ Ifno country, with a country risk assessment equal to or weaker than the company's preliminary country risk

assessment, represents or is expected to represent more than 20% of revenues, EBITDA, fixed assets, or other

appropriate financial measures;
¢ If the company is primarily funded at the holding level, or through a finance subsidiary in a similar or stronger
country risk environment than the holding company, or if any local funding could be very rapidly substituted at the

holding level; and
o If the company's industry risk assessment is '4' or stronger.
The country risk assessment for companies that have 75% or more exposure to one jurisdiction cannot be improved
and will, in most instances, equal the country risk assessment of that jurisdiction. But the country risk assessment for
companies that have 75% or more exposure to one jurisdiction can be weakened if the balance of exposure is to higher
risk jurisdictions. '
We consider the location of a corporate head office relevant to overall risk exposure because it influences the
perception of a company and its reputation--and can affect the company's access to capital. We determine the location
of the head office on the basis of 'de facto' head office operations rather than just considering the jurisdiction of
incorporation or stock market listing for public companies. De facto head office operations refers to the country where
executive management and centralized high-level corporate activities occur, including strategic planning and capital
raising. If such activities occur in different countries, we take the weakest country risk assessment applicable for the

countries in which those activities take place.

D. Competitive Position

2. Competitive position encompasses company-specific factors that can add to, or partly offset, industry risk and country

risk--the two other major factors of a company's business risk profile.

Competitive position takes into account a company's: 1) competitive advantage, 2) scale, scope, and diversity, 3)
operating efficiency, and 4) profitability. A company's strengths and weaknesses on the first three components shape
its competitiveness in the marketplace and the sustainability or vulnerability of its revenues and profit. Profitability can
either confirm our initial assessment of competitive position or modify it, positively or negatively. A
stronger-than-industry-average set of competitive position characteristics will strengthen a company's business risk
profile. Conversely, a weaker-than-industry-average set of competitive position characteristics will weaken a
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company's business risk profile.

. These criteria describe how we develop a competitive position assessment. They provide guidance on how we assess

each component based on a number of subfactors. The criteria define the weighting rules applied to derive a
preliminary competitive position assessment. And they outline how this preliminary assessment can be maintained,
raised, or lowered based on a company's profitability, Standard & Poor's competitive position analysis is both

qualitative and quantitative.

1. The components of competitive position

5. A company's competitive position assessment can be: 1, excellent; 2, strong; 3, satisfactory; 4, fair; 5, weak; or 6,

vulnerable.
The analysis of competitive position includes a review of:

o Competitive advantage;

e Scale, scope, and diversity;
e Operating efficiency; and
o Profitability.

7. We follow four steps to arrive at the competitive position assessment. First, we separately assess competitive

advantage; scale, scope, and diversity; and operating efficiency (excluding any benefits or risks already captured in the
issuer's CICRA assessment). Second, we apply weighting factors to these three components to derive a
weighted-average assessment that translates into a preliminary competitive position assessment. Third, we assess
profitability. Finally, we combine the preliminary competitive position assessment and the profitability assessment to
determine the final competitive position assessment. Profitability can confirm, or influence positively or negatively, the

competitive position assessment.

8. We assess the relative strength of each of the first three components by reviewing a variety of subfactors (see table 7).

When quantitative metrics are relevant and available, we use them to evaluate these subfactors. However, our overall
assessment of each component is qualitative. Our evaluation is forward-looking; we use historical data only to the

extent that they provide insight into future trends.

We evaluate profitability by assessing two subcomponents: level of profitability (measured by historical and projected
nominal levels of return on capital, EBITDA margin, and/or sector-specific metrics) and volatility of profitability
(measured by historically observed and expected fluctuations in EBITDA, return on capital, EBITDA margin, or sector
specific metrics). We assess both subcomponents in the context of the company’s industry.

NOVEMBER 19, 2013 15
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2. Assessing competitive advantage, scale, scope, and diversity, and operating efficiency
BU. We assess competitive advantage; scale, scope, and diversity; and operating efficiency as: 1, strong; 2,
strong/adequate; 3, adequate; 4, adequate/weak; or 5, weak. Tables 8, 9, and 10 provide guidance for assessing each

component.

1. In assessing the components' relative strength, we place significant emphasis on comparative analysis. Peer
comparisons provide context for evaluating the subfactors and the resulting component assessment. We review
company-specific characteristics in the context of the company's industry, not just its narrower subsector. (See list of
industries and subsectors in Appendix B, table 27.) For example, when evaluating an airline, we will benchmark the
assessment against peers in the broader transportation-cyclical industry (including the marine and trucking
subsectors), and not just against other airlines; Likewise, we will compare a home furnishing manufacturer with other
companies in the consumer durables industry, including makers of appliances or leisure products. We might

industries, or if there are a limited number of rated peers in an industry, subsector, or region.
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An assessment of strong means that the company's strengths on that component outweigh its weaknesses, and that the
combination of relevant subfactors results in lower-than-average business risk in the industry. An assessment of
adequate means that the company's strengths and weaknesses with respect to that component are balanced and that
the relevant subfactors add up to average business risk in tﬁe industry. A weak assessment means that the company's
weaknesses on that component override any strengths and that its subfactors, in total, reveal higher-than-average

business risk in the industry.

3. Where a component is not clearly strong or adequate, we may assess it as strong/adequate. A component that is not

clearly adequate or weak may end up as adequate/weak.

Although we review each subfactor, we don't assess each individually--and we seek to understand how they may
reinforce or weaken each other. A component's assessment combines the relative strengths and importance of its
subfactors. For any company, one or more subfactors can be unusually important--even factors that aren't common in
the industry. Industry KCF articles identify subfactors that are consistently more important, or happen not to be

relevant, in a given industry.

Not all subfactors may be equally important, and a single one's strength or weakness may outweigh all the others. For
example, if notwithstanding a track record of successful product launches and its strong brand equity, a company's
strategy doesn't appear adaptable, in our view, to changing competitive dynamics in the industry, we will likely not
assess its competitive advantage as strong. Similarly, if its revenues came disproportionately from a narrow product
line, we might view this as compounding its risk of exposure to a small geographic market and, thus, assess its scale,

scope, and diversity component as weak.

6. From time to time companies will, as a result of shifting industry dynamics or strategies, expand or shrink their

product or service lineups, alter their cost structures, encounter new competition, or have to adapt to new regulatory
environments. In such instances, we will reevaluate all relevant subfactors (and component assessments).
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3. Determining the preliminary competitive position assessment: Competitive position group profile
and category weightings

7. After assessing competitive advantage; scale, scope, and diversity; and operating efficiency, we determine a company's

preliminary competitive position assessment by ascribing a specific weight to each component. The weightings depend

on the company's Competitive Position Group Profile (CPGF).

3. There are six possible CPGPs: 1) services and product focus, 2) product focus/scale driven, 3) capital or asset focus, 4)

commodity focus/cost driven, 5) commodity focus/scale driven, and 6) national industry and utilities (see table 11 for

definitions and characteristics).

Table 11
‘Competitive Position Group Profile (CPGP) =
Definition and characteristics Examples
Services and Brands, product quality or technology, and service reputation are Typically, these are companies in consumer-facing light

product focus typically key differentiating factors for competing in the industry. manufacturing or service industries. Examples include
Capital intensity is typically low to moderate, although supporting  branded drug manufacturers, software companies, and

the brand often requires ongoing reinvestment in the asset base. packaged food.
Product Product and geographic diversity, as well as scale and market The sector most applicable is medical
focus/scale position are key differentiating factors. Sophisticated technology device/equipment manufacturers, particularly at the
driven ’ and stringent quality controls heighten risk of product higher end of the technology scale. These companies
concentration. Product preferences or sales relationships are more  largely sell through intermediaries, as opposed to
important than branding or pricing. Cost structure is relatively directly to the consumer.
unimportant.
Capital or asset  Sizable capital investments are generally required to sustain market Heavy manufacturing industries typically fall into this
focus position in the industry. Brand identification is of limited category. Examples include telecom infrastructure
importance, although product and service quality often remain manufacturers and semiconductor makers.
differentiating factors.
Commodity Cost position and efficiency of production assets are more Typically, these are companies that manufacture
focus/cost important than size, scope, and diversification. Brand identification = products from natural resources that are used as raw
driven is of limited importance materials by other industries. Examples include forest
and paper products companies that harvest timber or
produce pulp, packaging paper, or wood products,
Commodity Pure commodity companies have little product differentiation, and ~ Examples range from pure commodity producers and
focus/scale tend to compete on price and availability. Where present, brand most oil and gas upstream producers, to some
driven recognition or product differences are secondary or of less producers with modest product or brand differentiation,
importance. such as commodity foods.
National Government policy or control, regulation, and taxation and tariff An example is a water-utility company in an emerging
industries and policies significantly affect the competitive dynamics of the industry market.
utilities (see paragraphs 72-73).

The nature of competition and key success factors are generally prescribed by industry characteristics, but vary by
company. Where service, product quality, or brand equity are important competitive factors, we'll give the competitive
advantage component of our overall assessment a higher weighﬁng.l Conversely, if the company produces a
commodity product, differentiation comes less into play, and we will more heavily weight scale, scope, and diversity as

well as operating efficiency (see table 12).
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Table 12
Competitive Position Group Profiles (CPGPs) And Category Weightings .
w=(%)--

Component Product Commodity National
Services and focus/scale Capital or Commodity focus/scale industries and
product focus driven asset focus focus/cost driven driven utilities

1. Competitive 45 35 ' 30 15 10 60

advantage

2. Scale, scope, and 30 50 30 35 55 20

diversity

3. Operating efficiency 25 15 40 50 35 20

Total 100 100 100 100 100 100

. Weighted-average 1.0-5.0 1.0-5.0 1.0-5.0 1.0-5.0 1.0-5.0 1.0-5.0
assessment®

*1 (strong), 2 (sttong/adequate), 3 (adequate), 4 (adequate/weak), 5 (weak).

We place each of the defined industries (see Appendix B, table 27) into one of the six CPGPs (see above and Appendix
B, table 27). This is merely a starting point for the analysis, since we recognize that some industries are less
homogenous than others, and that company-specific strategies do affect the basis of competition.

In fact, the criteria allow for flexibility in selecting a company's group profile (with its category weightings). Reasons for
selecting a profile different than the one suggested in the guidance table could include;

¢ The industry is heterogeneous, meaning that the nature of competition differs from one subsector to the next, and
possibly even within subsectors. The KCF article for the industry will identify such circumstances.
e A company's strategy could affect the relative importance of its key factors of competition.

For example, the standard CPGP for the telecom and cable industry is services and product focus. While this may be
an appropriate group profile for carriers and service providers, an infrastructure provider may be better analyzed under
the capital or asset focus group profile. Other examples: In the capital goods industry, a construction equipment rental
company may be analyzed under the capital or asset focus group profile, owing to the importance of efficiently
managing the capital spending cycle in this segment of the industry, whereas a provider of hardware, software, and
services for industrial automation might be analyzed under the services and product focus group profile, if we believe it
can achieve differentiation in the marketplace based on product performance, technology innovation, and service.

In some industries, the effects of government policy, regulation, government control, and taxation and tariff policies
can significantly alter the competitive dynamics, depending on the country in which a company operates, That can
alter our assessment of a company's competitive advantage; scale, size, and diversity; or operating efficiency. When
industries in given countries have risks that differ materially from those captured in our global industry risk profile and
assessment (see "Methodology: Industry Risk," published Nov. 19, 2013, section B), we will weight competitive
advantage more heavily to capture the effect, positive or negative, on competitive dynamics. The assessment of
competitive advantage; scale, size, and diversity; and operating efficiency will reflect advantages or disadvantages
based on these national industry risk factors. Table 13 identifies the circumstances under which national industry risk

factors are positive or negative.
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Table 13
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When national industry risk factors are positive for a company, typically they support revenue growth, profit growth,
higher EBITDA margins, and/or lower-than-average volatility of profits. Often, these benefits provide barriers to entry
that impede or even bar new market entrants, which should be reflected in the competitive advantage assessment.
These benefits may also include risk mitigants that enable a company to withstand economic downturns and
competitive and technological threats better in its local markets than its global competitors can. The scale, scope, and
diversity assessment might also benefit from these policies if the company is able to withstand economic, regional,
competitive, and technological threats better than its global competitors can. Likewise, the company's operating
efficiency assessment may improve if, as a result, it is better able than its global competitors to withstand economic

downturns, taking into account its cost structure.

75. Conversely, when national industry risk factors are negative for a company, typically they detract from revenue growth

and profit growth, shrink EBITDA margins, and/or increase the average volatility of profits. The company may also
have less protection against economic downturns and competitive and technological threats within its local markets
than its global competitors do. We may also adjust the company's scale, scope, and diversity assessment lower if, as a
result of these policies, it is less able to withstand economic, regional, competitive, and technological threats than its
global competitors can. Likewise, we may adjust its operating efficiency assessment lower if, as a result of these
policies, it is less able to withstand economic downturns, taking into account the company's cost structure.

?6. An example of when we might use a national industry risk factor would be for a telecommunications network owner

that benefits from a monopoly network position, supported by substantial capital barriers to entry, and as a result is
subject to regulated pricing for its services. Accordingly, in contrast to a typical telecommunications company, our
analysis of the company's competitive position would focus more heavily on the monopoly nature of its operations, as
well as the nature and reliability of the operator's regulatory framework in supporting future revenue and earnings. If
we viewed the regulatory framework as being supportive of the group's future earnings stability, and we considered its
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monopoly position to be sustainable, we would assess these national industry risk factors as positive in our assessment
of the group's competitive position.

The weighted average assessment translates into the preliminary competitive position assessment on a scale of 1 to 6,
where one is best. Table 14 describes the matrix we use fo translate the weighted average assessment of the three

components into the preliminary competitive position assessment.

Table 14
“Translation Table Fo
Assessments - ‘

r Converting Weighted-Average Assessments Into Preliminary Competitive Position

Weighted average assessment range Preliminary competitive position assessment

1,00~ 1.50

>1.50-2.25
>2.25-3.00
>3.00-3.75
>3.75 - 4.50
>4.50~5.00

il lwln]| -

4. Assessing profitability

78. We assess profitability on the same scale of 1 to 6 as the competitive position assessment.

. The profitability assessment consists of two subcomponents: level of profitability and the volatility of profitability,

which we assess separately. We use a matrix to combine these into the final profitability assessment.

a) Level of profitability
The level of profitability is assessed in the context of the company's industry. We most commonly measure

profitability using return on capital (ROC) and EBITDA margins, but we may also use sector-specific ratios.
Importantly, as with the other components of competitive position, we review profitability in the context of the
industry in which the company operates, not just in its narrower subsector. (See list of industries and subsectors in

Appendix B, table 27.)

. We assess level of profitability on a three-point scale: above average, average, and below average. Industry KCF

articles may establish numeric guidance, for instance by stating that an ROC above 12% is considered above average,
between 8%-12% is average, and below 8% is below average for the industry, or by differentiating between subsectors
in the industry. In the absence of numeric guidance, we compare a company against its peers across the industry.

2. We calculate profitability ratios generally based on a five-year average, consisting of two years of historical data, our

projections for the current year (incorporating any reported year-to-date results and estimates for the remainder of the
year), and the next two financial years. There may be situations where we consider longer or shorter historical results
or forecasts, depending on such factors as availability of financials, transformational events (such as mergers or
acquisitions [M&A]), cyclical distortion (such as peak or bottom of the cycle metrics that we do not deem fully
representative of the company's level of profitability), and we take into account improving or deteriorating trends in

profitability ratios in our assessment.
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b) Volatility of profitability

. We base the volatility of profitability on the standard error of the regression (SER) for a compémy’s historical EBITDA,

EBITDA margins, or return on capital. The KCF articles provide guidance on which measures are most appropriate for
a given industry or set of companies. For each of these measures, we divide the standard error by the average of that
measure over the time period in order to ensure better comparability across companies.

The SER is a statistical measure that is an estimate of the deviation around a 'best fit' linear trend line. We regress the
company’s EBITDA, EBITDA margins, or return on capital against time. A key advantage of SER over standard
deviation or coefficient of variation is that it doesn't view upwardly trending data as inherently more volatile, At the
same time, we recognize that SER, like any statistical measure, may understate or overstate expected volatility and
thus we will make qualitative adjustments where appropriate (see paragraphs 86-90). Furthermore, we only calculate
SER when companies have at Jeast seven years of historical annual data and have not significantly changed their line
of business during the timeframe, to ensure that the results are meaningful.

As with the level of profitability, we evaluate a company's SER in the context of its industry group. For most industries,
we establish a six-point scale with 1 capturing the least volatile companies, i.e., those with the lowest SERs, and 6
identifying companies whose profits are most volatile. We have established industry-specific SER parameters using the
most recent seven years of data for companies within each sector. We believe that seven years is generally an
adequate number of years to capture a business cycle. (See Appendix B, section 4 for industry-specific SER
parameters,) For companies whose business segments cross multiple industries, we evaluate the SER in the context of
the organization's most dominant industry—if that industry represents at least two-thirds of the organization's EBITDA,
sales, or other relevant metric. If the company is a conglomerate and no dominant industry can be identified, we will
evaluate its profit volatility in the context of SER guidelines for all nonfinancial companies.

In certain circumstances, the SER derived from historical information may understate--or overstate--expected future
volatility, and we may adjust the assessment downward or upward. The scope of possible adjustments depends on

certain conditions being met as described below.

We might adjust the SER-derived volatility assessment to a worse assessment (i.e., to a higher assessment for greater
volatility) by up to two categories if the expected level of volatility isn't apparent in historical numbers, and the

company either:

e Has a weighted country risk assessment of 4 or worse, which may, notwithstanding past performance, result in a

less stable business environment going forward;
¢ Operates in a subsector of the industry that may be prone to higher technology or regulation changes, or other

potential disruptive risks that have not emerged over the seven year period;

s [s of limited size and scope, which will often result in inherently greater vulnerability to external changes; or

e Has pursued material M&A or internal growth projects that obscure the company's underlying performance trend
line. As an example, a company may have consummated an acquisition during the trough of the cycle, masking

what would otherwise be a significant decline in performance.

The choice of one or two categories depends on the degree of likelthood that the related risks will materialize and our

view of the likely severity of these risks.
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89. Conversely, we may adjust the SER-derived volatility assessment to a better assessment (i.e., to a lower assessment
reflecting lower volatility) by up to two categories if we observe that the conditions historically leading to greater
volatility have receded and are misrepresentative. This will be the case when:

0.

a1

9.

93.

The company grew at a moderately faster, albeit more uneven, pace relative to the industry. Since we measure
volatility around a linear trend line, a company growing at a constant percentage of moderate increase (relative to
the industry) or an uneven pace (e.g., due to "lumpy" capital spending programs) could receive a relatively
unfavorable assessment on an unadjusted basis, which would not be reflective of the company’s performance in a
steady state. (Alternatively, those companies that grow at a significantly higher-than-average industry rate often do
so on unsustainable rates of growth or by taking on high-risk strategies. Companies with these high-risk growth
strategies would not receive a better assessment and could be adjusted to a worse assessment;)

The company's geographic, customer, or product diversification has increased in scope as a result of an acquisition
or rapid expansion (e.g. large, long-term contracts wins), leading to more stability in future earnings in our view; or
The company's business model is undergoing material change that we expect will benefit earnings stability, such as
a new regulatory framework or major technology shift that is expected to provide a significant competitive hedge
and margin protection over time.

The choice of one or two categories depends on the degree of likelihood that the related risks will materialize and our
view of the likely severity of these risks.

If the company either does not have at least seven years of annual data or has materially changed its business lines or
undertaken abnormally high levels of M&A during this time period, then we do not use its SER to assess the volatility
of profitability. In these cases, we use a proxy to establish the volatility assessment. If there is a peer company that has,
and is expected to continue having, very similar profitability volatility characteristics, we use the SER of that peer

entity as a proxy.

If no such matching peer exists, or one cannot be identified with enough confidence, we perform an assessment of

expected volatility based on the following rules:

An assessment of 3 if we expect the company's profitability, supported by available historical evidence, will exhibit a
volatility pattern in line with, or somewhat less volatile than, the industry average.

An assessment of 2 based on our confidence, supported by available historical evidence, that the company will
exhibit lower volatility in profitability metrics than the industry's average. This could be underpinned by some of the
factors listed in paragraph 89, whereas those listed in paragraph 87 would typically not apply.

An assessment of 4 or 5 based on our expectation that profitability metrics will exhibit somewhat higher (4), or
meaningfully higher (5) volatility than the industry, supported by available historical evidence, or because of the
applicability of possible adjustment factors listed in paragraph 87.

Assessments of either 1 or 6 are rarely assigned and can only be achieved based on a combination of data evidence
and very high confidence tests. For an assessment of 1, we require strong evidence of minimal volatility in
profitability metrics compared with the industry, supported by at least five years of historical information, combined
with a very high degree of confidence that this will continue in the future, including no country risk, subsector risk or
size considerations that could otherwise warrant a worse assessment as per paragraph 87. For an assessment of 6
we require strong evidence of very high volatility in profitability metrics compared with the industry, supported by
at least five years of historical information and very high confidence that this will continue in the future.

Next, we combine the level of profitability assessment with the volatility assessment to determine the final profitability
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assessment using the matrix in Table 15.

Table 15

Profitability Assessment
--Volatility of profitability assessment--

Level of profitability assessment 1 2 3 4 5 6
Above average 1 1 2 3 4 5
Average 1 2 3 4 5 6
Below average 2 3 4 5 6 6

5. Combining the preliminary competitive position assessment with profitability

94. The fourth and final step in am'\n'ng' at a competitive position assessment is to combine the preliminary competitive
position assessment with the profitability assessment. We use the combination matrix in Table 16, which shows how
the profitability assessment can confirm, strengthen, or weaken (by up to one category) the overall competitive
position assessment.
Table 16

Combining The Preliminary Competitive Position Assessment And Profitability Assessment ‘

‘ ~Preliminary competitive posion assessment- l

Profitability assegssment 1 2 3 4 5 6
1 1 2 2 3 4 5
2 1 2 3 3 4 5
3 2 2 3 4 4 5
4 2 3 3 4 5 5
5 2 3 4 4 5 6
6 2 3 4 5 5 6

95, We generally expect companies with a strong preliminary competitive position assessment to exhibit strong and less
volatile profitability metrics. Conversely, companies with a relatively weaker preliminary competitive position
assessment will generally have weaker and/or more volatile profitability metrics. Our analysis of profitability helps
substantiate whether management is translating any perceived competitive advantagés, diversity benefits, and cost
management measures into higher earnings and more stable return on capital and return on sales ratios than the
averages for the industry. When profitability differs markedly from what the préliminary/ anchor competitive position
assessment would otherwise imply, we adjust the competitive position assessment accordingly.

98. Our method of adjustment is biased toward the preliminary competitive position assessment rather than toward the
profitability assessment (e.g., a preliminary competitive assessment of 6 and a profitability assessment of 1 will result

in a final assessment of 5).

E. Cash Flow/Leverage

Q7. The pattern of cash flow generation, current and future, in relation to cash obligations is often the best indicator of a
company's financial risk. The criteria assess a variety of credit ratios, predominately cash flow-based, which
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complement each other by focusing on the different levels of a company’s cash flow waterfall in relation to its
obligations (i.e., before and after working capital investment, before and after capital expenditures, before and after
dividends), to develop a thorough perspective. Moreover, the criteria identify the ratios that we think are most relevant
to measuring a company's credit risk based on its individual characteristics and its business cycle.

For the analysis of companies with intermediate or stronger cash flow/leverage assessments (a measure of the
relationship between the company's cash flows and its debt obligations as identified in paragraphs 106 and 124), we
primarily evaluate cash flows that reflect the considerable flexibility and discretion over outlays that such companies
typically possess. For these entities, the starting point in the analysis is cash flows before working capital changes plus
capital investments in relation to the size of a company's debt obligations in order to assess the relative ability of a
company fo repay its debt. These "leverage" or "payback" cash flow ratios are a measure of how much flexibility and

capacity the company has to pay its obligations.

For entities with significant or weaker cash flow/leverage assessments (as identified in paragraphs 105 and 124), the
criteria also call for an evaluation of cash flows in relation to the carrying cost or interest burden of a company's debt.
This will help us assess a company's relative and absolute ability to service its debt. These "coverage"- or "debt
service"-based cash flow ratios are a measure of a company's ability to pay obligations from cash earnings and the
cushion the company possesses through stress periods. These ratios, particularly interest coverage ratios, become

more important the further a company is down the credit spectrum.

1. Assessing cash flow/leverage
Under the criteria, we assess cash flow/leverage as 1, minimal; 2, modest; 3, intermediate; 4, significant; 5, aggressive;

or 6, highly leveraged. To arrive at these assessments, the criteria combine the assessments of a variety of credit ratios,
predominately cash flow-based, which complement each other by focusing attention on the different levels of a
company's cash flow waterfall in relation to its obligations. For each ratio, there is an indicative cash flow/leverage
assessment that corresponds to a specified range of values in one of three given benchmark tables (see tables 17, 18,
and 19). We derive the final cash flow/leverage assessment for a company by determining the relevant core ratios,
anchoring a preliminary cash flow assessment based on the relevant core ratios, determining the relevant
supplemental ratio(s), adjusting the preliminary cash flow assessment according to the relevant supplemental ratio(s),
and, finally, modifying the adjusted cash flow/leverage assessment for any material volatility.

2. Core and supplemental ratios
a) Core ratios
For each company, we calculate two core credit ratios--funds from operations (FFO) to debt and debt to EBITDA--in

accordance with Standard & Poor's ratios and adjustments criteria (see "Corporate Methodology: Ratios And
Adjustments," published Nov. 19, 2013). We compare these payback ratios against benchmarks to derive the
preliminary cash flow/leverage assessment for a company. These ratios are also useful in determining the relative

ranking of the financial risk of companies.

b) Supplemental ratios

. The criteria also consider one or more supplemental ratios (in addition to the core ratios) to help develop a fuller

understanding of a company's financial risk profile and fine-tune our cash flow/leverage analysis. Supplemental ratios
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could either confirm or adjust the preliminary cash flow/leverage assessment. The confirmation or adjustment of the
preliminary cash flow/leverage assessment will depend on the importance of the supplemental ratios as well as any
difference in indicative cash flow/leverage assessment between the core and supplemental ratios as described in

section E.3.b.

The criteria typically consider five standard supplemental ratios, although the relevant KCF criteria may introduce
additional supplemental ratios or focus attention on one or more of the standard supplemental ratios. The standard
supplemental ratios include three payback ratios--cash flow from operations (CFO) to debt, free operating cash flow
(FOCF) to debt, and discretionary cash flow (DCF) to debt--and two coverage ratios, FFO plus interest to cash interest

and EBITDA to interest.

The criteria provide guidelines as to the relative importance of certain ratios ifa company exhibits characteristics such
as high leverage, working capital intensity, capital intensity, or high growth.

If the preliminary cash flow/leverage assessment is significant or weaker (see section E.3), then two coverage ratios,
FFO plus interest to cash interest and EBITDA to interest, will be given greater importance as supplemental ratios. For
the purposes of calculating the coverage ratios, "cash interest" includes only cash interest payments (i.e,, interest
excludes noncash interest payable on, for example, payment-in-kind [PIK] instruments) and does not include any
Standard & Poor's adjusted interest on such items as leases, while "interest" is the income statement figure plus
Standard & Poor's adjustments to interest (see "Corporate Methodology: Ratios And Adjustments," published Nov. 19,

2013).

If the preliminary cash flow/leverage assessment is intermediate or stronger, the criteria first apply the three standard
supplemental ratios of CFO to debt, FOCF to debt, and DCF to debt. When FOCF to debt and DCF to debt indicate a
cash flow/leverage assessment that is lower than the other payback-ratio-derived cash flow/leverage assessments, it
signals that the company has either larger than average capital spending or other non-operating cash distributions
(including dividends). If these differences persiét and are consistent with a negative trend in overall ratio levels, which
we believe is not temporary, then these supplemental leverage ratios will take on more importance in the analysis.

If the supplemental ratios indicate a cash flow/leverage assessment that is different than the preliminary cash
flow/leverage assessment, it could suggest an unusual debt service or fixed charge burden, working capital or capital
expenditure profile, or unusual financial activity or policies. In such cases, we assess the sustainability or persistence of
these differences. For example, if either working capital or capital expenditures are unusually low, leading to better
indicated assessments, we examine the sustainability of such lower spending in the context of its impact on the
company's longer term competitive position. If there is a deteriorating trend in the company’s asset base, we give these
supplemental ratios less weight. If either working capital or capital expenditures are unusually high, leading to weaker
indicated assessments, we examine the persistence and need for such higher spending. If elevated spending levels are
required to maintain a company’s competitive position, for example to maintain the company's asset base, we give

more weight to these supplemental ratios.

For capital-intensive companies, EBITDA and FFO may overstate financial strength, whereas FOCF may be a more
accurate reflection of their cash flow in relation to their financial obligations. The criteria generally consider a
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capital-intensive company as having ongoing capital spending to sales of greater than 10%, or depreciation to sales of
greater than 8%. For these companies, the criteria place more weight on the supplementary ratio of FOCF to debt.
Where we place more analytic weight on FOCF to debt, we also seek to estimate the amount of maintenance or full
cycle capital required (see Appendix C) under normal conditions (we estimate maintenance or full-cycle capital
expenditure required because this is not a reported number). The FOCF figure may be adjusted by adding back
estimated discretionary capital expenditures. The adjusted FOCF to debt based on maintenance or full cycle capital
expenditures often helps determine how much importance to place on this ratio. If both the FOCF to debt and the
adjusted (for estimated discretionary capital spending) FOCF to debt derived assessments are different from the
preliminary cash/flow leverage assessment, then these supplemental leverage ratios take on more importance in the

analysis.

For working-capital-intensive companies, EBITDA and FFO may also overstate financial strength, and CFO may be a
more accurate measure of the company's cash flow in relation to its financial risk profile. Under the criteria, if a
company has a working capital-to-sales ratio that exceeds 25% or if there are significant seasonal swings in working
capital, we generally consider it to be working-capital-intensive. For these companies, the criteria place more emphasis
on the supplementary ratio of CFO to debt. Examples of companies that have working-capital-intensive characteristics
can be found in the capital goods, nietals and mining downstream, or the retail and restaurants industries. The need for
working capital in those industries reduces financial flexibility and, therefore, these supplemental leverage ratios take

on more importance in the analysis.

For all companies, when FOCF to debt or DCF to debt is negative or indicates materially lower cash flow/leverage
assessments, the criteria call for an examination of management's capital spending and cash distribution strategies. For
high-growth companies, typically the focus is on FFO to debt instead of FOCF to debt because the latter ratio can vary
greatly depending on the growth investment the company is undergoing, The criteria generally consider a high-growth
company one that exhibits real revenue growth in excess of 8% per year. Real revenue growth excludes price or
foreign exchange related growth, under these criteria. In cases where FOCF or DCF is low, there is a greater emphasis
on monitoring the sustainability of margins and return on capital and the overall financing mix to assess the Iikely
trend of future debt ratios. In addition, debt service ratio analysis will be important in such situations. For companies
with more moderate growth, the focus is typically on FOCF to debt unless the capital spending is short term or is not

funded with debt.

For companies that have ongoing and well entrenched banking relationships we can reflect these relationships in our
cash flow/leverage analysis through the use of the interest coverage ratios as supplemental ratios. These companies
generally have historical links and a strong ongoing relationship with their main banks, as well as shareholdings by the
main banks, and management influence and interaction between the main banks and the company. Based on their
bank relationships, these companies often have lower interest servicing costs than peers, even if the macro economy
worsens. In such cases, we generally use the interest coverage ratios as supplemental ratios. This type of banking
relationship occurs in Japan, for example, where companies that have the type of bank relationship described in this
paragraph tend to have a high socioeconomic influence within their country by way of their revenue size, total debt
quantum, number of employees, and the relative importance of the industry.
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c) Time horizon and ratio calculation

A company's credit ratios may vary, often materially, over time due to economic, competitive, technological, or
investment cycles, the life stage of the company, and corporate or strategic actions. Thus, we evaluate credit ratios on
a time series basis with a clear forward-looking bias. The length of the time series is dependent on the relative credit
risk of the company and other qualitative factors and the weighting of the time series varies according to
transformational events. A transformational event is any event that could cause a material change in a company's
financial profile, whether caused by changes to the cdmpa.ny's capital base, capital structure, earnings, cash flow
profile, or financial policies. Trénsformational events can include mergers, acquisitions, divestitures, management
changes, structural changes to the industry or competitive environment, and/or product development and capital
programs. This section provides guidance on the timeframe and weightings the criteria apply to calculate the

indicative ratios.

3. The criteria generally consider the company's credit ratios for the previous one to two years, current-year forecast, and

the two subsequent forecasted financial years. There may be situations where longer--or even shorter--historical
results or forecasts are appropriate, depending on such factors as availability of financials, transformational events, or
relevance. For example, a utility company with a long-term capital spending program may lend itself to a longer-term
forecast, whereas for a company experiencing a near-term liquidity squeeze even a two-year forecast will have limited
value. Alternatively, for most commodities-based companies we emphasize credit ratios based on our forward-looking
view of market conditions, which may differ materially from the historical period.

Historical patterns in cash flow ratios are informative, particularly in understanding past volatility, capital spending,
growth, accounting policies, financial policies, and business trends. Our analysis starts with a review of these historical
patterns in order to assess future expected credit quality. Historical patterns can also provide an indication of potential
future volatility in ratios, including that which results from seasonality or cyclicality. A history of volatility could result
in a more conservative assessment of future cash flow generation if we believe cash flow will continue to be volatile,

The forecast ratios are based on an expected base-case scenario developed by Standard & Poor's, incorporating

current and near-term economic conditions, industry assumptions, and financial policies. The prospective cyclical and
longer-term volatility associated with the industry in which the issuer operates is addressed in the industry risk criteria
(see section B) and the longer-term directional influence or event risk of financial policies is addressed in our financial

policy criteria (see section H).

The criteria generally place greater emphasis on forecasted years than historical years in the time series of credit ratios
when calculating the indicative credit ratio. For companies where we have five years of ratios as described in section
E.3, generally we calculate the indicative ratio by weighting the previous two years, the current year, and the
forecasted two years as 10%, 15%, 25%, 25%, and 25%, respectively.

This weighting changes, however, to place even greater emphasis on the current and forecast years when:

e The issuer meets the characteristics described in paragraph 113, and either shorter- or longer-term forecasts are
applicable. The weights applied will generally be quite forward weighted, particularly if a company is undergomg a
transformational event and there is moderate or better cash flow certainty.

o The issuer is forecast to generate negative cash flow available for debt repayment, which we believe could lead to
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deteriorating credit metrics. Forecast negative cash flows could be generated from operating activities as well as
capital expenditures, share buybacks, dividends, or acquisitions, as we forecast these uses of cash based on the
company's track record, market conditions, or financial policy. The weights applied will generally be 30%, 40%, and
30% for the current and two subsequent years, respectively.

e The issuer is in an industry that is prospectively volatile or that has a high degree of cash flow uncertainty.
Industries that are prospectively volatile are industries whose competitive risk and growth assessments are either
high risk (5) or very high risk (6) or whose overall industry risk assessments are either high risk (5) or very high risk
{6). The weights applied will generally be 50% for the current year and 50% for the first subsequent forecast year.

When the indicative ratio(s) is borderline (i.e., less than 10% different from the threshold in relative terms) between two
assessment thresholds (as described in section E.3 and tables 17, 18, and 19) and the forecast points to a switch in the
ratio between categories during the rating timeframe, we will weigh the forecast even more heavily in order to

prospectively capture the trend.

For companies undergoing a transformational event, the weighting of the time series could vary significantly.

For companies undergoing a transformational event and with significant or weaker cash flow/leverage assessments,
we place greater weight on near-term risk factors. That's because overemphasis on longer-term (inherently less
predictable) issues could lead to some distortion when assessing the risk level of a speculative-grade company. We
generally analyze a company using the arithmetic mean of the credit ratios expected according to our forecasts for the
current year (or pro forma current year) and the subsequent financial year. A common example of this is when a
private equity firm acquires a company using additional debt leverage, which makes historical financial ratios
meaningless. In this scenario, we weight or focus the majority of our analysis on the next one or two years of projected

credit measures.
3. Determining the cash flow/leverage assessment

a) Identifying the benchmark table
Tables 17, 18, and 19 provide benchmark ranges for various cash flow ratios we associate with different cash

flow/leverage assessments for standard volatility, medial volatility, and low volatility industries. The tables of
benchmark ratios differ for a given ratio and cash flow/leverage assessment along two dimensions: the starting point

for the ratio range and the width of the ratio range.

. If an industry exhibits low volafility, the threshold levels for the applicable ratios to achieve a given cash flow/leverage

assessment are less stringent than those in the medial or standard volatility tables, although the range of the ratios is
narrower. Conversely, if an industry exhibits medial or standard levels of volatility, the threshold for the applicable
ratios to achieve a given cash flow/leverage assessment are elevated, albeit with a wider range of values.

The relevant benchmark table for a given company is based on our assessment of the company's associated industry
and country risk volatility, or the CICRA (see section A, table 1). The low volatility table (table 19) will generally apply
when a company's CICRA is 1, unless otherwise indicated in a sector's KCF criteria. The medial volatility table (table
18) will be used under certain circumstances for companies with a CICRA of 1 or 2. Those circumstances are
described in the respective sectors' KCF criteria. The standard volatility table (table 17) serves as the relevant
benchmark table for companies with a CICRA of 2 or worse, and we will always use it for companies with a CICRA of
1 or 2 and whose competitive position is assessed 5 or 6. Although infrequent, we will use the low volatility table when
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a company's CICRA is 2 for companies that exhibit or are expected to exhibit low levels of volatility. The choice of
volatility tables for companies with a CICRA of 2 is addressed in the respective sector's KCF article.

Table 17

==Core ratios--

'Cash Flow/Leverage Analysis Ratios--Standard Volatility

--Supplementary coverage ratios--

—Sllpplementary payback ratios--

FFO/debt  Debt/EBITDA FFO/cash  EBITDA/interest CFO/debt FOCF/debt DCF/debt

(%) {x) interest(x) (x) (%) (%) (%)

Minimal 60+ Less than 1.5 More than 13 More than 15 More than 50 40+ 25+

Modest 45-60 1.5-2 9-13 10-15 35-50 25-40 15-25

Intermediate 30-45 2-3 6-9 6-10 25-35 15-25 10-15

Significant 20-30 3-4 4-6 3-6 15-25 -10-15 5-10

Aggressive 12-20 4-5 2-4 2-3 10-15 5-10 2-5

lHighly 4 Less than 12 Greater than § Less than 2 Lessthan2  Less than 10 Less than 5 Less than 2
everage

Table 18

"'Cgsh Flow/Leverage Aii‘,alysis' Ratios--Medial Volatility

--Supplementary payback ratios-

-=Core ratios-- ~-Supplementary coverage ratios--
FFO/debt  Debt/EBITDA FFO/cash  EBITDA/interest CFO/debt FOCF/debt DCF/debt
(%) (x) interest (x) (x) (%) (%) (%)
Minimal 50+ less than 1.75 10.5+ 14+ 40+ 30+ 18+
Modest 35-50 1.75-2.5 7.5-10.5 9-14 27.5-40 17.5-30 11-18
Intermediate 23-35 2.5-3.5 5-7.5 5-9 18.5-27.5 9.5-17.5 6.5-11
Significant 13-23 3.5-4.5 3-5 2,75-5 10,5-18.5 5-9.5 2.5-6.5
Aggressive 9-13 45-55 1.75-3 1.75-2.75 7-10.5 0-5° (11)-2.5
Highly Lessthan 9  Greater than 5.5 Less than 1.75 Less than 1,75 Less than 7 Less than 0 Less than
leveraged (11)

Table 19

Cash Flow/Leverage Analysis Ratios--Low Volatility

--Core ratios--

~Supplementary coverage ratios--

--Supplementary payback ratios--

FFO/debt Debt/EBITDA FFO/cash  BBITDA/interest CFO/debt FOCF/debt DCF/debt

(%) (x) interest (x) (x) (%) (%) (%)

Minimal 35+ Less than 2 More than 8 More than 13 More than 30 20+ 11+
Modest 23-35 2-3 5-8 7-13 20-30 10-20 7-11
Intermediate 13-23 34 3-5 4-7 12-20 4-10 3-7
Significant 9-13 4-5 2-3 2.5-4 8-12 0-4 0-3
Aggressive 69 5-6 1.5-2 1.5-2.5 5-8 (10)-0 (20)-0
Highly Less than 6 Greater than 6 Less than 1.5 Less than 1.5 Lessthan 5  Less than (10) Less than
leveraged (20)

b) Aggregating the credit ratio assessments

124. To determine the final cash flow/leverage assessment, we make these calculations:
1) First, calculate a time series of standard core and supplemental credit ratios, select the relevant benchmark table,

and determine the appropriate time weighting of the credit ratios.
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¢ Calculate the two standard core credit ratios and the five standard supplemental credit ratios over a five-year time
horizon.

e Consult the relevant industry KCF article (if applicable), which may identify additional supplemental ratio(s). The
relevant benchmark table for a given company is based on our assessment of the company's associated industry and
country risk volatility, or the CICRA.

¢ Calculate the appropriate weighted average cash flow/leverage ratios. If the company is undergoing a
transformational event, then the core and supplemental ratios will typically be calculated based on Standard &

Poor's projections for the current and next one or financial years.
2) Seconcf w,e use the core ratios to deten%xme the prtgi,immaxy casj‘ne flow assessment.
e Compare the core ratios (FFO to debt and debt to EBITDA) to the ratio ranges in the relevant benchmark table,

e If the core ratios resuit in different cash flow/leverage assessments, we will select the relevant core ratio based on

which provides the best indicator of any's future ] '
3) Third, Re review the supplemaer?ta? rgﬁ%?n)l.p y's luture leverage

e Determine the importance of standard or KCF supplemental ratios based on company-specific characteristics,
namely, leverage, capijtal intensity, working capital intensity, growth rate, or industry.

4) Fourth, we calculate ti)e agjustectiy cas?l lf?cla-lw}rleelerage assessment.

¢ If the cash flow/leverage assessment(s) indicated by the important supplemental ratio(s) differs from the preliminary
cash flow/leverage assessment, we might adjust the preliminary cash flow/leverage assessment by one category in
the direction of the cash flow/leverage assessment indicated by the supplemental ratio(s) to derive the adjusted
cash flow/leverage assessment. We will make this adjustment if, in our view, the supplemental ratio provides the
best indicator of a company’s future leverage. ’

e If there is more than one important supplemental ratio and they result in different directional deviations from the
preliminary cash flow/leverage assessment, we will select one as the relevant supplemental ratio based on which, in
our opinion, provides the best indicator of a company’s future leverage. We will then make the adjustment outlined

above if the selected supplemental ratio differs from the preliminary cash flow/leverage assessment and the
e

Yt AT R NG R A e R P SO

o We classifyy companies as stable for these cash flow criteria if cash flow/leverage ratios are expected to move up by
one category during periods of stress based on their business risk profile. The final cash flow/leverage assessment
for these companies will not be modified from the adjusted cash flow/leverage assessment.

e We classify companies as volatile for these cash flow criteria if cash flow/leverage ratios are expected to move one
or two categories worse during periods of stress based on their business risk profiles. Typically, this is equivalent to
EBITDA declining about 30% from its current level. The final cash flow/leverage assessment for these companies
will be modified to one category weaker than the adjusted cash flow/leverage assessment; the adjustment will be
eliminated if cash flow/leverage ratios, as evaluated, include a moderate to high level of stress already.

e We classify companies as highly volatile for these cash flow criteria if cash flow/leverage ratios are expected to
move two or three categories worse during periods of stress, based on their business risk profiles. Typically, this is
equivalent to EBITDA declining about 50% from its current level. The final cash flow/leverage assessment for these
companies will be modified to two categories weaker than the adjusted cash flow/leverage assessment; the
adjustment will be eliminated or reduced to one category if cash flow/leverage ratios, as evaluated, include a

moderate to high level of stress already.

5. The volatility adjustment is the mechanism by which we factor a "cushion” of medium-term variance to current

financial performance not otherwise captured in either the near-term base-case forecast or the long-term business risk

NOVEMBER 19, 2013 36

WWW.STANDARDANDPOORS.COM/RATINGSDIRECT
1218904 { 300005049



128.

128,

130.

Exhibit KWB-6
Page 37 of 101

Criteria | Corporates | General: Corporate Methodology

assessment. We make this adjustment based on the following:

¢ The expectation of any potential cash flow/leverage ratio movement is both prospective and dependent on the
current business or econontic conditions. '

o Stress scenarios include, but are not limited to, a recessionary economic environment, technology or competitive
shifts, loss or renegotiation of major contracts or customers, and key product or input price movements, as typically
defined in the company's industry risk profile and competitive position assessment.

e The volatility adjustment is not static and is company specific. At the bottom of an economic cycle or during
periods of stressed business conditions, already reflected in the general industry risk or specific competitive risk
profile, the prospect of weakening ratios is far less than at the peak of an economic cycle or business conditions.

e The expectation of prospective ratio changes may be formed by observed historical performance over an economic,
business, or product cycle by the company or by peers.

s The assessment of which classification to use when evaluating the prospective number of scoring category moves
will be guided by how close the current ratios are to the transition point (i.e. "buffer” in the current scoring category)
and the corresponding amount of EBITDA movement at each scoring transition,

E Diversification/Portfolio Effect

3. Under the criteria, diversification/portfolio effect applies to companies that we regard as conglomerates. They are

companies that have multiple core business lines that may be operated as separate legal entities. For the purpose of
these criteria, a conglomerate would have at least three business lines, each contributing a material source of earnings

and cash flow.

. The criteria aim to measure how diversification or the portfolio effect could improve the anchor of a company with

multiple business lines. This approach helps us determine how the credit strength of a corporate entity with a given
mix of business lines could improve based on its diversity. The competitive position factor assesses the benefits of
diversity within individual lines of business. This factor also assesses how poorly performing businesses within a
conglomerate affect the organization's overall business risk profile.

Diversification/portfolio effect could modify the anchor depending on how meaningful we think the diversification is,
and on the degree of correlation we find in each business line's sensitivity to economic cycles. This assessment will
have either a positive or neutral impact on the anchor. We capture any potential factor that weakens a company's
diversification, including poor management, in our management and governance assessment.

We define a conglomerate as a diversified company that is involved in several industry sectors. Usually the smallest of
at least three distinct business segments/lines would contribute at least 10% of either EBITDA or FOCF and the
largest would contribute no more than 50% of EBITDA or FOCE with the long-term aim of increasing shareholder
value by generating cash flow. Industrial conglomerates usually hold a controlling stake in their core businesses, have
highly identifiable holdings, are deeply involved in the strategy and management of their operating companies,
generally do not frequently roll over or reshuffle their holdings by buying and selling companies, and therefore have
high long-term exposure to the operating risks of their subsidiaries.

In rating a conglomerate, we first assess management's commitment to maintain the diversified portfolio over a
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longer-term horizon. These criteria apply only if the company falls within our definition of a conglomerate.

1. Assessing diversification/portfolio effect
A conglomerate's diversification/portfolio effect is assessed as 1, significant diversification; 2, moderate diversification;

or 3, neutral. An assessment of moderate diversification or significant diversification potentially raises the issuer's
anchor. To achieve an assessment of significant diversification, an issuer should have uncorrelated diversified
businesses whose breadth is among the most comprehensive of all conglomerates'. This assessment indicates that we
expect the conglomerate's earnings volatility to be much lower through an economic cycle than an undiversified
company’s. To achieve an assessment of moderate diversification, an issuer typically has a range of uncorrelated
diversified businesses that provide meaningful benefits of diversification with the expectation of lower earnings
volatility through an economic cycle than an undiversified company's.

We expect that a conglomerate will also benefit from diversification if its core assets consistently produce positive
cash flows over our rating horizon. This supports our assertion that the company diversifies to take advantage of
allocating capital among its business lines. To this end, our analysis focuses on a conglomerate's track record of
successfully deploying positive discretionary cash flow into new business lines or expanding capital-hungry business
lines. We assess companies that we do not expect to achieve these benefits as neutral.

2. Components of correlation and how it is incorporated into our analysis

. We determine the assessment for this factor based on the number of business lines in separate industries (as described

in table 27) and the degree of correlation between these business lines as described in table 20. There is no rating uplift
for an issuer with a small number of business lines that are highly correlated. By contrast, a larger number of business
lines that are not closely correlated provide the maximum rating uplift.

Table 20

Assessing Diversification/Portfolio Bffect .~~~ . -
—Number of business lines--

Degree of correlation of business lines 3 4 5 or more

High Neutral Neutral Neutral

Medium Neutral Moderately diversified Moderately diversified
Low Moderately diversified Significantly diversified Significantly diversified

The degree of correlation of business lines is high if the business lines operate within the same industry, as defined by
the industry designations in Appendix B, table 27. The degree of correlation of business lines is medium if the business
lines operate within different industries, but operate within the same geographic region (for further guidance on
defining geographic regions, see Appendix A, table 26). An issuer has a low degree of correlation across its business
lines if these business lines are both a) in different industries and b) either operate in different regions or operate in

multiple regions.
If we believe that a conglomerate's various industry exposures fail to provide a partial hedge against the consolidated

entity's volatility because they are highly correlated through an economic cycle, then we assess the
diversification/portfolio effect as neutral. '
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G. Capital Structure

3. Standard & Poor's uses its capital structure criteria to assess risks in a company's capital structure that may not show

up in our standard analysis of cash flow/leverage. These risks may exist as a result of maturity date or currency
mismatches between a company's sources of financing and its assets or cash flows. These can be compounded by
outside risks, such as volatile interest rates or currency exchange rates.

1. Assessing capital structure

7. Capital structure is a modifier category, which adjusts the initial anchor for a company after any modification due to

diversification/portfolio effect. We assess a number of subfactors to determine the capital structure assessment, which
can then raise or lower the initial anchor by one or more notches--or have no effect in some cases. We assess capital
structure as 1, very positive; 2, positive; 3, neutral; 4, negative; or 5, very negative. In the large majority of cases, we
believe that a firm's capital structure will be assessed as neutral. To assess a company's capital structure, we analyze

four subfactors:

e Currency risk associated with debt,

e Debt maturity profile (or schedule),
Interest rate risk associated with debt, and
Investments.

Any of these subfactors can influence a firm's capital structure assessment, although some carry greater weight than

others, based on a tiered approach:

» Tier one risk subfactors: Currency risk of debt and debt maturity profile, and
¢ Tier two risk subfactor: Interest rate risk of debt.

. The initial capital structure assessment is based on the first three subfactors (see table 21). We may then adjust the

preliminary assessment based on our assessment of the fourth subfactor, investments.

Table 21

 Preliminary Capital Structure Assessment

Preliminary capital structure assessment. Subfactor asséssments
Neutral No tier one subfactor is negative,
One tier one subfactor is negative, and the tier two subfactor is neutral.

Both tier one subfactors are negative, or one tier one subfactor is negative and the tier two
subfactor is negative.

Negative

Very negative

Tier one subfactors carry the greatest risks, in our view, and, thus, could have a significant impact on the capital
structure assessment. This is because, in our opinion, these factors have a greater likelihood of affecting credit metrics
and potentially causing liquidity and refinancing risk. The tier two subfactor is important in and of itself, but typicaily
less so than the tier one subfactors. In our view, in the majority of cases, the tier two subfactor in isolation has a lower
likelihood of leading to liquidity and default risk than do tier one subfactors.

The fourth subfactor, investments, as defined in paragraph 153, quantifies the impact of a company's investments on
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its overall financial risk profile. Although not directly related to a firm's capital structure decisions, certain investments
could provide a degree of asset protection and potential financial flexibility if they are monetized. Thus, the fourth
subfactor could modify the preliminary capital structure assessment (see table 22). If the subfactor is assessed as
neutral, then the preliminary capital structure assessment will stand. If investments is assessed as positive or very
positive, we adjust the preliminary capital structure assessment upward (as per table 22) to arrive at the final

assessment.

Table 22

Final Capital Structure Assessment ‘
--Investments subfactor assessment—

Preliminary capital structure assessment Neutral Positive Very positive
Neutral Neutral Positive Very positive
Negative Negative Neutral Positive

Very negative Very negative Negative Negative

2. Capital structure analysis: Assessing the subfactors
a) Subfactor 1: Currency risk of debt
Currency risk arises when a company borrows without hedging in a currency other than the currency in which it

generates revenues. Such an unhedged position makes the company potentially vulnerable to fluctuations in the
exchange rate between the two currencies, in the absence of mitigating factors. We determine the materiality of any
mismatch by identifying situations where adverse exchange-rate movements could weaken cash flow and/or leverage

ratios. We do not include currency mismatches under the following scenarios:

e The country where a company generates its cash flows has its currency pegged to the currency in which the
company has borrowed, or vice versa (or the currency of cash flows has a strong track record and government
policy of stability with the currency of borrowings), examples being the Hong Kong dollar which is pegged to the
U.S. dollar, and the Chinese renminbi which is managed in a narrow band to the U.S. dollar (and China's foreign
currency reserves are mainly in US. dollars). Moreover, we expect such a scenario to continue for the foreseeable

future;
¢ A company has the proven ability, through regulation or contract, to pass through changes in debt servicing costs to

its customers; or
e A company has a natural hedge, such as where it may sell its product in a foreign currency and has matched its debt

in that same currency.

We also recognize that even if an entity generates insufficient same-currency cash flow to meet foreign
currency-denominated debt obligations, it could have substantial other currency cash flows it can convert to meet
these obligations. Therefore, the relative amount of foreign denominated debt as a proportion of total debt is an
important factor in our analysis, If foreign denominated debt, excluding fully hedged debt principal, is 15% or less of
total debt, we assess the company as neutral on currency risk of debt. If foreign-denominated debt, excluding fully
hedged debt principal, is greater than 15% of total debt, and debt to EBITDA is greater than 3.0x, we evaluate currency

risks through further analysis.

If an entity's foreign-denominated debt in a particular currency represents more than 15% of total debt, and if its debt
to EBITDA ratio is greater than 3.0x, we identify whether a currency-specific interest coverage ratio indicates potential
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currency risk. The coverage ratio divides forecasted operating cash flow in each currency by interest payments over
the coming 12 months for that same currency. It is often easier to asceftain the geographic breakdown of EBITDA as
opposed to 'operating cash flow. So in situations where we don't have sufficient cash flow information, we may
calculate an EBITDA to‘interest expense coverage ratio in the relevant currencies. If neither cash flow nor EBITDA
information is disclosed, we estimate the relevant exposures based on available information.

5. In such an instance, our assessment of this subfactor is negative if we believe any appropnate interest coverage ratio

will fall below 1.2x over the next 12 months.

b) Subfactor 2: Debt maturity profile

. A firm's debt maturity profile shows when its debt needs to be repaid, or refinanced if possible, and helps determine

the firm's refinancing risk. Lengthier and more evenly spread out debt maturity schedules reduce refinancing risk,
compared with front-ended and compressed ones, since the former give an entity more time to manage business- or

financial market-related setbacks.

In evaluating debt maturity profiles, we measure the weighted average maturity (WAM) of bank debt and debt
securities (including hybrid debt) within a capital structure, and make simplifying assumptions that debt maturing
beyond year five matures in year six. WAM = (Maturity1/Total Debt)*tenorl + (Maturity2/Total Debt)* tenor2 +..
(Thereafter/Total Debt)* tenor6

In evaluating refinancing risk, we consider risks in addition to those captured under the 12-month to 24-month
time-horizons factored in our liquidity criteria (see "Methodology And Assumptions: Liquidity Descriptors For Global
Corporate Issuers,"” published Nov. 19, 2013). While we recognize that investment-grade companies may have more
certain future business prospects and greater access to capital than speculative-grade companies, all else being equal,
we view a company with a shorter maturity schedule as having greater refinancing risk compared to a company with a
longer one. In all cases, we assess a company's debt maturity profile in conjunction with its liquidity and potential
funding availability. Thus, a short-dated maturity schedule alone is not a negative if we believe the company can
maintain enough liquidity to pay off debt that comes due in the near term.

Our assessment of this subfactor is negative if the WAM is two years or less, and the amount of these near-term
maturities is material in relation to the issuer's liquidity so that under our base-case forecast, we believe the company's
liquidity assessment will become less than adequate or weak over the next two years due to these maturities. In certain
cases, we may assess a debt maturity profile as negative regardless of whether or not the company passes the
aforementioned test. We expect such instances to be rare, and will include scenarios where we believed a
concentration of debt maturities within a five-year time horizon poses meaningful refinancing risk, either due to the
size of the maturities in relation to the company's liquidity sources, the company's leverage profile, its operating trends,
lender relationships, and/or credit market standings.

c) Subfactor 3: Interest rate risk of debt

The interest rate risk of debt subfactor analyzes the company's mix of fixed-rate and floating-rate debt. Generally, a
higher proportion of fixed-rate debt leads to greater predictability and stability of interest expense and therefore cash
flows. The exception would be companies whose operating cash flows are to some degree correlated with interest rate
movements--for example, a regulated utility whose revenues are indexed to inflation--given the typical correlation
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between nominal interest rates and inflation.

151. The mix of fixed versus floating-rate debt is usually not a significant risk factor for companies with intermediate or
better financial profiles, strong profitability, and high interest coverage. In addition, the interest rate environment at a
given point in time will play a role in determining the impact of interest rate movements. Our assessment of this
subcategory will be negative if a 25% upward shift (e.g., from 2.0% to 2.5%) or a 100 basis-point upward shift (e.g, 2%

~ to 3%) in the base interest rate of the floating rate debt will result in a breach of interest coverage covenants or interest
coverage rating thresholds identified in the cash flow/leverage criteria (see section E.3).

152. Many loan agreements for speculative-grade companies contain a clause requiring a percentage of floating-rate debt to
be hedged for a period of two to three years to mitigate this risk, However, in many cases the loan matures after the
hedge expires, creating a mismatched hedge. We consider only loans with hedges that match the life of the loan to
be--effectively--fixed-rate debt.

d) Subfactor 4: Investments

153. For the purposes of the criteria, investments refer to investments in unconsolidated equity affiliates, other assets where
the realizable value isn't currently reflected in the cash flows generated from those assets (e.g. underutilized real-estate
property), we do not expect any additional investment or support to be provided to the affiliate, and the investment is
not included within Standard & Poor's consolidation scope and so is not incorporated in the company's business and
financial risk profile analysis. If equity affiliate companies are consolidated, then the financial benefits and costs of
these investments will be captured in our cash flow and leverage analysis. Similarly, where the company's ownership
stake does not qualify for consolidation under accounting rules, we may choose to consolidate on a pro rata basis if we
believe that the equity affiliates' operating and financing strategy is influenced by the rated entity. If equity investments
are strategic and provide the company with a competitive advantage, or benefit a company's scale, scope, and
diversity, these factors will be captured in our competitive position criteria and will not be used to assess the subfactor
investments as positive. Within the capital structure criteria, we aim to assess nonstrategic financial investments that
could provide a degree of asset protection and financial flexibility in the event they are monetized. These investments
must be noncore and separable, meaning that a potential divestiture, in our view, has no impact on the company’s

existing operations.

154. In many instances, the cash flows generated by an equity affiliate, or the proportional share of the associate company's
net income, might not accurately reflect the asset's value, This could occur if the equity affiliate is in high growth mode
and is currently generating minimal cash flow or net losses. This could also be true of a physical asset, such as real
estate. From a valuation standpoint, we recognize the subjective nature of this analysis and the potential for
information gaps. As a result, in the absence of a market valuation or a market valuation of comparable companies in
the case of minority interests in private entities, we will not ascribe value to these assets.

155. We assess this subfactor as positive or very positive if three key characteristics are met. First, an estimated value can
be ascribed to these investments based on the presence of an existing market value for the firm or comparable firms in
the same industry. Second, there is strong evidence that the investment can be monetized over an intermediate
timeframe--in the case of an equity investment, our opinion of the marketability of the investment would be enhanced
by the presence of an existing market value for the firm or comparable firms, as well as our view of market liquidity.
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Third, monetization of the investment, assuming proceeds would be used to repay debt, would be material enough to
positively move existing cash flow and leverage ratios by at least one category and our view on the company's
financial policy, specifically related to financial discipline, supports the assessment that the potential proceeds would
be used to pay down debt. This subfactor is assessed as positive if debt repayment from the investment sale has the
potential to improve cash flow and leverage ratios by one category. We assess investments as very positive if proceeds
upon sale of the investment have the potential to improve cash flow and leverage ratios by two or more categories. If
the three characteristics are not met, this subfactor will be assessed as neutral and the pfeliminary capital structure

assessment will stand.

We will not assess the investments subfactor as positive or very positive when the anchor is ‘b+' or lower unless the
three conditions described in paragraph 155 are met, and:

¢ For issuers with less than adequate or weak liquidity, the company has provided a credible near-term plan to sell the

investment.
o For issuers with adequate or better liquidity, we believe that the company, if needed, could sell the investment in a

relatively short timeframe.

H. Financial Policy

Financial policy refines the view of a company's risks beyond the conclusions arising from the standard assumptions in
the cash flow/leverage assessment (see section E). Those assumptions do not always reflect or entirely capture the
short-to-medium term event risks or the longer-term risks stemming from a company's financial policy. To the extent
movements in one of these factors cannot be confidently predicted within our forward-looking evaluation, we capture
that risk within our evaluation of financial policy, The cash flow/leverage assessment will typically factor in operating
and cash flows metrics we observed during the past two years and the trends we expect to see for the coming two
years based on operating assumptions and predictable financial policy elements, such as ordinary dividend payments
or recurring acquisition spending. However, over that period and, generally, over a longer time horizon, the firm's
financial policies can change its financial risk profile based on management's or, if applicable, the company's
controlling shareholder's (see Appendix E, paragraphs 254-257) appetite for incremental risk or, conversely, plans to
reduce leverage. We assess financial policy as 1) positive, 2) neutral, 3) negative, or as being owned by a financial
sponsor. We further identify financial sponsor-owned companies as "FS-4", "FS-5", "FS8-6", or "FS-6 (minus)" (see
section H.2).

1. Assessing financial policy

First, we determine if a company is owned by a financial sponsor. Given the intrinsic characteristics and aggressive
nature of financial sponsor's strategies (i.e, short- to intermediate-term holding periods and the use of debt or debt-like
instruments to maximize shareholder returns), we assign a financial risk profile assessment to a firm controlled by a
financial sponsor that reflects the likely impact on leverage due to these strategies and we do not separately analyze
management's financial discipline or financial policy framework.

If a company is not controlled by a financial sponsor, we evaluate management's financial discipline and financial
policy framework. Management's financial discipline measures its tolerance for incremental financial risk or,

WWW.STANDARDANDPOORS.COM/RATINGSDIRECT ' NOVEMEBER 19, 2013 43
’ 1218804 | 300005049




161.

—
jet
=

183

Exhibit KWB-6
Page 44 of 101

Criteria | Corporates | General: Corporate Methodology

conversely, its willingness to maintain the same degree of financial risk or to lower it compared with recent cash
flow/leverage metrics and our projected ratios for the next two years. The company's financial policy framework
assesses the comprehensiveness, transparency, and sustainability of the entity's financial policies. We do not assess

these factors for financial sponsor controlled firms.

. The financial discipline assessments can have a positive or negative influence on an enterprise's overall financial policy .

assessment, or can have no net effect. Conversely, the financial policy framework assessment cannot positively
influence the overall financial policy assessment. It can constrain the overall financial policy assessment to no greater

than neutral.

The separate assessments of a company's financial policy framework and financial discipline determine the financial

policy adjustment.

. We assess management's financial diséipline as 1, positive; 2, neutral; or 3, negative. We determine the assessment by

evaluating the predictability of an entity's expansion plans and shareholder return strategies. We take into account,
generally, management's tolerance for material and unexpected negative changes in credit ratios or, instead, its plans
to rapidly decrease leverage and keep credit ratios within stated boundaries.

A company's financial policy framework assessment is: 1, supportive or 2, non-supportive. We make the determination
by assessing the comprehensiveness of a company's financial policy framework and whether financial targets are
clearly communicated to a large number of stakeholders, and are well defined, achievable, and sustainable.

Table 23

Assessment

Financial Policy Assessments

What it means

Guidance

Positive

Indicates that we expect management's financial policy decisions to have a
positive impact on credit ratios over the time horizon, beyond what can be
reasonably built in our forecasts on the basis of normalized operating and
cash flow assumptions. An example would be when a credible management
team commits to dispose of assets or raise equity over the short to medium
term in order to reduce leverage. A company with a 1 financial risk profile
will not be assigned a positive assessment.

If financial discipline is positive, and the
financial policy framework is supportive

Neutral

Indicates that, in our opinion, future credit ratios won't differ materially over
the time horizon beyond what we have projected, based on our assessment
of management’s financial policy, recent track record, and operating
forecasts for the company. A neutral financial policy assessment effectively
reflects a low probability of “event risk,” in our view.

if financial discipline is positive, and the
financial policy framework is
non-supportive. Or when financial discipline
is neutral, regardless of the financial policy
framework assessment.

Negative

Indicates our view of a lower degree of predictability in credit ratios, beyond
what can be reasonably built in our forecasts, as a result of management’s
financial discipline (or lack of it). It points to high event risk that
management's financial policy decisions may depress credit metrics over the
time horizon, compared with what we have already built in our forecasts
based on normalized operating and cash flow assumptions.

If financial discipline is negative, regardless
of the financial policy framework
assessment

Financial Sponsor*

We define a financial sponsor as an entity that follows an aggressive financiat
strategy in using debt and debt-like instruments to maximize shareholder
returns, Typically, these sponsors dispose of assets within a short to
intermediate time frame. Accordingly, the financial risk profile we assign to
companies that are controlled by financial sponsors ordinarily reflects our
presumption of some deterioration in credit quality in the medium term.
Financial sponsors include private equity firms, but not infrastructure and
asset-management funds, which maintain longer investment horizons.

We define financial sponsor-owned
companies as comnpanies that are owned
40% or more by a financial sponsor or a
group of three or less financial sponsors and
where we consider that the sponsor(s)
exercise control of the company salely or
together.

*Assessed as FS4, FS-5, FS-6, or FS-6 (minus).
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2. Financial sponsor-controlled companies

. We define a financial sponsor as an entity that follows an aggressive financial strategy in using debt and debt-like

instruments to maximize shareholder returns. Typically, these sponsors dispose of assets within a
short-to-intermediate time frame. Financial sponsors include private equity firms, but not infrastructure and
asset-management funds, which maintain longer investment horizons.

We define financial sponsor-owned companies as companies that are owned 40% or more by a financial sponsor or a
group of three or less financial sponsors and where we consider that the sponsor(s) exercise control of the company

solely or together.

. We differentiate between financial sponsors and other types of controlling shareholders and companies that do not

have controlling shareholders based on our belief that short-term ownership--such as exists in private equity
sponsor-owned companies--generally entails financial policies aimed at achieving rapid returns for shareholders
typically through aggressive debt leverage.

Financial sponsors often dictate policies regarding risk-taking, financial management, and corporate governance for
the companies that they control. There is a common pattern of these investors extracting cash in ways that increase
the companies' financial risk by utilizing debt or debt like instruments. Accordingly, the financial risk profile we assign
to companies that are controlled by financial sponsors ordinarily reflect our presumption of some deterioration in
credit quality or steadily high leverage in the medium term.

We assess the influence of financial sponsor ownership as "FS-4", "FS-5", "FS$-6", and "FS-6 (minus)"” depending on how
aggressive we assume the sponsor will be and assign a financial risk profile accordingly (see table 24).

Generally, financial sponsor-owned issuers will receive an assessment of "FS-6" or "FS-6 (minus)", leading to a financial
risk profile assessment of '6', under the criteria. A "FS-6" assessment indicates that, in our opinion, forecasted credit
ratios in the medium term are likely be to be consistent with a '6' financial risk profile, based on our assessment of the
financial sponsor's financial policy and track record. A "FS-6 (minus)" will likely be applied to companies that we
forecast to have near-term credit ratios consistent with a '6' financial risk profile, but we believe the financial sponsor
to be very aggressive and that leverage could increase materially even further from our forecasted levels.

. In a small minority of cases, a financial sponsor-owned entity could receive an assessment of "FS-5". This assessment

will apply only when we project that the company's leverage will be consistent with a ’5" (aggressive) financial risk
profile (see tables 17, 18, and 19), we perceive that the risk of releveraging is low based on the company's financial
policy and our view of the owner's financial risk appetite, and liquidity is at least adequate.

In even rarer cases, we could assess the financial policy of a financial sponsor-owned entity as "FS-4". This assessment
will apply only when all of the following conditions are met: other shareholders own a material (generally, at least 20%)
stake, we expect the sponsor to relinquish control over the intermediate term, we project that leverage is currently
consistent with a '4' (significant) financial risk profile (see tables 17, 18, and 19), the company has said it will maintain
leverage at or below this level, and liquidity is at least adequate.
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3. Companies not controlled by a financial sponsor

172. For companies not controlled by a financial sponsor we evaluate management's financial discipline and financial policy
framework to determine the influence on an entity’s financial risk profile beyond what is implied by recent credit ratios
and our cash flow and leverage forecasts. This influence can be positive, neutral, or negative.

173. We do not distinguish between management and a controlling shareholder that is not a financial sponsor when
assessing these subfactors, as the controlling shareholder usually has the final say on financial policy.
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a) Financial discipline ,

The financial discipline assessment is based on management's leverage tolerance and the likelihood of event risk. The
criteria evaluate management's potential appetite to incur unforeseen, higher financial risk over a prolonged period
and the associated impact on credit measures. We also assess management's capacity and commitment to rapidly
decrease debt leverage to levels consistent with its credit ratio targets.

74, This assessment therefore seeks to determine whether unforeseen actions by management to increase, maintain, or

reduce financial risk are likely to occur during the next two to three years, with either a negative or positive effect, or

none at all, on our baseline forecasts for the period.

This assessment is based on the leverage tolerance of a company's management, as reflected in its plans or history of
acquisitions, shareholder remuneration, and organic growth strategies (see Appendix E, paragraphs 258 to 263).

. We assess financial discipline as positive, neutral, or negative, based on its potential impact on our forward-looking

assessment of a firm's cash flow/leverage, as detailed in table 25. For example, a neutral assessment for leverage
tolerance reflects our expectation that management's financial policy will unlikely lead to significant deviation from
current and forecasted credit ratios. A negative assessment acknowledges a significant degree of event risk of
increased leverage relative to our base-case forecast, resulting from the company's acquisition policy, its shareholder
remuneration policy, or its organic growth strategy. A positive assessment indicates that the company is likely to take
actions to reduce leverage, but we cannot confidently incorporate these actions into our baseline forward-looking

assessment of cash flow/leverage.

A positive assessment indicates that management is committed and has the capacity to reduce debt leverage through
the rapid implementation of credit enhancing measures, such as asset disposals, rights issues, or reductions in
shareholder returns. In addition, management's track record over the past five years shows that it has taken actions to
rapidly reduce unforeseen increases in debt leverage and that there have not been any prolonged periods when credit
ratios were weaker than our expectations for the rating. Management, even if new, also has a track record of successful
execution. Conversely, a negative assessment indicates management's financial policy allows for significant increase in
leverage compared with both current levels and our forward-looking forecast under normal operating/financial
conditions or does not have observable time limits or stated boundaries. Management has a track record of allowing
for significant and prolonged peaks in leverage and there is no commitment or track record of management using
mitigating measures to rapidly return to credit ratios consistent with our expectations.

. As evidence of management's leverage tolerance, we evaluate its track record and plans regarding acquisitions,

shareholder remuneration, and organic growth strategies (see Appendix E, paragraphs 258 to 263). Acquisitions could
increase the risk that leverage will be higher than our base-case forecast if we view management's strategy as
opportunistic or if its financial policy (if it exists) provides significant headroom for debt-financed acquisitions.
Shareholder remuneration could also increase the risk of leverage being higher than our base-case forecast if
management's shareholder reward policies are not particularly well defined or have na clear limits, management has a
tolerance for shareholder returns exceeding operating cash flow, or has a track record of sustained cash returns despite
weakening operating performance or credit ratios. Organic growth strategies can also result in leverage higher than our
base-case forecast if these plans have no clear focus or investment philosophy, capital spending is fairly unpredictable,
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or there is a track record of overspending or unexpected or rapid shifts in plans for new markets or products.

We also take into account management's track record and level of commitment to its stated financial policies, to the
extent a company has a stated policy. Historical evidence and any deviations from stated policies are key elements in
analyzing a company's leverage tolerance. Where material and unexpected deviation in leverage may occur (for
example, on the back of operating weakness or acquisitions), we also assess management's plan to restore credit ratios
to levels consistent with previous expectations through rapid and proactive non-organic measures. Management's
track record to execute its deleveraging plan, its level of commitment, and the scope and timeframe of debt mitigating
measures will be key differentiators in assessing a company's financial policy discipline.

Table 25

Assessing Financial Discipline ’

Descriptor What it means Guidance

Positive Management is likely to take Management is committed and has capacity to reduce debt leverage and increase financial
actions that result in leverage that headroom through the rapid implementation of credit enhancing measures, in line with its
is lower than our base-case stated financial policy, if any. This relates primarily to management's careful and moderate
forecast, but can’t be confidently  policy with regard to acquisitions and shareholder remuneration as well as to its organic growth
included in our base-case strategy. The assessments are supported by historical evidence over the past five years of not
assumptions. Event risk is low. showing any prolonged weakening in the company's credit ratios, or relative to our base-case

credit metrics' assumptions. Management, even if new, has a track record of successful
execution.

Neutral Leverage is not expected to Management’s financial discipline with regard to acquisitions, shareholder remuneration, as
deviate materially from our well as its organic growth strategy does not result in significantly different leverage as defined
base-case forecast. Event risk is in its stated financial policy framework.
moderate,

Negative Leverage could become Management's financial policy framework does not explicitly rule out a significant increase in
materially higher than our leverage compared to our base-case assumptions, possibly reflecting a greater event risk with
base-case forecast. Eventriskis  regard to its M&A and shareholder remuneration policy as well as to its organic growth
high. . strategy. These points are supported by historical evidence over the past five years of allowing

for significant and prolonged peaks in leverage, which remained unmitigated by credit
supporting measures by management.

b) Financial policy framework

. The company's financial policy framework assesses the comprehensiveness, transparency, and sustainability of the

entity's financial policies (see Appendix E, paragraphs 264-268). This will help determine whether there is a
satisfactory degree of visibility into the issuer's future financial risk profile. Companies that have developed and
sustained a comprehensive set of financial policies are more likely to build long-term, sustainable credit quality than
those that do not.

2. We will assess a company's financial policy framework as supportive or non-supportive based on evidence that

supports the characteristics listed below. In order for an entity to receive a supportive assessment for financial policy
framework, there must be sufficient evidence of management's financial policies to back that assessment.

A company assessed as supportive will generally exhibit the following characterisﬁcs:

» Management has a comprehensive set of financial policies covering key areas of financial risk, including debt
leverage and liability management. Financial targets are well defined and quantifiable.

¢ Management's financial policies are clearly articulated in public forums (such as public listing disclosures and
investor presentations) or are disclosed to a limited number of key stakeholders such as main creditors or to the
credit rating agencies. The company's adherence to these policies is satisfactory.
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e Management's articulated financial policies are considered achievable and sustainable. This assessment takes into
consideration historical adherence to articulated policies, existing financial risk profile, capacity to sustain capital
structure through nonorganic means, demands of key stakeholders, and the stability of financial policy parameters
over time.

A company receives a non-supportive assessment if it does not meet all the conditions for a supportive assessment,
We expect a non-supportive assessment to be uncommon,

I. Liquidity

Our assessment of liquidity focuses on monetary flows--the sources and uses of cash—that are the key indicators of a
company's liquidity cushion. The analysis assesses the potential for a company to breach covenant tests related to
declines in EBITDA, as well as its ability to absorb high-impact, low-probability events, the nature of the company's
bank relationships, its standing in credit markets, and how prudent (or not) we believe its financial risk management to
be (see "Methodology And Assumptions: Liquidity Descriptors For Global Corporate Issuers," published Nov. 19,
2013).

J. Management And Governance

. The analysis of management and governance addresses how management's strategic competence, organizational

effectiveness, risk management, and governance practices shape the issuer's competitiveness in the marketplace, the
strength of its financial risk management, and the robustness of its governance. Stronger management of important
strategic and financial risks may enhance creditworthiness (see "Methodology: Management And Governance Credit
Factors For Corporate Entities And Insurers," published Nov. 13, 2012).

K. Comparable Ratings Analysis

7. The comparable ratings analysis is our last step in determining a SACP on a company. This analysis can lead us to

raise or lower our anchor, after adjusting for the modifiers, on a company by one notch based on our overall
assessment of its credit characteristics for all subfactors considered in arriving at the SACP. This involves taking a
holistic review of a company's stand-alone credit risk profile, in which we evaluate an issuer's credit characteristics in
aggregate. A positive assessment leads to a one-notch upgrade, a negative assessment leads to a one-notch
downgrade, and a neutral assessment indicates no change to the anchor.

The application of comparable ratings analysis reflects the need to "fine-tune" ratings outcomes, even after the use of
each of the other modifiers. A positive or negative assessment is therefore likely to be common rather than

exceptional,

We consider our assessments of each of the underlying subfactors to be points within a possible range. Consequently,
each of these assessments that ultimately generate the SACP can be at the upper or lower end, or at the'mid-point, of

such a range:
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A company receives a positive assessment if we believe, in aggregate, its relative ranking across the subfactors
typically to be at the higher end of the range;

A company receives a negative assessment if we believe, in aggregate, its relative ranking across the subfactors
typically to be at the lower end of the range;

A company receives a neutral assessment if we believe, in aggregate, its relative ranking across the subfactors
typically to be in line with the middle of the range.

190. The most direct application of the comparable ratings analysis is in the following circumstances:

191.

19z

Business risk assessment. If we expect a company to sustain a position at the higher or lower end of the ranges for
the business risk category assessment, the company could receive a positive or negative assessment, respectively.
Financial risk assessment and financial metrics. If a company's actual and forecasted metrics are just above (or just
below) the financial risk profile range, as indicated in its cash flow/leverage assessment, we could assign a positive
or negative assessment.

We also consider additional factors not already covered, or existing factors not fully captured, in arriving at the SACP.
Such factors will generally reflect less frequently observed credit characteristics, may be unique, or may reflect
unpredictability or uncertain risk attributes, both positive and negative.

Some examples that we typically expect could lead to a positive or negative assessment using comparable ratings

analysis include:

Short operating track record. For newly formed companies or companies that have experienced transformational
events, such as a significant acquisition, a lack of an established track record of operating and financial performance
could lead to a negative assessment until such a track record is established,

Entities in transition. A company in the midst of changes that we anticipate will strengthen or weaken its
creditworthiness and that are not already fully captured elsewhere in the criteria could receive a positive or negative
assessment. Such a transition could occur following major divestitures or acquisitions, or during a significant
overhaul of its strategy, business, or financial structure.

Industry or macroeconomic trends. When industry or macroeconomic trends indicate a strengthening or weakening
of the company's financial condition that is not already fully captured elsewhere in the criteria, the company could
receive a positive or negative assessment, respectively.

Unusual funding structures. A company with exceptional financial resources that the criteria do not capture in the
traditional ratio or liquidity analysis, or in capital structure analysis, could receive a positive assessment.

Contingent risk exposures. How well (or not) a company identifies, manages, and reserves for contingent risk
exposures that can arise if guarantees are called, derivative contract break clauses are activated, or substantial
lawsuits are lost could lead to a negative assessment.

SUPERSEDED CRITERIA FOR ISSUERS WITHIN THE SCOPE OF THESE
CRITERIA

Companies Owned By Financial Sponsors: Rating Methodology, March 21, 2013
Methodology: Business Risk/Financial Risk Matrix Expanded, Sept. 18, 2012

How Stock Prices Can Affect An Issuer's Credit Rating, Sept. 26, 2008

2008 Corporate Criteria: Analytical Methodology, April 15, 2008

Credit FAQ: Knowing The Investors In A Company's Debt And Equity, April 4, 2006

WWW.STANDARDANDPOORS.COM/KATINGSDIRECT NOVEMBER 19, 2013 50

1218904 { 200005049



RELATED CRITERIA

o Methodology: Industry Risk, Nov. 19, 2013

Exhibit KWB-6
Page 51 of 101

Criteria | Corporates | General: Corporate Methodology

¢ Corporate Criteria: Ratios And Adjustments, Nov. 19, 2013

» Country Risk Assessment Methodology And Assumptions, Nov. 19, 2013

¢ Ratings Above The Sovereign—-Corporate And Government Ratings: Methodology And Assumptions, Nov. 19, 2013
¢ Methodology And Assumptions; Liquidity Descriptors For Global Corporate Issuers, Nov. 19, 2013
¢ Methodology: Management And Governance Credit Factors For Corporate Entities And Insurers, Nov. 13, 2012

o Criteria For Assigning 'CCC+', 'CCC', 'CCC-', And 'CC' Ratings, Oct. 1, 2012
¢ Principles Of Credit Ratings, published Feb. 16, 2011

¢ Stand-Alone Credit Profiles: One Component Of A Rating, Oct. 1, 2010
o (Criteria Guidelines For Recovery Ratings On Global Industrial Issuers’ Speculative-Grade Debt, Aug. 10, 2009
o 2008 Corporate Criteria: Rating Each Issue, April 15, 2008

APPENDIXES

A. Country Risk

Table 26
CmmtryAnd Regibn’al Risk - '

Region

Western Europe

Southern Europe

Western + Southern Europe

East Europe

Central Europe

Eastern Europe and Central Asia

Middle East

Africa

North America

Central America

Latin America

The Caribbean

Asia-Pacific

Central Asia

East Asia

Australia NZ

Counfry Region

GDP weighting (%)

South Africa Africa

30.2

Egypt Africa

28.0

Nigeria Africa

23.5

8.9

Morocco Africa
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Table 26
Country And Regional Risk (

Tunisia ica ' 5.4

Senegal Africa 14
Mozambique Africa 14
Zambia Africa 12
Indonesia Asia-Pacific 27.1
Taiwan Asta-Pacific 20.1
Thailand Asia-Pacific 144
Malaysia Asia-Pacific 11.0
Philippines Asia-Pacific 9.5
Viemam Asia-Pacific 7.1
Bangladesh Asia-Pacific . 6.8
Sri Lanka Asia-Pacific 2.8
Laos Asia-Pacific 04
Papua New Guinea Asia-Pacific 0.4
Mongolia Asia-Pacific 0.3
Australia Australia NZ 88.2
New Zealand Australia NZ 11.8
Guatemala Central America 40.5
Costa Rica Central America 302
Panama Central America 29.3
India Central Asia 86.5
Pakistan Central Asia 9.3
Kazakhstan Central Asia 4.2
Poland Central Europe 46.3
Czech Republic Central Europe 16.6
Hungary Central Europe 11.3
Slovakia Central Europe 7.7
Bulgaria Central Europe 6.0
Croatia Central Europe 46
Lithuania Central Europe 3.8
Latvia Central Europe 21
Estonia Central Europe 16
China East Asia 64.5
Japan East Asia 236
Korea East Asia 84
Hong Kong East Asia 1.9
Singapore East Asia 1.7
Greece East Europe 77.5
Slovenia East Europe 16.0
Cyprus East Europe 6.5
Russia Eastern Europe and Central Asia 804
Ukraine Eastern Europe and Central Asia 10.8
WWW.STANDARDANDPOORS.COM/RATINGSDIRECT NOVEMBER 19, 2013 52

1218804 | 300003049



Table 26

Country And Regional Risk (cont.) DR
Eastern Europe and Central Asia 48

Exhibit KWB-6
Page 53 0£ 101

Criteria | Corporates | General: Corporate Metbodology

Belarus

Azerbaijan Eastern Europe and Central Asia 3.2
Georgia Eastern Europe and Central Asia - 0.9
Brazil Latin America 35.3
Mexico Latin America 26.3
Argentina Latin America 111
Colombia Latin America 75
Venezuela Latin America 6.0
Peru Latin America 49
Chile Latin America 48
Ecuador Latin America 2.0
Uruguay Latin America 0.8
El Salvador Latin America 0.7
Paraguay Latin America 0.6
Belize Latin America 0.0
Turkey Middle East 42.8
Saudi Arabia Middle East 28.2
Israel Middle East 9.4
Qatar Middlg East 7.2
Kuwait Middle East 63
Oman Middle East 34
Jordan Middle East 1.5
Bahrain Middle Eaét 1.2
United States North America 915
Canada North America 8.5
Italy Southern Europe 52.6
Spain Southern Europe 404
Portugal Southern Europe 7.0
Dominican Republic The Caribbean 754
Jarmaica The Caribbean 19.2
Barbados The Caribbean 54
Germany Western Europe 28.7
United Kingdom Western Europe 21.3
France Western Europe 20.7
Netherlands Western Europe 6.5
Belgium Western Europe 39
Sweden Western Europe 3.6
Switzerland Western Europe 3.3
Austria Western Europe 3.3
Norway Western Europe 2.6
Denmark ‘Western Europe 1.9
Finland Western Europe 1.8
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1.8

‘Western Europe
Luxembourg ‘Western Europe 0.4
Iceland Western Europe 0.1
Malta Western Europe 0.1

B. Competitive Position

Table 27

Lis{ of indﬁ?trie_s, Subsectors, And Standard Cémpetitive Position Group Profiles

Competitive position group
Industry Subsector profile
Transportation cyclical Aidines Capital or asset focus
Marine Capital or asset focus
Trucking Capital or asset focus
Auto OEM Automobile and truck manufacturers Capital or asset focus
Metals and mining downstream Aluminum Commodity focus/cost driven
Steel Commodity focus/cost driven
Metals and mining upstream Coal and consumable fuels Commodity focus/cost driven

Diversified metals and mining Commodity focus/cost driven
Gold Commodity focus/cost driven
Precious metals and minerals Commodity focus/cost driven

Homebuilders and developers

Homebuilding

Capital or asset focus

Oil and gas refining and marketing

Oil and gas refining and marketing

Commodity focus/scale driven

Forest and paper products Forest products Commodity focus/ cost driven
Paper products Commodity focus/cost driven

Building Materials Construction materials Capital or asset focus

Oil and gas integrated, exploration and production  Integrated oil and gas Commodity focus/scale driven
Oil and gas exploration and production Commodity focus/scale driven

Agribusiness and commodity foods Agricultural products Commodity focus/scale driven
Real estate investment trusts (REITs) Diversified REITs Real-estate specific*
Health care REITS Real-estate specific*
Industrial REITs Real-estate specific*
Office REITs Real-estate specific*
Residential REITs Real-estate specific*
Retail REITs Real-estate specific*
Specialized REITs Not appplicable**
Self-storage REITs Real-estate specific*
Net lease REITs Real-estate specific*

Real estate operating companies

Real-estate specific*

Leisure and sports

Casinos and gaming

Services and product focus

Hotels, resorts, and cruise lines

Services and product focus
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Table 27
List Of Industries, Subsectors,

And Standard Competitive Position Group Profiles (cont) .

Services and produ focus

Leisure facilities

Commodity chemicals Commodity chemicals Commodity focus/ cost driven
Diversified chemicals Commodity focus/cost driven
Fertilizers and agricultural chemicals Commodity focus/cost driven

Auto suppliers Auto parts and equipment Capital or asset focus

' Tires and rubber Capital or asset focus

Vehicle-related suppliers Capital or asset focus

Aerospace and defense Aerospace and defense Services and product focus

Technology hardware and semiconductors Communications equipment Capital or asset focus
Computer hardware Capital or asset focus
Computer storage and peripherals Capital or asset focus

Consumer electronics Capital or asset focus
Electronic equipment and instruments Capital or asset focus
Electronic components Capital or asset focus
Electronic manufacturing services Capital or asset focus

Technology distributors Capital or asset focus
Office electronics Capital or asset focus
Semiconductor equipment Capital or asset focus
Semiconductors Capital or asset focus
Specialty Chemicals Industrial gases Capital or asset focus
Specialty chemicals Capital or asset focus
Capital Goods Electrical components and equipment Capital or asset focus
Heavy equipment and machinery Capital or asset focus

Industrial componentry and consumables

Capital or asset focus

Construction equipment rental

Capital or asset focus

Industrial distributors

Services and product focus

Engineering and construction

Construction and engineering

Services and product focus

Railroads and package express Railroads Capital or asset focus
Package express Services and product focus
Logistics Services and product focus

Business and consumer services Consumer services Services and product focus
Distributors Services and product focus

Facilities services

Services and product focus

General support services

Services and product focus

Professional services

Services and product focus

Midstream energy

Oil and gas storage and transportation

Commodity focus/scale driven

Technology software and services

Internet software and services

Services and product focus

IT consulting and other services

Services and product focus

Data processing and outsourced services

Services and product focus

Application software

Services and product focus

Systems software

Services and product focus

Consumer software

Services and product focus
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Table 27
List Of In

ustries, Subs

c"‘t,c;fs;And Standard Coih"gétiﬁveV?ositiori"Group Froﬁles feont)

oer durables Home furnishings Services and product focus
Household appliances Services and product focus
Housewares and specialties Services and product focus
Leisure products Services and product focus
Photographic products Setvices and product focus
Small appliances Services and product focus

Containers and packaging Metal and glass containers Capital or asset focus
Paper packaging Capital or asset focus

Media and entertainment

Ad agencies and marketing services companies

Services and product focus

Ad-supported internet content platforms

Services and product focus

Broadcast TV networks Services and product focus
Cable TV networks Services and product focus
Consumer and trade magazines Services and product focus
Data/professional publishing Services and product focus
Directories Services and product focus

E-Commerce (services)

Services and product focus

Educational publishing

Services and product focus

Film and TV programming production

Capital or asset focus

Miscellaneous media and entertainment

Services and product focus

Motion picture exhibitors Services and product focus
Music publishing Services and product focus
Music recording Services and product focus
Newspapers Services and product focus
Outdoor advertising Services and product focus
Printing Commodity focus/scale driven
Radio broadcasters Services and product focus
Trade shows Services and product focus
TV stations Services and product focus

Qil and gas drilling, equipment and services Onshore contract drilling Commodity focus/scale driven
Offshore contract drilling Capital or Asset Focus
Oil and gas equipment and services (oilfield Commodity focus/scale driven

services)

Retail and restaurants Catalog retail Services and product focus
Internet retail Services and product focus
Department stores Services and product focus
General merchandise stores Services and product focus
Apparel retail Services and product focus

Computer and electronics retail

Services and product focus

Home improvement retail

Services and product focus

Specialty stores Services and product focus
Automotive retail Services and product focus
Home furnishing retail Services and product focus
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5, Subsectors, And Standard Com;:igytiﬁﬁéf Eqs‘iti‘on’ Group Profiles (cont.) =~

Health care services

Commodity fo/scale driven

Transportation infrastructure Airport services National industries and utilities
Highways National industries and utilities
Railtracks National industries and utilities
Marine ports and services National industries and utilities
Environmental services Environmental and facilities services Services and product focus
Regulated utilities Electric utilities National industries and utilities
Gas utilities National industries and utilities
Multi-utilities National industries and utilities
Water utilities National industries and utilities
Unregulated power and gas Independent power producers and energy traders  Capital or asset focus
Merchant power Capital or asset focus
Pharmaceuticals Branded pharmaceuticals Services and product focus
Generic pharmaceuticals Commodity focus/scale driven
Health care equipment Righ-tech health care equipment Product focus/scale driven
Low-tech health care equipment Commodity focus/scale driven
Branded nondurables Brewers Services and product focus
Distillers and vintners Services and product focus
Soft drinks Services and product focus
Packaged foods and meats Services and product focus
Tobacco Services and product focus
Household products Services and product focus
Apparel, footwear, accessories, and luxury goods Services and product focus
Personal products Services and product focus
Telecommunications and cable Cable and satellite Services and product focus
Alternative carriers Services and product focus

Integrated telecommunication services

Services and product focus

Wireless towers

Capital or asset focus

Data center operators

Capital or asset focus

Fiber-optic carriers

Capital or asset focus

Wireless telecommunication services

Services and product focus

*See "Key Credit Factors For The Real Estate Industry," published Nov. 19, 2013, **For specialized REITs, there is no standard CPGB as the
CPGP will vary based on the underlying industry exposure (e.g. a forest and paper products REIT).

1. Analyzing subfactors for competitive advantage

. Competitive advantage is the first component of our competitive position analysis. Companies that possess a

sustainable competitive advantage are able to capitalize on key industry factors or mitigate associated risks more
effectively. When a company operates in more than one business, we analyze each segment separately to form an
overall view of its competitive advantage. In assessing competitive advantage, we evaluate the following subfactors:

¢ Strategy;

¢ Differentiation/uniqueness, product positioning/bundling;
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o Brand reputation and marketing;

Product/service quality;

Barriers to entry, switching costs;

Technological advantage and capabilities, technological displacement; and
Asset profile.

a) Strategy o
A company's business strategy will enhance or undermine its market entrenchment and business stability. Compelling

business strategies can create a durable competitive advantage and thus a relatively stronger competitive position. We
form an opinion as to the source and sustainability (if any) of the company's competitive advantage relative to its
peers'. The company may have a differentiation advantage (i.e., brand, technology, regulatory) or a cost advantage
(i.e., lower cost producer/servicer at the same quality level), or a combination.

Our assessment of a company’s strategy is informed by a company's historical performance and how realistic we view
its forward-looking business objectives to be. These may include targets for market shares, the percentage of revenues
derived from new products, price versus the competition's, sales or profit growth, and required investment levels. We
evaluate these objectives in the context of industry dynamics and the attractiveness of the markets in which the

company participates.

b) Differentiation/uniqueness, product positioning/bundling

The attributes of product or service differentiation vary by sector, and may include product or services features,
performance, durability, reliability, delivery, and comprehensiveness, among other measures. The intensity of
competition may be lower where buyers perceive the product or service to be highly differentiated or to have few
substitutes. Conversely, products and services that lack differentiation, or offer little value-added in the eyes of
customers, are generally commodity-type products that primarily compete on price, Competition intensity will often
be highest whpre limited or moderate investment (R&D, capital expenditures, or advertising) or low employee skill
levels (for service businesses) are required to compete. Independent market surveys, media commentaries, market
share trends, and evidence of leading or lagging when it comes to raising or lowering prices can indicate varying

degrees of product differentiation.

Product positioning influences how companies are able to extend or protect market shares by offering popular
products or services. A company's abilities to replace aging products with new ones, or to launch product extensions,
are important elements of product positioning. In addition, the ability to sell multiple products or services to the same
customer, known as bundling or cross-selling, (for instance, offering an aftermarket servicing contract together with the
sale of a new appliance) can create a competitive advantage by increasing customers' switching costs and fostering

loyalty.

¢) Brand reputation and marketing
Brand equity measures the price premium a company receives based on its brand relative to the generic equivalent.

High brand equity typically translatesinto customer loyalty, built partially via marketing campaigns. One measure of
advertising effectiveness can be revenue growth compared with the increase in advertising expenses.

We also analyze re-investment and advertising strategies to anticipate potential strengthening or weakening of a
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company's brand. A company's track record of boosting market share and delivering attractive margins could indicate
its ability to build and maintain brand reputation.

d) Product/service level quality

The strength and consistency of a value proposition is an important factor contributing to a sustainable competitive
advantage. Value proposition encompasses the key features of a product or a service that convince customers that
their purchase has the right balance between price and quality, Customers generally perceive a product or a service to
be good if their expectations are consistently met. Quality, both actual and perceived, can help a company attract and
retain customers. Conversely, poor product and service quality may lead to product recalls, higher-than-normal
product warnings, or service interruptions, which may reduce demand. Measures of customer satisfaction and
retention, such as attrition rates and contract renewal rates, can help trace trends in product/service quality.

Maintaining the value proposition requires consistency and adaptability around product design, marketing, and
quality-related operating controls, This is pertinent where product differentiation matters, as is the case in most
noncommodity industries, and especially so where environmental or human health (concerns for the chemical, food,
and pharmaceutical industries) adds a liability dimension to the quality and value proposition. Similarly, regulated
utilities (which often do not set their own prices) typically focus on delivering uninterrupted service, often to meet the
standards set by their regulator.

e) Barriers to entry, switching costs ‘
Barriers to entry can reduce or eliminate the threat of new market entrants, Where they are effective, these barriers

can lead to more predictable revenues and profits, by limiting pricing pressures and customer losses, lowering
marketing costs, and improving operating efficiency. While barriers to entry may enable premium pricing, a dominant
player may rationally choose pricing restraint to further discourage new entrants.

Barriers to entry can be one or more of: a natural or regulatory monopoly; supportive regulation; high transportation
costs; an embedded customer base that would incur high switching costs; a proprietary product or service; capital or

technological intensiveness.

. A natural monopoly may result from unusually high requirements for capital and operating expenditures that make it

uneconomic for a market to support more than a single, dominant provider. The ultimate barrier to entry is found
among regulated utilities, which provide an essential service in their ‘de juris' monopolies and receive a guaranteed
rate of return on their investments. A supportive regulatory regime can include rules and regulations with high hurdles
that discourage competitors, or mandate so many obligations for a new entrant as to make market entry financially

unviable.

In certain industyial sectors, proprietary access to a limited supply of key raw materials or skilled labor, or zoning laws
that effectively preclude a new entrant, can provide a strong barrier to entry. Factors such as relationships, long-term
contracts or maintenance agreements, or exclusive distribution agreements can result in a high degree of customer
stickiness. A proprietary product or service that's protected by a copyright or patent can pose a significant hurdle to
new competitors.
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f) Technological advantage and capabilities, technological displacement )

. A company may benefit from a proprietary technology that enables it to offer either a superior product or a
commodity-type product at a materially lower cost. Proven research and development (R&D) capabilities can deliver a
differentiated, superior product or service, as in the pharmaceutical or high tech sectors. However, optimal R&D
strategies or the importance or effectiveness of patent protection differ by industry, stage of product development, and

product lifecycle.

Technological displacement can be a threat in many industries; new technologies or extensions of current ones can
effectively displace a significant portion of a company's products or services,

g) Asset profile

208. A company's asset profile is a reflection of its reinvestment, which creates tangible or intangible assets, or both.

210.

21%.

Companies in similar sectors and industries usually have similar reinvestment options and, thus, their asset profiles
tend to be comparable. The reinvestment in "heavy" industries, such as oil and gas, metals and mining, and
automotive, tends to produce more tangible assets, whereas the reinvestment in certain "light" industries, such as
services, media and entertainment, and retail, tends to produce more intangible assets.

. We evaluate how a company’s asset profile supports or undermines its competitive advantage by reviewing its
manufacturing or service creation capabilities and investment requirements, its distribution capabilities, and its track
record and commitment to reinvesting in its asset base, This may include a review of the company’s ability to attract
and retain a talented workforce; its degree of vertical integration and how that may help or hinder its ability to secure
supply sources, control the value-added part of its production chain, or adjust to technological developments; or its
ability develop a broad and strong distribution network.

2. Analyzing subfactors for scale, scope, and diversity
In assessing the relative strength of this component, we evaluate four subfactors:

¢ Diversity of product or service range;

¢ Geographic diversity;

e Volumes, size of markets and revenues, and market shares; and
e Maturity of products or services.

. In a given industry, entities with a broader mix of business activities are typically lower risk, and entities with a
narrower mix are higher risk. High concentration of business volumes by product, customer, or geography, or a
concentration in the production footprint or supplier base, can lead to less stable and predictable revenues and profits.
Comparatively broader diversity helps a company withstand economic, competitive, or technological threats better

than its peers.

There is no minimum size criterion, although size often provides a measure of diversification. Size and scope of
operations is important relative to those of industry peers, though not in absolute terms. While relatively smaller
companies can enjoy a high degree of diversification, they will likely be, almost by definition, more concentrated in
terms of product, number of customers, or geography than their larger peers in the same industry. .

3. Successful and continuing diversification supports a stronger competitive position. Conversely, poor diversification
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weakens overall competitive pasition. For example, a company will weaken its overall business position if it enters
new product lines and countries where it has limited expertise and lacks critical mass to be a real competitor to the
incumbent market leaders. The weakness is greater when the new products or markets are riskier than the traditional

core business.

Where applicable, we also include under scale, scope, and diversity an assessment of the potential benefits derived
from unconsolidated (or partially consolidated) investments in strategic assets. The relative significance of such an
investment and whether it is in an industry that exhibits high or, conversely, low correlation with the issuer's
businesses would be considered in determining its potential benefits to scale, scope, and diversity. This excludes
nonstrategic, financial investments, the analysis of which does not fall under the competitive position criteria but,
instead, under the capital structure criteria.

a) Diversity of product or service range

5. The concentration of business volumes or revenues in a particular or comparatively small set of products or services

can lead to less stable revenues and profits, Even if this concentration is in an attractive product or service, it may be a
weakness. Likewise, the concentration of business volumes with a particular customer or a small group of customers,
or the reliance on one or a few suppliers, can expose the company to a potentially greater risk of losing and having to
replace related revenues and profits. On the other hand, successful diversification across products, customers, and/or
suppliers can lead to more stable and predictable revenues and profits, which supports a stronger assessment of scale,

scope, and diversity.

The relative contribution of different products or services to a company's revenues or profits helps us gauge its
diversity, We also evaluate the correlation of demand between product or services lines. High correlation in demand
between seemingly different product or service lines will accentuate volume declines during a weak part of the

business cycle.

In most sectors, the share of revenue a company receives from its largest five to 10 customers or counterparties
reveals how diversified its customer base is. However, other considerations such as the stability and credit quality of
that customer base, and the company's ability to retain significant customers, can be mitigating or accentuating factors
in our overall evaluation. Likewise, supplier dependency can often be measured based on a supplier's share of a
company’s operating or capital costs. However, other factors, such as the degree of interdependence between the
company and its supplier(s), the substitutability of key supply sources, and the company's presumed ability to secure
alternative supply without incurring substantial switching costs, are important considerations. Low switching costs (i.e.
limited impact on input price, quality, or delivery times as a result of having to adapt to a new supply chain partner)
can mitigate a high level of concentration.

b) Geographic diversity )
We assess geographic diversity both from the standpoint of the breadth of the company's served or addressable
markets, and from the standpoint of how geographically concentrated its facilities are.

The concentration of business volumes and revenues within a particular region can lead to greater exposure to
economic factors affecting demand for a company's goods or services in that region. Even if the company's volumes
and revenues are concentrated in an attractive region, it may still be vulnerable to a significant drop in demand for its
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goods and services. Conversely, a company that serves multiple regions may benefit from different demand conditions
in each, possibly resulting in greater revenue stability and more consistent profitability than a more focused peer's.
That said, we consider geographic diversification in the context of the industry and the size of the local or regional
economy. For instance, companies operating in local industries (such as food retailers) may benefit from a

well-entrenched local position.

Generally, though, geographically concentrated production or service operations can expose a company to the risk of
disruption, and damage revenues and profitability. Even when country risks don't appear significant, a company's
vulnerability to exogenous factors (for example, natural disasters, labor or political unrest) increases with geographic

concentration,

¢) Volumes, size of markets and revenues, market share

. Absolute sales or unit volumes and market share do not, by themselves, support a strong assessment of scale, scope,

and diversity. Yet superior market share is a positive, since it may indicate a broad range of operations, products, or

services.

.. We view volume stability (relative to peers') as a positive especially when: a company has demonstrated it during an

economic downturn; if it has been achieved without relying on greater price concessions than competitors have made;
and when it is likely to be sustained in the future. However, volume stability combined with shrinking market share
could be evidence of a company’s diminishing prospects for future profitability. We assess the predictability of business
volumes and the likely degree of future volume stability by analyzing the company's performance relative to peers' on
several industry factors: cyclicality; ability to adapt to technological and regulatory threats; the profile of the customer
base (stickiness); and the potential life cycle of the company's products or services.

. Depending on the industry sector, we measure a company's relative size and market share based on unit sales; the

absolute amount of revenues; and the percentage of revenues captured from total industry revenues, We also adjust
for industry and company specific qualitative considerations. For example, if an industry is particularly fragmented and
has a number of similarly sized participants, none may have a particular advantage or disadvantage with respect to

market share.

d) Maturity of products or services

The degree of maturity and the relative position on the lifecycle curve of the company's product or service portfolio
affect the stability and sustainability of its revenues and margins. It is important to identify the stage of development of
a company's products or services in order to measure the life cycle risks that may be associated with key products or

services.

5. Mature products or services (e.g. consumer products or broadcast programming) are not necessarily a negative, in our

view, if they still contribute reliable profits. If demand is declining for a company's product or service, we examine its
track record on introducing new products with staying power. Similarly, a company's track record with product
launches is particularly relevant.
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3. Analyzing subfactors for operating efficiency

6. In assessing the relative strength of this component, we consider four subfactors:

o Cost structure,

* Manufacturing processes,

¢ Working capital management, an
Technology. :

/. To the extent a company has high operating efficiency, it should be able to generate better profit margins than peers

that compete in the same markets, whatever the prevailing market conditions. The ability to minimize manufacturing
and other operational costs and thus maximize margins and cash flow--for example, through manufacturing
excellence, cost control, and diligent working capital management--will provide the funds for research and
development, marketing, and customer service.

a) Cost structure

28. Companies that are well positioned from a cost standpoint will typically enjoy higher capacity utilization and be more

profitable over the course of the business cycle. Cost structure and cost control are keys to generating strong profits
and cash flow, particularly for companies that produce commodities, operate in mature industries, or face pricing
pressures. It is important to consider whether a company or any of its competitors has a sustainable cost advantage,
which can be based on access to cheaper energy, favorable manufacturing locations, or lower and more flexible labor

costs, for example.

29. Where information is available, we examine a company's fixed versus variable cost mix as an indication of operating

leverage, a measure of how revenue growth translates into growth in operating income. A company with significant
operating leverage may witness dramatic declines in operating profit if unit volumes fall, as during cyclical downturns,
Conversely, in an upturn, once revenues pass the breakeven point, a substantial percentage of incremental revenues

typically becomes profit.

b) Manufacturing process

Capital intensity characterizes many heavy manufacturing sectors that require minimum volumes to produce
acceptable profits, cash flow, and return on assets, We view capacity utilization through the business cycle (combined
with the cost base) as a good indication of manufacturers' ability to maintain profits in varying economic scenarios.
Our capacity utilization assessment is based on a company's production capacity across its manufacturing footprint. In
addition, we consider the direction of a company's capacity utilization in light of our unit sales expectations, as
opposed to analyzing it plant-by-plant,

. Labor relations remain an important focus in our analysis of operating efficiency for manufacturers. Often, a company’s

labor cost structure is driven by its history of contractual negotiations and the countries in which it operates, We
examine the rigidity or flexibility of a company's labor costs and the extent to which it relies on labor rather than
automation. We analyze labor cost structure by assessing the extent of union representation, wage and benefit costs as
a share of cost of goods sold (when available), and by assessing the balance of capital equipment vs. labor input in the
manufacturing process. We also incorporate trends in a company's efforts to transfer labor costs from high-cost to
low-cost regions.
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¢) Working capital management

Working capital management--of current or short-term assets and liabilities--is a key factor in our evaluation of
operating efficiency. In general, companies with solid working capital management skills exhibit shorter cash
conversion cycles (defined as days' investment in inventory and receivables less days' investiment in accounts payable)
than their lower-skilled peers. Short cash-conversion cycles could, for instance, demonstrate that a company has a
stronger position in the supply chain (for example, requiring suppliers or dealers to hold more of its inventory). This
allows a company to direct more capital than its peers can to other areas of investment,

d) Technology

. Technology can play an important role in achieving superior operating efficiency through effective yield management

(by improving input/output ratios), supply chain automation, and cost optimization.

. Achieving high yield management is particularly important in industries with limited inventory and high fixed costs,

such as transportation, lodging, media, and retail. The most efficient airlines can achieve higher revenue per available
seat mile than their peers, while the most efficient lodging companies can achieve a higher revenue per available room
than their peers. Both industries rely heavily on technology to effectively allocate inventory (seats and rooms) to

maximize sales and profitability.

Effective supply chain automation systems enable companies to reduce investments in inventory and better forecast
future orders based on current trends. By enabling electronic data interchange between supplier and retailer, such
systems help speed orders and reorders for goods by quickly pinpointing which merchandise is selling well and needs
restocking. They also identify slow moving inventory that needs to be marked down, making space available for fresh

merchandise.

Effective use of technology can also help hold down costs by improving productivity via automation and workflow
management. This can reduce selling, general, and administrative costs, which usually represent a substantial portion
of expenditures for industries with high fixed costs, thus boosting earnings.

4. Industry-specific SER parameters
Table 28

'SER Calibration By Industry Based On EBITDA R
~-Volatility of profitability assessment*--

1 2 3 4 5 6
Transportation cyclical =<10% >10%-14% >14%-22% >22%-33% >33%-76% >76%
Auto OEM =<25% >25%-33% >33%-35% >35%-40% >40%-46% >46%
Metals and mining downstream =<16% >16%-31% >31%-42% >42%-53% >53%-82% >82%
Metals and mining upstream =<16% >16%-23% >23%-28% >28%~34% >34%-59% >59%
Homebuilders and developers =<19% >18%-33% >33%-46% >46%-65% " >65%-95% >95%
Oil and gas refining and marketing =<14% >14%-21% >21%-35% >35%-46% >46%-82% >82%
Forest and paper products =<9% >9%-18% >18%-26% >26%-51% >51%-114% >114%
Building materials =<9% >9%-16% >16%-19% >19%-24% >24%-33% >33%
Oil and gas integrated, exploration and =<12% >12%-19% >19%-22% >22%-28% >28%-38% >38%
production
Agribusiness and commodity foods =<12% >12%-19% >19%-25% >25%-39% >39%-57% >57%
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Table 28

SER Calibration By Industry Based On EBITDA (cont) =
Real estate investment trusts (REITs) =<5% >5%-9% >9%-13%

>13%-20% >20%-32%  >32%

Leisure and sports =<5% >5%-9% >9%-12% >12%-16% >16%-24% >24%
Commodity chemicals =<14% >14%-19% >19%-28% >28%-37% >37%-51% >51%
Auto suppliers =<15% >15%-20% >20%-26% >26%-32% >32%-45% >45%
Aerospace and defense ) =<6% >6%-9% >9%-15% >15%-24% >24%-41% >41%
Technology hardware and semiconductors =<11% >11%-15% >15%-22% >22%-31% >31%-58% >58%
Specialty chemicals =<5% >5%-10% >10%-14% >14%-23% >23%-36% >36%
Capital goods =<12% >12%16% >16%-21% >21%-30% >30%-45% >45%
Engineering and construction =<9% >9%-14% >14%-20% >20%-28% >28%-39% >39%
Railroads and package express =<5% >5%-8% >8%-10% >10%-13% >13%-22% >22%
Business and consumer services =<4% >4%-8% >8%-11% >11%-16% >16%-30% >30%
Midstream energy =<5% >5%-9% >9%-11% >11%-15% >15%-31% >31%
Technology software and services =<4% >4%-9% >9%-14% >14%-19% >18%-33% >33%
Consumer durables =<7% >7%-10% >10%-13% >13%-19% >19%-35% >35%
Containers and packaging =<5% >5%-7% >7%12% >12%-18% >18%-26% >26%
Media and entertainment =<6% >6%-10% >10%-14% >14%-20% >20%-29% >29%
Oil and gas drilling, equipment and services =<16% >16%-22% >22%-28% >28%-44% >44%-62% >62%
Retail and restaurants =<4% >4%-8% >8%-11% >11%-16% >16%-26% >26%
Health care services =<4% >4%-5% >5%9% >9%-12% >12%-19% >19%
Transportation infrastructure =<2% >2%-4% >4%7% >7%-12% >12%-19% >19%
Environmental services =<5% >5%-8% >9%~13% >13%-22% >22%-29% >29%
Regulated utilities =<4% >4%-T% >7%-9% >9%-14% >14%-26% >26%
Unregulated power and gas =<T% >7%-16% >16%-20% >20%-29% >29%-47% >47%
Pharmaceuticals =<5% >5%-8% >8%-11% >11%-17% >17%-32% >32%
Health care equipment =<3% >3%-5% >5%-6% >6%-10% >10%-25% >25%
Branded nondurables =<4% >4%-7% >7%-10% >10%-15% >15%-43% >43%
Telecommunications and cable =<3% >3%-6% >6%-9% >9%-13% >13%-23% >23%
Overall =<5% >5%-9% >9%-15% >15%-23% >23%-43% >43%

*The data ranges include the values up to and including the upper bound. As an example, for a range of 5%-9%, a value of 5% is excluded, while
a value of 9% is included; the numbers are rounded to the nearest whole number for presentation purposes.

Table 29

'SER Calibration By Industry Based On EBITDA Margin

—-Volatility of profitability assessment¥--

1 2 3 4 5 6
Transportation cyclical =<4% >4%-8% >8%-16% >16%-28% >28%-69% >69%
Auto OEM =<15% >15%-19% >19%-29% >29%-31% >31%-45% >45%
Metals and mining downstream =<10% >10%-18% >18%-26% >26%-36% >36%-56% >56%
Metals and mining upstream =<8% >8%-10% >10%-14% >14%-19% >19%-31% >31%
Homebuilders and develapers =<10% >10%-18% >18%-30% >30%-56% >56%-114% >114%
Oil and gas refining and marketing =<12% >12%-22% >22%-28% >28%-42% >42%71% >T1%
Forest and paper products =<8% >8%-13% >13%-21% >21%-41% >41%-117% >117%
Building materials =<4% >4%-8% >8%-13% >13%-18% >18%-23% >23%
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Table 29
SER Calibration By Industry Based On EBITDA Margin (cont) -

>13%-22% >22%

Oil and gas integrated, exploration and =<4% >4%-6% >6%-B >B%-1%

production .

Agribusiness and commodity foods =<9% >9%-14% >14%-18% >18%-27% >27%-100% >100%
Real estate investment trusts (REITS) =<2% >2%-5% >5%-8% >8%-13% >13%-34% >34%
Leisure and sports =<3% >3%-5% >5%-6% >6%-9% >9%-18% >18%
Commodity chemicals =<9% >9%-14% >14%-18% >18%-25% >25%-37% >37%
Auto suppliers =<9% >9%-13% >13%-18% >18%-23% >23%-40% >40%
Aerospace and defense =<3% >3%-6% >6%-7% >7%-12% >12%-24% >24%
Technology hardware and semiconductors =<7% >7%10% >10%-15% >15%-21% >21%-62% >62%
Specialty chemicals =<3% >3%-6% >6%-10% >10%-18% >19%-28% >28%
Capital goods =<6% >6%-9% >9%-13% >13%-20% >20%-33% >33%
Engineering and construction =<6% >6%-8% >8%-12% - >12%-17% >17%-26% >26%
Railroads and package express =<2% >2%-6% >6%-8% >8%-10% >10%-17% >17%
Business and consumer services =<3% >3%-5% >5%-7% >7%-12% >12%-22% >22%
Midstream energy =<3% >3%-6% >6%-9% >9%-14% >14%-28% >28%
Technology software and services =<3% >3%-6% >6%-10% >10%-15% >15%-30% >30%
Consumer durables =<4% >4%-8% >8%-11% >11%-15% >15%-26% >26%
Containers and packaging =<5% >5%-71% >7%-9% >9%-15% >15%-22% >22%
Media and entertainment =<4% >4%-6% >6%-9% >9%-14% >14%-24% >24%
Oil and gas drilling, equipment and services =<6% >6%-12% >12%-16% >16%-22% >22%-32% >32%
Retail and restaurants =<3% >3%-5% >5%-1% >7%-12% >12%-21% >21%
Health care services =<3% >3%-5% >5%-6% >6%-8% >8%-15% >15%
Transportation infrastructure =<1% >1%-3% >3%-5% >5%-T% >7%-15% >15%
Environmental services =<3% >3%-4% >4%-6% >6%-10% >10%-24% >24%
Regulated utilities =<4% >4%-7% >7%-9% >9%-14% >14%-24% >24%
Unregulated power and gas =<6% >6%-10% >10%-15% >15%-23% >23%-41% >41%
Pharmaceuticals =<4% >4%-5% >5%-T% >7%-10% >10%-21% >21%
Health care equipment =<2% >2%-4% >4%-5% >5%-10% >10%-16% >16%
Branded nondurables =<3% >3%-6% >6%-9% >9%-13% >13%-28% >28%
Telecommunications and cable =<2% >2%-4% >4%-5% >5%-7% >7%-13% >13%
Overall =<3% >3%-6% >6%-10% >10%-16% >16%-32% >32%

*The data ranges include the values up to and including the upper bound. As an example, for a range of 5%-9%, a value of 5% is excluded, while
a value of 9% is included; the numbers are rounded to the nearest whole number for presentation purposes.

Table 30 .
ShRCahbr tion By Industry Based On Return On Capital ‘
~Volatility of profitability assessment¥--

1 -2 3 4 5 6

Transportation cyclical =<14% >14%-28% >28%-39% >39%-53% >53%-156% >156%

Auto OEM . =<42% >42%-64% >64%-74% >74%-86% >86%-180% >180%

Metals and mining downstream =<25% >25%-32% >32%-43% >43%-53% >53%-92% >92%

Metals and mining upstream =<22% >22%-30% >30%-38% >38%-45% >45%-93% >93%

Homebuilders and developers =<12% >12%-31% >31%-50% >50%-70% >70%-88% >88%
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Table 30

 SER Calibration By Industry Based On Return On Capital (cont))
Oil and gas refining and marketing =<14% >14%-30% >30%-48%

>48%-67% >67%-136% >136%

Forest and paper products - =<10% >10%-22% >22%-40% >40%-89% >89%-304% >304%
Building materials =<13% >13%-20% >20%-26% >26%-36% >36%-62% >62%
Oil and gas integrated, exploration and =<16% >16%-22% >22%-31% >31%-43% >43%-89% >89%
production

Agribusiness and commodity foods =<12% >12%-15% >15%-29% >29%-55% >55%-111% >111%
Real estate investment trusts (REITs) =<8% >8%-14% >14%-20% >20%-26% >26%-116% >116%
Leisure and sports =<11% >11%-17% >17%~26% >26%-34% >34%-64% >64%
Commodity chemicals =<19% >19%-28% >28%-41% >41%-50% >50%-73% >73%
Auto suppliers =<20% >20%-39% >39%-50% >50%-67% >67%-111% >111%
Aerospace and defense =<7% >7%-13% >13%-19% >19%-27% . >27%-61% >61%
Technology hardware and semiconductors =<8% >8%-21% >21%-34% >34%-49% >49%-113% >113%
Specialty chemicals =<5% >5%-18% >18%-28% >28%-43% >43%-64% >64%
Capital goods =<15% >15%-24% >24%-31% >31%-45% >45%-121% >121%
Engineering and construction =<12% >12%-21% >21%-23% >23%-33% >33%-54% >54%
Railroads and package express =<3% >3%11% >11%-17% >17%-20% >20%-27% >27%
Business and consumer services =<9% >9%-17% >17%-23% >23%-40% >40%-87% >87%
Midstream energy =<5% >5%-11% >11%-17% >17%-22% >22%-34% >34%
Technology software and services =<8% >8%-21% >21%-35% >35%-65% >65%-105% >105%
Consumer durables =<8% >8%-13% >13%-20% >20%-35% >35%-60% >60%
Containers and packaging =<6% >6%-14% >14%-23% >23%-35% >35%-52% >52%
Media and entertainment . =<9% >9%-17% >17%-26% >26%-40% >40%-86% >86%
Oil and gas drilling, equipment and services =<25% >25%-33% >33%-45% >45%-65% >65%-90% >90%
Retail and restaurants =<6% >6%-14% >14%-18% >18%-26% >26%-69% >69%
Health care services =<6% >6%-10% >10%-15% >15%-25% >25%-44% >44%
Transportation infrastructure =<5% >5%-9% >9%-12% >12%-16% >16%~-27% >27%
Environmental Services =<7% >7%-12% >12%-24% >24%-35% >35%-72% >72%
Regulated utilities =<6% >6%-9% >9%-13% >13%-20% >20%-36% >36%
Unregulated power and gas =<14% >14%-19% >19%-29% >29%-55% >55%-117% >117%
Pharmaceuticals =<6% >6%-8% >8%-15% >15%-20% >20%-33% >33%
Health care equipment =<4% >4%8%  >8%-19% >19%-31% >31%-81% >81%
Branded nondurables =<6% >6%-10% >10%-17% >17%-28% >29%-63% >63%
Telecommunications and cable =<7% >7%-13% >13%-19% >19%-26% >26%-60% >60%
Overall . =<7% >7%15% >15%-23% >23%-38% >38%-81% >81%

*The data ranges include the values up to and including the upper bound. As an example, for a range of 5%-9%, a value of 5% is excluded, while
a value of 9% is included; the numbers are rounded to the nearest whole number for presentation purposes.

C. Cash Flow/Leverage Analysis

1. The merits and drawbacks of each cash flow measure
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a) EBITDA

37. EBITDA is a widely used, and therefore a highly comparable, indicator of cash flow, although it has significant

limitations. Because EBITDA derives from the income statement entries, it can be distorted by the same accounting
issues that limit the use of earnings as a basis of cash flow. In addition, interest can be a substantial cash outflow for
speculative-grade companies and therefore EBITDA can materially overstate cash flow in some cases. Nevertheless, it
serves as a useful and common starting point for cash flow analysis and is useful in ranking the financial strength of

different companies.

b) Funds from operations (FFO)

FFO is a hybrid cash flow measure that estimates a company's inherent ability to generate recurring cash flow from its
operations independent of working capital fluctuations. FFO estimates the cash flow available to the company before
working capital, capital spending, and discretionary items such as dividends, acquisitions, etc.

9. Because cash flow from operations tends to be more volatile than FFO, FFQ is often used to smooth

period-over-period variation in working capital. We consider it a better proxy of recurring cash flow generation
because management can more easily manipulate working capital depending on its liquidity or accounting needs.
However, we do not generally rely on FFO as a guiding cash flow measure in situations where assessing working
capital changes is important to judge a company's cash flow generating ability and general creditworthiness. For
example, for working-capital-intensive industries such as retailing, operating cash flow may be a better indicator than
FFO of the firm's actual cash generation.

FFO is a good measure of cash flow for well-established companies whose long-term viability is relatively certain (i.e,,
for highly rated companies). For such companies, there can be greater analytical reliance on FFO and its relation to the
total debt burden. FFO remains very helpful in the relative ranking of companies. In addition, more esta‘b]ished,
healthier companies usually have a wider array of financing possibilities to cover potential short-term liquidity needs
and to refinance upcoming maturities. For marginal credit situations, the focus shifts more to free operating cash
flow--after deducting the various fixed uses such as working capital investment and capital expenditures—as this
measure is more directly related to current debt service capability.

¢) Cash flow from operations (CFO)

The measurement and analysis of CFO forms an important part of our ratings assessment, in particular for companies
that operate in working-capital-intensive industries or industries in which working capital flows can be volatile. CFO is
distinct from FFO as it is a pure measure of cash flow calculated after accounting for the impact on earnings of
changes in operating assets and liabilities. CFO is cash flow that is available to finance items such as capital
expenditures, repay borrowing, and pay for dividends and share buybacks.

.. In many industries, companies shift their focus to cash flow generation in a downturn. As a result, even though they

typically generate less cash from ordinary business activities because of low capacity utilization and relatively low
fixed-cost absorption, they may generate cash by reducing inventories and receivables, Therefore, although FFO is
likely to be lower in a downturn, the impact on CFO may not be as great. In times of strong growth the opposite will
be true, and consistently lower CFO compared to FFO without a corresponding increase in revenue and profitability

can indicate an untenable situation.
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Working capital is a key element of a company's cash flow generation. While there tends to be a need to build up
working capital and therefore to consume cash in a growth or expansion phase, changes in working capital can also act
as a buffer in case of a downturn. Many companies will sell off inventories and invest a lower amount in raw materials
because of weaker business activities, both of which reduce the amount of capital and cash that is tied up in working
capital. Therefore, working capital fluctuations can occur both in periods of revenue growth and contraction and
analyzing a company's near-term working capital needs is crucial for estimating future cash flow developments.

Often, businesses that are capital intensive are not working-capital-intensive: most of the capital commitment is
upfront in equipment and machinery, while asset-light businesses may have to invest proportionally more in
inventories and receivables. That also affects margins, because capital-intensive businesses tend to have proportionally
lower operating expenses (and therefore higher EBITDA margins), while working-capital-intensive businesses usually
report lower EBITDA margins. The resulting cash flow volatility can be significant: because all investment is made
upfront in a capital-intensive business, there is usually more room to absorb subsequent EBITDA volatility because
margins are higher. For example, a capital-intensive company may remain reasonably profitable even if its EBITDA
margin declines from 30% to 20%. By contrast, a working-capital-intensive business with a lower EBITDA margin (due
to higher operating expenses) of 8% can post a negative EBITDA margin if EBITDA volatility is large.

d) Free operating cash flow (FOCF)

By deducting capital expenditures from CFQ, we arrive at FOCFE, which can be used as a proxy for a company's cash
generated from core operations. We may exclude discretionary capital expenditures for capacity growth from the
FOCF calculation, but in practice it is often difficult to discriminate between spending for expansion and replacement.
And, while companies have some flexibility to manage their capital budgets to weather down cycles, such flexibility is
generally temporary and unsustainable in light of intrinsic requirements of the business. For example, companies can
be compelled to increase their investment programs because of strong dernand growth or technological changes.
Regulated entities (for example, telecommunications companies) might also face significant investment requirements
related to their concession contracts {the understanding between a company and the host government that specifies
the rules under which the company can operéte locally). '

3. Positive FOCF s a sign of strength and helpful in distinguishing between two companies with the same FFO. In

addition, FOCEF is helpful in differentiating between the cash flows generated by more and less capital-intensive

companies and industries.

In highly capital-intensive industries (where maintenance capital expenditure requirements tend to be high) or in other
situations in which companies have little flexibility to postpone capital expenditures, measures such as FFO to debt
and debt to EBITDA may provide less valuable insight into relative creditworthiness because they fail to capture
potentially ineaningful capital expenditures. In such cases, a ratio such as FOCF to debt provides greater analytical
insight.

A company serving a low-growth or declining market may exhibit relatively strong FOCF because of diminishing fixed
and working capital needs, Growth companies, in contrast, exhibit thin or even negative FOCF because of the
investment needed to support growth. For the low-growth company, credit analysis weighs the positive, strong current
cash flow against the danger that this high level of cash flow might not be sustainable. For the high-growth company,
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the opposite is true: weighing the negatives of a current cash deficit against prospects of enhanced cash flow once
current investments begin yielding cash benefits. In the latter case, if we view the growth investment as temporary and
not likely to lead to increased leverage over the long-term, we'll place greater analytical importance on FFO to debt
rather than on FOCF to debt. In any event, we also consider the impact of a company's growth environment in our
business risk analysis, specifically in a company's industry risk analysis (see section B).

e) Discretionary cash flow (DCF)

For corporate issuers primarily rated in the investment-grade universe, DCF to debt can be an important barometer of
future cash flow adequacy as it more fully reflects a company's financial policy, including decisions regarding dividend
payouts. In addition, share buybacks and potential M&A, both of which can represent very significant uses of cash, are

important components in cash flow analysis.

The level of dividends depends on a company's financial strategy. Companies with aggressive dividend payout targets
might be reluctant to reduce dividends even under some liquidity pressure. In addition, investment-grade companies
are less likely to reduce dividend payments following some reversals--although dividends ultimately are discretionary.
DCEF is the truest reflection of excess cash flow, but it is also the most affected by management decisions and,
therefore, does not necessarily reflect the potential cash flow available.

D. Diversification/Portfolio Effect

1. Academic research

Academic research recently concluded that, during the global financial crisis of 2007-2009, conglomerates had the
advantage over single sector-focused firms because they had better access to the credit markets as a result of their
debt co-insurance and used the internal capital markets more efficiently (i.e., their core businesses had stronger cash
flows). Debt co-insurance is the view that the joining-together of two or more firms whose earnings streams are
less-than-perfectly correlated reduces the risk of default of the merged firms (i.e., the co-insurance effect) and thereby
increases the "debt capacity” or "borrowing ability" of the combined enterprise. These financing alternatives became
more valuable during the crisis. (Source: "Does Diversification Create Value In The Presence Of External Financing
Constraints? Evidence From The 2007-2009 Financial Crisis," Venkat Kuppuswamy and Belen Villalonga, Harvard
Business School, Aug. 19, 2011.)

. In addition, fully diversified, focused companies saw more narrow credit default swap spreads from 2004-2010 vs, less

diversified firms. This highlighted that lenders were differentiating for risk and providing these companies with easier
and cheaper access to capital. (Source: "The Power of Diversified Companies During Crises," The Boston Consulting
Group and Leipzig Graduate School of Management, January 2012.)

. Many rated conglomerates are either country- or region-specific; only a small percentage are truly global. The

difference is important when assessing the country and macroeconomic risk factors. Historical measures for each
region, based on volatility and correlation, reflect regional trends that are likely to change over time.
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E. Financial Policy

1. Controlling shareholders

Controlling shareholder(s)--if they exist--exert significant influence over a company's financial risk profile, given their
ability to use their direct or indirect control of the company's financial policies for their own benefit. Although the
criteria do not associate the presence of controlling shareholder(s) to any predefined negative or positive impact, we
assess the potential medium- to long-term implications for a company's credit standing 6f these strategies. Long-term
ownership--such as exists in many family-run businesses--is often accompanied by financial discipline and reluctance
to incur aggressive leverage. Conversely, short-term ownership--such as exists in private equity sponsor-owned
companies--generally entails financial policies aimed at achieving rapid returns for shareholders typically through
aggressive debt leverage,

255. The criteria define controlling shareholder(s) as:

256,

[N
o
3

258.

¢ A private shareholder (an individual or a family) with majority ownership or control of the board of directors;
o A group of shareholders holding joint control over the company's board of directors through a shareholder
agreement. The shareholder agreement may be comprehensive in scope or limited only to certain financial aspects;

and
o A private equity firm or a group of private equity firms holding at least 40% in a company or with majority control of

its board of directors.

A company is not considered to have a controlling shareholder if it is publicly listed with more than 50% of voting
interest listed or when there is no evidence of a particular shareholder or group of shareholders exerting ‘de facto’

control over a company.

7. Companies that have as their controlling shareholder governments or government-related entities, infrastructure and

asset-management funds, and diversified holding companies and conglomerates are assessed in separate criteria.

2. Financial discipline

a) Leverage influence from acquisitions

Companies may employ more or less acquisitive growth strategies based on industry dynamics, regulatory changes,
market opportunities, and other factors. We consider management teams with disciplined, transparent acquisition
strategies that are consistent with their financial policy framework as providing a high degree of visibility into the
projected evolution of cash flow and credit measures. Our assessment takes into account management's track record
in terms of acquisition strategy and the related impact on the company's financial risk profile. Historical evidence of
limited management tolerance for significant debt-funded acquisitions provides meaningful support for the view that
projected credit ratios would not significantly weaken as a result of the company's acquisition policy. Conversely,
management teams that pursue opportunistic acquisition strategies, without well-defined parameters, increase the
risks that the company's financial risk profile may deteriorate well beyond our forecasts.

. Acquisition funding policies and management's track record in this respect also provide meaningful insight in terms of

credit ratio stability. In the criteria, we take into account management's willingness and capacity to mobilize all funding
resources to restore credit quality, such as issuing equity or disposing of assets, to mitigate the impact of sizable
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acquisitionis on credit ratios. The financial policy framework and related historical evidence are key considerations in

our assessment.

b) Leverage influence from shareholder remuneration policies

A company's approach to rewarding shareholders demonstrates how it balances the interests of its various
stakeholders over time, Companies that are consistent and transparent in their shareholder remuneration policies, and
exhibit a willingness to adjust shareholder returns to mitigate adverse operating conditions, provide greater support to
their long-term credit quality than other companies. Conversely, companies that prioritize cash returns to shareholders
in periods of deteriorating economic, operating, or share price performance can significantly undermine long-term
credit quality and exacerbate the credit impact of adverse business conditions. In assessing a company's shareholder
remuneration policies, the criteria focus on the predictability of shareholder remuneration plans, including how a
company builds shareholder expectations, its track record in executing shareholder return policies over time, and how

shareholder returns compare with industry peers'.

Shareholder remuneration policies that lack transparency or deviate meaningfully from those of industry peers
introduce a higher degree of event risk and volatility and will be assessed as less predictable under the criteria.
Dividend and capital return policies that function primarily as a means to distribute surplus capital to shareholders
based on transparent and stable payout ratios--after satisfying all capital requirements and leverage objectives of the
company, and that support stable to improving leverage ratios--are considered the most supportive of long term credit
quality. :

¢) Leverage influence from plans regarding investment decisions or organic growth strategies

The process by which a company identifies, funds, and executes organic growth, such as expansion into new products
and/or new markets, can have a significant impact on its long-term credit quality. Companies that have a disciplined,
coherent, and manageable organic growth strategy, and have a track record of successful execution are better
positioned to continue to attract third-party capital and maintain long-term credit quality. By contrast, companies that
allocate significant amounts of capital to numerous, unrelated, large and/or complex projects and often incur material
overspending against the original budget can significantly increase their credit risk.

The criteria assess whether management's organic growth strategies are transparent, comprehensive, and measurable.
We seek to evaluate the company's mid- to long-term growth objectives--including strategic rationales and associated
execution risks—as well as the criteria it uses to allocate capital. Effective capital allocation is likely to include
guidelines for capital deployment, including minimum return hurdles, competitor activity analysis, and demand
forecasting. The company’s track record will provide key data for this assessment, including how well it executes large
and/or complex projects against initial budgets, cost overruns, and timelines.

3. Financial policy framework
a) Comprehensiveness of financial policy framework

. Financial policies that are clearly defined, unambiguous, and provide a tight framework around management behavior

are the most reliable in determining an issuer's future financial risk profile. We assess as consistent with a supportive
assessment, policies that are clear, measurable, and well understood by all key stakeholders. Accordingly, the financial
policy framework must include well-defined parameters regarding how the issuer will manage its cash flow protection
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strategies and debt leverage profile. This includes at least one key or a combination of financial ratio constraints (such
as maximum debt to EBITDA threshold) and the latter must be relevant with respect to the issuer's industry and/or

capital structure characteristics.

By contrast, the absence of established financial policies, policies that are vague or not quantifiable, or historical
evidence of significant and unexpected variation in management's long-term financial targets could contribute to an
overall assessment of a non-supportive financial policy.

b) Transparency of financial policies

We assess as supportive financial policy objectives that are transparent and well understood by all key stakeholders
and we view them as likely to influence an issuer's financial risk profile over time. Alternatively, financial policies, if
they exist, that are not communicated to key stakeholders and/or where there is limited historical evidence to support
the company's commitment to these policies, are non-supportive, in our view. We consider the variety of ways in
which a company communicates its financial policy objectives, including public disclosures, investor presentation

materials, and public commentary.

In some cases, however, a company may articulate its financial policy objectives to a limited number of key
stakeholders, such as its main creditors or to credit rating agencies. In these situations, a company may still receive a
supportive classification if we assess that there is a sufficient track record (more than three years) to demonstrate a

commitment to its financial policy objectives.

c¢) Achievability and sustainability of financial policies

To assess the achievability and sustainability of a company's financial policies, we consider a variety of factors,
including the entity's current and historical financial risk profile; the demands of its key stakeholders (including
dividend and capital return expectations of equity holders); and the stability of the company's financial policies that we
have observed over time. If there is evidence that the company is willing to alter its financial policy framework because
of adverse business conditions or growth opportunities (including M&A), this could support an overall assessment of

non-supportive.

4. Financial policy adjustments--examples
Example 1: A moderately leveraged company has just been sold to a new financial sponsor. The financial sponsor has

not leveraged the company yet and there is no stated financial policy at the outset, We expect debt leverage to

increase upon refinancing, but we are not able to factor it precisely in our forecasts yet. . .
Likely outcome: FS-6 financial policy assessment, implying that we expect the new owner to implement an aggressive

financial policy in the absence of any other evidence.

. Example 2: A company has two owners—a family owns 75%, a strategic owner holds the remaining 25%. Although the

company has provided Standard & Poor's with some guidance on long-term financial objectives, the overall financial
policy framework is not sufficiently structured nor disclosed to a sufficient number of stakeholders to qualify for a
supportive assessment. Recent history, however, does not provide any evidence of unexpected, aggressive financial

transactions and we beljeve event risk is moderate. o
Likely outcome: Neutral financial policy impact, including an assessment of neutral for financial discipline. Although

the company's financial framework does not support long-term visibility, historical evidence and stability of
management suggest that event risk is not significant. The unsupportive financial framework assessment, however,
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prevents the company from qualifying for an overall positive financial policy assessment, should the conditions for

positive financial discipline be met.

Example 3: A company (not owned by financial sponsors) has stated leverage targets equivalent to a significant
financial risk profile assessment. The company continues to make debt-financed acquisitions yet remains within its
leverage targets, albeit at the weaker end of these. Our forecasts are essentially built on expectations that excess cash
flow will be fully used to fund M&A or, possibly pay share repurchases, but that management will overall remain within

its leverage targets. . .
Likely outcome: Neutral financial policy impact. Although management is fairly aggressive, the company consistently

stays within its financial policy targets. We think our forecasts provide a realistic view of the evolution of the
company's credit metrics over the next two years. No event risk adjustment is needed.

4. Example 4: A company (not owned by a financial sponsor) has just made a sizable acquisition (consistent with its

long-term business strategy) that has brought its credit ratios out of line, Management expressed its commitment to
rapidly improve credit ratios back to its long-term ratio targets—representing an acceptable range for the
SACP--through asset disposals or a rights issue. We see their disposal plan (or rights issue) as realistic but precise value
and timing are uncertain. At the same time, management has a supportive financial policy framework, a positive track

record of five years, and assets are viewed as fairly easily tradable. . . . )
Likely outcome: Positive financial policy impact. Although forecast credit ratios will remain temporarily depressed, as

we cannot fully factor in asset disposals (or rights issue) due to uncertainty on timing/value, or without leaking
confidential information, the company's credit risk should benefit from management's positive track record and a
satisfactory financial policy framework. The anchor will be better by one notch if management and governance is at

least satisfactory and liquidity is at least adequate.

Example 5: A company (not owned by a financial sponsor) has very solid financial ratios, providing it with meaningful
flexibility for M&A when compared with management's long-term stated financial policy. Also, its stock price
performance is somewhat below that of its closest industry peers. Although we have no recent evidence of any
aggressive financial policy steps, we fundamentally believe that, over the long-term term, the company will end up

u;inF its financjal ﬂexibilitﬁ for the right M&A opportunity, or alternatively return cash to shareholders.
Likely outcome: Negative financial policy impact. Long-term event risk derived from M&A cannot be built into

forecasts nor shareholder returns (share buybacks or one-off dividends) be built into forecasts to attempt aligning
projected ratios with stated long-term financial policy levels. This is because our forecasts are based on realistic and
reasonably predictable assumptions for the medium term. The anchor will be adjusted down, by one notch or more,

because of the negative financial policy assessment.

E Corporate Criteria Glossary

Anchor: The combination of an issuer's business risk profile assessment and its financial risk profile assessment
determine the anchor. Additional rating factors can then modify the anchor to determine the final rating or SACP.

Asset profile: A descriptive way to look at the types and quality of assets that comprise a company (examples can
include tangible versus intangible assets, those assets that require large and continuing maintenance, upkeep, or
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reinvestment, etc.).

Business risk profile: This measure comprises the risk and return potential for a company in the market in which it
participates, the country risks within those markets, the competitive climate, and the competitive advantages and
disadvantages the company has. The criteria combine the assessments for Corporate Industry and Country Risk
Assessment (CICRA), and competitive position to determine a company’s business risk profile assessment,

Capital-intensive company: A company exhibiting large ongoing capital spending to sales, or a large amount of
depreciation to sales. Examples of capital-intensive sectors include oil production and refining, telecommunications,

and transportation sectors such as railways and airlines.

Cash available for debt repayment: Forecast cash available for debt repayment is defined as the net change in cash for
the period before debt borrowings and debt repayments. This includes forecast discretionary cash flow adjusted for our
expectations of: share buybacks, net of any share issuance, and M&A. Discretionary cash flow is defined as cash flow
from operating activities less capital expenditures and total dividends.

Competitive position: Qur assessment of a company's: 1) competitive advantage; 2) operating efficiency; 3) scale,
scope, and diversity; and 4) profitability.

¢ Competitive advantage--The strategic positioning and attractiveness to customers of the company's products or
services, and the fragility or sustainability of its business model.

¢ Operating efficiency--The quality and flexibility of the company's asset base and its cost management and structure.

¢ Scale, scope, and diversity--The concentration or diversification of business activities.

» Profitability--Our assessment of both the company's level of profitability and volatility of profitability.

Competitive Position Group Profile (CPGP): Used to determine the weights to be assigned to the four components of
competitive position. While industries are assigned to one of the six profiles, individual companies and industry
subsectors can be classified into another CPGP because of unique characteristics. Similarly, national industry risk
factors can affect the weighing. The six CPGPs are:

¢ Services and product focus,

¢ Product focus/scale driven,

+ Capital or asset focus,

« Commodity focus/cost driven,

¢ Commodity focus/scale driven, and
¢ National industry and utilities.

Conglomerate: Companies that have at least three distinct business segments, each contributing between 10%-50% of
EBITDA or FOCE Such companies may benefit from the diversification/portfolio effect.

Controlling shareholders: Equity owners who are able to affect decisions of varying effect on operations, leverage, and
shareholder reward without necessarily being a majority of shareholders,

Corporate Industry and Country Risk Assessment (CICRA): The result of the combination of an issuer's country risk

assessment and industry risk assessment.
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Debt co-insurance: The view that the joining-together of two or more firms whose earnings streams are
less-than-perfectly correlated reduces the risk of default of the merged firms (i.e., the co-insurance effect) and thereby
increases the "debt capacity” or "borrowing ability” of the combined enterprise. These financing alternatives became
more valuable during the global financial crisis of 2007-2009.

Financial headroom: Measure of deviation tolerated in financial metrics without moving outside or above a
pre-designated band or limit typically found in loan covenants (as in a debt to EBITDA multiple that places a
constraint on leverage). Significant headroom would allow for larger deviations.

Financial risk profile: The outcome of decisions that management makes in the context of its business risk profile and
its financial risk tolerances. This includes decisions about the manner in which management seeks funding for the
company and how it constructs its balance sheet. It also reflects the relationship of the cash flows the organization can
achieve, given its business risk profile, to its financial obligations. The criteria use cash flow/leverage analysis to
determine a corporate iésuer's financial risk profile assessment.

Financial sponsor: An entity that follows an aggressive financial strategy in using debt and debt-like instruments to
maximize shareholder returns. Typically, these sponsors dispose of assets within a short to intermediate time frame,
Financial sponsors include private equity firms, but not infrastructure and asset-management funds, which maintain

longer investment horizons.

Profitability ratio: Commonly measured using return on capital and EBITDA margins but can be measured using
sector-specific ratios. Generally calculated based on a five-year average, consisting of two years of historical data, and
our projections for the current year and the next two financial years.

Shareholder remuneration policies: Management's stated shareholder reward plans (such as a buyback or dividend

amount, or targeted payout ratios).

Stand-alone credit profile (SACP): Standard & Poor's opinion of an issue's or issuer's creditworthiness, in the absence
of extraordinary intervention or support from its parent, affiliate, or related government or from a third-party entity

such as an insurer.

Transfer and convertibility assessment: Standard & Poor's view of the likelihood of a sovereign restricting
nonsovereign access to foreign exchange needed to satisfy the nonsovereign's debt service obligations.

Unconsolidated equity affiliates: Companies in which an issuer has an investment, but which are not consolidated in an
issuer's financial statements. Therefore, the earnings and cash flows of the investees are not included in our primary

metrics unless dividends are received from the investees.

Upstream/midstream/downstream: Referring to exploration and production, transport and storage, and refining and
distributinig, respectively, of natural resources and commodities (such as metals, oil, gas, etc.).

Volatility of profitability/SER: We base the volatility of profitability on the standard error of the regression (SER) for a
company's historical EBITDA. The SER is a statistical measure that is an estimate of the deviation around a 'best fit'
trend line. We combine it with the profitability ratio to deterrnine the final profitability assessment. We only calculate
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SER when companies have at least seven years of historical annual data, to ensure that the results are meaningful,

Working-capital-intensive companies: Generally a company with large levels of working capital in relation to its sales
in order to meet seasonal swings in working capital. Examples of working-capital-intensive sectors include retail, auto

manufacturing, and capital goods.

These criteria represent the specific application of fundamental principles that define credit risk and ratings opinions.
Their use is determined by issuer- or issue-specific attributes as well as Standard & Poor's Ratings Services' assessment
of the credit and, if applicable, structural risks for a given issuer or issue rating. Methodology and assumptions may
change from time to time as a result of market and economic conditions, issuer- or issue-specific factors, or new
empirical evidence that would affect our credit judgment,
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Industry

(Editor's Note: This criteria article supersedes "Key Credit Factors: Business And Financial Risks In The Investor-Owned
Utilities Industry," published Nov. 26, 2008, "Assessing U.S. Utility Regulatory Environments," Nov. 7, 2007, and "Revised
Methodology For Adjusting Amounts Reported By UK. GAAP Water Companies For Infrastructure Renewals Accounting," Jan.
27, 2010,)

. Standard & Poor's Ratings Services is refining and adapting its methodology and assumptions for its Key Credit

Factors: Criteria For Regulated Utilities. We are publishing these criteria in conjunction with our corporate criteria (see
"Corporate Methodology, published Nov. 19, 2013). This article relates to our criteria article, “Principles Of Credit
Ratings," Feb. 16, 2011.

. ‘This criteria article supersedes "Key Credit Factors: Business And Financial Risks In The Investor-Owned Utilities

Industry,” Nov. 26, 2008, "Criteria; Assessing U.S, Utility Regulatory Environments,” Nov. 7, 2007, and "Revised
Methodology For Adjusting Amounts Reported By UK. GAAP Water Companies For Infrastructure Renewals
Accounting," Jan. 27, 2010.

SCOPE OF THE CRITERIA

3. These criteria apply to entities where regulated utilities represent a material part of their business, other than U.S.

public power, water, sewer, gas, and electric cooperative utilities that are owned by federal, state, or local
governmental bodies or by ratepayers. A regulated utility is defined as a corporation that offers an essential or
near-essential infrastructure product, commodity, or service with little or no practical substitute (mainly electricity,
water, and gas), a business model that is shielded from competition (naturally, by law, shadow regulation, or by
government policies and oversight), and is subject to comprehensive regulation by a regulatory body or implicit
oversight of its rates (sometimes referred to as tariffs), service quality, and terms of service. The regulators base the
rates that they set on some form of cost recovery, including an economic return on assets, rather than relying on a
market price. The regulated operations can range from individual parts of the utility value chain (water, gas, and
electricity networks or "grids,” electricity generation, retail operations, etc.) to the entire integrated chain, from
procurement to sales to the end customer. In some jurisdictions, our view of government support can also affect the
final rating outcome, as per our government-related entity criteria (see "General Criteria: Rating Government-Related
Entities: Methodology and Assumptions,” Dec. 9, 2010).

SUMMARY OF THE CRITERIA.

. Standard & Poor's is updating its criteria for analyzing regulated utilities, applying its corporate criteria. The criteria for

evaluating the competitive position of regulated utilities amend and partially supersede the "Competitive Position"
section of the corporate criteria when evaluating these entities. The criteria for determining the cash flow leverage
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assessment partially supersede the "Cash Flow/Leverage" section of the corporate criteria for the purpose of
evaluating regulated utilities. The section on liquidity for regulated utilities partially amends existing criteria. All other
sections of the corporate criteria apply to the analysis of regulated utilities.

IMPACT ON OUTSTANDING RATINGS

These criteria could affect the issuer credit ratings of about 5% of regulated utilities globally due primarily to the
introduction of new financial benchmarks in the corporate criteria. Almost all ratings changes are expected to be no
more than one notch, and most are expected to be in an upward direction.

EFFECTIVE DATE AND TRANSITION

. These criteria are effective immediately on the date of publication.

METHODOLOGY

Part [--Business Risk Analysis

Industry risk

Within the framework of Standard & Poor's general criteria for assessing industry risk, we view regulated utilities as a
“very low risk" industry (category '1'). We derive this assessment from our view of the segment's low risk ('2)
cyclicality and very low risk ('1') competitive risk and growth assessment.

. In our view, demand for regulated utility services typically exhibits low cyclicality, being a function of such key drivers

as employment growth, household formation, and general economic trends. Pricing is non-cyclical, since it is usually

based in some form on the cost of providing service.

Cyclicality

. We assess cyclicality for regulated utilities as low risk ('2'). Utilities typically offer products and services that are

essential and not easily replaceable. Based on our analysis of global Compustat data, utilities had an average
peak-to-trough (PTT) decline in revenues of about 6% during recessionary periods since 1952. Over the same period,
utilities had an average PTT decline in EBITDA margin of about 5% during recessionary periods, with PTT EBITDA
margin declines less severe in more recent periods. The PTT drop in profitability that occurred in the most recent
recession (2007-2009) was less than the long-term average.

With an average drop in revenues of 6% and an average profitability decline of 5%, utilities' cyclicality assessment
calibrates to low risk ('2'). We generally consider that the higher the level of profitability cyclicality in an industry, the
higher the credit risk of entities operating in that industry. However, the overall effect of cyclicality on an industry's risk
profile may be mitigated or exacerbated by an industry’s competitive and growth environment.
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Competitive risk and growth
We view regulated utilities as warranting a very low risk ('1') competitive risk and growth assessment. For competitive
risk and growth, we assess four sub-factors as low, medium, or high risk. These sub-factors are:

s Effectiveness of industry barriers to entry;

o Level and trend of industry profit margins;

o Risk of secular change and substitution by products, services, and technologies; and
Risk in growth trends.

Effectiveness of barriers to entry--low risk

. Barriers to entry are high. Utilities are normally shielded from direct competition. Utility services are commonly

naturally monopolistic (they are not efficiently delivered through competitive channels and often require access to
public thoroughfares for distribution), and so regulated utilities are granted an exclusive franchise, license, or
concession to serve a specified territory in exchange for accepting an obligation to serve all customers in that area and
the regulation of its rates and operations.

Level and trend of industry profit margins--low risk

Demand is sometimes and in some places subject to a moderate degree of seasonality, and weather conditions can
significantly affect sales levels at times over the short term. However, those factors even out over time, and there is
little pressure on margins if a utility can pass higher costs along to customers via higher rates.

Risk of secular change and substitution of products, services, and technologies--low risk

. Utility products and services are not overly subject to substitution. Where substitution is possible, as in the case of

natural gas, consumer behavior is usually stable and there is not a lot of switching to other fuels. Where switching does
occur, cost allocation and rate design practices in the regulatory process can often mitigate this risk so that utility
profitability is relatively indifferent to the substitutions.

Risk in industry growth trends--low risk

As noted above, regulated utilities are not highly cyclical. However, the industry is often well established and, in our
view, long-range demographic trends support steady demand for essential utility services over the long term. As a
result, we would expect revenue growth to generally match GDP when economic growth is positive.

B. Country risk

. In assessing "country risk" for a regulated utility, our analysis uses the same methodology as with other corporate

issuers (see "Corporate Methodology").

C. Competitive position

. In the corporate criteria, competitive position is assessed as ('1') excellent, ('2') strong, ('3') satisfactory, ('4') fair, ('5')

weak, or ('6') vulnerable.
The analysis of competitive position includes a review of;

¢ Competitive advantage,

¢ Scale, scope, and diversity,
» Operating efficiency, and
Profitability.
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In the corporate criteria we assess the strength of each of the first three components. Each component is assessed as
either: (1) strong, (2) strong/adequate, (3) adequate, (4) adequate/weak, or (5) weak. After assessing these
components, we determine the preliminary competitive position assessment by ascribing a specific weight to each
component. The applicable weightings will depend on the company's Competitive Position Group Profile. The group
profile for regulated utilities is "National Industries & Utilities," with a weighting of the three components as follows:
competitive advantage (60%), scale, scope, and diversity (20%), and operating efficiency (20%). Profitability is assessed
by combining two sub-components: level of profitability and the volatility of profitability.

"Competitive advantage” cannot be measured with the same sub-factors as competitive firms because utilities are not
primarily subject to influence of market forces. Therefore, these criteria supersede the "competitive advantage” section
of the corporate criteria. We analyze instead a utility's "regulatory advantage” (section 1 below).

Assessing regulatory advantage

. The regulatory framework/regime's influence is of critical importance when assessing regulated utilities' credit risk

because it defines the environment in which a utility operates and has a significant bearing on a utility’s financial

performance.

We base our assessment of the regulatory framework's relative credit supportiveness on our view of how regulatory
stability, efficiency of tariff setting procedures, financial stability, and regulatory independence protect a utility’s credit
quality and its ability to recover its costs and earn a timely return. Our view of these four pillars is the foundation of a
utility's regulatory support. We then assess the utility’s business strategy, in particular its regulatory strategy and its
ability to manage the tariff-setting process, to arrive at a final regulatory advantage assessment.

3. When assessing regulatory advantage, we first consider four pillars and sub-factors that we believe are key for a utility

to recover all its costs, on time and in full, and earn a return on its capital employed:

4. Regulatory stability:

« Transparency of the key components of the rate setting and how these are assessed
s Predictability that lowers uncertainty for the utility and its stakeholders
¢ Consistency in the regulatory framework over time

Tariff-setting procedures and design:

¢ Recoverability of all operating and capital costs in full
o Balance of the interests and concerns of all stakeholders affected
¢ Incentives that are achievable and contained

6. Financial stability:

Timeliness of cost recovery to avoid cash flow volatility

Flexibility to allow for recovery of unexpected costs if they arise

Attractiveness of the framework to attract long-term capital

Capital support during construction to alleviate funding and cash flow pressure during periods of heavy investments

7. Regulatory independence and insulation:
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¢ Market framework and energy policies that support long-term financeability of the utilities and that is clearly
enshrined in law and separates the regulator's powers
» Risks of political intervention is absent so that the regulator can efficiently protect the utility's credit profile even
during a stressful event

28. We have summarized the key characteristics of the assessments for regulatory advantage in table 1,

Table 1

‘Prelixiﬁnary Regulatory Advantage Assessment

Qualifier

‘What it means

Guidance

Strong

The utility has a major regulatory advantage due to one or a combination
of factors that support cost recovery and a return on capital combined
with lower than average volatility of earnings and cash flows.

The utility operates in a regulatory climate that is
transparent, predictable, and consistent from a
credit perspective.

There are strong prospects that the utility can sustain this advantage over
the long term.

The utility can fully and timely recover all its fixed
and variable operating costs, investments and
capital costs (depreciation and a reasonable return
on the asset base).

This should enable the utility to withstand economic downturns and
political risks better than other utilities.

The tariff set may include a pass-through
mechanism for major expenses such as commaodity
costs, or a higher return on new assets, effectively
shielding the utility from volume and input cost
risks,

Any incentives in the regulatory scheme are
contained and symmetrical.

The tariff set includes mechanisms allowing for a
tariff adjustment for the timely recovery of volatile
or unexpected operating and capital costs.

There is a track record of earning a stable,
compensatory rate of return in cash through various
economic and political cycles and a projected ability
to maintain that record. -

There is support of cash flows during construction of
large projects, and pre-approval of capital
investment programs and large projects lowers the
risk of subsequent disallowances of capital costs.

The utility operates under a regulatory system that
is sufficiently insulated from political intervention to
efficiently protect the utility’s credit risk profile even
during stressful events,

Adequate

The utility has some regulatory advantages and protection, but not to the
extent that it leads to a superior business model or durable benefit.

It operates in a regulatory environment that is less
transparent, less predictable, and less consistent
from a credit perspective,

The utility has some but not all drivers of well-managed regulatory risk.
Certain regulatory factors support the business’s long-term stability and
viability but could result in periods of below-average levels of profitability
and greater profit volatility. However, overall these regulatory drivers are
partially offset by the utility’s disadvantages or lack of sustainability of
other factors.

The utility is exposed to delays or is not, with
sufficient certainty, able to recover all of its fixed
and variable operating costs, investments, and
capital costs (depreciation and a reasonable return
on the asset base) within a reasonable time.

Incentive ratemaking practices are asymmetrical
and material, and could detract from credit quality.

The utility is exposed to the risk that it doesn't
recover unexpected or volatile costs in a full or less
than timely manner due to lack of flexible reopeners
or annual revenue adjustments,

There is an uneven track record of earning a
compensatory rate of return in cash through various
economic and political cycles and a projected ability
to maintain that record.
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Table 1
Preliminary Regulatory Advantage Assessment_

(comt.) |

There is little or no support of cash flows during
construction, and investment decisions on large
projects (and therefore the risk of subsequent
disallowances of capital costs) rest mostly with the
utility.

The utility operates under a regulatory system that
is not sufficiently insulated from political
intervention and is sometimes subject to overt

political influence.
Weak The utility suffers from a complete breakdown of regulatory protection The utility operates in an opaque regulatory climate
that places the utility at a significant disadvantage. that lacks transparency, predictability, and
consistency.

The utility’s regulatory risk is such that the long-term cost recovery and The utility cannot fully and/or timely recover its
investment return is highly uncertain and materially delayed, leading to fixed and variable operating costs, investments, and
volatile or weak cash flows. There is the potential for material stranded capital costs (depreciation and a reasonable return
assets with no prospect of recovery. on the asset base).
There is a track record of earning minimal or
negative rates of return in cash through various
economic and political cycles and a projected
inability to improve that record sustainably.

The utility must make significant capital
commitments with no solid legal basis for the full
recovery of capital costs.

Ratemaking practices actively harm credit quality.

The utility is regularly subject to overt political
influence.

29. After determining the preliminary regulatory advantage assessment, we then assess the utility's business strategy. Most
importantly, this factor addresses the effectiveness of a utility's management of the regulatory risk in the jurisdiction(s)
where it operates. In certain jurisdictions, a utility's regulatory strategy and its ability to manage the tariff-setting
process effectively so that revenues change with costs can be a compelling regulatory risk factor. A utility's approach
and strategies surrounding regulatory matters can create a durable "competitive advantage" that differentiates it from
peers, especially if the risk of political intervention is high, The assessment of a utility's business strategy is informed
by historical performance and its forward-looking business objectives, We evaluate these objectives in the context of
industry dynamics and the regulatory climate in which the utility operates, as evaluated through the factors cited in
paragraphs 24-27.

30. We modify the preliminary regulatory advantage assessment to reflect this influence positively or negatively. Where
business strategy has limited effect relative to peers, we view the implications as neutral and make no adjustment. A
positive assessment improves the preliminary regulatory advantage assessment by one category and indicates that
management's business strategy is expected to bolster its regulatory advantage through favorable commission rulings
beyond what is typical for a utility in that jurisdiction. Conversely, where management's strategy or businesses
decisions result in adverse regulatory outcomes relative to peers, such as failure to achieve typical cost recovery or
allowed returns, we adjust the preliminary regulatory advantage assessment one category worse. In extreme cases of
poor strategic execution, the preliminary regulatory advantage assessment is adjusted by two categories worse (when
possible; see table 2) to reflect management decisions that are likely to result in a significantly adverse regulatory

outcome relative to peers.
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Table 2

‘Determining The Final Regulatory Advantage Assessment - ‘

» --Sntegy modifier--
Preliminary regulatory advantage score Positive Neutral Negative Very negative
Strong Strong Strong Strong/Adequate Adequate
Strong/Adequate Strong Strong/Adequate Adequate Adequate/Weak
Adequate Strong/Adequate Adequate Adequate/Weak Weak
Adequate/Weak Adequate Adequate/Weak Weak Weak
Weak Adequate/Weak Weak Weak Weak

Scale, scope, and diversity

31. We consider the key factors for this component of competitive position to be primarily operational scale and diversity

of the geographic, economic, and regulatory foot prints. We focus on a utility's markets, service territories, and
diversity and the extent that these attributes can contribute to cash flow stability while dampening the effect of
economic and market threats.

A utility that warrants a Strong or Strong/Adequate assessment has scale, scope, and diversity that support the
stability of its revenues and profits by limiting its vulnerability to most combinations of adverse factors, events, or
trends. The utility's significant advantages enable it to withstand economic, regional, competitive, and technological
threats better than its peers. It typically is characterized by a combination of the following factors:

¢ Alarge and diverse customer base with no meaningful customer concentration risk, where residential and small to
medium commercial customers typically provide most operating income.

¢ The utility's range of service territories and regulatory jurisdictions is better than others in the sector.

e Exposure to multiple regulatory authorities where we assess preliminary regulatory advantage to be at least
Adequate. In the case of exposure to a single regulatory regime, the regulatory advantage assessment is either
Strong or Strong/Adequate.

¢ No meaningful exposure to a single or few assets or suppliers that could hurt operations or could not easily be
replaced.

. A utility that warrants a Weak or Weak/Adequate assessment lacks scale, scope, and diversity such that it

compromises the stability and sustainability of its revenues and profits. The utility's vulnerability to, or reliance on,
various elements of this sub-factor is such that it is less likely than its peers to withstand economic, competitive, or
technological threats. It typically is characterized by a combination of the following factors:

o A small customer base, especially if burdened by customer and/or industry concentration combined with little
economic diversity and average to below-average economic prospects;

» Exposure to a single service territory and a regulatory authority with a preliminary regulatory advantage assessment
of Adequate or Adequate/Weak; or

o Dependence on a single supplier or asset that cannot easily be replaced and which hurts the utility’s operations.

34. We generally believe a larger service territory with a diverse customer base and average to above-average economic

growth prospects provides a utility with cushion and flexibility in the recovery of operating costs and ongoing
investment (including replacement and growth capital spending), as well as lessening the effect of external shocks (i.e.,
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extreme local weather) since the incremental effect on each customer declines as the scale increases.

5. We consider residential and small commercial customers as having more stable usage patterns and being less exposed

to periodic economic weakness, even after accounting for some weather-driven usage variability. Significant industrial
exposure along with a local economy that largely depends on one or few cyclical industries potentially contributes to
the cyclicality of a utility's load and financial performance, magnifying the effect of an economic downturn.

A utility's cash flow generation and stability can benefit from operating in multiple geographic regions that exhibit
average to better than average levels of wealth, employment, and growth that underpin the local economy and support
long-term growth. Where operations are in a single geographic region, the risk can be ameliorated if the region is
sufficiently large, demonstrates economic diversity, and has at least average demographic characteristics.

. The detriment of operating in a single large geographic area is subject to the strength of regulatory assessment. Where

a utility operates in a single large geographic area and has a strong regulatory assessment, the benefit of diversity can

be incremental.

Operating efficiency
We consider the key factors for this component of competitive position to be:

¢ Compliance with the terms of its operating license, including safety, reliability, and environmental standards;
+ Cost management; and
¢ Capital spending: scale, scope, and management.

Relative to peers, we analyze how successful a utility management achieves the above factors within the levels allowed
by the regulator in a manner that promotes cash flow stability. We consider how management of these factors reduces
the prospect of penalties for noncompliance, operating costs being greater than allowed, and capital projects running
over budget and time, which could hurt full cost recovery.

The relative importance of the above three factors, particularly cost and capital spending management, is determined
by the type of regulation under which the utility operates. Utilities operating under robust "cost plus" regimes tend to
be more insulated given the high degree of confidence costs will invariably be passed through to customers. Utilities
operating under incentive-based regimes are likely to be more sensitive to achieving regulatory standards. This is
particularly so in the regulatory regimes that involve active consultation between regulator and utility and market
testing as opposed to just handing down an outcome on a more arbitrary basis.

In some jurisdictions, the absolute performance standards are less relevant than how the utility performs against the
regulator's performance benchmarks. It is this performance that will drive any penalties or incentive payments and can
be a determinant of the utilities' credibility on operating and asset-management plans with its regulator.

4Z. Therefore, we consider that utilities that perform these functions well are more likely to consistently achieve

determinations that maximize the likelihood of cost recovery and full inclusion of capital spending in their asset bases.
Where regulatory resets are more at the discretion of the utility, effective cost management, including of labor, may
allow for more control over the timing and magnitude of rate filings to maximize the chances of a constructive
outcome such as full operational and capital cost recovery while protecting against reputational risks.
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43. A regulated utility that warrants a Strong or Strong/Adequate assessment for operating efficiency relative to peers
generates revenues and profits through minimizing costs, increasing efficiencies, and asset utilization. It typically is
characterized by a combination of the following:

iy

(a1

High safety record;

Service reliability is strong, with a track record of meeting operating performance requirements of stakeholders,
including those of regulators. Moreover, the utility's asset profile (including age and technology) is such that we
have confidence that it could sustain favorable performance against targets;

Where applicable, the utility is well-placed to meet current and potential future environmental standards;
Management maintains very good cost control. Utilities with the highest assessment for operating efficiency have
shown an ability to manage both their fixed and variable costs in line with regulatory expectations (including labor
and working capital management being in line with regulator's allowed collection cycles); or

There is a history of a high level of project management execution in capital spending programs, including large
one-time projects, almost invariably within regulatory allowances for timing and budget.

. A regulated utility that warrants an Adequate assessment for operating efficiency relative to peers has a combination of

cost position and efficiency factors that support profit sustainability combined with average volatility. Its cost structure
is similar to its peers. It typically is characterized by a combination of the following factors:

High safety performance;

Service reliability is satisfactory with a track record of mostly meeting operating performance requirements of
stakeholders, including those of regulators. We have confidence that a favorable performance against targets can be
mostly sustained; :

Where applicable, the utility may be challenged to comply with current and future environmental standards that
could increase in the medium term;

Management maintains adequate cost control. Utilities that we assess as having adequate operating efficiency
mostly manage their fixed and variable costs in line with regulatory expectations (including labor and working
capital management being mostly in line with regulator's allowed collection cycles); or

There is a history of adequate project management skills in capital spending programs within regulatory allowances
for timing and budget.

. Aregulated utility that warrants a weak or weak/adequate assessment for operating efficiency relative to peers has a

combination of cost position and efficiency factors that fail to support profit sustainability combined with
below-average volatility. Its cost structure is worse than its peers. It typically is characterized by a combination of the

following:

Poor safety performance;

Service reliability has been sporadic or non-existent with a track record of not meeting operating performance
requirements of stakeholders, including those of regulators. We do not believe the utility can consistently meet
performance targets without additional capital spending;

Where applicable, the utility is challenged to comply with current environmentel standards and is highly vulnerable
to more onerous standards;

Management typically exceeds operating costs authorized by regulators;

Inconsistent project management skills as evidenced by cost overruns and delays including for maintenance capital
spending; or

The capital spending program is large and complex and falls into the weak or weak/adequate assessment, even if
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operating efficiency is generally otherwise considered adequate.

Profitability

A utility with above-average profitability would, relative to its peers, generally earn a rate of return at or above what
regulators authorize and have minimal exposure to earnings volatility from affiliated unregulated business activities or
market-sensitive regulated operations. Conversely, a utility with below-average profitability would generally earn rates
of return well below the authorized return relative to its peers or have significant exposure to earnings volatility from
affiliated unregulated business activities or market-sensitive regulated operations.

The profitability assessment consists of "level of profitability" and "volatility of profitability."

Level of profitability
Key measures of general profitability for regulated utilities commonly include ratios, which we compare both with
those of peers and those of companies in other industries to reflect different countries' regulatory frameworks and

business environments:

o EBITDA margin,
» Return on capital (ROC), and
e Return on equity (ROE).

9. In many cases, EBITDA as a percentage of sales (i.e., EBITDA margin) is a key indicator of profitability. This is

because the book value of capital does not always reflect true earning potential, for example when governments
privatize or restructure incumbent state-owned utilities. Regulatory capital values can vary with those of reported
capital because regulatory capital values are not inflation-indexed and could be subject to different assumptions
concerning depreciation. In general, a country's inflation rate or required rate of return on equity investment is closely
linked to a utility company's profitability. We do not adjust our analysis for these factors, because we can make our
assessment through a peer comparison.

50. For regulated utilities subject to full cost-of-service regulation and return-on-investment requirements, we normally

measure profitability using ROE, the ratio of net income available for common stockholders to average common
equity. When setting rates, the regulator ultimately bases its decision on an authorized ROE. However, different factors
such as variances in costs and usage may influence the return a utility is actually able to earn, and consequently our
analysis of profitability for cost-of-service-based utilities centers on the utility's ability to consistently earn the
authorized ROE.

1. We will use return on capital when pass-through costs distort profit margins--for instance congestion revenues or

collection of third-party revenues. This is also the case when the utility uses accelerated depreciation of assets, which
in our view might not be sustainable in the long run.

Volatility of profitability

We may observe a clear difference between the volatility of actual profitability and the volatility of underlying
regulatory profitability. In these cases, we could use the regulatory accounts as a proxy to judge the stability of

earnings.

We use actual returns to calculate the standard error of regression for regulated utility issuers (only if there are at least
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seven years of historical annual data to ensure meaningful results). If we believe recurring mergers and acquisitions or
currency fluctuations affect the results, we may make adjustments.

Part [I--Financial Risk Analysis

D. Accounting

4. Our analysis of a company's financial statements begins with a review of the accounting to determine whether the

statements accurately measure a company's performance and position relative to its peers and the larger universe of
corporate entities. To allow for globally consistent and comparable financial analyses, our rating analysis may include
quantitative adjustments to a company's reported results. These adjustments also align a company’s reported figures
with our view of underlying economic conditions and give us a more accurate portrayal of a company's ongoing
business. We discuss adjustments that pertain broadly to all corporate sectors, including this sector, in "Corporate
Methodology: Ratios And Adjustments." Accounting characteristics and analytical adjustments unique to this sector

are discussed below.

Accounting characteristics

). Some important accounting practices for utilities include:

o For integrated electric utilities that meet native load obligations in part with third-party power contracts, we use our
purchased power methodology to adjust measures for the debt-like obligation such contracts represent (see below).

¢ Due to distortions in leverage measures from the substantial seasonal working-capital requirements of natural gas
distribution utilities, we adjust inventory and debt balances by netting the value of inventory against outstanding
short-term borrowings. This adjustment provides an accurate view of the company’s balance sheet by reducing
seasonal debt balances when we see a very high certainty of near-term cost recovery (see below).

¢ We deconsolidate securitized debt (and associated revenues and expenses) that has been accorded specialized
recovery provisions (see below).

o For water utilities that report under UK. GAAF, we adjust ratios for infrastructure renewals accounting, which
permits water companies to capitalize the maintenance spending on their infrastructure assets (see below). The
adjustments aim to make those water companies that report under UK. GAAP more comparable to those that
report under accounting regimes that do not permit infrastructure renewals accounting.

6. In the U.S. and selectively in other regions, utilities employ "regulatory accounting," which permits a rate-regulated

company to defer some revenues and expenses to match the timing of the recognition of those items in rates as
determined by regulators. A utility subject to regulatory accounting will therefore have assets and liabilities on its
books that an unregulated corporation, or even regulated utilities in many other global regions, cannot record. We do
not adjust GAAP earnings or balance-sheet figures to remove the effects of regulatory accounting. However, as more
countries adopt International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the use of regulatory accounting will become more
scarce. IFRS does not currently provide for any recognition of the effects of rate regulation for financial reporting
purposes, but it is considering the use of regulatory accounting. We do not anticipate altering our fundamental
financial analysis of utilities becaﬁse of the use or non-use of regulatory accounting. We will continue to analyze the
effects of regulatory actions on a utility's financial health.
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Purchased power adjustment

. We view long-term purchased power agreements (PPA) as creating fixed, debt-like financial obligations that represent

substitutes for debt-financed capital investments in generation capacity, By adjusting financial measures to incorporate
PPA fixed obligations, we achieve greater comparability of utilities that finance and build generation capacity and
those that purchase capacity to satisfy new load. PPAs do benefit utilities by shifting various risks to the electricity
generators, such as construction risk and most of the operating risk. The principal risk borne by a utility that relies on
PPAs is recovering the costs of the financial obligation in rates. (See "Standard & Poor’s Methodology For Imputing
Debt for U.S. Utilities’ Power Purchase Agreements," May 7, 2007, for more background and information on the
adjustment.)

. We calculate the present value (PV) of the future stream of capacity payments under the contracts as reported in the

financial statement footnotes or as supplied directly by the company. The discount rate used is the same as the one
used in the operating lease adjustment, i.e., 7%. For U.S. companies, notes to the financial statements enumerate
capacity payments for the coming five years, and a thereafter period. Company forecasts show the detail underlying
the thereafter amount, or we divide the amount reported as thereafter by the average of the capacity payments in the
preceding five years to get an approximation of annual payments after year five.

We also consider new contracts that will start during the forecast period. The company provides us the information
regarding these contracts. If these contracts represent extensions of existing PPAs, they are immediately included in
the PV calculation, However, a contract sometimes is executed in anticipation of incremental future needs, so the
energy will not flow until some later period and there are no interim payments. In these instances, we incorporate that
contract in our projections, starting in the year that energy deliveries begin under the contract. The projected PPA debt
is included in projected ratios as a current rating factor, even though it is not included in the current-year ratio

calculations.

The PV is adjusted to reflect regulatory or legislative cost-recovery mechanisms when present. Where there is no
explicit regulatory or legislative recovery of PPA costs, as in most European countries, the PV may be adjusted for
other mitigating factors that reduce the risk of the PPAs to the utility, such as a limited economic importance of the
PPAs to the utility’s overall portfolio.The adjustment reduces the debt-equivalent amount by multiplying the PV by a
specific risk factor.

Risk factors based on regulatory or legislative cost recovery typically range between 0% and 50%, but can be as high
as 100%. A 100% risk factor would signify that substantially all risk related to contractual obligations rests on the
company, with no regulatory or legislative support. A 0% risk factor indicates that the burden of the contractual
payments rests solely with ratepayers, as when the utility merely acts as a conduit for the delivery of a third party's
electricity. These utilities are barred from developing new generation assets, and the power supplied to their customers
is sourced through a state auction or third parties that act as intermediaries between retail customers and electicity
suppliers. We employ a 50% risk factor in cases where regulators use base rates for the recovery of the fixed PPA
costs. If a regulator has established a separate adjustment mechanism for recovery of all prudent PPA costs, a risk
factor of 25% is employed. In certain jurisdictions, true-up mechanisms are more favorable and frequent than the
review of base rates, but still do not amount to pure fuel adjustment clauses. Such mechanisms may be triggered by
financial thresholds or passage of prescribed periods of time, In these instances, a risk factor between 25% and 50% is
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employed. Specialized, legislatively created cost-recovery mechanisms may lead to risk factors between 0% and 15%,
depending on the legislative provisions for cost recovery and the supply function borne by the utility. Legislative
guarantees of complete and timely recovery of costs are particularly important to achieving the lowest risk factors. We
also exclude short-term PPAs where they serve merely as gap fillers, pending either the construction of new capacity
or the execution of long-term PPAs.

2. Where there is no explicit regulatory or legislative recovery of PPA costs, the risk factor is generally 100%. We may

use a lower risk factor if mitigating factors reduce the risk of the PPAs on the utility. Mitigating factors include a long
position in owned generation capacity relative to the utility's customer supply needs that limits the importance of the
PPAs to the utility or the ability to resell power in a highly liquid market at minimal loss. A utility with surplus owned
generation capacity would be assigned a risk factor of less than 100%, generally 50% or lower, because we would
assess its reliance on PPAs as limited. For fixed capacity payments under PPAs related to renewable power, we use a
risk factor of less than 100% if the utility benefits from government subsidies. The risk factor reflects the degree of
regulatory recovery through the government subsidy.

3. Given the long-term mandate of electric utilities to meet their customers' demand for electricity, and also to enable

comparison of companies with different contract lengths, we may use an evergreening methodology. Evergreen
treatment extends the duration of short- and intermediate-term contracts to a common length of about 12 years. To
quantify the cost of the extended capacity, we use empirical data regarding the cost of developing new peaking
capacity, incorporating regional differences. The cost of new capacity is translated into a dollars-per-kilowatt-year
figure using a-proxy weighted-average cost of capital and a proxy capital recovery period.

Some PPAs are treated as operating leases for accounting purposes--based on the tenor of the PPA or the residual
value of the asset on the PPA's expiration. We accord PPA treatment to those obligations, in lieu of lease treatment;
rather, the PV of the stream of capacity payments associated with these PPAs is reduced to reflect the applicable risk

factor.

Long-term transmission contracts can also substitute for new generation, and, accordingly, may fall under our PPA
methodology. We sometimes view these types of transmission arrangements as extensions of the power plants to
which they are connected or the markets that they serve. Accordingly, we impute debt for the fixed costs associated

with such transmission contracts.
Adjustment procedures:

¢ Data requirements:

o Future capacity payments obtained from the financial statement footnotes or from management.
s Discount rate: 7%.

¢ Analytically determined risk factor.

¢ Calculations:

e Balance sheet debt is increased by the PV of the stream of capacity payments multiplied by the risk factor.

e Equity is not adjusted because the recharacterization of the PPA implies the creation of an asset, which offsets the
debt.

¢ Property, plant, and equipment and total assets are increased for the implied creation of an asset equivalent to the
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debt.

¢ An implied interest expense for the imputed debt is determined by multiplying the discount rate by the amount of
imputed debt (or average PPA imputed debt, if there is fluctuation of the level), and is added to interest expense.

¢ We impute a depreciation component to PPAs. The depreciation component is determined by multiplying the
relevant year's capacity payment by the risk factor and then subtracting the implied PPA-related interest for that
year. Accordingly, the impact of PPAs on cash flow measures is tempered.

e The cost amount attributed to depreciation is reclassified as capital spending, thereby increasing operating cash
flow and funds from operations (FFO).

o Some PPA contracts refer only to a single, all-in energy price. We identify an implied capacity price within such an
all-in energy price, to determine an implied capacity payment associated with the PPA. This implied capacity
payment is expressed in dollars per kilowatt-year, multiplied by the number of kilowatts under contract. (In cases
that exhibit markedly different capacity factors, such as wind power, the relation of capacity payment to the all-in
charge is adjusted accordingly.)

e Operating income before depreciation and amortization (D&A) and EBITDA are increased for the imputed interest
expense and imputed depreciation component, the total of which equals the entire amount paid for PPA (subject to
the risk factor).

o Operating income after D&A and EBIT are increased for interest expense,

Natural gas inventory adjustment

. In jurisdictions where a pass-through mechanism is used to recover purchased natural gas costs of gas distribution

utilities within one year, we adjust for seasonal changes in short-debt tied to building inventories of natural gas in
non-peak periods for later use to meet peak loads in peak months. Such short-term debt is not considered to be part of
the utility's permanent capital. Any history of non-trivial disallowances of purchased gas costs would preclude the use
of this adjustment. The accounting of natural gas inventories and associated short-term debt used to finance the
purchases must be segregated from other trading activities.

Adjustment procedures:

o Data requirements:
¢ Short-term debt amount associated with seasonal purchases of natural gas devoted to meeting peak-load needs of

captive utility customers (obtained from the company).

¢ Calculations:
¢ Adjustment to debt--we subtract the identified short-term debt from total debt.

Securitized debt adjustment

. For regulated utilities, we deconsolidate debt (and associated revenues and expenses) that the utility issues as part of a

securitization of costs that have been segregated for specialized recovery by the government entity constitutionally
authorized to mandate such recovery if the securitization structure contains a number of protective features:

¢ An irrevocable, non-bypassable charge and an absolute transfer and first-priority security interest in transition

. property;

o Periodic adjustments ("true-up") of the charge to remediate over- or under-collections compared with the debt
service obligation. The true-up ensures collections match debt service over time and do not diverge significantly in
the short run; and,

s Reserve accounts to cover any temporary short-term shortfall in collections.
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70. Full cost recovery is in most instances mandated by statute. Examples of securitized costs include "stranded costs"
{(above-market utility costs that are deemed unrecoverable when a transition from regulation to competition occurs)
and unusually large restoration costs following a major weather event such as a hurricane. If the defined features are
present, the securitization effectively makes all consumers responsible for principal and interest payments, and the
utility is simply a pass-through entity for servicing the debt. We therefore remove the debt and related revenues and
expenses from our measures. (See "Securitizing Stranded Costs," Jan. 18, 2001, for background information.)

71. Adjustment procedures:

¢ Data requirements:

* Amount of securitized debt on the utility’s balance sheet at period end;
¢ Interest expense related to securitized debt for the period; and

¢ Principal payments on securitized debt during the period.

e Calculations:
o Adjustment to debt: We subtract the securitized debt from total debt.
o Adjustment to revenues: We reduce revenue allocated to securitized debt principal and interest. The adjustment is

the sum of interest and principal payments made during the year.
¢ Adjustment to operating income after depreciation and amortization (D&A) and EBIT: We reduce D&A related to

the securitized debt, which is assumed to equal the principal payments during the period. As a result, the reduction
to operating income after D&A is only for the interest portion.
e Adjustment to interest expense: We remove the interest expense of the securitized debt from total interest expense.

e Operating cash flows: ]
¢ We reduce operating cash flows for revenues and increase for the assumed interest amount related to the

securitized debt. This results in a net decrease to operating cash flows equal to the principal repayment amount.

Infrastructure renewals expenditure

72. In England and Wales, water utilities can report under either IFRS or UK. GAAP. Those that report under UK. GAAP
are allowed to adopt infrastructure renewals accounting, which enables the companies to capitalize the maintenance
spending on their underground assets, called infrastructure renewals expenditure (IRE). Under IFRS, infrastructure
renewals accounting is not permitted and maintenance expenditure is charged to earnings in the year incurred. This
difference typically results in lower adjusted operating cash flows for those companies that report maintenance
expenditure as an operating cash flow under IFRS, than for those that report it as capital expenditure under UK.
GAAP We therefore make financial adjustments to amounts reported by water issuers that apply UK. GAAF, with the
aim of making ratios more comparable with those issuers that report under IFRS and U.S. GAAP. For example, we
deduct IRE from EBITDA and FFO, )

73, IRE does not always consist entirely of maintenance expenditure that would be expensed under IFRS, A portion of IRE
can relate to costs that would be eligible for capitalization as they meet the recogniﬁén criteria for a new fixed asset set
out in International Accounting Standard 16 that addresses property, plant, and equipment. In such cases, we may
refine our adjustment to UK. GAAP companies so that we only deduct from FFO the portion of IRE that would not be
capitalized under IFRS. However, the information to make such a refinement would need to be of high quality, reliable,
and ideally independently verified by a third party, such as the company's auditor. In the absence of this, we assume
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that the entire amount of IRE would have been expensed under IFRS and we accordingly deduct the full expenditure
from FFO.

74. Adjustment procedures:

¢ Data requirements:

e UK. GAAP accounts typically provide little information on the portion of capital spending that relates to renewals
accounting, or the related depreciation, which is referred to as the infrastructure renewals charge. The information
we use for our adjustments is, however, found in the regulatory cost accounts submitted annually by the water
companies to the Water Services Regulation Authority, which regulates all water companies in England and Wales.

¢ Calculations:

« EBITDA: Reduced by the value of IRE that was capitalized in the period.

o EBIT: Adjusted for the difference between the adjustment to EBITDA and the reduction in the depreciation
expense, depending on the degree to which the actual cash spending in the current year matches the planned
spending over the five-year regulatory review period.

¢ Cash flow from operations and FFO: Reduced by the value of IRE that was capitalized in the period.

¢ Capital spending: Reduced by the value of infrastructure renewals spending that we reclassify to cash flow from

operations.
s Free operating cash flow: No impact, as the reduction in operating cash flows is exactly offset by the reduction in

capital spending,

E. Cash flow/leverage analysis

In assessing the cash flow adequacy of a regulated utility, our analysis uses the same methodology as with other
corporate issuers (see "Corporate Methodology*). We assess cash flow/leverage on a six-point scale ranging from ('1')
minimal to ('6') highly leveraged. These scores are determined by aggregating the assessments of a range of credit
ratios, predominantly cash flow-based, which complement each other by focusing attention on the different levels of a

company's cash flow waterfall in relation to its obligations.

The corporate methodology provides benchmark ranges for various cash flow ratios we associate with different cash
flow leverage assessments for standard volatility, medial volatility, and low volatility industries. The tables of
benchmark ratios differ for a given ratio and cash flow leverage assessment along two dimensions: the starting point
for the ratio range and the width of the ratio range.

If an industry's volatility levels are low, the threshold levels for the applicable ratios to achieve a given cash flow
leverage assessment are less stringent, although the width of the ratio range is narrower. Conversely, if an industry has
standard levels of volatility, the threshold levels for the applicable ratios to achieve a given cash flow leverage
assessment may be elevated, but with a wider range of values.

. We apply the "low-volatility" table to regulated utilities that qualify under the corporate criteria and with all of the

following characteristics:

¢ A vast majority of operating cash flows come from regulated operations that are predominantly at the low end of
the utility risk spectrum (e.g., a "network,” or distribution/transmission business unexposed to commodity risk and
with very low operating risk);

» A "strong" regulatory advantage assessment;
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e An established track record of normally stable credit measures that is expected to continue;

¢ A demonstrated long-term track record of low funding costs (credit spread) for long-term debt that is expected to
continue; and

¢ Non-utility activities that are in a separate part of the group (as defined in our group rating methodology) that we
consider to have "nonstrategic" group status and are not deemed high risk and/ or volatile.

We apply the "medial volatility" table to companies that do not qualify under paragraph 78 with:

* A majority of operating cash flows from regulated activities with an "adequate” or better regulatory advantage
assessment; or

¢ About one-third or more of consolidated operating cash flow comes from regulated utility activities with a "strong”
regulatory advantage and where the average of its remaining activities have a competitive position assessment of '3'
or better.

We apply the "standard-volatility" table to companies that do not qualify under paragraph 79 and with either:

o About one-third or less of its operating cash flow comes from regulated utility activities, regardiess of its regulatory
advantage assessment; or
e A regulatory advantage assessment of "adequate/weak" or "weak.”

Part I1I--Rating Modifiers

F. Diversification/portfolio effect

. In assessing the diversification/portfolio effect on a regulated utility, our analysis uses the same methodology as with

other corporate issuers (see "Corporate Methodology").

G. Capital structure

2. In assessing the quality of the capital structure of a regulated utility, we use the same methodology as with other

corporate issuers (see "Corporate Methodology”).

H. Liquidity

In assessing a utility's liquidity/short-term factors, our analysis is consistent with the methodology that applies to
corporate issuers (See "Methodology And Assumptions: Liquidity Descriptors For Global Corporate Issuers," Nov. 19,
2013) except for the standards for "adequate" liquidity set out in paragraph 84 below.

The relative certainty of financial performance by utilities operating under relatively predictable regulatory monopoly
frameworks make these utilities attractive to investors even in times of economic stress and market turbulence
compared to conventional industrials. For this reason, utilities with business risk profiles of at least "satisfactory" meet
our definition of "adequéte" liquidity based on a slightly lower ratio of sources to uses of funds of 1.1x compared with
the standard 1.2x. Also, recognizing the cash flow stability of regulated utilities we allow more discretion when
calculating covenant headroom. We consider that utilities have adequate liquidity if they generate positive sources
over uses, even if forecast EBITDA declines by 10% (compared with the 15% benchmark for corporate issuers) before

covenants are breached.
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I. Financial policy

85. In assessing financial policy on a regulated utility, our analysis uses the same methodology as with other corporate

issuers (see "Corporate Methodology").

J. Management and governance

6. In assessing management and governance on a regulated utility, our analysis uses the same methodology as with other

corporate issuers (see "Corporate Methodology”).

K. Comparable ratings analysis
In assessing the comparable ratings analysis on a regulated utility, our analysis uses the same methodology as with
other corporate issuers (see "Corporate Methodology").

Appendix--Frequently Asked Questions

Does Standard & Poor's expect that the business strategy modifier to the preliminary regulatory
advantage will be used extensively?

Globally, we expect management's influence will be neutral in most jurisdictions. Where the regulatory assessment is
"strong,” it is less likely that a negative business strategy modifier would be used due to the nature of the regulatory
regime that led to the "strong" assessment in the first place. Utilities in "adequate/weak” and "weak" regulatory
regimes are challenged to outperform due to the uncertainty of such regulatory regimes. For a positive use of the
business strategy modifier, there would need to be a track record of the utility consistently outperforming the
parameters laid down under a regulatory regime, and we would need to believe this could be sustained. The business
strategy modifier is most likely to be used when the preliminary regulatory advantage assessment is "strong/adequate”
because the starting point in the assessment is reasonably supportive, and a utility has shown it manages regulatory
risk better or worse than its peers in that regulatory environment and we expect that advantage or disadvantage will
persist. An example would be a utility that can consistently earn or exceed its authorized return in a jurisdiction where
most other utilities struggle to do so. If a utility is treated differently by a regulator due to perceptions of poor customer
service or reliability and the "operating efficiency” component of the competitive position assessment does not fully
capture the effect on the business risk profile, a negative business strategy modifier could be used to accurately
incorporate it into our analysis. We expect very few utilities will be assigned a "very negative" business strategy
modifier.

Does a relatively strong or poor relationship between the utility and its regulator compared with its

peers in the same jurisdiction necessarily result in a positive or negative adjustment to the
preliminary regulatory advantage assessment?

No. The business strategy modifier is used to differentiate a company's regulatory advantage within a jurisdiction
where we believe management's business strategy has and will positively or negatively affect regulatory outcomes
beyond what is typical for other utilities in that jurisdiction. For instance, in a regulatory jurisdiction where allowed
returns are negotiated rather than set by formula, a utility that is consistently authorized higher returns (and is able to
earn that return) could warrant a positive adjustment. A management team that cannot negotiate an approved capital
spending program to improve its operating performance could be assessed negatively if its performance lags behind
peers in the same regulatory jurisdiction.
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What is your definition of regulatory jurisdiction?

A regulatory jurisdiction is defined as the area over which the regulator has oversight and could include single or
multiple subsectors (water, gas, and power). A geographic region may have several regulatory jurisdictions. For
example, the Office of Gas and Electricity Markets and the Water Services Regulation Authority in the UK. are
considered separate regulatory jurisdictions. In Ontario, Canada, the Ontario Energy Board represents a single
Jjurisdiction with regulatory oversight for power and gas. Also, in Australia, the Australian Energy Regulator would be
considered a single jurisdiction given that it is responsible for both electricity and gas transmission and distribution
networks in the entire country, with the exception of Western Australia,

Are there examples of different preliminary regulatory advantage assessments in the same country or
jurisdiction?

Yes. In Israel we rate a regulated integrated power utility and a regulated gas transmission system operator (TSO). The
power utility's relationship with its regulator is extremely poor in our view, which led to significant cash flow volatility
in a stress scenario (when terrorists blew up the gas pipeline that was then Israel's main source of natural gas, the

utility was unable to negotiate compensation for expensive alternatives in its regulated tariffs). We view the gas TSO's
relationship with its regulator as very supportive and stable. Because we already reflected this in very different
preliminary regulatory advantage assessments, we did not modify the preliminary assessments because the two
regulatory environments in Israel differ and were not the result of the companies’ respective business strategies.

How is regulatory advantage assessed for utilities that are a natural monopoly but are not regulated
by a regulator or a specific regulatory framework, and do you use the regulatory modifier if they
achieve favorable treatment from the government as an owner?

The four regulatory pillars remain the same. On regulatory stability we look at the stability of the setup, with more
emphasis on the historical track record and our expectations regarding future changes. In tariff-setting procedures and
design we look at the utility's ability to fully recover operating costs, investments requirements, and debt-service
obligations. In financial stability we look at the degree of flexibility in tariffs to counter volume risk or commodity risk.
The flexibility can also relate to the level of indirect competition the utility faces. For example, while Nordic district
heating companies operate under a natural monopoly, their tariff flexibility is partly restricted by customers' option to
change to a different heating source if tariffs are significantly increased. Regulatory independence and insulation is
mainly based on the perceived risk of political intervention to change the setup that could affect the utility's credit
profile. Although political intervention tends to be mostly negative, in certain cases political ties due to state ownership
might positively influence tariff determination. We believe that the four pillars effectively capture the benefits from the
close relationship between the utility and the state as an owner; therefore, we do not foresee the use of the regulatory

modifier.

In table 1, when describing a "strong" regulatory advantage assessment, you mention that there is
support of cash flows during construction of large projects, and preapproval of capital investment
programs and large projects lowers the risk of subsequent disallowances of capital costs. Would this
preclude a "strong" regulatory advantage assessment in jurisdictions where those practices are
absent?

. No. The table is guidance as to what we would typically expect from a regulatory framework that we would assess as

“strong." We would expect some frameworks with no capital support during construction to receive a "strong"
regulatory advantage assessment if in aggregate the other factors we analyze support that conclusion.
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RELATED CRITERIA AND RESEARCH

o Corporate Methodology, Nov. 19, 2013

¢ Group Rating Methodology, Nov. 19, 2013

e Methodology: Industry Risk, Nov. 19, 2013

e Corporate Methodology: Ratios And Adjustments, Nov. 19, 2013

» Ratings Above The Sovereign--Corporate And Government Ratings: Methodology And Assumptions, Nov. 19, 2013

e Methodology And Assumptions: Liquidity Descriptors. For Global Corporate Issuers, Nov. 19, 2013

o Collateral Coverage And Issue Notching Rules For ‘1+’ And ‘1’ Recovery Ratings On Senior Bonds Secured By
Utility Real Property, Feb. 14, 2013

e Methodology: Management And Governance Credit Factors For Corporate Entities and Insurers, Nov. 13, 2012

o General Criteria: Principles Of Credit Ratings, Feb. 16, 2011

¢ General Criteria: Rating Government-Related Entities: Methodology And Assumptions, Dec. 9, 2010

These criteria represent the specific application of fundamental principles that define credit risk and ratings opinions.
Their use is determined by issuer- or issue-specific attributes as well as Standard & Poor's Ratings Services' assessment
of the credit and, if applicable, structural risks for a given issuer or issue rating. Methodology and assumptions may
change from time to time as a result of market and economic conditions, issuer- or issue-specific factors, or new
empirical evidence that would affect our credit judgment.

(And watch the related CreditMatters TV segment titled, "Standard & Poor’s Highlights The Key Credit Factors For
Rating Regulated Utilities," dated Nov. 21, 2013.) |
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Utilty Cost of Debt Comparison
12 Months Ending June 2014

Rank | Company Per Public Data
1. LG&E 3.533%
2. KU 3.565%
3. Duke Energy Ohio 3.753%
4, Dayton Power and Light 3.820%
5. | AEP Texas North Company 4.246%
6. | Public Service Electric and Gas Company 4.388%
7. | AEP Texas Central Company 4.440%
8. Indiana Michigan Power Company 4.543%
9. Duke Energy Indiana Inc. 4.616%
10. | DTE Electric Company 4.738%
11. | PECO Energy Company 4.827%
12. | Union Electric Company 4.845%
13. | Ohio Power Company 4.849%
14. | Commonwealth Edison 4.983%
15. | PPL Electric Utilities 4.985%
16. | NiSource 4.988%
17. | Appalachian Power Company 5.177%
18. | Jersey Central Power & Light Co. 5.502%
19. | Metropolitan Edison Company 5.607%
20. | Kentucky Power Company 5.833%
21. | Pennsylvania Electric Company 6.028%
22. | DTE Gas Company 6.349%
23. | Toledo Edison Company 6.463%
24. | Ameren lllinois Company 7.264%
25. | Ohio Edison Company 7.841%
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Mooby’s
INVESTORS SERVICE

Moody's upgrades the ratings of PPL US utility subsidiaries and confirms the
rating of PPL Corp. and LKE; rating outlook stable.

31 Jan 2014
Approximately $10.8 Billion of Debt Affected

New York, January 31, 2014 -- Moody's Investors Service today upgraded the ratings of PPL Corporation's US utility operating
subsidiaries: the rating of PPL Electric Utilities (PPLEU) was upgraded to Baal from Baa2 and the ratings of Louisville Gas &
Electric Company (LGE) and Kentucky Utilities (KU) were upgraded to A3 from Baal. Moody's confirmed the senior unsecured
ratings of PPL Corporation (PPL) at Baa3 and of LG&E and KU Energy LLC (LKE) at Baa2. This rating action completes our
review of PPL and its regulated operations initiated on November 8, 2013. The outlook for all PPL entities is stable.

The primary driver of today's positive rating action on PPL's US utility operating companies was Moody's more favorable view
of the relative credit supportiveness of the US regulatory environment, as detailed in our September 2013 Request for
Comment titled "Proposed Refinements to the Regulated Utilities Rating Methodology and our Evolving View of US Utility
Regulation."

The review, however, did not result in a corresponding upgrade for the parent holding company PPL because the upgrades of
PPL's US regulated utilities, which represent 31% of earnings, did not shift PPL's consolidated credit profile sufficiently. PPL's
consolidated financial metrics are also weak for its rating category. LKE did not receive an upgrade because of the high debt
level at LKE relative to the consolidated LKE. Moreover, because there is free movement of cash between PPL and LKE, PPL
has a constraining effect on LKE's ratings.

RATINGS RATIONALE

The ratings of PPL and its utility subsidiaries are underpinned by regulatory environments that, while they may vary somewhat
from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, are generally supportive of utility credit quality and by an energy commodity market that has
alleviated some of the pressure on rates generally. Additionally, PPL's rating is reflective of the consolidated credit profile
which has been transformed from a heavily merchant commodity driven and regionally focused operation, to a more diversified
and mostly rate regulated platform. These positive factors are balanced against financial metrics on a consolidated basis that
have been on the lower end of the range for benchmarks established for regulated utilities. As of end of third quarter 2013,
PPL's CFO Pre-WC/debt averaged over the past three years is 15.5%, while the benchmark for regulated utilities in the Baa
category is between 13% and 22%.

Rating Outlook

The stable outlook for PPL reflects our view that PPL's credit quality has been fortified through the growing share of its
regulated business. The stable outlook also incorporates a view that the company's large capital investment will be prudently
financed, to include if needed, the issuance of common equity. The unregulated generation assets' cash flow generating
capacity is expected to be lower over the next several years but further downsides are moderated by hedging and its declining
share to the consolidated cash flow.

What Could Change the Rating -- Up

Potential for upgrade is currently limited by its financial metrics which are weak for its ratings. Upgrade is possible if exposure
to unregulated activity continue to decline while cash flow to debt ratio improves 20% or above on a sustained basis.

What Could Change the Rating - Down

While we do not foresee any particular event that would result in a negative rating action, the company's cash flow to debt
credit metrics are expected to be weaker going forward due to the declining cash flow coming from its unregulated operations.
As a result, the company has a smaller margin of error for a negative rating action.

The principal methodology used in this rating was Regulated Electric and Gas Utilities published in December 2013. Please

https://www.moodys.com/viewresearchdoc.aspx?docid=PR 291615&WT.mc id=MDCAler... 2/1/2014
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see the Credit Policy page on www.moodys.com for a copy of this methodology.
Issuer: PPL Corporation

Outlook revised to stable from RUR-UP

Confirmed:

LT Issuer Rating: Baa3

Pref. Shelf ratings: (P)Ba2

Issuer: PPL Electric Utilities Corporation
Outlook revised to stable from RUR-UP
Upgraded:

LT Issuer Rating to Baal from Baa2
Senior unsecured to Baal from Baa2
Senior secured to A2 from A3

First Mortgage Bonds to A2 from A3
Preference Shelf to (P)Baa3 from (P)Bal
Senior Secured Shelf to (P)A2 from (P)A3
Affirmed:

Commercial paper rating of P-2

Issuer: LG&E and KU Energy LLC
Outlook revised to stable from RUR-UP
Confirmed:

LT Issuer Rating: Baa2

Senior unsecured: Baa2

Senior unsecured Self: (P)Baa2

Issuer: Louisville Gas & Electric Company
Outlook revised to stable from RUR-UP
Upgraded:

LT Issuer Rating to A3 from Baal

Senior unsecured to A3 from Baal

Senior secured to Al from A2

https://www.moodys.com/viewresearchdoc.aspx?docid=PR 291615&WT.mc id=MDCAler... 2/1/2014
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Senior secured Shelf to (P)Al from (P)A2
Affirmed:

Commercial Paper ratings: P-2

Issuer: Kentucky Ultilities Co.

Outlook revised to stable from RUR-UP
Upgraded:

LT Issuer Rating to A3 from Baal

Senior unsecured to A3 from Baal
Senior secured to Al from A2

Senior secured Shelf to (P)Al from (P)A2
Affirmed:

Commercial Paper rating: P-2
REGULATORY DISCLOSURES

For ratings issued on a program, series or category/class of debt, this announcement provides certain regulatory disclosures in
relation to each rating of a subsequently issued bond or note of the same series or category/class of debt or pursuant to a
program for which the ratings are derived exclusively from existing ratings in accordance with Moody's rating practices. For
ratings issued on a support provider, this announcement provides certain regulatory disclosures in relation to the rating action
on the support provider and in relation to each particular rating action for securities that derive their credit ratings from the
support provider's credit rating. For provisional ratings, this announcement provides certain regulatory disclosures in relation to
the provisional rating assigned, and in relation to a definitive rating that may be assigned subsequent to the final issuance of
the debt, in each case where the transaction structure and terms have not changed prior to the assignment of the definitive
rating in a manner that would have affected the rating. For further information please see the ratings tab on the issuer/entity
page for the respective issuer on www.moodys.com.

For any affected securities or rated entities receiving direct credit support from the primary entity(ies) of this rating action, and
whose ratings may change as a result of this rating action, the associated regulatory disclosures will be those of the guarantor
entity. Exceptions to this approach exist for the following disclosures, if applicable to jurisdiction: Ancillary Services, Disclosure
to rated entity, Disclosure from rated entity.

Regulatory disclosures contained in this press release apply to the credit rating and, if applicable, the related rating outlook or
rating review.

Please see www.moodys.com for any updates on changes to the lead rating analyst and to the Moody's legal entity that has
issued the rating.

Please see the ratings tab on the issuer/entity page on www.moodys.com for additional regulatory disclosures for each credit
rating.

Toby Shea

Vice President - Senior Analyst
Infrastructure Finance Group
Moody's Investors Service, Inc.
250 Greenwich Street

New York, NY 10007

U.S.A.

JOURNALISTS: 212-553-0376

https://www.moodys.com/viewresearchdoc.aspx?docid=PR 291615&WT.mc id=MDCAler... 2/1/2014
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William L. Hess

MD - Utilities

Infrastructure Finance Group
JOURNALISTS: 212-553-0376
SUBSCRIBERS: 212-553-1653

Releasing Office:

Moody's Investors Service, Inc.
250 Greenwich Street

New York, NY 10007

U.S.A

JOURNALISTS: 212-553-0376
SUBSCRIBERS: 212-553-1653

(C) 2014 Moody's Investors Service, Inc. and/or its licensors and affiliates (collectively, "MOODY'S"). All rights reserved.

CREDIT RATINGS ISSUED BY MOODY'S INVESTORS SERVICE, INC. ("MIS") AND ITS AFFILIATES ARE MOODY'S
CURRENT OPINIONS OF THE RELATIVE FUTURE CREDIT RISK OF ENTITIES, CREDIT COMMITMENTS, OR DEBT OR
DEBT-LIKE SECURITIES, AND CREDIT RATINGS AND RESEARCH PUBLICATIONS PUBLISHED BY MOODY'S
("MOODY'S PUBLICATIONS") MAY INCLUDE MOODY'S CURRENT OPINIONS OF THE RELATIVE FUTURE CREDIT RISK
OF ENTITIES, CREDIT COMMITMENTS, OR DEBT OR DEBT-LIKE SECURITIES. MOODY'S DEFINES CREDIT RISK AS
THE RISK THAT AN ENTITY MAY NOT MEET ITS CONTRACTUAL, FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS AS THEY COME DUE AND
ANY ESTIMATED FINANCIAL LOSS IN THE EVENT OF DEFAULT. CREDIT RATINGS DO NOT ADDRESS ANY OTHER
RISK, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO: LIQUIDITY RISK, MARKET VALUE RISK, OR PRICE VOLATILITY. CREDIT
RATINGS AND MOODY'S OPINIONS INCLUDED IN MOODY'S PUBLICATIONS ARE NOT STATEMENTS OF CURRENT
OR HISTORICAL FACT. CREDIT RATINGS AND MOODY'S PUBLICATIONS DO NOT CONSTITUTE OR PROVIDE
INVESTMENT OR FINANCIAL ADVICE, AND CREDIT RATINGS AND MOODY'S PUBLICATIONS ARE NOT AND DO NOT
PROVIDE RECOMMENDATIONS TO PURCHASE, SELL, OR HOLD PARTICULAR SECURITIES. NEITHER CREDIT
RATINGS NOR MOODY'S PUBLICATIONS COMMENT ON THE SUITABILITY OF AN INVESTMENT FOR ANY
PARTICULAR INVESTOR. MOODY'S ISSUES ITS CREDIT RATINGS AND PUBLISHES MOODY'S PUBLICATIONS WITH
THE EXPECTATION AND UNDERSTANDING THAT EACH INVESTOR WILL MAKE ITS OWN STUDY AND EVALUATION
OF EACH SECURITY THAT IS UNDER CONSIDERATION FOR PURCHASE, HOLDING, OR SALE.

ALL INFORMATION CONTAINED HEREIN IS PROTECTED BY LAW, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO, COPYRIGHT
LAW, AND NONE OF SUCH INFORMATION MAY BE COPIED OR OTHERWISE REPRODUCED, REPACKAGED,
FURTHER TRANSMITTED, TRANSFERRED, DISSEMINATED, REDISTRIBUTED OR RESOLD, OR STORED FOR
SUBSEQUENT USE FOR ANY SUCH PURPOSE, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, IN ANY FORM OR MANNER OR BY ANY
MEANS WHATSOEVER, BY ANY PERSON WITHOUT MOODY'S PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT.

All information contained herein is obtained by MOODY'S from sources believed by it to be accurate and reliable. Because of
the possibility of human or mechanical error as well as other factors, however, all information contained herein is provided "AS
I1S" without warranty of any kind. MOODY'S adopts all necessary measures so that the information it uses in assigning a credit
rating is of sufficient quality and from sources MOODY'S considers to be reliable including, when appropriate, independent
third-party sources. However, MOODY'S is not an auditor and cannot in every instance independently verify or validate
information received in the rating process. Under no circumstances shall MOODY'S have any liability to any person or entity
for (a) any loss or damage in whole or in part caused by, resulting from, or relating to, any error (negligent or otherwise) or
other circumstance or contingency within or outside the control of MOODY'S or any of its directors, officers, employees or
agents in connection with the procurement, collection, compilation, analysis, interpretation, communication, publication or
delivery of any such information, or (b) any direct, indirect, special, consequential, compensatory or incidental damages
whatsoever (including without limitation, lost profits), even if MOODY'S is advised in advance of the possibility of such
damages, resulting from the use of or inability to use, any such information. The ratings, financial reporting analysis,
projections, and other observations, if any, constituting part of the information contained herein are, and must be construed
solely as, statements of opinion and not statements of fact or recommendations to purchase, sell or hold any securities. Each
user of the information contained herein must make its own study and evaluation of each security it may consider purchasing,
holding or selling.

NO WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AS TO THE ACCURACY, TIMELINESS, COMPLETENESS, MERCHANTABILITY
OR FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE OF ANY SUCH RATING OR OTHER OPINION OR INFORMATION IS
GIVEN OR MADE BY MOODY'S IN ANY FORM OR MANNER WHATSOEVER.

MIS, a wholly-owned credit rating agency subsidiary of Moody's Corporation ("MCO"), hereby discloses that most issuers of
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debt securities (including corporate and municipal bonds, debentures, notes and commercial paper) and preferred stock rated
by MIS have, prior to assignment of any rating, agreed to pay to MIS for appraisal and rating services rendered by it fees
ranging from $1,500 to approximately $2,500,000. MCO and MIS also maintain policies and procedures to address the
independence of MIS's ratings and rating processes. Information regarding certain affiliations that may exist between directors
of MCO and rated entities, and between entities who hold ratings from MIS and have also publicly reported to the SEC an
ownership interest in MCO of more than 5%, is posted annually at www.moodys.com under the heading "Shareholder
Relations -- Corporate Governance -- Director and Shareholder Affiliation Policy."

For Australia only: Any publication into Australia of this document is pursuant to the Australian Financial Services License of
MOODY'S affiliate, Moody's Investors Service Pty Limited ABN 61 003 399 657AFSL 336969 and/or Moody's Analytics
Australia Pty Ltd ABN 94 105 136 972 AFSL 383569 (as applicable). This document is intended to be provided only to
"wholesale clients" within the meaning of section 761G of the Corporations Act 2001. By continuing to access this document
from within Australia, you represent to MOODY'S that you are, or are accessing the document as a representative of, a
"wholesale client" and that neither you nor the entity you represent will directly or indirectly disseminate this document or its
contents to "retail clients" within the meaning of section 761G of the Corporations Act 2001. MOODY'S credit rating is an
opinion as to the creditworthiness of a debt obligation of the issuer, not on the equity securities of the issuer or any form of
security that is available to retail clients. It would be dangerous for retail clients to make any investment decision based on
MOODY'S credit rating. If in doubt you should contact your financial or other professional adviser.

Mooby’s
INVESTORS SERVICE
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STANDARD & POOR’S
RATINGS SERVICES

MGGRAW HILL FINANCIAL

PPL Corp. And Subsidiaries 'BBB' Issuer Credit
Rating On CreditWatch Positive On Spin-Off Plan

Primary Credit Analyst:
Dimitri Nikas, New York (1) 212-438-7807; dimitri.nikas@standardandpoors.com

Secondary Contact:
Gerrit W Jepsen, CFA, New York (1) 212-438-2529; gerrit,jepsen@standardandpoors.com

* PPL Corp. (PPL) announced that it intends to spin off its unregulated
power generation subsidiary PPL Energy Supply LLC (PPLES).

* We are placing our 'BBB' issuer credit ratings (ICR) on PPL, PPL Electric
Utilities Corp. (PPLEU), LG&E and KU Energy LLC (LKE), Kentucky Utilities
Co. (KU), and Louisville Gas and Electric Co. (LG&E) on CreditWatch with
positive implications. We based the CreditWatch placement on the expected
improvement in PPL's business risk profile after the spin-off of PPLES
and sufficient credit measures that could result in a ratings upgrade.

* Based on the preliminary terms of the transaction, we believe the ICRs on
PPL and its U.S. regulated utility subsidiaries could be raised to 'A-',
subject to satisfactory regulated approvals and operating results
remaining in line with our expectations.

* We are affirming the 'A-2' short-term ratings.

NEW YORK (Standard & Poor's) June 10, 20l14--Standard & Poor's Ratings Services
today placed its 'BBB! issuer credit ratings on PPL Corp. and utility
subsidiaries PPL Electric Utilities Corp., Kentucky Utilities Co., and
Louisville Gas and Electric Co., as well as intermediate holding company LG&E
and KU Energy LLC on CreditWatch with positive implications. At the same time,
we affirmed the 'A-2' short-term ratings on the companies.

"Our CreditWatch placement reflects our expectation that PPL's credit profile
will strengthen after the spin-off of the unregulated power generation
subsidiary PPL Energy Supply LLC," said Standard & Poor's credit analyst
Gerrit Jepsen.

WWW.STANDARDANDPOORS.COM JUNE 10, 2014 1
© Standard & Poor's. Al rights reserved. No reprint or dissemination without Standard & Poor’s permission. See Terms of Use/Disclaimer on the last pagel 331147 | 300642892
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PPL Corp. And Subsidiaries 'BBB' Issuer Credit Rating On CreditWatch Positive On Spin-Off Plan

Based on our medial volatility financial ratio benchmarks, we expect to assess
PPL's financial risk profile as "significant", with projected credit
protection measures being mostly near the lower end of the category. PPL
currently has "adequate” liquidity, as our criteria define the term.

Standard & Poor's bases its ICR on PPL on the consolidated group credit
profile (GCP) and application of our group ratings methodology. PPL, as the
parent company, currently has an ICR equal to the 'bbb' GCP, which we will
reassess as part of the CreditWatch resolution. Under our group rating
methodology, we consider all of PPL's U.S. regulated utilities and their
intermediate holding companies core subsidiaries of -the PPL group because we
believe the utilities are integral to PPL's long-term strategy. The ICRs for
these subsidiaries are therefore most likely to remain equal to the GCP
established for PPL.

The CreditWatch placement will remain until the transaction closing, with
periodic- updates. Upon the transaction's completion, we could raise the issuer
credit ratings and issue ratings on PPL, LKE, LG&E, KU, and PPLEU by up to two
notches depending on the credit measures of the consolidated PPL group after
the PPLES divestiture. Material changes to the financial measures in our base
and cash flow generation capability of the pro forma group could affect the
ultimate financial risk profile;

RELATED CRITERIA AND RESEARCH .
* Criteria - Corporates - General: Methodology And Assumptions: Liquidity
Descriptors For Global Corporate Issuers, Jan. 2, 2014
* Criteria - Corporates - Utilities: Key Credit Factors For The Regulated
Utilities Industry, Nov. 19, 2013 '
* General Criteria: Group Rating Methodology, Nov. 19, 2013
* General Criteria: Methodology: Industry Risk, Nov. 19, 2013
* Criteria - Corporates - General: Corporate Methodology, Nov. 19, 2013
* General Criteria: Methodology: Industry Risk, Nov. 19, 2013
» Criteria - Corporates - General: Corporate Methodology: Ratios And
Adjustments, Nov. 18, 2013
* Criteria - Corporates - Utilities: Collateral Coverage And Issue Notching
Rules For ‘1+’ And ‘1’ Recovery Ratings On Senior Bonds Secured By
Utility Real Property, Feb. 14, 2013
* General Criteria: Methodology: Management And Governance Credit Factors
For Corporate Entities And Insurers, Nov. 13, 2012
* Genéral Criteria: Stand-Alone Credit Profiles: One Component Of A Rating,
Oct. 1, 2010
* Use of CreditWatch and Outlooks, Sept. 14, 2009
- » Criteria - Corporates - Utilities: Notching Of U.S. Investment-Grade
Investor-Owned Utility Unsecured Debt Now Better Reflects Anticipated
Absolute Recovery, Nov. 10, 2008
* 2008 Corporate Criteria: Rating Each Issue, April 15, 2008
« Criteria ~ Corporates - General: 2008 Corporate Criteria: Commercial Paper
, April 15, 2008

WWW.STANDARDANDPOORS.COM JUNE 10, 2014 . 2
© Standard & Poor's. All rights reserved. No reprint or dissemination without Standard & Poor’s permission. See Terms of Use/Disclaimer on the last paget 331147 | 300642852
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PPL Corp. And Subsidiaries 'BBB' Issuer Credit Rating On CreditWatch Positive On Spin-Off Plan

Complete ratings information is available to subscribers of RatingsDirect at
www.globalcreditportal.com and at www.spcapitalig.com. All ratings affected by
this rating action can be found on Standard & Poor's public Web site at
www,standardandpoors.com. Use the Ratings search box located in the left
column. :

WWW.STANDARDANDPOORS.COM . JUNE 10, 2014 .3

© Standard & Poor's. All rights reserved. No reprint or dissemination without Standard & Poor’s permission. See Terms of Use/Disclaimer on the last pagel 331147 | 300642892




Exhibit KWB-9
Page 4 of 4

Copyright © 2014 by Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC (S&P), a subsidiary of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc.All rights reserved.

No content (including ratings, credit-related analyses and data, model, software or other application or output therefrom) or any part thereof
(Content) may be modified, reverse engineered, reproduced or distributed in any form by any means, or stored in a database or retrieval system,
without the prior written permission of S&P. The Content shall not be used for any unlawful or unauthorized purposes. S&P, its affiliates, and any
third-party providers, as.well as their directors, officers, shareholders, employees or.agents (collectively S&P Parties) do not guarantee the accuracy,
completeness, timeliness. or availability of the Content, S&P Parties are not responsible for any errors or omissions, regardless of the cause, for the
results obtained from the use of the Content, or for the security or maintenance of any data input by the user. The Content is provided on an “as is”
basis. S&P PARTIES DISCLAIM ANY AND ALL EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ANY
WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR USE, FREEDOM FROM BUGS, SOFTWARE ERRORS
OR DEFECTS, THAT THE CONTENT’S FUNCTIONING WILL BE UNINTERRUPTED OR THAT THE CONTENT WILL OPERATE WITH ANY
SOFTWARE OR HARDWARE CONFIGURATION. In no event shall S&P Parties be liable to any party for any direct, indirect, incidental, exemplary,
compensatory, punitive, special or consequential damages, costs, expenses, legal fees, or losses (including, without limitation, lost income or lost
profits and opportunity costs) in connection with any use of the Content even if advised of the possibility of such damages.

Credit-related analyses, including ratings, and statements in the Content are statements of opinion as of the date they are expressed and not
statements of fact or recommendations to purchase, hold, or sell any securities or to make any investment decisions. S&P assumes no obligation to
update the Content following publication in.any form or format. The Content should not be relied on and is not a substitute for the skill, judgment
and experience of the user, its management, employees, advisors and/or clients when making investment and other business decisions, S&P’s
opinions and analyses do not address the suitability of any security. S&P does not act as a fiduciary or.an investment.advisor.. While S&P has
obtained information from sources it believes to be reliable, S&P does not perform an audit.and undertakes no duty of due diligence or independent

verification of any information it receives.

S&P keeps certain activities of its business units separate from each other in order to preserve the independence and objectivity of their respective
activities. As a result, certain business units of S&P may have information that is not.available to other S&P business units. S&P has established
policies and procedures to maintain the confidentiality of certain non-public information received in connection with.each analytical process.

S&P may receive compensation for its ratings and certain credit-related analyses, normally from issuers or underwriters of securities or from
obligors. S&P reserves the right to disseminate its opinions and analyses. S&P's public ratings and analyses are made available on its Web sites,
www.standardandpoors.com (free of charge), and www.ratingsdirect.com and www.globalcreditportal.com (subscription), and may be distributed
through other means, including via. S&P publications and third-party redistributors. Additional information about.our ratings fees is available at

www.standardandpoors.com/usratingsfees.

WWW.STANDARDANDPOORS.COM S . JUNE 10, 2014 .4
' 1331147 | 300642892
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$ Millions KU - Dividends vs. Equity Infusions
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Please state your name, position and business address.

My name is Paul W. Thompson. | am the Chief Operating Officer of Louisville Gas
and Electric Company (“LG&E”) and Kentucky Utilities Company (“KU”)
(collectively, the “Companies”) and an employee of LG&E and KU Services
Company, which provides services to the Companies. My business address is 220
West Main Street, Louisville, Kentucky 40202.

Please describe your educational and professional background.

| received a Bachelor of Science degree in Mechanical Engineering from the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology in 1979 and a Master of Business
Administration from the University of Chicago in Finance and Accounting in 1981.
Before joining LG&E Energy (now LG&E and KU Energy LLC) in 1991, | worked
eleven years in the oil, gas, and energy-related industries in positions of financial
management, general management, and sales. A complete statement of my work
experience and education is contained in the Appendix attached hereto.

Please describe your job duties as Chief Operating Officer.

As Chief Operating Officer, I am responsible for power generation functions,
engineering and construction, energy supply and analysis, electric distribution and
transmission, gas distribution and storage, and customer service.

When did you become Chief Operating Officer?

I was named Chief Operating Officer in February 2013. Previously, | served as
Senior Vice President of Energy Services. In that role, | oversaw generation,
transmission, and energy supply and analysis activities. The Companies created the

Chief Operating Officer position around the time of Chris Hermann’s retirement. Mr.
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Hermann had served as Senior Vice President of Energy Delivery, which means he
oversaw gas and electric distribution and customer service operations. The Chief
Operating Officer position combines these two former positions.

Have other organizational changes occurred since the last rate case?

Around the same time | was named Chief Operating Officer, LG&E created a new
position titled Vice President of Gas Distribution. The various gas distribution
functions were consolidated under this new position. The Vice President of Gas
Distribution is responsible for the safe, reliable, and strategic operation of LG&E’s
natural gas transmission and distribution systems and for the low-cost delivery of gas
to customers. Lonnie Bellar was named Vice President of Gas Distribution and
continues in that role today.

Have you previously testified before this Commission?

Yes, | have testified in the Companies’ last four base rate cases.! 1 testified in the
proceeding involving the early termination of the lease between Western Kentucky
Energy Corporation and Big Rivers Electric Corporation® and in the Commission’s

investigation of the Companies’ membership in the Midwest Independent

! In the Matter of: An Adjustment of the Gas and Electric Rates, Terms and Conditions of Louisville Gas and
Electric Company, Case No. 2003-0433; In the Matter of: An Adjustment of the Electric Rates, Terms and
Conditions of Kentucky Utilities Company, Case No. 2003-0434; In the Matter of: Application of Louisville Gas
and Electric Company for an Adjustment of Its Electric and Gas Base Rates, Case No. 2008-00252; In the
Matter of: Application of Kentucky Utilities Company for an Adjustment of Base Rates, Case No. 2008-00251;
In the Matter of: Application of Louisville Gas and Electric Company for an Adjustment of Its Electric and Gas
Base Rates, Case No. 2009-00549; In the Matter of: Application of Kentucky Utilities Company for an
Adjustment of Base Rates, Case No. 2009-00548; In the Matter of: Application of Kentucky Utilities Company
for an Adjustment of Its Electric Rates, Case No. 2012-00221; In the Matter of: Application of Louisville Gas
and Electric Company for an Adjustment of Its Electric and Gas Rates, a Certificate of Public Convenience and
Necessity, Approval of Ownership of Gas Service Lines and Risers, and a Gas Line Surcharge, Case No. 2012-
00222.

2 In the Matter of: The Applications of Big Rivers Electric Corporation for (I) Approval of Wholesale Tariff
Additions for Big Rivers Electric Corporation, (11) Approval of Transactions, (I11) Approval to Issue Evidences
of Indebtedness, and (IV) Approval of Amendments to Contracts; and of E.On U.S., LLC, Western Kentucky
Energy Corp., and LG&E Energy Marketing, Inc. for Approval of Transactions, Case No. 2007-00455.
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Transmission System Operator, Inc.® | also testified when the Companies sought and
received approval to construct a natural gas combined-cycle combustion turbine.*
Most recently, I testified in Case No. 2014-00002 involving the Companies’ request
for a certificate of public convenience and necessity (“CPCN”) to construct a solar
photovoltaic facility at the E.W. Brown Generating Station.”

What is the purpose of your testimony?

My testimony describes the operational side of the Companies, including how the
Companies continue to provide safe and reliable service to our customers, make
significant capital and operation and maintenance expenditures to improve utility
plant, and maintain our commitment to safety and customer service. These efforts
have come with increased costs despite our work to increase productivity and achieve
efficiencies. While Kent Blake and others explain the specific reasons why the
Companies seek a rate increase, my testimony provides context and detail to the

operational reasons behind the request.

® Investigation Into the Membership of Louisville Gas and Electric Company and Kentucky Utilities Company
in the Midwest Independent Transmission System Operator, Inc., Case No. 2003-00266.

* In the Matter of: Joint Application of Louisville Gas and Electric Company and Kentucky Utilities Company
for a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity and Site Compatibility Certificate for the Construction of
a Combined Cycle Combustion Turbine at the Cane Run Generating Station and the Purchase of Existing
Simple Cycle Combustion Turbine Facilities from Bluegrass Generation Company, LLC in LaGrange,
Kentucky, Case No. 2011-00375.

> In the Matter of: Joint Application of Louisville Gas and Electric Company and Kentucky Utilities Company
for Certificates of Public Convenience and Necessity for the Construction of a Combined Cycle Combustion
Turbine at the Green River Generating Station and a Solar Photovoltaic Facility at the E.W. Brown Generating
Station, Case No. 2014-00002. The Companies are no longer seeking a CPCN for the generating unit at Green
River.
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OVERVIEW

Operating Stress Test

Have the Companies faced any operational challenges since their last rate cases?
Yes. The electric and gas industries face continual and ever-changing challenges,
including increasing regulatory constraints, unpredictable severe weather events, and
difficult economic conditions. These challenges have resulted in increased operating
complexity and expense. LG&E and KU meet the operational challenges of this
complex environment in part by employing, training, and retaining a sophisticated
workforce capable of doing whatever is reasonably necessary to meet customer need,
be it implementing the latest regulatory requirements, restoring power following
significant storms, or assessing the least-cost option for new generation needs.
Perhaps the most significant event since the Companies’ last rate cases
involved the polar vortex experienced in early 2014. The consistently cold
temperatures in January and February 2014 were among the coldest on record.
January 2014 was the third-coldest January in the last twenty years; February 2014
was the fourth-coldest February in the last twenty years. On January 6, 2014, and
January 7, 2014, the Companies set several new peak energy demand records,
including their highest ever combined system winter peak demand of 7,114 MW on
January 6. KU also experienced its highest peak demand ever at the hour ending 9:00
a.m. EST on January 7, 2014, when demand was 5,068 MW. That same day, the
Companies set a record for the most energy provided in a day by providing 153,967
MWh to their customers. LG&E’s gas business set an all-time record for natural gas

sendout on January 6 by providing 557,000 Mcf.
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I am proud to say the Companies’ utility systems met the demands placed on
them by such highly adverse conditions. While other utility companies experienced
challenges ranging from generators not starting to issues with securing natural gas,
the Companies safely delivered energy to their customers in a time of operational
stress and critical customer need. When our customers’ needs were greatest, our
systems delivered the energy customers needed to stay warm, have lighting, and
operate their businesses.

That said, the Companies’ good past performance does not preclude future
improvement. To that end, the Companies are carefully reviewing the North
American Electric Reliability Corporation’s (“NERC”) Polar Vortex Review, which
NERC issued in September 2014 in response to certain performance shortcomings
experienced by utilities during the extreme weather. NERC, working with the utility
industry, identified possible improvements to the power industry’s cold-weather
operations and changes to the natural gas industry’s scheduling process. The
Companies will make all prudent performance-enhancing procedural changes or
investments indicated by the Companies’ analysis of the Polar Vortex Review, though
the Companies’ preliminary review indicates they are performing to expectations.

Programs and Practices to Achieve Efficiency and Productivity

Do you agree with Mr. Staffieri’s testimony that the Companies have programs
and practices in place to achieve improvements in efficiency and productivity?

Absolutely. The Companies have many existing programs and practices across all
areas to achieve improvements in efficiency and productivity. While specific
advantages vary—such as streamlining a process, reducing unplanned maintenance

costs, or automating a task—all benefits inure to our customers through the efficient

5
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delivery of reliable electric and gas service. My testimony will further describe the
many programs and practices that Power Generation, Transmission, Electric
Distribution, Gas Distribution, and Customer Services use to enhance their efficiency
and productivity.

One program of particular importance to the Companies is the written policy
regarding our Competitive Bid Process. The electric and gas industries involve
significant capital investment and operation and maintenance spending. We take
seriously our obligation to provide safe, reliable, and low-cost energy to our
customers.  Therefore, we competitively bid materials, supplies, and projects
involving the expenditure of more than $50,000 unless competitive bids cannot be
obtained or competitive bidding is not reasonable under the circumstances. The
Companies do not competitively bid where the technical capability or availability of a
particular vendor is required, such as when a boiler modification or repair is made
and the original equipment manufacturer is the best source due to their knowledge of
design and engineering specifications. These situations are, however, the exception
rather than the rule; and many purchases under the $50,000 threshold are
competitively bid.

The Companies’ Competitive Bid Process policy is spelled out within the
Companies’ Purchasing Guidelines. The process entails up to eight steps from the
initial development and publication of a request for proposals through execution of a
contract. The overall goal of the process is to secure the best overall value while
treating all suppliers fairly and consistently. For example, the Companies develop

bid-evaluation criteria prior to bid opening. The Companies make it a point to
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include woman- and minority-owned businesses in the bidding process when possible
and have had success in doing so.

One particularly topical example of the Companies’ Competitive Bid Process
is the construction of Cane Run Unit 7 (“CR7”), which is discussed in greater detail
below. Initially, the Companies projected the cost of CR7 to be $583 million.
Current figures project the final cost to be $563 million. The Companies believe the
Competitive Bid Process contributed to these savings.

Operating Changes Supporting an Increase in Base Rates

Why is a rate increase needed at this time?

The Companies have made and are continuing to make significant capital investments
needed to serve customers and comply with new and upcoming environmental
regulations. Since the close of the test period for the Companies’ last rate cases,® they
have invested approximately $1.5 billion in capital projects to serve customers
(excluding capital investments recovered through rate mechanisms). This includes
approximately $755 million for generation-related projects, $212 million for
transmission, $337 million for electric distribution, $79 million for gas distribution,
and $25 million for customer services. The following tables show actual capital
investments by company and operational line of business from April 1, 2012 (the end
of the prior test period), through August 31, 2014; forecasted amounts from

September 1, 2014, through June 30, 2016; and comprehensive amounts from the end

® The Companies last filed base rate cases in 2012 based on an historical test year. The test year in the prior
case was April 1, 2011, through March 31, 2012. See In the Matter of: Application of Kentucky Utilities
Company for an Adjustment of Its Electric Rates, Case No. 2012-00221; In the Matter of: Application of
Louisville Gas and Electric Company for an Adjustment of Its Electric and Gas Rates, a Certificate of Public
Convenience and Necessity, Approval of Ownership of Gas Service Lines and Risers, and a Gas Line
Surcharge, Case No. 2012-00222.



of the prior test period through the end of the forecasted test period (April 1, 2012,

through June 30, 2016):

L G&E Electric Capital Investment (millions)’

Line of Business April 1,2012to | September 1,2014 | April 1, 2012 to
August 31, 2014 to June 30, 2016 June 30, 2016
Generation $259 $184 $443
Transmission $93 $39 $132
Distribution $147 $144 $291
Customer Service $7 $6 $12
Total $506 $373 $878

LG&E Gas Capital Investment (millions)

Line of Business

April 1, 2012 to
August 31, 2014

September 1, 2014
to June 30, 2016

April 1, 2012 to
June 30, 2016

Distribution $79 $54 $133
Customer Service $7 $6 $14
Total $87 $60 $148

KU Electric Capital

Investment (millions)

Line of Business

April 1, 2012 to
August 31, 2014

September 1, 2014
to June 30, 2016

April 1, 2012 to
June 30, 2016

Generation $496 $205 $701
Transmission $119 $83 $201
Distribution $190 $165 $355
Customer Service $11 $14 $25
Total $816 $466 $1,282

Much of this capital investment through August 31, 2014 (over $480 million),

relates to construction of CR7, a natural gas combined-cycle unit expected to begin

commercial operation in May 2015. The construction of this unit is on schedule and

under budget. Other significant capital projects since the last rate case include both

nonrecurring investments, such as the ongoing renovation at LG&E’s Ohio Falls

Generating Station—which is explained in more detail below—and recurring

" These tables are not comprehensive and do not include certain expenditures or services that are shared
between the Companies, such as information technology, finance, and human resources. Slight differences may

exist due to rounding.
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investment, such as work on generating unit boilers and tubing and pole
replacements.

Although significant, these capital investments are not over. The Companies
anticipate making additional capital investments of $486 million during the forecasted
test period. The investment during the test period will occur across all lines of
business. Significant capital projects during the forecasted test period include circuit
hardening and the replacement of utility poles to improve reliability, construction of a
solar facility at Brown to increase renewable-resource generating capacity, and
demolition of the retired coal-fired units at Paddy’s Run Generating Station to
increase safety.

Capital investment alone is not the only reason an increase in rates is needed.
Operation and maintenance expenses also have increased. As discussed throughout
my testimony, the Companies have a full suite of programs and practices to create
efficiencies and increase productivity. Nonetheless, economic and regulatory
changes have increased expenses. These increased costs are due to many factors,
such as the cost to maintain a competitive and skilled workforce, more equipment and
operating complexity requiring more employees, general inflation, and additional
pension expense due to updated actuarial standards the IRS is anticipated to adopt.
My testimony describes how customer needs, regulatory requirements, capital
projects, and future retirements will require additional employees throughout each
line of business by the end of the forecasted test period.

Ultimately, customers deserve safe and reliable service, and we do our best to

deliver. Providing this essential service requires the commitment of financial and
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human resources, and the Companies strive to do so at the lowest reasonable cost.
Despite the best efforts of our employees, though, we must seek to increase base rates
to recover the cost of capital invested and operational expenditures made to meet our
customers’ energy needs.

GENERATION SYSTEMS

Please describe LG&E’s generation system.

LG&E owns and operates approximately 3,221 MW of summer net generating
capacity with a net book value of approximately $1.2 billion. LG&E’s generating
system consists primarily of three coal-fired generating stations: Cane Run, Mill
Creek (both located in Jefferson County), and Trimble County. LG&E also owns and
operates multiple natural-gas-fired combustion turbines, which supplement the
system during peak periods, and the Ohio Falls hydroelectric station, which provides
base load supply subject to river flow constraints. LG&E also purchases power from
the Ohio Valley Electric Corporation (“OVEC”) through a long-existing Inter-
Company Power Agreement and anticipates purchasing power from Bluegrass
Generation Company, LLC (“Bluegrass”), located in Oldham County, Kentucky, in
the near future as described below.

Please describe KU’s generation system.

KU owns and operates approximately 4,693 MW of summer net generating capacity
with a net book value of approximately $3 billion. KU’s generating system primarily
consists of four generating stations: Ghent in Carroll County, E.W. Brown in Mercer
County, Trimble County, and Green River in Muhlenberg County. The last
operational generating unit at Tyrone in Woodford County was retired in 2013.

Additionally, KU owns and operates multiple natural-gas-fired combustion turbines,
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which supplement the system during peak periods, and a hydroelectric generating
station at Dix Dam, located next to the Dix System Control Center. KU also
purchases power from OVEC through the same long-existing Inter-Company Power
Agreement.

Do LG&E and KU engage in joint planning of their generation resource needs?
Yes. LG&E and KU, as owners and operators of interconnected electric generation
and transmission facilities, achieve economic benefits through joint integrated
resource planning and acquisition. Moreover, the Companies achieve economies by
their joint operation as a single interconnected utility. Finally, the joint dispatch of
the Companies’ combined eighteen coal-fired units, eleven hydro units, and twenty
simple-cycle combustion turbines continues to produce efficiencies through joint
dispatch capabilities and intercompany sales of power. Once commercially
operational, CR7 will be included in this joint dispatch, as will the power purchased
from Bluegrass.

As a result of this joint planning, do LG&E and KU jointly own certain
generating units and combustion turbines?

Yes. KU and LG&E, together with the Illinois Municipal Electric Agency (“IMEA”)
and the Indiana Municipal Power Association (“IMPA”), jointly own Trimble County
Unit 2 (“TC2”)%; KU’s ownership share is 60.75 percent, LG&E’s ownership share is
14.25 percent, and IMEA and IMPA together hold a 25 percent share. LG&E and
KU also jointly own several peaking units: Trimble County Units 5 through 10, E.W.

Brown Units 5 through 7, and Paddy’s Run Unit 13.

8 LG&E owns 75 percent of Trimble County Unit 1, with IMEA and IMPA owning the remaining 25 percent.
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Please describe the reliability of LG&E’s and KU’s generation systems.

LG&E and KU have a history of reliable and efficient generation performance. This
is evidenced through the Companies’ weighted average Equivalent Forced Outage
Rate (“EFOR”) and capacity factors. The Companies’ EFOR, a commonly used
industry standard to measure the reliability of coal-fired generating units, has
historically remained below the industry average. LG&E’s and KU’s weighted
EFOR during 2013 was 7.7 percent, while its five-year average from 2009 through
2013 was 6.5 percent. The most recent three-year national average for EFOR
(through 2012) across all electric utilities was 8.3 percent. These comparisons
demonstrate that the Companies’ performance is comparable to reliable generating
units nationwide.

Generation Efficiency and Productivity Programs and Practices

Can you please describe the efficiency and productivity programs and practices
that Power Generation uses in generating electricity?

Certainly. One of the most significant practices is predictive maintenance, which is
fully integrated into the Companies’ six generating stations. The purpose is to
provide the generating stations and facilities with strategy, expertise, information, and
services essential to optimize maintenance and operating decisions based on
measured equipment condition. It does so through four technologies at each
generating station: vibration analysis, oil analysis, thermal imaging, and motor
testing. These technologies provide for the early detection of machine issues, such as
imbalances and gearing defects. The information received from these technologies
allows the Companies to establish maintenance practices that reduce the number of

unexpected component failures and unnecessary equipment changes. For example,
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one of the units at Paddy’s Run Generating Station was able to forego time-based oil
changes this year because the predictive maintenance oil analyses showed the change
was unnecessary, thereby reducing maintenance costs without negatively affecting
reliability.

Power Generation also uses remote performance monitoring to detect early
anomalies that could indicate emerging issues with plant equipment and systems.
Remote performance monitoring initially began as a pilot in 2010 at two coal-fired
plants and was later extended to the entire coal-fired fleet and combustion turbines at
the Brown and Trimble County generating stations. The program collects data from
the plants’ Distributed Control System, which is then sent to Black and Veatch for
monitoring and analysis based on models that track normal operating ranges to look
for data points that fall outside these ranges. Black and Veatch alerts the Companies
to any anomalous parameters and provides information to help diagnose the issue and
return the parameter to normal operational values. This early detection allows LG&E
and KU to avoid costly failures while keeping equipment operating in a reliable
manner.

Does Power Generation have efficiency and productivity practices in place with
respect to its boilers?

Yes, LG&E and KU have two such practices. First, the Companies improve reliability
and preserve life of boiler pressure parts through utilizing best practices for
inspection, repairs, and replacement. This practice allows the Companies to assess
the current condition of boiler components through planned outages, which allows not

only for immediate repairs, but informed corrective actions and future repair plans.
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Second, the Companies engage in corrosion fatigue mitigation efforts. The
Companies systematically identify, remove, and prevent future occurrences of
corrosion fatigue in their boilers. Since 2007, eight boilers have been inspected. The
information gleaned from these inspections helps prevent boiler component failures
and allows the Companies to refine their corrosion-removal methodologies.

Are there other efficiency and productivity practices that Power Generation
employs?

Yes, there are two other efficiency and productivity practices | should discuss. First,
the Companies utilize three-dimensional analytical software to perform stress
analyses on all high energy piping in the Companies’ plants. The software allows the
Companies to prioritize repair and inspection needs and estimate the remaining life of
components.

The Companies also utilize a catalyst management program on its selective
catalytic reduction (“SCR”) equipment to implement guidelines to protect and
monitor this important equipment. SCR equipment consists of a large box containing
multiple layers of nitrogen oxide (“NOy”) reduction catalyst. Catalyst reactivity
degrades over time and must be replaced to maintain the requisite NOy removal
efficiency. The Catalyst Management Program provides clear direction to all affected
departments regarding their SCR management responsibilities. This ensures the
equipment is properly and efficiently maintained.

These programs and others have led to the Companies spending on average
$7.13 per MWh on non-fuel generation costs from 2009-2013. This compares

favorably to the $9.98 national average and places the Companies in the top quartile
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nationwide according to Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”)
benchmarking data.

Cane Run 7 and Other New Generation Resources

Please provide an update on CRY7.

On May 3, 2012, the Commission granted the Companies a CPCN to construct CR7.°
CRY7 is a natural gas, combined-cycle combustion turbine unit that utilizes state-of-
the-art technology to minimize environmental impact while maximizing efficiency.
CR7 will have a net summer generation capacity of 640 MW. Construction of CR7 is
approaching its final phases.

As part of constructing CR7, the Companies also installed an approximately
8-mile, 20” natural gas transmission line from a new city gate station adjacent to
LG&E’s Penile Road city gate station to the Cane Run Generation Station. Work on
the natural gas transmission line began in January 2014. The work is now complete
and the line is in service.

Will CR7 be jointly owned?
Yes. Following appropriate analysis and Commission approval, KU will own 78
percent of CR7 with LG&E owning the remaining 22 percent. CR7 will be jointly

and economically dispatched according to need.

° In the Matter of: Joint Application of Louisville Gas and Electric Company and Kentucky Utilities Company
for a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity and Site Compatibility Certificate for the Construction of
a Combined Cycle Combustion Turbine at the Cane Run Generating Station and the Purchase of Existing
Simple Cycle Combustion Turbine Facilities from Bluegrass Generation Company, LLC in LaGrange,
Kentucky, Case No. 2011-00375. Prior to filing their application for a CPCN for CR7, the Companies’ issued a
request for proposals to 116 potential energy suppliers in an effort to meet a projected capacity shortfall. The
Companies received 18 responses containing 50 offers. The construction of CR7 was part of the least-cost
alternative for meeting their capacity and energy needs.
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Is CR7 the most significant ongoing new generation investment in base rates?
Yes, though as explained below, CR7 is not the only ongoing generation investment.
Through August 2014, the Companies have invested $484 million in the construction
of CR7. The current total projected cost to construct CR7 is approximately $563
million (including the natural gas transmission pipeline), which is less than the $583
million projected cost when the Companies filed for a CPCN for CR7. The
construction of CR7 has been cost efficient and reflects the benefits of our
competitive bid policy. The cost of the unit per kW, when compared to its generation
capacity, is projected to be $879 per kW based on a 640 MW summer capacity.
Please describe how CR7 will achieve efficiency while minimizing environmental
impact.
CR7 will be the Companies’ first non-coal baseload and intermediate load generating
unit, although the Companies have significant experience with other combustion
turbines used for peak load. It is well established that environmental regulatory
requirements over the last several years have made it more difficult and costly to
construct and operate coal-fired generating units. When combined with current and
projected natural gas prices, the Companies’ analysis showed that a natural gas
combined-cycle generating unit would be the least-cost option to comply with
environmental requirements and replace a significant portion of the 797 MW of coal-
fired generation that has been, or will be, retired as part of the environmental
compliance plan.

When compared to existing facilities at the Cane Run Generation Station, CR7

will greatly reduce the emission of particulate matter and NOy, while emissions of
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sulfur dioxide (“SO,”) will be virtually eliminated. In addition, CR7 will not produce
any combustion by-products that would require landfill needs.

Are the Companies expending funds for other generation projects?

Yes. One of the most significant is a new power-purchase agreement with Bluegrass.
The Commission previously approved the Companies’ proposed acquisition of
Bluegrass’s generating facility, but the acquisition was not consummated because of
conditions FERC imposed on the transaction.”® The Companies now have determined
that entrance into the Capacity Purchase and Tolling Agreement dated August 26,
2014, (the “Agreement”) with Bluegrass presents a favorable opportunity for meeting
a portion of LG&E’s capacity and power supply requirements to maintain a reliable
reserve margin at time of system peak. At present, the Companies are allocating 100
percent of the purchased power to LG&E, although the Agreement allows the
Companies to change the allocation based on future system demands.

On September 19, 2014, the Companies filed an application seeking
Commission approval for their entry into the Agreement.** Assuming approval, the
Companies will be entitled to 165 MW of firm generation capacity and output from
Bluegrass Unit 3 beginning May 1, 2015. The Agreement lasts through April 30,

2019. The Agreement requires the Companies to pay capacity charges, operating-

19 In the Matter of: Joint Application of Louisville Gas and Electric Company and Kentucky Utilities Company
for a Certificate of Convenience and Necessity and Site Compatibility Certificate for the Construction of a
Combined Cycle Combustion Turbine at the Cane Run Generating Station and the Purchase of Existing Simple
Cycle Combustion Turbine Facilities from Bluegrass Generation Company, LLC in LaGrange, Kentucky, Case
No. 2011-00375, Order (May 3, 2012).

In the Matter of: Verified Application of Louisville Gas and Electric Company and Kentucky Utilities
Company for a Declaratory Order and Approval Pursuant to KRS 278.300 for a Capacity Purchase and Tolling
Agreement, Case No. 2014-00321.
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and-maintenance charges, and start-up charges. The Companies expect annual total
fixed charges, based on a full year, of approximately $9.6 million.

The Companies also plan to invest about $4 million each in capital during the
forecasted test period on blackstart generation capability. Generally speaking, a
blackstart generating unit is one that can start without an outside electric supply.
Blackstart units are used following a total grid shutdown to get other generating units
up and running. Modern generating units such as TC2 and CR7 require new or
enhanced blackstart capability as these higher capacity units require more power for
system start-up.

Q. Please provide an update on the solar-power project at Brown Generating
Station.

A. On January 17, 2014, the Companies submitted a CPCN application for the
construction of a new 10 MW solar photovoltaic facility at the Brown Generating
Station.* If approved, ownership of the solar facility will be allocated 61 percent to
KU and 39 percent to LG&E. The Companies anticipate the project will cost $36
million, much of which will be expended during the forecasted test period. The
Companies and all but one intervenor submitted an Agreement, Stipulation and
Recommendation to the Commission on October 1, 2014. On November 24, 2014,
the Commission conducted a hearing and the matter is now under Commission

consideration.

12 1n the Matter of: Joint Application of Louisville Gas and Electric Company and Kentucky Utilities Company
for Certificates of Public Convenience and Necessity for the Construction of a Combined Cycle Combustion
Turbine at the Green River Generating Station and a Solar Photovoltaic Facility at the E.W. Brown Generating
Station, Case No. 2014-00002.
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Investment in Existing Generation Assets

Have the Companies continued to invest in generation reliability and
infrastructure since their last rate cases?

Yes. As described above in my testimony regarding efficiency and productivity
programs and practices, the Companies continuously assess methods to improve
reliability and reduce risk, then act accordingly. The Companies’ reliability activities
can generally be categorized in one of several categories: controls,
transformers/generators, turbines, boilers, and hydroelectric. Several recent projects
are described below.

The Companies added control technologies to allow for tighter control of key
operating parameters and provide integrated systems optimization not previously
available with analog controls. Hardware upgrades were installed on the distributed
control systems on Mill Creek 1 and 4 and Trimble County 1. Additionally, the
Companies have improved the controls on some steam turbines, including
electrohydraulic controls upgrades on Mill Creek Units 1, 3, and 4.

As for transformers and generators, generator rewind/refurbishment was
completed on Brown 3 and voltage regulators on Ghent 1, 2, and 3 were replaced.
The planned installation of generator stator bars on Mill Creek 4 in 2014 and Mill
Creek 1 and 2 in 2015 will maintain existing reliability and ensure minimal downtime
and continued operation into the future. The Companies have also improved
reliability by purchasing spare Generator Step Up transformers. As replacement
transformers can take months for manufacturing and delivery, having these spare
transformers on hand assists with faster unit restoration should an existing

transformer fail.
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Investments have also been made for turbines. Major steam turbine overhauls
were completed recently on Mill Creek 1 and 2, Ghent 2, and Brown 3. The
overhauls included repairing or refurbishing components to ensure reliability.
Additionally, diesel generators were purchased for the combustion turbines at the
Trimble and Brown Generating Stations and Paddy’s Run Unit 12. The Trimble and
Brown diesel generators maintain power to the existing auxiliary systems for the
combustion turbines. The Paddy’s Run Unit 12 diesel generator ensures the unit is
available for a blackstart.

The Companies have also completed boiler tube studies utilizing inspections
and the latest software modeling tools to identify boiler sections in need of
replacement. These efforts continue to ensure boiler availability and reliability.

As for the Companies’ hydroelectric sites, a complete renovation is ongoing at
the Ohio Falls Station and is a part of the FERC relicensing process. The project
includes new wicket gates, impellers, generator rewinds, and new unit controls and
instrumentation. The rehabilitation project will increase each unit’s rated nameplate
capacity and will increase the energy produced from the available water, since the
upgraded units are more efficient. The project is scheduled for completion in 2017,
though five of the eight Ohio Falls units have been renovated and placed back into
service. From the close of the test period in the last base rate case through the close
of the forecasted test period, LG&E anticipates investing nearly $63 million on this
project, $15 million of which will be expended in the test period.

As for Dix Dam, the rehabilitation project on all three units is complete and

the available capacity from those units was increased from 24 MW to 32 MW. The
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project included refurbishment of the turbines, generators, and wicket gates, while
work was also done to remediate leakage through the dam’s face-slab joints.
Please provide an update on TC2’s performance.
TC2 is a complex, supercritical coal-fired unit with a full suite of environmental
controls, including SCR, flue gas desulfurization, dry and wet -electrostatic
precipitators, and baghouse equipment. TC2 is typically one of the first base load
generating units economically dispatched due to its low-heat rate and fuel cost.
Consequently, the Companies dispatch as much of TC2’s generating capacity as
possible. TC2 has proven to be the cost-efficient unit the Companies anticipated,
even though the unit’s original burners had design issues that had to be remedied.
During 2013, TC2 had one planned outage to make an interim change to the
burners so they would last until a final design fix could be implemented. TC2 also
had an outage extension to correct issues related to its turbine oil system. TC2 was
available and performed during the critically important peak summer months (July
and August) and during January 2014 when the Companies’ generation systems were
pressed to meet new peak load conditions during unusually cold weather conditions.
TC2 underwent a fifteen-week outage in the spring of 2014 for complete
burner replacement. This included repositioning the burner throat openings, installing
new oil igniters, adding additional over-fire air ports, repositioning the coal supply
pipes, and re-commissioning the combustion-system controls. Additional work
included replacing the bags in the fabric filter, replacing transition connections in the
boiler roof, reconditioning the grinding systems, and replacing the chains and

sprockets in the submerged scraper conveyor. TC2 came back online on May 28,
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2014. An additional two-week outage occurred over the summer caused by a
malfunction in the main turbine steam valves. The malfunction was caused by TC2’s
electro-hydraulic control system. The system was flushed, tested, and returned to
service and is working as intended. Additional improvements to the system are
planned for TC2’s next scheduled outage.

TC2 has performed well since these outages. In October of 2014, the new
burners and combustion system successfully completed testing on a variety of coals
as specified in the original design criteria. The combustion system performance
issues now appear to have been resolved, and the new burners are operating under a
new warranty period. We continue to believe TC2 will provide good value to our
customers in the future.

Please provide an update on the retirement of generating units at the Cane Run,
Green River, and Tyrone Generating Stations.

The Companies currently plan to retire the coal-fired units at Cane Run Generating
Station when CR7 achieves commercial operation. As for the Green River
Generating Station units, the Companies plan to request permission from the
Kentucky Division of Air Quality in December of this year to extend operation of the
units to April 2016. An additional one-year extension through April 2017 is possible
under the Mercury and Air Toxics Standards if grid reliability concerns are present.
The last unit operating at Tyrone was retired in 2013. Thus, the Companies will have
retired 797 MW of coal-fired capacity by April 2016. Lastly, the Companies
anticipate beginning the demolition of the retired units at the Paddy’s Run and Canal

Generating Stations.
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Please provide a brief update on the Companies’ overall environmental
compliance.

The Companies continue to make significant investments in infrastructure aimed
toward complying with ever tighter environmental requirements. Our compliance
plans and associated capital investments in environmental controls are described in
detail in other proceedings before the Commission and are subject to the
Commission’s continuous oversight and review. Through the years, emissions of
criteria pollutants such as SO, and NOy have fallen even though generation output has
increased. For example, from 1997 through our forecast for 2018, SO, emission
levels will have dropped by 83 percent, and NOy emission rates will have dropped by
74 percent although our customers’ energy needs will have risen by over 21 percent.

Generation Workforce

Do the Companies anticipate a change in headcount for Generation operations

through the end of the forecasted test period?

Yes. From April 1, 2012, through the end of the forecasted test period, the

Companies anticipate Generation headcount will increase by 50 positions, or 5

percent.

Please explain the cause for Generation’s increased headcount.

The primary drivers are equipment additions associated with capital projects and the

need to retain core skills and knowledge. First, the Companies are currently engaged

in several-billion-dollars’ worth of capital projects, including CR7 and environmental

control equipment. These significant construction projects impact staffing needs.
Second, the Companies face multiple issues on the core skill building and

knowledge retention and transfer front. These include the large number of
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contractors traditionally used by the Companies. The Companies have identified
several key positions that they believe should be filled by Company employees to
ensure core skills and knowledge are retained.

Off-System Sales

Please describe off-system sales.

The Companies build or acquire generation resources to serve their native load
customers and maintain an adequate reserve margin. When the load demands of
native load customers do not require this generation, the Companies attempt to sell
this power for a profit in the wholesale power market. The sales are made only when
the demand of native load customers does not require the Companies’ full generation
resources and when the market price is above our marginal cost.

What is the current status of the off-system sales market?

The off-system sales market continues to experience low pricing. A weak economy
and current low natural gas prices have decreased power market prices, which in turn
have caused a decrease in opportunities for off-system sales. These factors make the
off-system sales market unreliable for producing revenue. Even with lower prices in
the off-system sales market, the Companies’ use of their generating units to provide
energy to their customers remains a lower-cost option than purchasing power in the
off-system sales market. Additionally, customers get the reliability associated with
the Companies having generation units dedicated to meeting their load demand, as
evidenced by numerous peak records set during the early 2014 polar vortex.

Have the Companies’ experienced significant off-system sales in the recent past?
No. The Companies make every effort to sell excess power to others in the wholesale

power market when their generation facilities are not needed to serve native load
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customers and a profit is expected. The energy produced by coal-fired units, which
have a lower cost of operation compared to other types of units, is now utilized
almost exclusively by native-load customers. This makes opportunities scarce in the
current market for making off-system sales. The table below shows the Companies’

off-system sales margins since 2005.

Year Margin (in millions) Volume (in GWh)
2005 $116.0 4,441
2006 $60.0 4,953
2007 $27.1 3,092
2008 $38.5 5,723
2009 $4.1 1,398
2010 $3.0 540
2011 $10.9 1,644
2012 $2.1 418
2013 $4.6 503
2014 (through August) $10.0 365
Forecasted Test Period $3.3 390

The amount of off-system sales margins included in the forecasted test period is
discussed in detail in Mr. Sinclair’s testimony. As these figures demonstrate, a
distinction exists between the off-system sales market as it existed in 2008 and before
versus 2009 and after. Off-system sales margins for 2005 through 2008 averaged
over $60 million per year. Even eliminating 2005, off-system sales margins averaged
nearly $42 million per year in 2006 through 2008. Off-system sales margins have
averaged approximately $5 million per year for the years 2009 through 2013. The
Companies have experienced an uptick in off-system sales for 2014, mostly due to an
approximately two-month period during the past winter in which they saw an increase
in profit on off-system sales. During this January—February 2014 period, the
Companies’ off-system sales margin was $6.4 million; $4.4 million of this amount

came on just eight days during extremely cold weather throughout the country. The
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Companies were able to leverage the strong performance of their generation fleet
during this time of high energy demand (and concomitantly, high energy prices) in
the off-system sales market. Through the end of August, the Companies have sold
365 GWh of energy at a margin of $10.0 million this year. Such sales cannot
reasonably be expected to continue. Disregarding the apparent outliers in off-system
sales for 2011 and 2014 reduces the average to approximately $3.5 million.

Do the Companies anticipate off-system sales increasing in the near future?

No. Off-system sales experienced a drop off in 2009 and have now been relatively
stable at these lower levels for a number of years. Abundant domestic supplies, the
continued sluggish economy, and weak annual electric load growth have contributed
to this change and are anticipated to continue. Therefore, the Companies do not
anticipate a change in this downward trend for the foreseeable future.

Additionally, important structural changes have occurred to the Companies’
generating fleet over the past several years. First, the Companies have less base load
capacity to respond to opportunities for off-system sales. More of the Companies’
base load capacity now goes to serving native load customers during periods when
off-system sales were typically made. This change has occurred for a variety of
reasons, including the termination of the Companies’ power supply agreements with
Electric Energy, Inc. and Owensboro Municipal Utilities. The Companies no longer
have the sustained available capacity to offer competitively priced power in the off-
system sales market even if it becomes more robust.

Second, the margin made on off-system sales has declined due to abundant

supplies of natural gas. This increased supply has lowered the price of natural gas.
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While the Companies will be positioned to take advantage of lower natural gas prices
in operating CR7, the prices have negatively affected spot wholesale power prices.

Simply stated, the Companies can no longer rely upon the off-system sales
market to provide revenue between rate cases by which the Companies can offset
rising operating costs. The Companies do not have the generating capacity to achieve
such sales and, in any event, the market does not support prices for such sales.

Generation Capital Investment Summary

Will you briefly summarize the investment made in generation facilities from the
last rate case until the end of the forecasted test period?

In sum, the Companies anticipate spending over $1.1 billion in generation capital
investments from April 1, 2012, through June 30, 2016, about half of which is related
to CR7. Other significant investments will occur for projects ranging from boiler
work on generating units to environmental facilities that are not recovered through the
ECR mechanism. Significant projects during the forecasted test period include the
demolition of Paddy’s Run units, the construction of a Brown solar unit, costs related
to retiring the coal-fired units at Cane Run, and a gas pipeline for Paddy’s Run. The
following chart breaks investment out by Company from April 1, 2012, through June

30, 2016, the end of the last test period through the end of the forecasted test period.

27



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

DESCRIPTION LG&E KU TOTAL

CR7 $124 million $435 million | $559 million™
Ohio Falls $63 million n/a $63 million
Other Generation Projects | $66 million $37 million $103 million
Investment in Existing $190 million $229 million | $419 million
Generation

TOTAL $443 million $701 million | $1.14 billion

TRANSMISSION SYSTEMS

Please describe LG&E’s transmission system.

LG&E serves approximately 397,000 electricity customers over its transmission and
distribution network in nine Kentucky counties. LG&E’s transmission plant covers
approximately 916 circuit miles and has a net book value of approximately $191
million.

Please describe KU’s transmission system.

KU serves approximately 543,000 electricity customers over a transmission and
distribution network in seventy-seven Kentucky counties. KU’s transmission plant
covers approximately 4,372 circuit miles and has a net book value of approximately
$420 million.

Are LG&E’s and KU’s transmission systems operated jointly?

Yes. LG&E and KU, as owners and operators of interconnected electric transmission
facilities, achieve economic and reliability benefits through joint operation and
planning as a single interconnected and centrally controlled system and have operated

jointly since the Companies merged in 1998.

3 CR7 is anticipated to cost $563 million, about $4 million of which was spent before April 1, 2012.
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Please describe the operation and performance of the current transmission
facilities.

The Companies’ transmission operations are performing well, though the cost of
maintaining the Companies’ emphasis on reliability is increasing. FERC continues to
develop mandatory standards and regulations and augment its oversight of the electric
utility industry, to which LG&E and KU must respond. Cumulatively, the
Companies’ efforts, and their mandatory compliance with FERC and NERC
regulations and standards, have resulted in continued strong performance, but at an
increased cost.

As an important anecdote, the Companies track their overall electric
transmission expenditures per mile of transmission line and compare their
performance to other electric utilities. Based on 2009-2013 FERC benchmarking
data, the Companies’ $21,804 per mile total expenditure ranks in the top quartile of
electric utilities and is well below the $48,970 national average.

Have there been challenges to the operation of the transmission systems?

Yes. Portions of the Companies’ transmission systems date to the mid-20th century
and NERC continually enhances its reliability standards. The Companies’ constantly
work to address these and other transmission challenges and requirements. In
addition, environmental regulations and other factors are driving the retirement of
coal-generation units and altering the resource mix within the industry, which
presents challenges to the transmission grid as changes to system flows alter system

constraints, which must be mitigated through new investments.
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Transmission Efficiency and Productivity Programs and Practices

Does the Transmission line of business utilize efficiency and productivity
programs and practices?

Yes, it does. One of the principal information system programs that Transmission
utilizes is the Cascade work management program. The program provides a
centralized repository for substation assets and maintenance records and equipment
ratings. The program also facilitates tracking and reporting of both routine and
NERC-required testing and maintenance data and triggering of predictive
maintenance based on asset condition and operating history. The technology allows
field technicians to remotely access maintenance history, asset data, and inspection
records. The Cascade work management program, instituted in 2011, minimizes
duplication through consolidating information and simplifying data analysis and
maintenance work order generation.

Transmission is also implementing a substation control house replacement
program. A control house is an enclosure that contains protective relays,
communication equipment, batteries, and other necessary components to ensure that
the electric grid functions in a desired state. Replacement of an entire control house
as a prebuilt package enables the Companies to install, test, and commission new
equipment at a lower cost and with shorter system downtime than traditional
replacement.

The Companies have also invested in new transmission technology systems.
This includes new software that allows the Companies’ air patrol to input data while
in flight and later upload the information to the air patrol database, software that

allows event logging and outage analysis that will facilitate enhanced reliability
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analysis, and installing a protection and control laboratory that allows testing of
strategies to address critical infrastructure protection. Transmission also proactively
replaces facilities based on risk criteria, as further described below.

Transmission Workforce

Do the Companies anticipate a change in headcount for Transmission operations
through the end of the forecasted test period?

Yes. From April 1, 2012, through the end of the forecasted test period, the
Companies anticipate Transmission headcount will increase by 19 positions, or 14
percent.

Please explain the cause for Transmission’s increased headcount.

Most new Transmission positions result from the Companies’ need to retain core
skills and knowledge as certain positions that have previously been contracted out are
now being brought in-house. Changes in technology, and increased compliance and
regulatory requirements, such as Critical Infrastructure Protection and reliability
standards, are also driving the need for additional headcount.

Investment in New and Existing Transmission Facilities

Please describe the investments in and construction of transmission facilities
which support the need for an adjustment of base rates at this time.

The Companies have invested significant dollars into several improvements to their
transmission facilities since their last rate cases. In 2013 alone, the Companies
invested approximately $59 million in ongoing capital projects to upgrade their
transmission infrastructure. The Companies’ investment has continued to strengthen
the transmission system through various modernizing and hardening projects,

including the proactive replacement of transmission facilities. The Companies target
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certain assets for proactive replacement based on risk criteria. These assets include
breakers, control houses, protective relays, wood poles, and supervisory control and
data acquisition equipment.

Also, the Companies periodically review their transformer and breaker
inventory to determine if additional spare equipment is needed. Because transformers
and breakers are not always readily available in the event of immediate need, the
Companies have added spare transformers and spare breakers to their inventory.
Having these spare transformers and breakers on hand assists with rapid system
restoration when these components are needed.

The total investment in transmission facilities since the last rate case through
August 2014 is over $93 million by LG&E and $119 million by KU. Between
September 2014 and the end of the forecasted test period, LG&E anticipates investing
nearly $39 million in ongoing capital projects for transmission while KU anticipates
investing nearly $83 million. This will include investments to upgrade transmission
infrastructure to meet forecasted power flows, reliability improvement projects, and
the aforementioned proactive replacement of transmission facilities, which together
represent a significant portion of anticipated investment.

Has CR7 required any new investment for transmission facilities?

Yes, the Companies constructed a new substation that has been energized while also
making a number of other system modifications to accommodate the power flows
expected from CR7 when it is placed in service. The Companies anticipate these

transmission upgrades will cost approximately $24 million and are separate
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expenditures from the generation capital project previously discussed in my
testimony.

What other transmission-related expenditures support a rate increase?

Many projects are identified in the annual transmission expansion plan, which studies
changes in power flows on the transmission grid. The plan identifies projects whose
installation will prevent system or component overload conditions. Some projects,
such as the addition of a new transmission substation located in western Kentucky,
are large undertakings, while others, such as line reconductoring, are part of the
ordinary course of business. Seven transformers have been or will be installed since
the last rate case, including one in the Middletown, Kentucky area as part of a
significant substation upgrade costing nearly $17 million that will strengthen the
transmission system in the Louisville area. The Companies also will have expended
nearly $25 million on a project to strengthen the transmission system by tying into the
Duke Indiana transmission system in the New Albany, Indiana area.

Have the Companies incurred any expenses related to FERC and NERC
compliance?

Yes. Since 2013, the Companies have expended well over $8 million to comply with
NERC’s transmission-related Critical Infrastructure Protection and Order 693
requirements. This includes over $5 million in operations and maintenance expense
on an ongoing basis. The Companies also invested nearly $35 million in response to
line-rating and clearance-requirement alerts issued by NERC from the last rate case
through August 2014 on transmission line modifications. The transmission line and

structure upgrades resulting from these projects ensure the Companies’ transmission
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lines meet verified maximum operating temperature ratings. Additionally, the
forecasted test period includes recurring expenditures to survey transmission lines
rated 100kV and above to ensure line ratings are maintained.

FERC has also approved NERC’s Critical Infrastructure Protection Version 5
Reliability Standards (“CIP V5”). CIP V5 is a complex revision to the current
standards and adopts new cybersecurity controls while extending the scope of
systems that the CIP standards are designed to protect. CIP V5 requires compliance
by April 2016 and will result in some incremental costs during the forecasted test
year.

Transmission Capital Investment Summary

Would you briefly summarize the investment the Companies will have made in
their transmission facilities since the last rate case until the end of the forecasted
test period?

Yes. In sum, the Companies anticipate spending over $333 million in transmission
capital investments from April 1, 2012, through June 30, 2016. Of this, $132 million
will be invested by LG&E and $201 million will be invested by KU.

DISTRIBUTION OF RELIABLE ELECTRIC SERVICE

Please describe LG&E’s electric distribution businesses.

LG&E’s electric distribution business serves approximately 397,000 customers in
Jefferson and 8 surrounding counties. LG&E’s service area covers approximately
700 square miles. The electric distribution facilities we operate include 97 substations
(32 of which are shared with transmission), 3,908 miles of overhead electric lines,
and 2,390 miles of underground electric lines. This plant has a net book value of

approximately $680 million.
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Please describe KU’s distribution business.

KU’s distribution business serves approximately 543,000 customers in 77 counties in
Kentucky. KU’s service area covers approximately 4,800 noncontiguous square
miles. The electric distribution facilities we operate include 479 substations (58 of
which are shared with transmission), 12,970 miles of overhead electric lines in
Kentucky, and approximately 2,263 miles of underground electric lines in Kentucky.
This plant has a net book value of approximately $970 million.

How do LG&E and KU measure their distribution performance?

LG&E and KU track the reliability of their distribution facilities through analyzing
performance metrics such as the System Average Interruption Duration Index
(“SAIDI”), System Average Interruption Frequency Index (“SAIFI”), and Customer
Average Interruption Duration Index (“CAIDI”). SAIDI measures the average
electric service interruption duration in minutes per customer for the specified period
and system. SAIFI measures the average electric service interruption frequency per
customer for the specified period and system. CAIDI measures the average time
required to restore service to interrupted customers.

The Companies’ distribution performance continues to be strong and is
trending toward further improvement. For example, in 2013, the Companies achieved
a distribution system SAIDI of 81.6 and a SAIFI of 0.84, excluding major events.
This places the Companies within the top quartile in the Southeastern Electric
Exchange’s 2013 benchmarking study. The Companies believe their improvement in
system performance is attributed to their reliability programs, including the Hazard

Tree Program, circuit hardening, and pole inspection and treatment.

35



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

The Companies also track their overall electric distribution expenditures per
customer and compare their performance to other electric utilities. Based on FERC
2009-2013 data, the Companies’ $242 per customer expenditure is well below the
$272 nationwide average.

Distribution Efficiency and Productivity Practices

Please describe the productivity and efficiency practices that Distribution
employs to improve its performance.

Distribution has implemented a number of productivity and efficiency practices that
improve performance. For example, the Companies participate in several mutual
assistance organizations under which other utilities’ employees and contractors will
aid the Companies during large-scale outage events. The Companies have
successfully leveraged these relationships to efficiently respond to significant ice
events and windstorms in the last decade. Relatedly, LG&E and KU have
implemented an incident command system that assists with responding to
emergencies and outage events in a timely and effective manner based on a structured
chain of command and designated reporting relationships.

On a different note, the Companies use faulted circuit indicators to identify
and isolate faulted line and cable sections without requiring the Companies to test
cable segments one at a time, thus speeding the restoration process. The Companies
have recently implemented new software called Mobile Workforce Management
(“MWM”) and Mobile Damage Assessment (“MDA”). These mobile applications
support the Companies’ restoration processes and enhance the efficiency and
timeliness of critical outage information exchange between customers, field

personnel, and the Distribution Control Center. The MWM application enables
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mobile assignment of repair, operations, and maintenance tasks to truck laptop
computers. Employees complete work tasks electronically, thus allowing for efficient
and timely processing by back-office personnel.

In addition to the MWM and MDA mobile platforms, the Companies also
utilize software called Asset and Resource Management (“ARM?”) for Electric
Distribution and Cascade for Substation asset and work management. The ARM
system ensures efficiency, consistency, and accuracy with high-volume work
management, including resource integration and tracking, documentation, and
reporting. Cascade provides a central repository for substation asset data and is a
mobile solution, thus allowing field technicians to access maintenance records via
laptop computer. All inspection and test data is entered electronically and is
automatically processed and tabulated by the software. Cascade allows for condition
and reliability based maintenance, thereby enhancing productivity by prioritizing
maintenance where it will be most effective. Cascade triggers, tracks, and reports on
all substation maintenance, including routine and emergency, preventive and
corrective, as well as NERC-required testing and inspection.

Do LG&E and KU have grid projects that increase efficiencies?

Yes, such as the Downtown Network Load Flow Modeling endeavor that LG&E
began this year. Installation of advanced metering technologies in the Louisville
downtown network will be used to gather detailed time coincidental load data. The
load data will link directly into an electric planning model. This initiative will
improve LG&E’s capability to optimize planned investments while enhancing safety,

reliability, and performance in the downtown Louisville network electrical system.
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A related project LG&E has started in downtown Louisville uses supervisory
control and data acquisition technology to provide real time monitoring and control of
critical network equipment. In addition to providing information that allows the
network to operate more efficiently, this endeavor enhances worker safety by
enabling the remote operation of network protectors, which means that workers no
longer have to stand in close proximity while operating equipment inside a vault.

The Companies are also expanding the use of telemetry in approximately 380
KU substations throughout the state to obtain real time substation load data. This will
increase the efficiency and timeliness of data collection used for planning of system
maintenance, contingency switching, and substation and circuit enhancements.

Has Distribution implemented programs that improve the infrastructure and
electric reliability of its distribution system?

Yes, the umbrella program for these efforts is System Hardening, under which the
Companies identify assets that can be replaced or modified to improve the
distribution system’s ability to withstand extreme weather conditions and events.
System Hardening is comprised of three sub-programs: Hazard Tree Removal;
Circuits Identified for Improvement; and Distribution Ground Line Pole Inspection,
Treatment, and Replacement.

Under the circuits identified for improvement practice, reliability performance
of all distribution circuits is analyzed annually and ranked based on a five-year
average performance. The circuits identified for improvement are selected based on
statistical analyses focused on reducing the number of circuits whose performance

deviates substantially from the system mean. Solutions such as vegetation
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management, circuit hardening, and animal outage mitigation are employed as
needed.

The Distribution Ground Line Pole Inspection, Treatment, and Replacement
program enables the Companies to inspect, treat, and replace poles across LG&E’s
and KU'’s service territories. The program helps reduce outages due to failed poles,
extends the serviceable life of the assets, and improves system integrity through
inspection for ground line decay, pole top damage, or other defects. Identification of
wood poles near the end of their lives helps to develop a mitigation plan to replace or
structurally modify those poles to address the identified problems. The Companies
will inspect approximately 500,000 distribution wood poles during this program.
Since the program began in 2010, LG&E and KU have inspected approximately
270,000 poles, treated 91,000 poles, and replaced or reinforced approximately 18,400
poles.

In addition to System Hardening, the Companies are also investing in a
number of other reliability and infrastructure initiatives. Major projects include the
multi-year replacement of approximately 70 miles of Paper Insulated Lead Covered
Cable in the Louisville Downtown Network and replacement and life extension of
infrastructure in substations such as power transformers, power circuit breakers, and
protective relays.

Do the Companies anticipate any new plans that will further improve the
infrastructure and electric reliability of its distribution system?
Yes. The Companies plan to implement a rear easement hardening program to

improve overhead lines that are in difficult-to-access rear easements. This will
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increase the resiliency of the lines by reducing the number of conductor failures
caused by vegetation contact and ice loading, especially in adverse weather
conditions.

In addition, the Companies plan to implement an initiative related to
substations. Under the initiative, the Companies will replace substation underground
exit cables. When these cables fail, a large number of customers often experience
service interruptions. Through this initiative, the Companies will improve reliability
and levelize future failure costs. Absent these proactive efforts, the number of
failures would likely increase.

Vegetation Management for the Distribution System

Please provide an update on the Companies’ Hazard Tree Program.

The Companies’ Hazard Tree Program was implemented in October 2010 consistent
with the recommendations in the Commission’s report related to the 2008 windstorm
and 2009 ice storm. The plan includes the removal of dead, dying, and diseased trees
outside of the Companies’ right of way to decrease the likelihood of tree damage to
electrical infrastructure during severe weather events.

Since the Hazard Tree Program was implemented, LG&E has removed over
13,000 hazard trees and KU has removed over 50,000 hazard trees. The Companies
have seen improvement in tree-related SAIDI and SAIFI since the program took
effect. LG&E’s tree-related SAIDI has been reduced more than 46 percent, while its
tree-related SAIFI has fallen more than 47 percent. KU’s tree-related SAIDI has been

reduced more than 30 percent, while its tree-related SAIFI has fallen 36 percent.
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The Companies have expended over $12 million in operation and maintenance
costs for the Hazard Tree Program since the test period for the last rate case ended
and anticipate spending an additional $5.6 million in the forecasted test period.

Do the Companies foresee any additional vegetation management issues over the
coming years?

Yes, and one in particular is potentially significant. In May 2009, the Emerald Ash
Borer (“EAB”) was discovered in two Kentucky counties—Jessamine and Shelby.
The EAB is an exotic beetle that causes damage to ash trees. Ultimately, many ash
trees succumb to the EAB’s actions.

Kentucky is estimated to have over 266 million ash trees. Current projections
anticipate that the EAB will be present in every Kentucky County by 2022. The
Companies are estimated to have nearly 54,000 ash trees along their distribution
corridors that are currently of sufficient height to impact distribution facilities should
the tree succumb to the EAB. The customer impact of such potential ash tree
decimation is estimated to be an additional 16,370 tree-caused outages over the next
ten years, which would impact nearly one million customers.

The Companies began addressing the EAB in 2014, and they now seek to
include the costs that will be incurred in base rates. In part due to the EAB’s
presence, the Companies are extending the Hazard Tree Program beyond its
originally scheduled termination date. In this case, being reactive rather than
proactive will be more costly and will lead to increased service disruptions for our

customers.
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Distribution Workforce

Do the Companies anticipate a change in headcount for Electric Distribution
operations through the end of the forecasted test period?

Yes. From April 1, 2012, through the end of the forecasted test period, the
Companies anticipate Electric Distribution headcount will increase by 53 positions, or
8 percent.

Please explain the cause for Electric Distribution’s increased headcount.

Each of the positions created in Electric Distribution will assist with retaining core
skills and knowledge. Many of the new Electric Distribution positions will involve a
corresponding contractor offset.

Investment in New and Existing Distribution Facilities

Have LG&E and KU continued to make investments in infrastructure and
electric reliability since the last rate case?
Yes. Since the last rate case, the Companies have invested approximately $337
million in electric system distribution reliability and infrastructure to ensure that our
customers benefit from a safe and reliable distribution system. This includes $147
million by LG&E and $190 million by KU. Investments include projects targeted
toward specific circuits identified for improvement and replacement and life
extension of infrastructure such as power transformers, circuit breakers, protective
relays, overhead and underground conductors, and utility poles. Over $36 million has
been spent since April 2012 to replace aging or inferior utility poles alone. In fact,
the Companies have replaced approximately 12,000 utility poles since April 2012.
During the forecasted test period, the Companies anticipate expending

approximately $170 million in electric distribution-related projects. This includes
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$79 million by LG&E and $91 million by KU. Much of this investment will be
necessary for broader distribution of service to customers throughout our service
territory and replacement of meters. Specific major projects during the forecasted test
period include targeted circuits identified for improvement, the pole inspection and
treatment program, downtown Louisville underground network cable replacement,
major substation and circuit work in the Lexington area, work to the Lakeshore and
Innovation Drive substations in Lexington, and extensive substation and circuit work
in the Manslick Road area of Louisville. New projects for 2015 include rear
easement hardening, replacement of substation underground exit cables, and circuit
upgrades, transformer additions, and other distribution system enhancements to add
contingency for substation transformer failures or outages.

Electric Distribution Capital Investment Summary

Would you briefly summarize the investment the Companies will have made in
their electric distribution facilities since the last rate case until the end of the
forecasted test period?

Yes. In sum, the Companies anticipate spending approximately $645 million in
electric distribution capital investments from April 1, 2012, through June 30, 2016.
Of this, $290 million is attributable to LG&E and $355 million attributable to KU.

DISTRIBUTION OF RELIABLE GAS SERVICE

Please describe LG&E’s gas distribution business.

LG&E’s gas distribution business serves approximately 318,000 customers in
Jefferson and 16 surrounding counties. The gas distribution facilities we operate
include approximately 4,306 miles of gas distribution pipe, 387 miles of transmission

pipe, and five underground gas storage fields, which are the Muldraugh field in
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Meade County; the Doe Run field along the Ohio River in Meade County and into
Harrison County, Indiana; the Magnolia Upper and Magnolia Deep fields in parts of
LaRue, Green, and Hart counties; and the Center field in parts of Metcalfe, Green,
and Barren counties. LG&E’s gas plant has a net book value of approximately $649
million.

Has LG&E continued to make investments in gas service infrastructure and
reliability since the last rate case?

Yes. LG&E has invested approximately $175 million in capital in its natural gas
infrastructure from April 2012 through August 2014. About $96 million of these
expenditures relate to previously approved reliability initiatives, including the leak
mitigation program, main replacement activity, and the gas riser replacement
program, recovered through mechanisms. In 2013 alone, though, LG&E made over
$26 million in capital project investment outside of the gas tracker mechanism, a
number that rises to about $79 million since April 1, 2012. LG&E anticipates
investing $29 million in capital during the forecasted test period for gas operations.
Of this, two of the most significant projects involve a city gate station upgrade and a
gas transmission pipeline in the Mt. Washington / Lebanon Junction area.

Gas Distribution Efficiency and Productivity Programs and Practices

Does Gas Distribution utilize some of the same programs and practices that
improve productivity and efficiency as Electric Distribution?

Yes. Gas Distribution utilizes several of the same programs as Electric Distribution,
including the incident command and mutual assistance programs. Gas Distribution
has expanded its use of telemetry as well. These programs provide the same

improvements in productivity and efficiency as they do for Electric Distribution.
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LG&E Gas, like Electric Distribution, also recently implemented the
aforementioned ARM software system and uses Service Suite. Service Suite allows
the Company to dispatch work to employees on a mobile platform leading to more
consistent and detailed information for employees about their assignments.
Employees also complete work requests electronically, thus making the information
available on a timelier basis to back-office personnel. In addition, dispatch
employees can see when crews are available for work to be assigned. The ARM
system helps manage resources required to serve new business and work requiring
design resources. Customers benefit through Service Suite and ARM because they
provide detailed and consistent information about service requests allowing us to
more efficiently meet our customers’ needs.

Are there additional programs and practices unique to Gas Distribution that
enhance productivity and efficiency?

Yes, including LG&E’s proactive replacement of gas mains. LG&E began a program
to replace older gas mains in 1996 and expanded the initiative in 2004 for a broader
leak mitigation program. This program involves the replacement of the cast iron,
wrought iron, and bare steel gas mains and associated services with modern materials.
The replacement increases the safety and reliability of the gas system by utilizing
modern industry standard materials, which also provide operational benefits—such as
reduced water intrusion—that decrease service issues. Performing these replacements
in an intentional and large-scale manner has resulted in fewer restorations to property,

roadways, and sidewalks than if the mains were replaced in smaller sections.
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To date, LG&E has installed 598 miles of replacement piping for gas
distribution. Of these 598 miles, 89 miles have been installed since LG&E’s last rate
case at an investment of $51 million. An estimated 87 percent of planned
replacements are complete, and the project should be finalized by 2017.

In addition to the large-scale programs, LG&E has invested approximately
$13 million since the last rate case in gas distribution service lines and small-scale
main replacements to ensure continued safety, improved reliability, enhanced
operating efficiencies, and lower operating costs for LG&E’s gas customers.

Please provide an update on LG&E’s program to replace and assume ownership
of certain gas service risers.

In the last rate gas, LG&E received Commission approval to implement a new
program to replace and assume ownership of certain gas risers, thereby continuing to
ensure that customers receive safe and reliable natural gas service. LG&E started the
5-year gas service riser replacement program in 2013. Under the program, LG&E
replaces certain gas service risers that have a compression-type mechanical coupling
that do not incorporate an anti-pull out design. LG&E has replaced and taken
ownership of approximately 66,000 gas service risers as of August 31, 2014.

By performing this work on a large scale systematic basis, LG&E is able to
complete the inspections and replacements more efficiently. For example, LG&E can
prep multiple replacements at once, which allows the replacements to be completed
more quickly. Also, because LG&E is buying materials for a significant number of

replacements, it can leverage its economies of scale and utilize competitive bidding.
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How does LG&E recover the costs associated with the gas riser replacement
program and leak mitigation program?

Costs for these two programs occur through the gas line tracker approved by the
Commission in LG&E’s last rate case. The primary costs recovered through this
mechanism include investments made for the gas service riser replacement program,
the leak mitigation program, and costs associated with taking ownership of customer
service lines. LG&E periodically completes and submits filings to the Commission
for the gas line tracker in accordance with a prescribed schedule.

Has does LG&E measure efficiency with respect to Gas Trouble Call response
time?

LG&E tracks Gas Trouble Call response time by measuring the elapsed time to
dispatch a technician'® to a location of a potential gas trouble situation. LG&E’s
average response time in 2013 was 41.8 minutes while responding to 10,175 gas
trouble calls, which is consistent with the average response time over the previous
five years.

Gas Distribution Workforce

Does LG&E anticipate a change in headcount for Gas Distribution operations
through the end of the forecasted test period?
Yes. From April 1, 2012, through the end of the forecasted test period, LG&E

anticipates Gas Distribution headcount will increase by 42 positions, or 19 percent.

" The time measured begins when Gas Dispatch receives the trouble call information and ends when the
technician arrives at the location of the potential gas trouble situation.
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Please explain the cause for Gas Distribution’s increased headcount.

The additional 42 Gas Distribution positions are driven primarily by the need to retain
core skills and knowledge and the need to meet regulatory, compliance, and safety
requirements.

LG&E’s Gas Distribution operations have also faced increased regulatory
requirements over the past few years, which in part led to the creation of a Vice
President for Gas Distribution position in 2013. Ongoing compliance and efforts to
increase overall distribution system integrity are driving additional headcount.

Investment in New and Existing Gas Distribution Facilities

Has LG&E taken other actions to maintain or improve the safety and reliability
of its gas system?

Yes. LG&E’s gas transmission business must comply with the Pipeline Safety
Improvement Act of 2002. LG&E has already identified all High Consequence Areas
in its gas transmission lines, conducted risk analyses of those pipeline segments, and
completed the initial baseline integrity assessments of covered pipeline segments.
Now, ongoing reassessments have begun. LG&E has invested almost $4 million
dollars since its last rate case to modify its gas transmission system to enable in-line
inspections using high-resolution magnetic flux leakage tools capable of identifying
pipeline defects such as wall losses, dents, and third-party damages. Currently, about
85 percent of LG&E’s gas transmission system, excluding pipelines related to gas
storage fields, is capable of in-line inspections. By mid-2015, about 93 percent of
LG&E’s gas transmission system, excluding gas storage field related pipelines, will

be capable of in-line inspections. An additional $15 million has been invested in
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pipeline enhancements and replacements, including amounts spent to automate valves
on the gas transmission system.

With regard to the gas distribution system, LG&E has implemented a
Distribution Integrity program as required by the Pipeline Inspection, Protection,
Enforcement, and Safety Act of 2006. Most of the expenditures under this program
are related to the gas main replacement program and the riser replacement program.
LG&E also completed a ten-year gas service regulator program in 2012. All of these
programs help ensure the safe, reliable delivery of gas supply to LG&E’s customers.

Additionally, LG&E has invested nearly $43 million since its last rate case to
replace and upgrade equipment in compressor stations and storage fields to ensure the
safe and reliable operation of the underground gas storage system. With respect to
compressor stations, this work has included gas compressor installations and
upgrades to control equipment, gas processing systems, station piping and valves, and
auxiliary systems. With respect to gas storage fields, this work has included
replacement of field pipelines, gas storage well upgrades, and drilling gas storage
wells. Finally, LG&E has invested in projects related to ensuring it is operating
within maximum allowable operating pressure in its gas lines.

Gas Distribution Capital Investment Summary

Would you briefly 